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Income statement
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Net income before restructuring

-654

-2,796

Group net loss for the year

-679

-2,844

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Balance sheet
(¤ bn)

4.5

2.0

Total assets

Equity

174.5

208.4

Business volume

193.0

237.8

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Capital ratios 1)
(%)
Tier 1 capital ratio

10.5

5.1

Regulatory capital ratio

16.1

8.3

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

4,188

5,070

3,490

4,087

Employees
Total
Germany
Abroad
Full-time positions
Germany
Abroad

Long-term ratings
Moody’s
Standard & Poor’s
Fitch
1)

Including market risk positions, after adoption of the financial statements

2)

Obligations covered by Gewährträgerhaftung (guarantee obligation)

698

983

3,610

4,325

2,958

3,398

652

927

Unguaranteed
liabilities

Guaranteed
liabilities 2)

Public-sector
Pfandbriefe

Ship
Pfandbriefe
Aa3

A2

Aa1

Aaa

BBB+

AA-

–

–

A

AAA

–

–
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New segment structure of HSH Nordbank

sector Specialist Bank

Regional Bank

Concentration on core commitment
The Specialist Bank sector bundles HSH Nordbank’s commitment in the
Shipping, Transportation and Renewable Energies sectors. With its comprehensive knowhow, the Bank will continue to be an important finance
partner in these business areas. After the separation from nonstrategic
business and its reduction in the Restructuring Unit, the Shipping division
continues to serve shipping customers in all the key regions and market
segments. The Transportation division remains a strong partner for the
global aviation industry. In the infrastructure (airports and seaports)
and rail sectors, Transportation focuses on the markets in Europe. As an
established specialist in the sector, the Renewable Energies division
centres its commitment on the European wind power and solar markets.

Regional focus strengthened
HSH Nordbank’s Regional Bank segment consolidates its commitment in
the Corporate Clients, Real Estate Clients, Private Banking and Savings
Banks divisions, with their predominantly regional emphasis. The realign
ment strengthens the business of the Corporate Clients division with
corporate clients in northern Germany. By contrast, refinancing leasing
companies and international corporate clients has been discontinued,
and is being reduced in the Restructuring Unit. The emphasis in the Bank’s
Real Estate Client business is on the core northern German region and
German metropolitan regions. The Bank’s Private Banking division is cus
tomised for the needs of high net worth private clients. The Savings
Banks division concentrates on allround solutions for savings banks and
on debt and liquidity management for public sector clients.

Other

Restructuring Unit

Various activities
The segment Other consolidates a range of HSH Nordbank business activities. Primarily, this segment shows financial market activities with
the central refinancing function for the Bank. The results of financial
market transactions with corporate and private clients are shown in
the Sector Specialist Bank and Regional Bank segments. In addition, Other
shows positions for the bank as a whole, including specifically net
income from strategic equity holdings, the results of the staff and service
departments, and net income from central portfolios which was not
posted to the segments.

Restructuring Unit bundles wind-down portfolios
HSH Nordbank’s Restructuring Unit started work on 1 December 2009 with
its own Board member in charge and its own organisational structure.
As a central element in the realignment programme, the Restructuring Unit
consolidates the portfolios split off from the core business. The business
areas consolidated in the Restructuring Unit comprise total assets of EUR 77
billion at year-end 2009, and cover special capital market portfolios
such as the credit investment portfolio, which made heavy losses in earlier
years, and nonstrategic loan commitments from various business areas
which are being discontinued to focus on the regional and sectoral core
areas. The goal is to wind down these portfolios completely at an early
stage, while at the same time maximising their value.
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On the way to sustainable stability

As a result of the global financial and economic crisis,
HSH Nordbank found itself in a precarious situation.
Considerable weaknesses in our processes and structure
became evident. We took 2009 as an opportunity to
drive forward a fundamental realignment in the Bank.
We cannot change the past, but we have learned lessons from it and are taking great care to apply the
knowledge we have gained. The milestones we have
achieved towards a sustainable structure for the
future encourage us to continue firmly on the path
we have chosen. Our objective is to re-establish
the Bank as a stable, reputable and successful financial
institution in our region, with stable growth in
value for shareholders and investors and providing
winning solutions for our clients.
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LADIES AND GENTLEMEN,
2009 is a major turning point in the history of HSH Nordbank. After eventful months
dominated by the global financial crisis and its often drastic effects on the economy in
industry and services, the business year was characterised by a comprehensive reor
ganisation of the Bank. With great efforts by its employees, and support from its share
holders and external consulting firms, HSH Nordbank has reinvented itself.
The realignment includes a clear partitioning into a viable core bank and a restructur
ing unit. In the core bank, HSH Nordbank is returning to its roots. In future, it will
again focus closely on its home regions of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein, where the
Bank has over many years established a leading position in the high-end corporate
client business and the real estate sector.
HSH Nordbank significantly scaled back its international business in 2009, and numer
ous foreign locations were closed. Priority areas for our activities will continue to
be shipping, aircraft financing and renewable energies. As a global leader in shipping
finance, we have business relationships with almost all the companies and institu
tions in the shipping sector. Leading positions also as consultant and service provider
in the project business in the renewable energy sector and aviation round out our
services to the key industries in the region, where we have stable networks which we
can continue to build on in the future.
The Restructuring Unit consolidates the portfolios which have been split off from the
Bank’s core divisions and are scheduled for winding-down. Besides the credit invest
ment portfolio, other loan commitments are being reduced from various business areas,
such as the US real estate business. The Restructuring Unit started work as planned
in December 2009, with its own Board member in charge and its own organisation.
In parallel with the modification to the business model, the Bank’s core processes were
redefined and the associated changes implemented. HSH Nordbank has developed a
new risk culture and taken key measures to protect the Bank better against fluctuations
in the markets. In particular, we have made lasting improvements to accounting, risk
management and the Bank’s control systems.
Overall, and despite substantially reduced total assets and adverse influences from the
general economic environment, the Bank has succeeded in significantly increasing
total income and narrowing the consolidated loss to EUR − 679 million. The Tier 1 capi
tal ratio is 10.5 per cent, well above statutory requirements. As a result, HSH Nord
bank ended the 2009 financial year in line with its planning, and a return to profit in
2011 is now realistic.

Letter of the management board

The overall realignment of HSH Nordbank was possible because the states of SchleswigHolstein and Hamburg supported the Management Board’s reorganisation concept
and assisted the Bank with a capital increase of EUR 3 billion and a risk shield of EUR
10 billion. We are very grateful for this support. The change in capital structure
means that the two states now hold over 85 per cent of HSH Nordbank’s share capital.
In 2009 the Bank’s owners formed a new Supervisory Board of independent financial
and business experts. The new Supervisory Board is closely involved in the Bank’s
reorganisation through constructive critical dialogue. HSH Nordbank’s Management
Board was also extensively reorganised and strengthened in 2009.
Overall, HSH Nordbank completed a comprehensive change process in the 2009 finan
cial year with impressive speed. The internal processes are characterised by clear
structures and responsibilities and increased speed. The realignment is largely marked
out, and now needs to be brought to life. The course is set for the future. Many have
played a role in this – the Bank’s employees, the shareholders, and also our clients, who
have stayed loyal to us even in difficult times. We thank them all.
We will continue to tackle the obstacles in our path with unabated energy, committed
to making HSH Nordbank in its realigned form again a stable and reliable partner and
service provider.

Prof. Dr. Dirk Jens Nonnenmacher
Chairman

Dr. Martin van Gemmeren

Constantin von Oesterreich

Bernhard Visker
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Management Board

Prof. Dr. Dirk Jens Nonnenmacher

Dr. Martin van Gemmeren

Chairman of the Management Board, born in 1963

Born in 1970

Responsible for the following divisions:
Group Communication, Legal and Group Compliance,
Corporate Development, Internal Audit, Human
Resources

Responsible since 1 November 2009 for the
Restructuring Unit with the divisions:
Wind-down Loans, Special Loans, Divestments

Also responsible on a temporary basis for:
Taxes, Finance, HSH Corporate Finance GmbH

HSH Nordbank Securities S.A.
HSH Real Estate AG

And for the foreign branch offices in
Luxembourg, Nordic Area

Management Board

Constantin von Oesterreich

Bernhard Visker

Born in 1953

Born in 1966

Responsible since 1 November 2009 for the following
divisions:
Credit Risk Management, Group Risk Management

Responsible for the following divisions:
Corporate Clients, Private Banking, Real Estate Clients,
Savings Banks
HSH Nordbank Private Banking S. A.

Also responsible since 11 November 2009 on
a temporary basis for:
Transportation, Energy, Shipping, Capital Markets*
HSH Asset & Investment Management S. A.

And on a temporary basis for the foreign branch
offices in
America, Asia, London

* organisational and disciplinary allocation;
responsibility is vested in the entire Management Board
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Eventful times

There were moments in 2009 when the global financial
system stood on the brink. Despite this immense pressure,
HSH Nordbank was able to initiate far-reaching improve
ments and steadily increase the Bank’s stability and effi
ciency within twelve months.
The plan for a strategic realignment of HSH Nordbank was
developed by the end of February 2009. The realignment
involves a clear separation between a forward-looking core
bank and a Restructuring Unit. The realignment is based
on systematic financial, risk, liquidity and capital planning
at divisional level, which has been validated by indepen
dent third parties.
The Restructuring Unit was launched on 1 December 2009
and began operations as planned. The Core Bank includes corporate clients, real estate and private banking on

2008

a regional basis and the shipping business, aviation
financing and renewable energy projects internationally.
In parallel with these structural changes, significant
improvements in processes and procedures were imple
mented in 2009. For many employees these changes
were a feat of great organisational, procedural and mental
strength. Realigning the core processes is not the only
key factor in the long-term success of the changes, how
ever. It was also necessary to move away from a salesdominated business organisation so as to further change
and improve the Bank’s risk culture.
The Bank’s investment strategy and business policy
are heading in a significantly more conservative direction
than in past years. The objective is not to maximise
income but maintain a healthy balance between prospec

2009

Annual General Meeting approves
capital increase

Preparing a realignment concept: focusing on
strategic core areas, separating bad debts and
capitalisation; coordinating with the states of
Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein and with
SoFFin

November

December

Special Fund for Financial Market
Stabilisation (SoFFin) grants HSH
Nordbank a guarantee facility for
bond issues

JANUARY

February

March

EU Commission provisionally
approves the Bank’s capitalisation
concept

april

May

Parliaments in Hamburg and
Schleswig-Holstein clear the way
for dramatic realignment
Programme for staff reduction
begins with voluntary employee
resignations

June

Capital increase
from the states of
Hamburg and
Schleswig-Holstein
of EUR 3 billion
completely paid in

Eventful times

tive income and risk awareness. The change process in
HSH Nordbank will last for some time and the Manage
ment Board is resolutely driving it forward.
The entire realignment was only possible because the fed
eral states of Schleswig-Holstein and Hamburg supported
the Bank in difficult times with a capital increase of EUR
3 billion and a second loss guarantee of EUR 10 billion.
The second loss guarantee will only take effect if the Bank
suffers losses in excess of EUR 3.2 billion in the portfolio
covered. HSH Nordbank was able to distance itself gradu
ally from the possibility of this scenario in 2009. The
probability that we will need to call on the guarantee con
tinues to decrease.

once again be operating profitably – even if no significant
positive changes are seen in the economic environment.
HSH Nordbank is not expected to grow further before
2011. More than 550 employees left the Bank in 2009 by
mutual agreement and the loan books in the business
areas were drastically cut. These measures were in line
with our goal of providing HSH Nordbank’s clients
and employees – and in turn the region of northern Ger
many – with a stable outlook. The key steps were taken
during an eventful 2009.

The Bank pays the federal states EUR 400 million per year
to provide the guarantee. From 2011 the Bank should

2010

First meeting of the new Supervisory Board comprising independent
experts from business and finance

July

august

Reconciliation of interests and social compensation plan for staff
reductions added to works agreement; operational lay-offs ruled
out until October 2012

september

October

Reorganisation of Management
Board with members responsible
for risk and the Restructuring Unit

november

Official opening of state aid proRestructuring
ceedings by the EU Commission
plan submitted
to EU Commission

december

Discussions with EU Commission
on restructuring the Bank; final
approval expected by mid-2010

JANUARy

february

Ulrich Voss appointed as General Agent
Official launch of the Restructuring Unit
Programme for optimising processes and control
systems extensively implemented
Guarantee facility from SoFFin reduced; the guarantee for
issues backed in the 2009 financial year remains unchanged
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REALIGNMENT REQUIRES
TACKLING THE RIGHT ISSUES.
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HSH Nordbank 2009

ACHIEVING STABILITY THROUGH
CONSISTENCY AND DILIGENCE.
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OVERCOMING CHALLENGES
WITH FULL COMMITMENT.
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A VIABLE SOLUTION OPENS UP
NEW PROSPECTS.
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WE ARE FOCUSING ON OUR EXCLUSIVE
STRENGTHS.
Strong market position, years of experience in the
industry and durable relationships with clients – this
is the basis for our future activities.

shipping

Business divisions

SHIPPING
“We work with our clients to create flexible solutions
for profiting from the next upswing. Our strategy
is accordingly to help stabilise the markets and the
international shipping community.”
Harald Kuznik, Head of Shipping

In the maritime cluster of the metropolitan region of
Hamburg and in the entire area of northern Germany,
HSH Nordbank makes a key contribution to regional
development as the leading shipping financier. For 75
years now HSH Nordbank has been active in the ship
ping business.
HSH Nordbank has also developed a leading market
position internationally. 2009 proved once again that even
under unfavourable economic conditions our clients
appreciate the Bank’s role as a reliable and professional
partner.

Diversified portfolio
The demand for transport in all three main markets –
containers, tankers, and bulk carriers – decreased sig
nificantly in 2009 as a result of the crisis. At the same
time there was a considerable expansion in the number
of ships available in most classes. Charter rates in the
commodity-driven segments of tanker and bulk carriers
are already recovering, thanks to demand from Asian
emerging markets, especially China. However, container
Portfolio by vessel type
(in %)

41 %

Containers
18 %

Tankers

21 %

Bulkers
ROROs

6%
7%

Offshore vessels
Multi-purpose
vessels
Miscellaneous

4%
3%

shipping, which is heavily dependent on consumer
demand in the industrialised countries, could not remain
unscathed from the crisis. German ship owners in par
ticular, many of whom are our clients, felt the impact.
Shipping is an economic sector in which regional aspects
play a very small role, and many of our clients operate
internationally. Strong stimuli from the northern German
region have an effect on the global market. On the one
hand the geographic distribution of clients reflects the
regional basis of the Bank, and on the other hand we
have placed around half of our business volume with cli
ents abroad – not least for risk diversification.
HSH Nordbank’s shipping portfolio is also broadly diver
sified by vessel type. The most important amongst them
are container ships, bulkers and tankers, which are highly
standardised and therefore easily marketable. There are
also specialised vessel types which often operate in lucra
tive niche markets and help diversify our total portfolio.
Nevertheless, during the crisis period sector-wide problems
led to a significant increase in risk provisions. Despite
this, the division managed to generate significant income.

Overcoming the crisis together
In order to overcome the crisis together with our clients it
is vital to provide intensive support to them. Options
which are particularly relevant include relief on the cash
flow side, loan rescheduling and restructuring, and sup
port in negotiations with shipyards regarding cancelling
ships or delaying deliveries.

17
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TRANSPORTATION
“Flexibility of all market participants has facilitated
the recovery in the aviation market. We are managing the cycles together with our clients and are
supporting them with our broad expertise.”
Angela Behrend-Görnemann, Head of Aviation

HSH Nordbank’s expertise as an advisor, arranger, asset
manager and risk manager for the transportation industry is appreciated in Germany and abroad. Specialists with
a wide variety of qualifications ranging from engineering
to leasing and financial expertise advise leading companies
in the aviation and infrastructure / rail sectors. Special
services are offered by the asset management subsidiaries
Amentum Capital Ltd. (aviation) and Railpool GmbH, a
joint venture with KfW IPEX-Bank, plus the new advisory
team of the Global Infrastructure Advisory Group.

continually upgrade their fleets. HSH Nordbank is mainly
focused on funding the aircraft assets rather than the air
lines. Modern and easily marketable aircraft are dominat
ing the portfolio.

Attractive options
In the transportation-infrastructure-segment, many mar
ket participants in airports and seaports saw positive
cash flows. Public-private partnerships (PPP) offer attractive
possibilities for the advisory and arranger services of
HSH Nordbank. In rail, the freight markets are experienc
ing a recovery in line with the economic trend. Rail in
Germany reached its highest share in the overall market
since 1990.
Portfolio by asset class
(in %)

10 %

The business unit Transport has strong roots in the region
and focused 2009 on its longstanding clients, with
whom it has maintained stable business relationships for
decades. The volume of new business has decreased as
a result of the overall economic environment, but at the
same time the need for products beyond the lending
business came more sharply into focus, particularly in
respect of advisory services.

More efficiency from new models
It may take some time until the aviation sector returns
to pre-crisis profit levels, but there has already been a
noticeable recovery in both the passengers and the freight
segment. The sector had previously responded to the
large decrease in demand by phasing out mostly older air
craft. An additional helpful factor came from aircraft
manufacturers, who managed their deliveries flexibly. At
the same time the envisaged funding gap in the market
for new aircraft was covered by the export credit agencies.
The need for modern aviation technology remains sub
stantial – high fuel prices are forcing companies to

19 %
71 %

71 %

Aviation

19 %

Transportation infrastructure (e. g. airports, seaports)

10 %

Rail

transportation, energy

Business divisions

energy
“One of the reasons HSH Nordbank has become a
sought-after specialist for financing energy projects is that we discovered the sector for ourselves
early on. We want to further develop our lead
in this industry, which has shown itself to be more
robust than average in withstanding the crisis.”
Jürgen H. Lange, Deputy Head of Energy

Comprehensive expertise in the sector
In the sector of renewable energy HSH Nordbank has
established itself throughout Europe as a financing partner
with outstanding knowledge of the field. The Bank has
reinforced its position by focusing on proven technologies
and regions with reliable conditions for wind and solar
energy. Besides comprehensive expertise, the Bank also
benefits from its traditional roots in the region of northern Germany, which also applies to the area of mergers &
acquisitions. The Bank’s network plays to its strengths
when it comes to selling projects; with our support buyers
find interested sellers quickly – and vice versa.
Showing composure in the face of adversity
As a result of the financial market crisis, some projects
under construction experienced bottlenecks which
required loan restructuring. Thanks to the trust and loy
alty between the Bank and our clients this challenge
was overcome in most cases. Our success is also based on
reliability in long-term project structures and additional
products such as instruments for hedging interest rates,
currency and inflation.
Promising prospects
Generating electricity from wind is well researched and
has been proven in practice over many years. But nowhere near all the regions with advantageous natural
conditions have wind farms. In the long term, positive
stimuli for the market are expected in Germany and the
UK (offshore solutions); in Italy, Scandinavia, eastern

and southeast Europe demand is rising as well. MAKE
Consult is forecasting annual market growth of 19 %
for Europe until 2013.
In the medium term Europe is likely to remain the most
important market for photovoltaics, even though the
US may play a more significant role in the future (due to
expanded incentives) along with some Asian countries.
In 2009 the European share of the global market of installed photovoltaic facilities was around 70 %. Stable
subsidies have created a competitive advantage which is
expected to remain in place for a while yet.

Desertec – a burst of energy in the desert
One prominent energy project which was launched in
2009 is the Desertec Industrial Initiative. The idea for
using energy from the desert came from the Hamburg Cli
mate Protection Fund, the National Energy Research
Center in Jordan and the Club of Rome. Over the long term
the solar energy project should contribute significantly
to the energy supply in Africa and the Middle East, and by
2050 it could cover up to 15 % of the energy needs in
Europe. In addition to HSH Nordbank, Deutsche Bank is
the second bank involved in this major project.
Portfolio by market segment
(in %)

30 %

Wind Germany

39 %

Wind Europe
Solar Germany
Solar Europe

6%
25 %
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CORPORATE CLIENTS
“2009 – a turbulent year despite which our customer base remained virtually unchanged.
Good evidence for the quality of our work – and
an incentive for the future.”
Dirk Gärtner, Head of Corporate Clients

HSH Nordbank was able to maintain its strong position in
the corporate clients business even under difficult con
ditions. Key factors were our stable client relationships in
the region and the financial solutions offered to fit the
situation. Investments by companies we advise may have
been more restrained in 2009, but the Bank was still
able to continue generating good returns. In addition, we
saw significant growth in customer deposits.

Dialogue strengthens client loyalty
Safeguarding liquidity was the top priority for our clients.
We supported our longstanding clients with roll-overs
and new loans. We also provided increased assistance in
Portfolio by sector
(in %)

By engaging in intensive dialogue and working together
to solve problems we further strengthened client relation
ships. As in past years we were able to make good use
of our expertise and our network. In doing so we showed
that HSH Nordbank is a reliable partner, even in a diffi
cult market environment.

Experienced advisor for companies in transition
Product types in particular demand were instruments for
hedging against price fluctuations, such as in commodi
ties, and advisory solutions for risk management. These
topics played a crucial role for many clients in light of
the turbulent developments in the past financial year.
We were able to apply our competence in succession
planning, shareholder changes, strategic realignments
and business expansion to a large extent without being
affected by the crisis. Our strong position here was also
based on a variety of connections within the region
and our many years of experience.
The focus of our involvement remains partnership-based
client care in higher-end medium-sized enterprises.
We are also developing structured financing solutions. In
addition, we offer our services for mergers and acqui
sitions and equity instruments. HSH Nordbank also pro
vides sophisticated solutions for international business, including short-term and long-term export financing.

7%
16 %

the use of grants, another measure which in many cases
helped provide relief in funding situations.

34 %

15 %

14 %
14 %
34 %

Industry

14 %

Healthcare

14 %

Retail

15 %

Food & Logistics

16 %

Service

7%

Automotive & Other

CORPORATE CLIENTS, REAL ESTATE CLIENTS

Business divisions

REAL ESTATE CLIENTS
“A close relationship to our clients and our employees’ knowledge of the market, their real estate
expertise and networks are the foundation of our
business. As such we are optimally equipped for
the future as a specialist in the sector.”
Peter Axmann, Head of Real Estate Clients

The Bank’s focus in the Real Estate division – after con
solidating foreign commitments in the newly established
Restructuring Unit – is on long-standing clients in Ham
burg and Schleswig-Holstein and in the major German
metropolitan areas. The key areas are financing for rental
properties, construction and project development. For
the most part our clients were able to operate successfully
despite the difficult market environment. In turn, our
core banking business remained stable in its performance.
Deposit volumes also rose significantly – an indicator
of our clients’ trust in the Bank.

44 %

6%
13 %
44 %

Properties, regions, opportunities
The asset classes residential, offices, retail and logistics
provide interesting business opportunities in real estate
financing. Operator real estate (e. g. hotels) on the other
hand is of less interest to us. In addition to our service
in our core region and major German metropolitan areas
we also support our clients in their investments in western Europe.
The residential property market was relatively unaffected
by the economic downturn. In many places the supply
of residential properties is not enough to satisfy demand.
The rental market for retail real estate in good locations
will also stay in solid shape in 2010 despite the difficult
overall conditions. In contrast, demand for offices is
much more cyclical. It is likely that premium rents will
remain under pressure in 2010 and vacancies will
increase. The situation here will not recover until 2011.

Portfolio by property type
(in %)

37 %

Appreciation with customers as a competitive advantage
HSH Nordbank’s broad knowledge of the market, estab
lished network in the region and reliability are three
key reasons for the appreciation that clients place on our
Bank. The financial crisis clearly showed how important
it is to have a stable partnership between bank and client.
Our concern was overcoming the difficult challenges
in the past year together with our clients. That is why we
placed a priority on prolongations of maturing loans
and used few opportunities for new business.

Offices and other commercial

13 %

Retail

6%

Special usage

37 %

Residential
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SAVINGS BANKS
“As a partner to savings banks we play an important role in the region, especially for SMEs. Now
the profile of requirements has changed due to
the financial crisis – and we have responded. The
bridge to the savings banks is and remains a stable, important connection.”
Dirk Brauckmann, Head of Savings Banks

As a partner to the savings banks HSH Nordbank fulfils
an important function in northern Germany: we develop
and deliver needs-oriented solutions to meet the chal
lenges of the savings banks. The central focus of our coop
eration is on products for the areas of corporate and
private clients, treasury, own securities account manage
ment and credit portfolio management.

Expanding our partnership with savings banks
In 2009 HSH Nordbank expanded its central service approach for the 270 savings banks throughout Germany
Product groups by share of income
(in %)

7%

2%

35 %

44 %

12 %
44 % Private clients 1)
Corporate clients 2)

12 %

35 %Liquidity management
7 %

Credit portfolio management

2 %

Other services

1) especially

structured securities, equity investments

2) especially

foreign exchange transactions, foreign payment transactions

with whom we have business relationships. We succeeded
in combining the savings banks’ expertise with clients
and HSH Nordbank’s core competencies regarding new
and attractive solutions. For the savings banks’ own
investments the primary focus was on short-term and
medium-term maturities (up to two years). This led to
higher inflows of short-term liquidity at HSH Nordbank.
As a result we were able to expand the deposit volume
to just under EUR 10 billion, and the syndicated loan vol
ume reached around EUR 250 million.
With the markets settling down, business in the Savings
Banks division has picked up slightly. Following a
significant decline in client interest in several different
bond variants at the beginning of the year, demand
rose steadily in the second half of the year. Flexible inter
est rate hedging instruments also continued to be in
demand in the savings banks’ corporate client business.

Recovery trend for 2010
The business foundations for the future lie in a perma
nently updated service package for supporting bank
and portfolio management at the savings banks and in
providing high-quality client solutions. In light of the
first signs of recovery in the past months and the further
development of our range of products, we expect that
sales of needs-oriented forms of investment for savings
banks and their clients will do well again in 2010. Interest in longer-term and stronger yield-oriented securities
is however likely to increase only after the overall eco
nomic situation has stabilised.

SAVINGS BANKS, PRIVATE BANKING

Business divisions

PRIVATE BANKING
“Our investment philosophy has followed conser
vative principles since the Bank was founded. For
us it is also a matter of course to keep clients
personally updated with current information on
their assets. These are two central points which
guarantee transparency and security. Our clients
appreciate this – and can rely on it in the future
as well.”
Torsten Heick, Head of Private Banking

The turbulent events on the financial markets had only
a limited impact on the success of the Private Banking
division. In most cases, the longstanding and trusted coop
eration with our clients has remained pleasantly intact.
We were able to keep assets stable overall. Due to the uncertainty on the financial markets, our clients’ focus
in 2009 was clearly on traditional and conservative invest
ments. Preserving value with low risk was the most
frequently requested set of conditions, which we were
able to meet with the appropriate products.

Hanseatic merchant principles
Advisory services at HSH Nordbank have always been
based on clearly outlined principles: reliability, trans
parency and solidity. We were able to continue implement
ing these principles for our clients in 2009. In a year
plagued by the financial crisis this was not everywhere a
given.
The introduction on 1 January 2010 of an advisory log
(“advisor’s liability”) and related procedures takes the
documentation and transparency of our advisory services
for our clients a step further.
The volume of our customer deposits and investments in
HSH Nordbank issues in this division totalled around
EUR 2 billion in 2009. We are the leading provider for
establishing and advising foundations in the northern

German region. The need for advisory services here also
rose, as did the development of strategies for advisory
services to large and complex family assets. Our Kontora
family office very successfully rounds off HSH Nord
bank’s range of services here.

Further recovery on the capital markets
It was within this difficult environment that the loyalty of
our clients provided the foundation of our sustainable
success. Personal advisory services based on trust continue
to be our focus.
For 2010 we expect a slight recovery trend in the capital
markets – and after a phase of uncertainty, growing trust
in HSH Nordbank.
Assets under Management
(in %)

9%
8%

28 %

4%

31 %

20 %

28 %

Current accounts

4%

Time deposits

20 %

Equities

31 %

Funds

8%

HSH Nordbank issues

9%

Other issues
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FINANCIAL MARKETS
“There’s never been such an eventful year as 2009
for the Financial Markets unit at HSH Nordbank.
Through many focused campaigns and joint efforts
we were able to provide significant support for
the realignment of HSH Nordbank and help drive it
forward.”
Jörg Arndt, Head of Group Treasury

HSH Nordbank’s Financial Markets unit saw itself
confronted with unusual challenges in 2009. The Bank
quickly found the right answers to many questions
resulting from the financial crisis, however, and imple
mented them efficiently.
As an innovative product supplier and refinancing spe
cialist, the Financial Markets unit combines the client prox
imity of the client areas with expertise in the capital
market business. As such, the unit develops precisely cus
tomised client solutions based on our asset classes and
core competencies in interest rate, foreign currency and
commodity products.

ments of the crisis, enhancing our management instru
ments and expanding funding channels, which for
example included Pfandbriefs, commercial loans, devel
opment bank variants and deposits.
In addition, the Financial Markets unit supports and coor
dinates the client areas when reducing balance sheet
assets, and by reducing the balance sheet commitment in
the capital market area by 20 % it helped improve capital
efficiency.
Finally, one of the most important challenges has been
organising and implementing the recapitalisation project and the risk shield for the Bank from the City of Ham
burg and the State of Schleswig-Holstein. As a whole, all
the activities described made a significant contribution to
the Bank’s strengthening of its capital base.
Shares of income from capital market products by client area
(in %)

Transportation

Energy

Contributing to stabilisation
Close-knit cooperation and fast exchange with the client
areas make a key contribution to sustainably securing
profitability through cross-selling to the Bank’s core clients.
A further key building block for the stable and sustain
able funding of the Bank is the broadly diversified investor
base of banks and savings banks, investment funds, pen
sion funds and insurance companies. The challenge in the
future will also be to further strengthen cross-selling
success to the Bank’s core clients while at the same time
creating a stronger link with the investor base.
One main focus of 2009 has been planning and setting
the course for the Bank’s realignment, which also
included streamlining the product portfolio and continu
ally improving risk management. Another goal was
orienting the liquidity management towards the require

4%
27 %

Shipping

Real Estate Clients
Corporate Clients
Private Banking,
Savings Banks,
Financial Institutions

4%
12 %
15 %
38 %

FINANCIAL MARKETS, restructuring unit

Business divisions

restructuring unit
“We will reduce securities and loan commitments
quickly – but not in a rush. That’s because we
always keep an eye on the Bank’s income statement. We are capable of actively carrying out
restructuring activities with all the instruments in
the banking business, even when they are diffi-
cult and may take a long time.” Martin van Gemmeren,
Management Board Member, Restructuring Unit

Restructuring Unit manages reduction
of non-strategic business
A significant cornerstone of our realignment is focusing
our business activities while also reducing our total
assets. The Bank has therefore identified non-strategic
portfolios which – bundled together and clearly sepa
rated in its organisation from the core business – are to
be gradually reduced in the coming years. The Bank’s
newly created Restructuring Unit is responsible for the
orderly and careful reduction of these portfolios; it
began operation on 1 December 2009 with its own Board
member in charge and its own organisational structure.
The business activities combined under the Restructuring
Unit, with total assets of EUR 77 billion, include capital
market portfolios such as the credit investment portfolio,
which suffered high losses in previous years, and loan
commitments from various business areas of the Bank,
which are being wound down in favour of focusing on
regional and sector core areas. In the lending business we
generally distinguish between low-risk business and
restructuring cases which are managed by two correspond
ing corporate divisions in the Restructuring Unit. An
additional corporate division is responsible for the capital
market business.
By separating out responsibilities from the core bank the
expertise and skills of the employees have been consoli
dated in a targeted manner for the downsizing process in
the Restructuring Unit. Reducing business activities is

also a challenge for the client relationships involved. To
ensure that loans are paid back as promptly and com
pletely as possible, our employees actively support the cli
ents and work together with them to find viable solu
tions. In individual cases, prolongations or restructuring
loans may be an option to avoid losses.

First successful reductions achieved
With our internal restructuring unit we are fulfilling a
key requirement of the EU Commission. Even though
final approval from the EU is pending, the Restructuring
Unit is already completely effective and has achieved
its first successes. The portfolio selected for reduction has
already been cut by EUR 18 billion since the beginning
of 2009. In addition, positive effects on results, such as in
the credit investment portfolio, have been booked thanks
to the recovery in market prices.
The downsizing procedures are being managed using
management reporting that is geared towards the special
requirements of the Restructuring Unit. Key principles
include limiting possible impairments, taking advantage
of potential for gains, preserving liquidity and cost effi
ciency. In the consolidated financial statements of HSH
Nordbank the Restructuring Unit is shown as its own
segment. This makes possible a transparent view of the
development and successes of the wind-down process
from the very start.
Portfolio by business areas
(¤ bn)

Lending business
Capital market business

39
38
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EMPLOYEES
“The employees are delivering extraordinary results
during these eventful times. The commitment of
every individual has contributed to stabilising the
Bank. And to it having a future.”
Stefan Brügmann, Head of Human Resources

2009 was a year that was characterised by many changes
for our employees. One main focus of human resources
work was implementing the HR measures from the restructuring programme in a socially acceptable manner.
By the end of the year, 715 full-time equivalents had been
cut in Germany and abroad. The Bank responded flexibly to this major change, as reflected in the good results in
the operating business.

Restructuring programme
The restructuring measures started at the end of 2008 con
tinue to follow the objective of strengthening the Bank’s
position amongst the competition and focusing the busi
ness model. For this purpose a staff reduction set to
take place by the end of 2012 will affect 1,100 full-time
positions, 760 of them in Germany. The process will
include finding individual plausible solutions together
with the employees affected and implementing them
in a socially acceptable, transparent and fair manner.
Catalogue of measures for strategic HR adjustments
Termination agreements with compensation, early retire
ment plans and partial retirement models were arranged
as tools for staff reduction. Training for staff who had been
transferred and basic regulations for outsourcing mea
sures were further modules along with external career realignment advisory sessions and placement with other
employers for staff already terminated. All information
relevant to staff reduction was communicated in detail
in the Bank’s internal information system My-Port. This
included the rules negotiated, extensive background
information, applications and sample letters. The phrase
“staff reduction” never sounds positive – but in deal-

ing with this topic HSH Nordbank attached great impor
tance to fairness and transparency.

Reconciling interests and social compensation plan
After intensive negotiations, a reconciliation of interests
and social compensation plan were approved in the
autumn. The reconciliation of interests, which expanded
upon the Group agreement “Resigning with compensa
tion”, regulates the type and scope of the intended restruc
turing, organisational changes and the related job cuts.
Operational lay-offs can be ruled out until 31 October 2012
due to the staff cuts that have already taken place. The
requirements, framework conditions and terms which will
then apply have already been stipulated in a social com
pensation plan concluded in parallel.
Education valued highly
By using systematic HR development offensives in educa
tion, training and development the basis was laid for
the sustainability of the implemented and planned restruc
turing efforts. Education at HSH Nordbank has for exam
ple been enriched by one innovation: in cooperation with
HSBA (the Hamburg School of Business Administration)
a pilot programme was offered for a concurrent degree of
Bachelor of Arts (B. A.) – Shipping and Ship Finance.

EMPLOYEES, social RESPONSIBILITY, Integrity

social RESPONSIBILITY
“In economically difficult times for the Bank and
our clients, success has nevertheless been achieved
in driving forward projects for the region. Reliability and continuity are things that we want to
hold on to.”
Frank Laurich, Head of Corporate Communication

Not least as a result of the financial market crisis, sustain
ability is now the epitome of solid, forward-looking
action and economic management. An obligation to soci
ety, environmental awareness and social understanding
are becoming factors for success with strategic significance.
And they are factors that need to be balanced with the
ever-present requirement for growth. HSH Nordbank has
a clear mission statement for sustainability and a corre
sponding commitment of its own accord towards clients
and shareholders.

Environmental audit
Since 2005 HSH Nordbank has had its own internal envi
ronmental audit. It lists the consumption figures for
energy, water, waste, paper and CO 2 at our main sites,
along with the environmental costs for business trips.
Compared with the previous year we were able to achieve
a reduction of 5 % across all the consumption figures
mentioned.
Kiel Week, HSH Nordbank Run, Schleswig-Holstein
Music Festival
Three traditional events in northern Germany are closely
linked to HSH Nordbank as their partner. We fly our
flag at the largest sailing event in the world, Kiel Week. In
2010 we will be on board again as partner to the region,
providing financial and planning support. More than
20,000 participants took off from the starting line of the
HSH Nordbank Run through Hamburg’s Hafencity
docklands. The proceeds of EUR 133,000 went to a charity
called “…und los! Kids in the Clubs” (“… let’s go! Kids

in the Clubs”). This helps children whose families cannot
afford to pay sports club dues.
Together with our partners from the Sparkassen-Finanz
gruppe, we are a principal sponsor of the SchleswigHolstein Music Festival. The annual focus on a particular
country was on Germany this time, with the theme
of “Home Turf – Discover Germany,” and drew 141,000
enthusiastic visitors.
The scientific field also received support from HSH Nord
bank. We cooperated with the Institute for the World
Economy (IfW) at the University of Kiel and the Hamburg
Institute of International Economics (HWWI). The tasks
of these renowned research institutions include analysing
regional and international economic relations and providing advice on economic policy.
As of summer 2010 the Bank will no longer lend its name
to the HSH Nordbank Arena. A credible and systematic
restructuring of HSH Nordbank precludes us from continu
ing this commitment to German Bundesliga football.
The Bank’s own HSV fan club will however continue to
support the “Rothosen” (“Red Shorts”).
Growth of the
HSH Nordbank Run

Teams

Runners

Donations
(in ¤)

2002

55

930

2003

73

1,252

5,200.00

2004 1)

207

4,432

25,000.00

2005

340

9,263

40,000.00

2006

467

12,428

55,000.00

2007

762

20,813

105,000.00

2008

964

28,816

150,000.00

2009

808

20,548

133,000.00

2010 (19.6.2010)
1)

called the HSH Nordbank Run since 2004, previously known as the HafenCity Run
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Integrity
“Integrity is an essential part of our corporate policy.
HSH Nordbank’s Management Board, senior management and the employees are committed to the
code of conduction in 2009. This is understood
as a basis to be upgraded.”
Wolfgang Gößmann, Head of Legal and Group Compliance

Complying with and implementing the laws and regula
tions applicable to banks is an integral part of HSH Nord
bank’s corporate responsibility.
Supervisory authorities now lay much more stringent
requirements on banks. This can be attributed to new legal
and regulatory requirements – resulting in part from
the financial crisis – on the one hand, and to significant
compliance risk events in the international financial
services sector on the other.
HSH Nordbank has responded to these by continually developing its Compliance unit and upgrading the instru
ments and monitoring procedures in Compliance’s areas
of responsibility.
Compliance is responsible for monitoring and evaluating
compliance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act and the German Money Laundering Act,
together with the corresponding provisions of the Ger
man Banking Act, including those relating to the preven
tion of fraud.

New Code of Conduct
At regular intervals, Compliance reports to the Board and
to the Audit Committee on the results of its analyses,
controls and checks, the actions found to be necessary and
the measures taken and followed through.
One significant milestone in the development of Compliance was the introduction in 2009 of a Code of
Conduct, based on the compliance systems and processes

newly introduced or expanded during the preceding
years. It is a compilation of all Compliance’s behavioural
guidelines as laid down in detail in internal instructions.
The Code of Conduct, which applies to all HSH Nordbank
staff and management and the Management Board, must
be incorporated into all personal objectives. A Bank-wide
training programme has been run to communicate its
contents to them.

Independent whistleblowing unit
In 2009, HSH Nordbank created what is known as a
whistleblowing unit, which will operate on an international basis. Through it, staff and management can – where
necessary, anonymously – report indications of possible
breaches of Compliance behaviour guidelines. This enhances the Bank’s ability to get early warning of breaches
of the rules and to initiate appropriate courses of action. The whistleblowing unit is staffed by independent
ombudsmen from BDO Warentreuhandgesellschaft.
Zero tolerance where fraudulent actions are suspected
The rules and responsibilities put in place by the Bank for
the investigation and resolution of cases where fraud is
suspected have proven their worth in the course of 2009.
In a number of cases, the Bank has shown its determination to resolve such cases independently and take imme
diate action where the results demonstrate that it is
required. In so doing, we are adhering to our own princi
ple that there is zero tolerance within HSH Nordbank
where there are indications of fraudulent actions or other
breaches of the Code of Conduct.
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UNDERLYING CONDITIONS AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Underlying conditions

Global economy shows signs of recovery after historic
downturn
2009 will go down in the history books as an extremely
turbulent year for the global economy. At the beginning of
the year, the historic slump experienced in many sectors
of the economy stoked fear of a second Great Depression.
Thanks to strong action taken by many governments and
central banks, there were already clear signs of stabilisation
in the economy by spring. Beginning in the summer of
2009, world trade began to rebound largely on the back of
demand from emerging economies in Asia. As an exportdependent economy, Germany benefited more than others
from the recovery. As severe as the economic downturn
was in the first quarter, the recovery began to take hold relatively early. In spite of this, however, the economy contracted by − 5 %, the largest such decline in the post-war
era. The fall in GDP in the euro zone was somewhat
lower at − 4 % due to the relative stability of several
countries, mainly France and to a lesser extent Spain, both
of which tend to rely more on domestic demand.
As in the euro zone, the US did not begin to emerge from
the recession until the third quarter. The recovery was
largely driven by government stimulus programmes and
changes in company inventory cycles. In addition, in
vestment in residential construction ended 14 quarters of
consecutive declines in the third quarter. Total economic
output fell by − 2.4 %, lower than the decline reported in
the euro zone.

Stabilisation of financial markets not without setbacks
While there was a trend towards risk aversion amongst
financial market investors at the start of the year, risk appetite began to grow in spring. For instance, three-month
unsecured interbank lending rates and risk premiums for
corporate bonds fell significantly. There was also a pick

up in the volume of securities issued. The yield on German
federal ten-year bonds peaked in June, but by year-end
it was back at just over 3 % – more or less where it had
started in January. In the US, yields rose faster from
their low of around 2.2 % in mid-January to over 3.6 % by
year’s end.
The yields on two-year German government bonds fell
sharply especially at the beginning of the year. This is
because the European Central Bank (ECB), unlike the Fed
which had already cut the Fed Funds rate to historically
low levels in 2008, continued to make cuts until early May
when rates reached 1 %, where they have also remained
since. At the end of the year, the yields on two-year government bonds in the US and in German were largely stable
in the view of expectation that interest rates will remain at
or near the low level seen in February for a considerable
time. In addition to historically low prime rates, the key
central banks also took measures to stimulate the economy through quantitative easing. The ECB, for instance,
granted banks access to unlimited liquidity in the form
of long-term repo facilities and began its purchase of covered bonds in the summer. The Fed and the Bank of
England went so far as to purchase government bonds.
As investor confidence grew, the euro appreciated against
the US dollar, which had previously benefited from its
position as a safe haven, from lows of around 1.25 in early
May to 1.50 in early December. This was in part driven
by carry trades that pushed the USD lower on the back of
extremely low US rates. In late November, negative reports on the state of Greek public finances however resulted in euro weakness.
The global equity markets also rose sharply over the
course of the year. Boosted by hopes of an economic re-
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bound, the DAX, DJ STOXX 50 and S & P 500 had all
gained more than 60 % from their lows at the beginning
of March by the end of the year. While they had not
recovered to the levels of late-2008 until mid-year, the performance of these markets from mid- to late-2009 reflects a return of more optimistic expectations. Pressure on
many investors to get on board also provided support
to the markets. Overall, the DAX and DJ STOXX 50 reported an annual rise of 24 %, while the S & P 500 saws gains
of 23.5 %.

Focusing the business
The realignment concept adopted at the beginning of
2009 calls for the Bank to focus on its strategic core areas
while at the same time significantly reducing its total
assets. The core business primarily includes regional commitments in the Corporate Clients, Private Banking,
Savings Banks and Real Estate Clients divisions, together
with international activities in the Shipping, Transport
and Renewable Energy sectors. The client-facing units are
supported by the Bank’s financial market activities.

Further challenges for banks
Bank earnings continued to improve as the year progressed, especially for credit institutions with a strong capital market business. In addition to profits realised from
low central bank interest rates, the recovery on the financial markets was the other main catalyst for higher earnings. A number of banks were able to repay the state aid
they had received and once more raise unsecured funds
on the capital markets. The charges reported by banks for
impairment losses and defaults have been falling steadily every quarter since their peak at the end of 2008.

The Bank has furthermore identified non-strategic commitments and special risk positions in various business
areas that will be wound down over the next few years in
a way which will take account of income, liquidity and
risk. The selected credit and capital market portfolios were
pooled into the new Restructuring Unit, created on
1 December 2009, an organisational unit run separately
from the core units and shown as a separate segment
in the consolidated financial statement.

Improved conditions in the capital market business were
met by a significant rise in loan loss provisions as a result
of the economic downturn, which affected banks involved
in the traditional lending business. In view of the ongoing
pressure on banks to improve their capital strength, but
also because of the lower demand caused by the recession, lending in the euro zone over the course of the year
fell to below the level of the previous year.

Business overview
Realignment of HSH Nordbank
HSH Nordbank began a wide-ranging strategic realignment
in 2009. The aim is to exit the financial market and economic crisis with a sustainable business model in place,
while ensuring a stable and profitable future for the
Bank. To this end, a series of measures was implemented
in 2009 to establish the necessary groundwork and
put the Bank’s capital base on a more solid footing.

Good progress has already been made in winding down the
portfolios in the 2009 reporting year. The credit investment business, for example, which in the previous year
had generated heavy losses because of the crisis in the
financial markets, was reduced by a further € 5 billion in
2009 to € 17 billion. Traditional credit portfolios, which
had been transferred to the Restructuring Unit, were in
some cases also significantly scaled down (for example,
in the areas of commodity financing and leasing). HSH
Nordbank’s total assets decreased accordingly at the end of
2009 to € 174.5 billion (previous year: € 208.4 billion)
partly as a result of the success of efforts to wind down
these portfolios. In addition, HSH Nordbank is reducing the size of its German and international branch network as well as the number of its holdings.

Capitalisation completed and risk shield in place
Following the adoption of the new business concept, the
Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of
Schleswig-Holstein provided the Bank with a capital injection of € 3 billion. To conduct this capital increase Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein established HSH Finanzfonds
AöR, a special fund with the legal status of an institu
tion under public law, which then subscribed for new or-
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dinary shares. The fund is financed on equal part by
Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein.
In addition, Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein will provide
security against future risks to the Bank via a second
loss guarantee of up to € 10 billion. This results in a reduction in the Bank’s risk-weighted assets. The guarantee
takes effect as soon as losses sustained in the defined portfolio exceed the Bank’s agreed first-loss piece of € 3.2
billion. HSH Nordbank pays fair market fees for the provision of the guarantee. The Bank intends to reduce
the amount guaranteed, accordingly, as risks decrease.
The capital increase and financial guarantee resulted in a
rise in the Bank’s regulatory capital ratio, which had
previously declined due to losses sustained in 2008. As a
result, the Bank was able to exceed its regulatory capital requirements after implementing a package of measures in 2009.
As at the beginning of 2010, the EU Commission has not
yet granted final approval of the realignment concept
(and the recapitalisation) (see section “EU state-aid proceedings” in this Management Report).

Utilisation of SoFFin guarantees
In order to secure refinancing that could not be readily
obtained due to the financial crisis, the Bank has drawn
on guarantees of € 17 billion in 2009 from the statebacked Special Fund for Financial Market Stabilisation
(SoFFin) for the issue of bonds. This included € 9 billion in bonds issued to investors on the capital market. In
addition we deposited short-dated debt instruments
to a total volume of some € 8 billion with the European
Central Bank (ECB) to increase the collateral pool for
money market transactions. The guarantee facility from
SoFFin totalling up to € 30 billion, which had been
applied for in November 2008, was reduced to € 17 billion at the end of 2009. The SoFFin guarantees remain
in place for issues of € 17 billion backed by these guarantees. Within the framework of this € 17 billion facility,
HSH Nordbank may apply to extend guarantees set to expire in 2010 until 31 December 2010 at the latest.

Cost-cutting programme on track
One of the key components of the realignment is a costcutting initiative consisting of a variety of measures.
Administrative expenses fell by 7.7 % as a result of costcutting measures, which was ahead of the target. This
is due to cutbacks in operating costs and progress made in
reducing headcount. In this area, HSH Nordbank plans
to cut roughly 1,100 full-time positions in Germany and
abroad by 2012. As of 31 December 2009, the number
of positions was down sharply to 3,610, a decline of 715
over last year’s numbers.
Optimisation of processes and structures
In view of the important role of efficient processes and
structures play in the success of the Bank, the Bank
launched a programme in 2009 to improve core crossbank processes and tasks. This primarily focused on
optimising accounting, loan approval and risk management procedures, with a special focus in the area of
control systems. Major progress was already seen by the
end of 2009. The Bank also took steps to strengthen
the internal auditing and compliance functions. Other individual measures not yet implemented will for the
most part be completed in 2010.
New Supervisory Board convened
The first meeting of the Bank’s newly constituted Supervisory Board was held in July 2009. The committee consists of a number of independent experts from the fields
of business and finance. New shareholder representatives include former board members at companies operating in economic sectors relevant to the Bank. Hilmar
Kopper, former spokesperson of the Management Board at
Deutsche Bank and a recognised banking expert, was appointed chairman of the Supervisory Board.
Changes to the Management Board
The Bank’s management was reinforced with the appointment of two new members to the Management Board. We
succeeded in attracting the expert on risk management,
Constantin von Oesterreich, to the Board: he was appointed
for three years with effect from 1 November 2009 with
responsibility for overseeing risk. Also with effect from
1 November 2009, Martin van Gemmeren was appointed
for three years to the Management Board as Head of the Re
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structuring Unit. Dr. Martin van Gemmeren has been at
HSH Nordbank since October 2006, taking responsibility
for a number of areas including work-out management,
and has for several months been in charge of the project
to establish the Restructuring Unit. With effect from
1 December 2009, the Bank’s Management Board has appointed Ulrich Voss as General Agent (Generalbevoll
mächtigter). He is responsible in his capacity of Chief Oper
ating Officer for the Transaction Services and IT / Organisation divisions. Ulrich Voss is an expert in transaction ban
king, bank IT and restructuring. The Bank has also removed three board members in the year under review.

New remuneration system / corporate governance
HSH Nordbank has adopted a new remuneration system
for the members of the Bank’s Management Board.
These are based on new legal requirements. It also took
account of the recommendations of the Corporate
Governance Code. Particular attention was paid to compliance with the guarantee contract with the federal
states.
The new contracts concluded in 2009 and all future contracts will be based on the following principles: a longterm calculation period, no legal entitlement to variable
remuneration until the Bank is in a position to pay
dividends, payouts to be staggered over several years, provisions to claw back payments not yet made and limits
on payments on departure. By implementing the new remuneration system, the Bank is in compliance with
requirements to limit the pay of board members and link
variable payments to the long-term performance of the
Bank. At the same time the system creates the conditions
necessary to gain the services of top-quality experts for
the Bank.
Detailed information on the remuneration of board members in 2009 can be found in the notes to the Group
financial statements (section 59). In addition, each member
of the Supervisory Board and members of the committees formed by the Supervisory Board are listed in the notes
(section 63). The Supervisory Board report contains information on the work of the board and its committees in
2009.
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As a non-listed company, HSH Nordbank voluntarily
accepted the German Corporate Governance Code. HSH
Nordbank’s Declaration of Conformity as per section
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) is included in the corporate governance report of the annual
report. An account of deviations to individual items of the
Code shall be provided in the report.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

Overview of business performance in 2009
HSH Nordbank was able to significantly improve its busi
ness situation in a challenging 2009. The Group net loss for
the year fell sharply to € − 679 million compared with
€ 2,844 million in 2008. The main drivers were substantial
earnings growth on the positive side and significantly

higher provisions for credit risks and the initial expenses
incurred government guarantees on the negative side.
Total assets fell sharply to € 174.5 billion (previous year:
€ 208.4 billion) as a result of the reduction of non-stra
tegic assets. The capitalisation measures in mid-2009 raised
the core capital ratio to 9.5 %.

Earnings situation

Income statement
(¤ m)

Interest income
Interest expenses
Net income on hybrid financial instruments

following
adjustment
1.1.-31.12.2008

Change
absolute

20,664

33,163

-12,499

-37.7

-18,918

-31,112

12,194

-39.2

1.1.-31.12.2009

Change
in %

375

–

375

–

Net interest income

2,121

2,051

70

3.4

Loan loss provisions

-2,794

-1,888

-906

48.0
> -100

-673

163

-836

Net commission income

Net interest income after loan loss provisions

211

270

-59

-21.9

Result from hedging

146

-15

161

> +100

568

-1,127

1,695

> +100

Net income from financial investments

Net trading income

-106

-1,022

916

89.6

Administrative expenses

-830

-899

69

-7.7

Other operating income

30

-166

196

> +100

Net income before restructuring

-654

-2,796

2,142

76.6

Result from restructuring

-124

-172

48

-27.9

Expenses for government guarantees
Net income before taxes
Income tax expenses (-) / income (+)
Net income after taxes
Income from the assumption of losses
Group net loss for the year
Group net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders

-483

–

-483

–

-1,261

-2,968

1,707

57.5
> +100

423

-227

650

-838

-3,195

2,357

73.8

159

351

-192

-54.7

-679

-2,844

2,165

76.1

-9

-35

26

74.3

-670

-2,809

2,139

76.1

Business developments

Significant improvement in total income
Total income – net interest income plus net commission
income, result from hedging, net trading income and net
income from financial investments – rose to € 2,940 million as at 31 December 2009 from the previous year’s
figure of € 157 million, which was hit hard by valuation
effects. This encouraging development is mainly due
to positive effects arising from trading positions, financial
investments and results from hedging. Affected by extraordinary items, net interest income – the largest earnings item and most of it attributable to client-facing
business – exceeded the previous year’s figure by a modest € 70 million.
Net interest income
Net interest income rose from € 2,051 million the previous
year to € 2,121 million, an increase of 3.4 %. Several
factors played their part, not all of them acting in the same
direction. Once again, successful existing business slightly increased the contribution from client-facing areas. Parts
of this rise are due to a higher volume of loans granted
on the basis of earlier commitments and above all to improved margins. The exchange rate of the US dollar,
which averaged higher for the year overall, also had a positive effect. However, the limitations on taking on new
business in view of the critical situation restricted opportunities to boost income more.
One positive effect in the amount of € 375 million resulted
from a revaluation of amortisation and interest cash
flow for hybrid financial instruments through the application of IAS 39.AG8. This effect is shown separately as
net income on hybrid financial instruments under net interest income. The Bank recognised the net present value of loss participations that were to be expected on the
basis of its planning and also of defaulted and postponed
in-terest payments from hybrid financial instruments in
the income statement for the current reporting period.
Conversely, revenue from the investment of equity
capital was significantly lower and income from equity
holdings was sharply reduced.

Net commission income
At € 211 million, net commission income was below the
previous year’s figure of € 270 million. This was due
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to the limitations on new business, as this meant that we
were not able to charge as much in fees on lending
transactions. There was an increase in commission expense
arising from the placement of state-guaranteed bonds.
Over the course of 2009 net commission income has remained roughly stable. A comparison of net commission income in the fourth quarter with the first three quarters makes this clear.

Result from hedging
The result from hedging, which derives from hedges that
are not completely effective, stood at € 146 million – a
significant year-on-year rise (previous year: € − 15 million).
This is mainly due to the structure of the yield curve for
short- and medium-term euro.
Net trading income
The continued stabilisation and recovery of the financial markets last year provided a major boost to net trading
income, which rose to € 568 million – compared to
the previous year’s loss of € 1,127 million. Much of the
income is the result of revaluations, gains on the sale
of trading positions from the credit investment portfolio
(credit investment business), and reversals of write
downs on comparable transactions. The previous year had
seen substantial losses here. Additional positive effects
resulted from foreign currency gains and the valuation of
liabilities categorised as designated at fair value.
Net income from financial investments
Investment book positions in the Credit Investment Portfolio also performed well last year, contributing to the
improvement in net income from financial investments in
the current year. At € − 106 million, net income from
financial investments was a substantial improvement on
the previous year’s figure of € − 1,022 million. Earnings
from the sale and valuation of securities outside the Credit
Investment Portfolio also made a positive contribution
to the result. Impairment losses on equity holdings had a
negative impact.
Significant rise again in loan loss provisions
The continuing deterioration in the overall economic situa
tion in the course of the year under review led us to increase loan loss provisions in relevant sectors and companies once again, this time by a substantial € − 2,794 mil-
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lion. In the previous year, in view of the emerging difficult
situation, we had already created loan loss provisions of
€ − 1,888 million. The loan loss additions comprise € − 2,288
million for specific items and € − 476 million for portfolios. Most of the provisions relate to ship financing, a sector
that is bedevilled by continuing problems. Direct write
downs totalled € − 70 million. Payments received on receivables already written off made a positive contribution
of € 40 million.

Administrative expenses
The administrative expenses reflect the success of our costcutting programme. As at 31 December 2009, they stood
at € − 830 million compared to € − 899 million in the previous year – a drop of 7.7 %. This drop is spread between
operating expenses (€ 45 million) and personnel expenses
(€ 24 million). With operating expenses, there were notable savings in fees, advertising and travel expenses. The
decline in personnel expenses is primarily attributable
to the Bank’s staff reduction programme.
Result from restructuring
The Bank’s realignment led to a result from restructuring
of € − 124 million in 2009. Most of this was spent on severance payments and consultancy fees.
Expenses for government guarantees
The cost of taking up government guarantees in fiscal 2009
totalled € − 483 million, which breaks down as follows:
€ − 118 million for guarantees from the Special Fund for
Financial Market Stabilisation (SoFFin), and € −  365 million for the € 10 billion second loss guarantee from the federal states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein, for
which HSH Nordbank is contractually required to pay an
annual fee. In 2008 total expenses for government guarantees amounted to only € 5 million related exclusively
to SoFFin guarantees drawn on since the end of November 2008. As at 31 December 2009 HSH Nordbank was utilising € 17 billion of the total facility provided.
Income from the assumption of losses
Pro rate participation in losses for the financial year was
shown as income from the assumption of losses. These related to profit participation rights, which expired at the
end of 2009 making it possible to determine the associated

loss participation, as well as to a convertible bond to be
converted into ordinary shares in 2010 in a no-cash transaction.

Significant improvement in results
At € − 1,261 million (previous year: € − 2,968 million), income before tax was roughly in line with the Bank’s
expectations. Positive income tax effects of € 423 million
and income of € 159 million from the assumption of
losses led to a much lower Group net loss for the year of
€ − 679 million (previous year: € − 2,844 million).

Business developments

Net assets and financial position
Restructuring benefits a major feature of change
in the balance sheet
The HSH Nordbank Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2009 had fallen significantly compared to the figure reported at the end of 2008, namely by 16.2 % to € 174,533
million (31 December 2008: € 208,370 million). This
change was driven mainly by the consistent implementation of the restructuring measures, which are aimed at
significantly reducing total assets.
The decline in balance sheet assets can be largely attributed
to substantial reductions in loans and advances to banks
and customers, assets held for trading and financial investments.
Loans and advances to banks fell by € 7,799 million,
around one third, from € 23,340 million at the end of 2008
to € 15,541 million. This substantial decline made a
major contribution to the reduction in total assets. Affected
by restricted new business and exchange rate effects,
loans and advances to customers declined by a substantial
€ 7,053 million (− 6.0 %), from € 117,610 million the pre
vious year to € 110,557 million.
Under the impact of the economic crisis, loan loss provisions rose by a substantial 71.5 % – from € − 2,751 million
as at 31 December 2008 to € − 4,718 million.
Assets held for trading fell heavily by 36.7 % to € 16,879
million. This is above all due to a reduction of the trad
ing portfolio and a fall in positive fair value arising from
derivatives.
The major part of the significant € 6,779 million fall in
financial investments to € 29,732 million (− 18.6 %),
was, in particular, a result of the ongoing reduction in
the credit investment portfolio.
The restriction on business and the reduction in portfolios
were reflected in the liabilities side of the balance sheet by
falls in major items.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Liabilities to banks were down on the back of a sharp
drop in funding requirements, which fell € − 22,907 million, or − 37.2 %, from € 61,498 million to € 38,591
million, and represented the primary factor behind the
drop in total assets. Stable client relations, conversely,
resulted in a much more moderate decline in liabilities to
customers, down by € − 2,666 million or around 5 %.
Securitised liabilities totalled € 53,121 million, equivalent
to a decline of around 9 % on the previous year’s figure
of € 58,200 million.
The liabilities held for trading which consist overwhelmingly of negative fair value arising from derivatives fell by
€ 3,130 million to € 14,649 million (31 December 2008:
€ 17,779 million) in line with the moves in the positive fair
value arising from derivatives.
The decline in subordinated capital of € 850 million –
around 9 % – to € 8,884 million (31 December 2008:
€ 9,734 million) is among other things due to the application of IAS 39.AG8. In the reporting period HSH Nordbank has recognised the net present value of loss participations to hybrid financial instruments that were to be
expected on the basis of our planning and also of defaulted and postponed interest payments from these instruments in the income statement and reduced subordinated
capital accordingly.

Increase in capital base
As part of the capital increase conducted in the second
quarter of 2009, € 3 billion was allocated to HSH Nordbank’s equity capital by an institution established by the
federal states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein.
The negative revaluation reserve improved substantially
against 31 December 2008 and stood at € − 356 million as at 31 December 2009. This change is mainly due
an increase in the value of AfS-securities in the credit
investment portfolio (€ + 302 million). The net loss had a
negative impact on equity. Overall, reported equity
stood at € 4,491 million (31 December 2008: € 2,005 million).
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Balance Sheet
(¤ m)

31.12.2009

following
adjustment
31.12.2008

Change
absolute

Change
in %

Assets
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loan loss provisions
Positive fair value of hedging derivatives
Positive adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges

1,296

1,419

-123

-8.7

15,541

23,340

-7,799

-33.4

110,557

117,610

-7,053

-6.0

-4,718

-2,751

-1,967

71.5

1,684

2,807

-1,123

-40.0

295

427

-132

-30.9

Assets held for trading

16,879

26,655

-9,776

-36.7

Financial investments

29,732

36,511

-6,779

-18.6

Intangible assets

197

246

-49

-19.9

Property, plant and equipment

101

114

-13

-11.4

Investment properties

316

285

31

10.9

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

586

–

586

–

Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets

518

572

-54

-9.4

1,211

726

485

66.8

Other assets

338

409

-71

-17.4

Total assets

174,533

208,370

-33,837

-16.2

-37.2

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

38,591

61,498

-22,907

Liabilities to customers

49,803

52,469

-2,666

-5.1

Securitised liabilities

53,121

58,200

-5,079

-8.7

517

2,194

-1,677

-76.4

Negative fair value of hedging derivatives
Negative adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges
Liabilities held for trading
Provisions

1,085

1,159

-74

-6.4

14,649

17,779

-3,130

-17.6
14.7

1,619

1,412

207

Liabilities relating to disposal groups

19

–

19

–

Current tax obligations

78

101

-23

-22.8

93

24

69

> +100

Other liabilities

Deferred tax obligations

1,583

1,795

-212

-11.8

Subordinated capital

8,884

9,734

-850

-8.7

4,491

2,005

2,486

> +100

2,460

881

1,579

> +100
> +100

Equity
Share capital
Capital reserve

1,509

88

1,421

Retained earnings

1,607

1,354

253

18.7

-356

-562

206

-36.7

Revaluation reserve
Currency conversion reserve
Group loss / profit
Total before non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests
Total equity and liabilities

-90

-85

-5

5.9

-670

284

-954

> -100

4,460

1,960

2,500

> +100

31

45

-14

-31.1

174,533

208,370

-33,837

-16.2
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Reduction in business volume
Corresponding to the fall in total assets, there was an
overall 18.8 % drop in the volume of business as at 31 December 2009 to € 192,976 million. At the same time
the total volume of off-balance sheet liabilities fell significantly by € 10,983 million to € 18,443 million (previous
year: € 29,426 million). The decline is attributable to contingent liabilities (down € 2,064 million) and loan commitments (down € 8,919 million).

Regulatory figures
(%)

Share capital and shareholders
The share capital of HSH Nordbank AG is divided into
246,017,368 registered shares with a notional par value of
€ 10 each. The shares are not traded on an organised
market. The ownership structure as of 31 December 2009
is as follows: the capital increase in June 2009 raised
the joint direct and indirect shareholdings of the Free and
Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of SchleswigHolstein from 59.5 % to 85.5 %, of which 64.18 % is held
by HSH Finanzfonds AöR, owned jointly held by the
two federal states, 10.89 % by Hamburg and 10.43 % by
Schleswig-Holstein. The shareholding of the Savings
Bank Association for Schleswig-Holstein was reduced to
5.31 %, while the groups of investors advised by J. C.
Flowers held 9.19 % of the equity as at 31 December 2009.

Refinancing plan 2009 completed ahead of schedule
Funding conditions continuously improved over the course
of the year under review following considerable uncertainty and caution on the part of investors which characterised the start of the year. In addition to positive signals
from the banking sector and an improvement in early eco
nomic indicators, the stabilisation measures taken by
governments and central banks played a key role in bringing about an improvement in market sentiment and
lay the foundation for a strong revival in issues of non-state
guaranteed bonds. By facilitating secured, short-term
refinancing, the European Central Bank (ECB) helped improve the functioning of the capital market. In the sec
ond half of the year, liquidity in the interbank market began to increase once again.

Tier 1 capital ratio at 9.5 %*)
Total core capital, having declined due to the annual loss in
2008, rose as a consequence of the capital increase conducted in the second quarter to € 8.6 billion as at 31 December 2009 (31 December 2008: € 8.4 billion). The core
capital ratio (including the market risk position) rose to
9.5 %, benefiting not only from the capital increase but
also from the guarantee issued by the states of Hamburg
and Schleswig-Holstein, which results in a reduction in
the bank’s risk-weighted assets. As at 31 December 2008
the Tier 1 capital ratio still stood at 7.5 %.

To cover its funding requirements, HSH Nordbank placed
three bonds guaranteed by SoFFin with a total volume
€ 9 billion and maturities of two to three years on the capital market. Additional guaranteed debt instruments
with a total volume of around € 8 billion and maturities
not exceeding one year were lodged with the ECB to
enlarge our collateral pool for money-market transactions.

Total regulatory capital as at the end of the 2009 climbed
to € 13.2 billion (31 December 2008: € 12.9 billion).
The regulatory capital ratio also rose noticeably to 14.5 %
(31 December 2008: 11.6 %).

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Equity ratio (solvency ratio)

15.1

12.2

Total ratio / Regulatory capital ratio

14.5

11.6

Tier 1 capital ratio

10.0

8.3

9.5

7.5

Tier 1 capital ratio
(including market risk items)
*)

Figures in text and tables before adoption of financial statements

The financial crisis and the Bank’s financial situation made
raising funds extremely difficult in the financial year
under review. In May 2009 the Standard & Poor’s rating
agency downgraded the long-term and short-term ratings of HSH Nordbank, each crucial in raising funds. This
downgrade of our short-term rating resulted in investors
who are only permitted to invest in bonds of a certain rating not renewing time deposits at the Bank once these
expired.
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The stabilisation of the bank, in particular the capital
increase carried out in June, renewed investor interest for
non-guaranteed issues launched by the Bank. This allowed the bank to place increased amount of unsecured
debt instruments and Pfandbriefe, mainly with institutional and private investors in Germany. The refinancing
plan for 2009 as a whole was therefore already met in
October. The overall liquidity situation has stabilised and
the Bank was able to raise more funds than anticipated.
At the end of 2009, the volume of privately placed debt in
struments amounted to € 3.8 billion for longer term
unsecured and € 1.6 billion for secured bonds (Pfandbriefe).
Spreads on the Bank’s debt instruments fell considerable
in the second half of the year to levels comparable to similar competitors.
To further raise potential funding via repo facilities, the
Bank has lodged corporate loans and securities from
structured portfolios with central banks around the world.
These measures led to significant growth in the freely
available collateral pool at the ECB and elsewhere, which
provided an additional boost to short-term liquidity.
The volume of deposits has furthermore stabilised since
mid-year, which enabled the bank to significantly reduce the amount of central bank repo facilities it had to
draw on. Further measures to ease refinancing included
the systematic management of new business and the reduction of assets under the terms of the Bank’s realignment
plan.
More extensive information on the liquidity and risk
situation may be found in the Risk Report.

Employees
Progress in reducing headcount
As one of the key components of its realignment, the Bank
launched a cost-cutting programme that includes staff
reductions. It was decided to reduce the full-time workforce
by a total of 1,100 – 760 in Germany, 340 abroad – by
2012, in a transparent process that would minimise social
consequences. At the end of 2009, job cuts were ahead
of schedule. The number of full-time staff was reduced by
715 to 3,610, while the total number of employees1) at

the end of 2009 was 4,188. Changes in the scope of consol
idation also contributed to the decline.
In early April, the Management Board and Works Council
signed a works agreement that cleared the way for vol
untary redundancies. This was expanded in September
2009 to include arrangements on balancing interests
and establishing a social compensation plan. These agreements regulate the concerns of the employees and compensatory measures. As per agreement, there will be no
layoffs for operational reasons until October 2012. The
parties agreed to severance agreements, early retirement
plans and partial retirement programmes as methods
available to reduce the headcount.
In view of the required restructuring of many processes at
the Bank, the setup of the new Restructuring Unit and
the closing of individual branches, major restructuring was
necessary in 2009. This in some cases resulted in transfers to other units and employees being assigned new duties. The Bank implemented a range of personnel-re
lated measures to limit the potential risks associated with
the restructuring and a periodic rise in staff turnover in
the year under review. These included employee and executive training. A further focus was on recruiting external specialists as a means of strengthening key areas within the Bank.

Business developments
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31.12.2009

31.12.2008

4,188

5,070

Women

1,905

2,240

Men

2,283

2,830

Employees in Germany

3,490

4,087

698

983

4,094

4,750

HSH Nordbank AG

3,694

4,105

Full-time employees (FTE)

3,610

4,325

Total employees in Group 1)
of whom:

Employees abroad
Permanent Group employees 2)
of whom:

Key figures
Maternity and parental leave 3)
Pensioners and surviving dependents / early retired
Part-time employees (%)

174

175

1,733

1,743

14.7

17.2

Turnover rate 3) (%)

8.8

4.8

Sickness rate 3) (%)

4.1

3.4

Average age 3) (years)

40

39

New employees 3)

40

309

1)

Headcount

2)

Total number of employees excluding trainees, casual workers and interns.

3)

Only head offices; does not include branches or subsidiaries.

Business management improved
HSH Nordbank employs an internal indicator system to
manage its business. This is designed to measure the performance of the business areas, as well as individual
businesses and products on a risk basis. Key internal management indicators here include RaRoC (risk-adjusted
return on capital) and value added (gross income less liquidity, administrative, risk and capital costs). In addition, key figures, e. g. new business margin and cross-selling income, are used to quantify success.
In conjunction with the realignment of the Bank, efforts
are currently underway to upgrade the indicator and
reporting system in order to meet expanded management
requirements stemming from the financial market and
economic crises. These focus primarily on growing the
business in a way that preserves liquidity, on limiting
risk-weighted assets and on the efficient use of venture
capital.

As part of efforts to scale back the international branch
network, the post of regional head (previously in charge of
operational management at the Bank’s individual international offices) was abolished. The global heads therefore
now have exclusive and direct responsibility for the
management and coordination of business activities at the
international offices.
The business activities bundled in the Restructuring Unit
will be wound down in a way to minimise risk while
protecting profitability. To help achieve this goal, new
management reports with special key financial ratios
were developed with the aim of ensuring an efficient winddown of portfolios.
A special report was also established related to the portfolio secured via a second loss guarantee from the states
as a means of effectively monitoring the protective effect
using the relevant key financial ratios.
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Segment reporting
New segment structure of HSH Nordbank
The strategic realignment of HSH Nordbank involved a
realignment of business areas, and hence the adjustment
of its segment structure. The Bank groups its core activ
ities into the segments Sector Specialist Bank, Regional
Bank and Other. A further segment, the new Restruc
turing Unit, was set up to pool non-strategic business and
special risk positions. The Sector Specialist Bank segment includes the Bank’s activities in selected sectors of
the Shipping, Transport and Renewable Energy core
areas. The Regional Bank segment includes activities in
core areas with a mainly regional orientation: Corporate Clients, Real Estate Clients, Savings Banks and Private
Banking. The segment Other includes the financial
market business, with the central refinancing function for
the Group and the Bank’s overall positions, including

Segment overview
(¤ m)

Total income
Loan loss provisions

Net income before restructuring

Assets (¤ billion)

Specialist
Bank

strategic equity holdings. The results of financial market
transactions with corporate and private clients continue to be reported in the other segments. All the previous year’s figures have been adjusted in line with
the new segment structure for improved comparability.

Segment performance during the year under review
Despite the observable effects of the economic and financial crisis, those segments focusing on lending succeeded
in increasing overall earnings in 2009. However, the Sector
Specialist Bank segment continued to suffer significant
loan loss provisions. The Restructuring Unit accounts for
the largest risk provision item. In financial market business, the Bank generated positive overall earnings during
the year under review in an uncertain market environment (segment Other). Details of developments within the
individual segments are shown below.

Regional
Bank

Other

Consolidation
Core Bank

Total
Core Bank

Restructuring
Unit

Consolidation
Restructuring
Unit

Total Restructuring Unit

2009

598

595

594

-7

1,780

1,194

-34

1,160

2008

576

530

264

212

1,582

-1,454

29

-1,425

2009

-713

-135

25

-30

-853

-1,941

–

-1,941

2008

-290

-246

-98

44

-590

-1,298

–

-1,298

2009

-279

181

507

-31

378

-998

-34

-1,032

2008

152

41

18

207

418

-3,243

29

-3,214

2009

32

25

40

1

98

77

–

77

2008

31

29

55

-2

113

95

–

95
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Sector Specialist Bank segment
Sector Specialist Bank
(¤ m)

Net interest income
Net commission income
Net trading income
Net income from financial investments
Total income

2009

2008

567

442

28

58

72

-19

27

65

-58

-54

-3

> -100

Change in %

598

576

4

Loan loss provisions

-713

–290

> 100

Administrative expenses

-165

-136

21

Other operating income

1

2

-50

-279

152

> -100

788

583

35

32

31

3

Net income before restructuring
Average equity
Segment assets (¤ billion)

Focusing on core commitments
The Sector Specialist Bank segment comprises HSH NordBank’s business in Shipping, Transport and Renewable
Energy. After transfer of its non-strategic business to the
Restructuring Unit to be wound down, the core area
of Shipping continues to service clients in all important
regions and business areas of the shipping market.
With segment assets of € 21 billion, Shipping accounts
for around three quarters of the total HSH Nordbank
shipping credit portfolio. The core area of Transport remains a partner of the global aviation industry. In the
Infrastructure sector, Transport concentrates on markets
in Europe and Asia, in the Rail subdivision solely on
Europe. The separation of non-strategic activities has reduced Transport’s business to around four fifth of overall credit volume. The core area of Renewable Energy comprises the European wind- and solar-power markets –
approximately 60 % of the Bank’s total former portfolio.
Gradual market stabilisation
Business developments in this segment in 2009 were largely dominated by the market downturns at the beginning
of the year, followed by signs of relaxation in the second
half of the year. Transport volumes posted significant
declines in the first half of the year – particularly in container shipping and crude oil transports, which together

account for a large proportion of the segment’s assets. Slower growth on the supply side did not prevent an over
supply from developing, which triggered substantial falls
in charter rates and ship values. Increased stabilisation
tendencies emerged in the second half of the year. Freight
volumes recovered on several routes, and charter rates
and ship values were not far behind them. Heavy import
demand from China quickly led the bulk goods transport markets to find a bottom, and over the rest of the year
charter rates once more returned to relatively high levels.
The difficult conditions in 2009 also presented the aviation
industry with major challenges. Reduced freight and
passenger volumes led the airlines to cut capacities, and
the aircraft manufacturers to manage their deliveries
more actively. In the final months of the year under review,
passenger and freight volumes slowly rose.
The market for renewable energy has been relatively
stable in Europe, the region we focus on. In the two most
important segments, wind and solar power, the expansion in capacity continued last year – albeit at a slower
pace than in previous years. The largest growth drivers,
although at lower levels, are incentive measures and the
falling cost of solar modules.
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Income ahead of the previous year
In an overall environment that was extraordinarily difficult, HSH Nordbank’s Sector Specialist Bank segment generated remarkable income of € 598 million (previous
year: € 576 million). This was mainly attributable to its
success in the financing business with existing clients.
Net interest income benefited most, reaching € 567 million by the end of 2009 (previous year: € 442 million).
The lower level of new business was more clearly reflected
in net commission and trading income. Support came
from successful sales of hedging tools to guard against fluctuations in interest rates, currencies and commodity
prices. Even so, commission income fell to € 58 million
(previous year: € 72 million) and net trading income
to € 27 million (previous year: € 65 million). Write downs
on division-specific equity holdings generated a net
income from financial investments of € − 54 million (previous year: € − 3 million).
While earnings performance was good, the difficult situ
ation of many shipping and transport companies combined with existing market uncertainties to make loan
loss provisions of € − 713 million necessary (previous
year: € − 290 million). This was composed of € − 499 million for individual default risks (previous year: € − 126
million) and € − 214 million for portfolio risks (previous
year: € − 164 million). Administrative expenses totalled
€ − 165 million (previous year: € − 136 million).
The significantly higher loan loss provisions resulted in the
Sector Specialist Bank segment posting net income before
restructuring of € − 279 million (previous year: € 152 million).

Business developments
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Regional Bank segment
Regional Bank
(¤ m)

Net interest income

2009

2008

Change in %

10

469

428

Net commission income

90

93

-3

Net trading income

39

32

22
87

Net income from financial investments

-3

-23

595

530

12

Loan loss provisions

-135

-246

-45

Administrative expenses

-224

-241

-7

Other operating income

-55

-2

> -100

Net income before restructuring

181

41

> 100

Average equity

482

562

-14

25

29

-14

Total income

Segment assets (¤ billion)

Stronger regional focus
Regional Bank covers HSH Nordbank’s activities in the
mainly regionally orientated fields of Corporate Clients,
Real Estate Clients, Private Banking and Savings Banks.
The Bank’s realignment allows the Corporate Clients core
area to strengthen its regional corporate clients business.
The refinancing business with leasing companies and leveraged buy-out (LBO) business conducted abroad will
be wound down within the Restructuring Unit. This core
area therefore retains about half of the segment assets
of the overall Corporate Client portfolio. The Bank’s real
estate business focuses on its core region of northern
Germany and on German metropolitan regions. We also
assist domestic clients with their investments in Western European markets. No other foreign activities will be
pursued within the Core Bank. The Real Estate Clients
core area with segment assets of € 12 billion, is therefore
focusing its involvement on approximately 40 % of the
Bank’s overall real estate portfolio. HSH Nordbank’s Private Banking core area continues to be tailored to the
needs of high-net-worth private clients and foundations
with complex asset structures. The Savings Banks core
area concentrates primarily on integrated business solutions for savings banks and on debt and liquidity man
agement for public-sector clients.

Economic climate perceptibly calmer
Business with corporate and real estate clients was central
to the performance of the Regional Bank segment in
2009, especially as these two areas account for the bulk of
segment assets. Because of the difficult economic environment, many of our corporate clients were significantly
more reluctant to invest than they had been in previous
years. There was also less demand for operating loans. Instead, companies concentrated principally on safeguarding their liquidity. Furthermore, refinancing terms were
more rigorous, and new loans were therefore extended
on a very selective, risk-adjusted basis. The real estate sector posted a sharp decline in transaction volumes. In
rental markets, demand for office space continued its decline until the end of 2009 – though pressure on office
rents did relax somewhat towards year-end. Some individual properties in central locations, conversely, proved
stable – and slightly more space was turned over in this
market segment than in 2008. While the trend for a
major portion of Western European residential real estate
markets continued to be negative, the German residential market benefits from being less cyclical than others
and prices and values are more robust.
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In Private Banking, the crisis in the financial markets
made investors far more risk-averse with regard to securities. As the markets settled down over the course of the
year, there was an increase in demand for security-oriented
forms of investment. Deposit business was affected by
low interest rates and tough competition. With the markets
settling down, business in the Savings Banks division
has picked up. Private savings bank clients showed more
interest in attractive forms of investment as the year
progressed.

Income ahead of the previous year
Against the backdrop of difficult general conditions and
low demand, our new business volume lagged behind the
previous year’s level. We focused on rolling-over loans
to existing customers. Income nevertheless rose to € 595
million (previous year: € 530 million), and higher margins, reflecting the altered risk situation, had a positive
effect on net interest income, which reached € 469 million (previous year: € 428 million). Despite reduced new
business opportunities, net commission and trading income posted stable performance last year, reaching € 90
million and € 39 million respectively (previous year:
€ 93 million and € 32 million). An increase in deposits,
moreover, was an encouraging sign of client confidence.
The increase in default risks caused by the economic
trend created a higher corporate loan loss provisioning requirement. Real estate clients were generally able to
generate stable income from their properties, so the loan
loss provisioning requirement in this area was comparatively low. In all, we booked net additions to loan loss provisions in the amount of € − 135 million (previous year:
€ − 246 million). Provisions for individual borrowers were
increased by € − 144 million, while there was a net release of € 9 million from portfolio value adjustments. More
stringent cost management reduced administrative expenses to € − 224 million (previous year: € − 241 million).
As a result of these developments, the Regional Banking
segment posted net income before restructuring of € 181
million (previous year: € 41 million).

Business developments
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segment Other
Segment Other
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Change in %

Net interest income

528

559

-6

Net commission income

-11

-12

8

17

-250

> 100

Net trading income
Net income from financial investments
Total income
Loan loss provisions

60

-33

> 100

594

264

> 100

25

-98

> -100

Administrative expenses

-172

-250

-31

Other operating income

60

102

-41

Net income before restructuring

507

18

> 100

Average equity

202

489

-59
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-27

Segment assets (¤ billion)

The Others segment includes financial market business
and the central refinancing function for the Group as
well as the Bank’s overall positions, with the Corporate
Investments and Corporate Services areas. The results
of financial market transactions with corporate and private clients continue to be reported in the other segments.

of own liabilities and from not servicing hybrid equity instruments. The Corporate Services area includes the
Bank’s overall costs, as well as the results from the staff
and service departments that are not allocated to other
segments.

Stable refinancing
The realigned financial market business areas will in the
future focus on their core competencies in risk management for clients in the Bank’s core areas. An important
field is the management of interest rate, currency and
commodity price risk. This segment also handles all the
Bank’s refinancing activities (management and placement), as well as looking after institutional clients and investors. Selected portfolios and activities that do not
form part of the core business of HSH Nordbank AG were
transferred to the Restructuring Unit to be wound down.
Examples of these are the structured financing business
with institutional clients and the Bank’s investment
activities in the Credit Investment Portfolio.

Several factors were responsible for the development of the
segment’s income during the year under review. Sentiment in the financial markets was better, and our business
performance in that area was positive. The Bank was
able, for example, to conduct successful client business in
sales and trading financial market products. Cross-selling
to clients in the other business areas, some of which relates
to products for investment and risk management, held
up well in relation to reduced new client business because
we capitalised more effectively on our existing portfolio.
Higher-than-planned income from business with institutional clients, moreover, partly made up for declining
revenue from lending business. Our expanded range of re
financing products also proved successful, particularly
securities relating to interest rates and currencies.

The Corporate Investments area includes central portfolios such as the Core Bank’s strategic equity holdings, as
well as central income contributions not attributable to
other segments such as income from the fair valuation

The Others segment posted total income of € 594 million
(previous year: € 264 million). The segment’s loan loss
provisions improved to a net release of € 25 million (previous year: € − 98 million), which can be attributed to
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lower provisioning expense for financial institutions in the
capital markets area and in central portfolios. Admin
istrative expenses fell to € − 172 million (previous year:
€ − 250 million), which is evidence of initial success in
the reorganisation of financial market areas.
Helped by a positive result in financial markets, the
segment Other posted total net income before restructuring of € 507 million (previous year: € 18 million).

Business developments
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Restructuring Unit segment
Restructuring Unit
(¤ m)

Net interest income
Net commission income
Net trading income
Net income from financial investments
Total income
Loan loss provisions

2009

2008

Change in %

742

814

-9

92

166

-45
> 100

509

-1,478

-149

-956

84

1,194

-1,454

> 100
50

-1,941

-1,298

Administrative expenses

-273

-288

-5

Other operating income

22

-203

> 100
69

Net income before restructuring
Average equity
Segment assets (¤ billion)

New segment pools portfolios set to be wound down
The Restructuring Unit (RU), which has its own Board
member in charge, started work on 1 December 2009. All
the previous year’s figures for the areas transferred have
been adjusted in line with the new segment structure for
improved comparability. The Restructuring Unit is cen
tral element of HSH Nordbank’s realignment programme.
It pools portfolios that have been hived off from the
Bank’s focused core business and are slotted for winding
down. It comprises business in the lending and capital
markets, which at the beginning of 2009 accounted for
about half of HSH Nordbank’s total assets at the beginning of 2009. At the end of 2009, following considerable
initial successes in the Unit’s work, this business still
accounted for total assets of € 77 billion. In addition to
special risk positions, non-strategic portfolios which
are to be discontinued in order to focus on the business
model will also be wound down in the Restructuring
Unit. By clearly separating responsibilities and authority
for the Restructuring Unit portfolios from HSH Nord
bank’s core business, the Bank seeks to reduce and dispose
of the portfolios more quickly and in a way which will
take account of income, liquidity and risk.
The Restructuring Unit posted a net income before restructuring of € − 998 million in the year under review.

-998

-3,243

1,640

1,421

15

77

95

-19

Organisation and management of the Restructuring
Unit
The Restructuring Unit, which has been established as
a unit independent from the Bank’s market and trading
areas, is organised in three divisions: one focuses on
winding down lower-risk lending business, one services
problem loans, and the third is responsible for capital
market portfolios. The Restructuring Unit also has a management unit that provides analytical and administrative support for its operations. The Bank provides the Restructuring Unit with central staff and service functions
and IT infrastructure.
Portfolio reduction, in which some progress has already
been made, is conducted in accordance with defined principles such as limiting losses in value, exploiting writeup potential, minimising liquidity strain, and cost efficiency. The Bank is implementing a specialist management
reporting system to ensure that the winding-down process
is optimally controlled.
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Segment

Restructuring Unit

Portfolios
(¤ m)

Total income

Loan loss provisions

Net income before restructuring

Segment assets
(¤ billion)

Real estate
business

Other lending
business

Credit investment portfolio

Public finance
business

Other capital
market
business

Total

2009

189

451

165

-3

392

1,194

2008

233

560

-1,775

13

-485

-1,454

2009

-696

-1,061

-6

–

-178

-1,941

2008

-244

-552

17

–

-519

-1,298

2009

-577

-715

101

-9

202

-998

2008

-283

-124

-1,829

7

-1,014

-3,243

2009

16

23

16

14

8

77

2008

17

28

20

16

14

95

Lending and capital market portfolios
The Restructuring Unit’s portfolios consist of credit and
capital market portfolios.
Credit portfolios are being wound down within the Restructuring Unit by the two responsible units, which focus
on lower-risk business and problem loans. Credit business
includes:
− real estate business abroad and
− other lending business.
The capital market portfolios are being wound down by
the unit with corresponding responsibility. They include:
−	credit investment business (credit investment portfolio)
−	non-strategic assets in the public finance business and
− other capital market business.
Below, more information is provided on the development of the principal portfolios of the segment Restructuring Unit.

Real estate business
In the course of its realignment, HSH Nordbank is concentrating its real estate business principally on Germany.
Activity abroad, much of it in the USA, the United
Kingdom, France, the Netherlands and Scandinavia, is no
longer conducted within the Core Bank. The same
applies to business with certain groups of domestic clients.
In the business areas set to be wound down, extensions
and restructuring loans are granted only if this is essential

for the avoidance of losses. As at 31 December 2009
the entire real estate asset portfolio set to be wound down
within the Restructuring Unit had a total value of € 16
billion.
The aforementioned international real estate markets
were very weak in 2009, mainly because of the economic
crisis. After substantial falls in values and rentals in
2008 and the first half of 2009, the second half of 2009
brought a certain degree of stabilisation of the real
estate valuations in many markets.
Against this backdrop, the earnings performance of
the real estate portfolio within the Restructuring Unit during the year under review was subdued. Total income
came to € 189 million (previous year: € 233 million). We
increased loan loss provisioning by € − 696 million to
take account of market conditions in foreign markets, par
ticularly the USA, the United Kingdom and Scandinavia.
All in all, the Unit posted a net income before restructuring
of € − 577 million (previous year: € − 283 million).
The holding in our subsidiary company HSH Real Estate
AG was also transferred to the Restructuring Unit. HSH
Nordbank is considering its strategic options for its shares
in this company.
HSH Real Estate AG continued to restructure its business
model during the year under review, while maintaining its
role as a fund initiator for institutional and private inves

Business developments

tors. With its subsidiaries LB Immo Invest, US-Treuhand
and HGA Capital, HSH Real Estate covers a wide spectrum as fund initiator. HSH Real Estate has discontinued
its activities in consultancy and project development.

Other lending business
Other lending business comprises portfolios in the areas
of shipping, transport, renewable energy and corporate
clients. The Restructuring Unit primarily classifies them
by their risk content. Certain commitments in the area
of shipping that no longer are in line with the Bank’s strategic guidelines are being wound down. These represented an asset portfolio of € 8 billion as at 31 December 2009,
with its composition in terms of region, type / size class
of ship and financing type similar to that of the Core Bank
portfolio. The other major credit portfolios that were
transferred to the RU are Commodity Financing (€ 2 billion), the North American energy business portfolio
(€ 2 billion), and two portfolios in the corporate client segment, namely leasing-refinancing business (€ 6 billion)
and the foreign leveraged buy-out (LBO) portfolio (€ 5 billion). Especially good progress was made with the down
sizing of the commodity and leasing portfolios during 2009.
Business development in 2009 was heavily affected by
the market slumps in these sectors. Demand in the shipping markets fell sharply during the year. The first indi
cation of a relaxation emerged only towards the end of
2009, and these varied widely from one type of ship to
another. In the difficult economic environment, commodity (raw materials) prices also posted sharp transitory
falls. In the energy sector the crisis in the financial markets triggered a liquidity shortage that impacted on the
Bank’s clients. The German leasing sector suffered from a
severe decline in new business and difficult refinancing
terms in 2009.
All in all, “Other lending business” posted a net income
before restructuring of € − 715 million (previous year:
€ − 124 million). Market conditions forced massive increases in loan loss provisioning in the shipping, commodity
finance and LBO portfolios totalling € − 1,061 million (previous year: € − 552 million). The result was supported by
stable earnings of € 451 million (previous year: € 560 million).
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Credit investment portfolio
Credit investment business, i. e. the Bank’s credit investment portfolio (CIP), was already earmarked to be completely wound down in 2008. The CIP was responsible for
the bulk of the Bank’s losses in the course of the financial
market crisis.
In the 2009 fiscal year, market opportunities were taken
to reduce the portfolio by a further € 5 billion to € 17 billion (previous year: € 22 billion). As at the end of 2007
the portfolio volume still totalled € 30 billion. Positive effects on earnings in 2009 were partly attributable to the
substantial recovery in market prices in most asset classes. Less creditworthy assets benefited from improving
sentiment, and from investors’ increasing risk appetite.
Collateralised debt obligations (CDOs) and corporate and
financial bonds achieved substantial increases in value
during 2009 as compared with 2008. Most of the income
statement write downs related to structured products
such as RMBS of Home Equity Loans (securitised residential U. S. mortgages) and collateralised loan obligations
(CLOs, securitised European and American corporate
loans).
In this environment, winding down the portfolios generated net income before restructuring of € 101 million
(previous year: € − 1,829 million). That figure includes a
valuation result of € 140 million (previous year: € − 1,574
million). In addition, the revaluation reserve rose by € 308
million (previous year: € − 298 million).
Unrealised losses in the Group’s credit investment portfolio were further reduced, to € 1.1 billion (31 December
2008: € 1.8 billion). Under IFRS, unrealised losses arise
within the “loans and receivables” (lar) asset category
from valuation losses that are not classified as solvencyrelated permanent impairments.

Public finance business
Public finance business is one of the capital market portfolios that are set to be wound down. Over the next few
years the Bank will take opportunities arising in the capital market for the steady reduction of its public cover
pools, within prescribed statutory limits. The Bank intends
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to continue conducting some business with public-sector
Pfandbriefe as a refinancing source within the Core Bank.
The volume will be adjusted in line with the new business model. Remaining assets in the discontinued Public
finance business stood at a total value of € 14 billion as
at the end of 2009.

Other capital market business
Many financial institutions were hit hard by the crisis in
the financial markets. In this light of this it was decided
that the Bank’s commitments to international financial
institutions would be substantially reduced, and portfo
lios not regarded as core business would be wound down
completely. At the beginning of 2010 the Bank took advantage of the recovery in the markets to terminate the
so-called Omega transactions, which had generated
losses in the course of the crisis in the financial markets
but contributed a positive result in 2009. The selected
portfolio of loans to financial institutions was reduced by
€ 6 billion during 2009, particularly as loans reached
the end of their terms. As at the end of 2009, total asset
volume still stood at € 8 billion. After an extraordinarily
difficult 2008, financial institutions benefited substantially during the year under review from the general market recovery and government stabilisation programmes.
Against this backdrop, this portfolio generated a
positive result of € 202 million in 2009 (previous year:
€ − 1,014 million).

Outlook
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OUTLOOK

The following sections should be read in conjunction with
the other chapters in this Management Report. These
forward-looking statements at this time are based on our
beliefs and assumptions made using information currently available to us. The statements rely on a number of
assumptions concerning future events and are subject
to uncertainties, risks, and other factors, many of which
are outside of our control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements. Therefore
actual results may differ from the following future-looking statements.

Anticipated underlying conditions
Sluggish recovery for global economy
The global economy looks set to continue its recovery, with
global output expected to return to growth following
the slump in 2009. The strongest force driving the recovery will once again be the Asian emerging markets,
with Central and Eastern Europe economies not far behind.
Moderate growth in Latin America is also expected.
In our view, the US and the euro zone economies will experience a slowdown in their respective recoveries in
2010. Though exports should continue to grow, the boost
to growth from the inventory cycle and the impact of
fiscal programmes will gradually fade. High unemployment on both sides of the Atlantic will hurt consumer
demand. The ongoing problem of relatively low capacity
utilisation rates as well as uncertainty surrounding
future sales prospects will furthermore dampen the appetite of companies to invest. There is also the risk that
the pressure to consolidate in the banking sector will limit companies’ access to credit. Towards the end of the
year, the recovery should gradually become self-sustaining.

In view of long-term pressures related primarily to the
need to reduce public debt which rose sharply during the
crisis, growth in these economic regions should remain
depressed into 2011.
2010 will be also a challenging year for banks. In the euro
zone alone, the ECB forecasts additional write-downs of
€ 187 billion, with the lending business strongly hit here.
At the same time banks will seek to maintain or improve
their capital base in view of stricter regulations in this area.
In addition, the European Commission has called on
several state-backed banks in the euro zone to reduce their
total assets. This should result in further consolidation
in the banking sector.
In view of the sluggish economic recovery and low inflation at this time, the main central banks are expected
to be extremely cautious in rolling back their highly expansionary policies. Both the Fed and the ECB have
announced that they will allow several liquidity-boosting
measures currently in place to expire in the first quarter.
The expectation of rate hikes by investors could raise the
yields on two-year government bonds. We also expect
a major increase in yields on ten-year government bonds.
Yields on US treasuries should experience a strong rise
in yields, as extremely high supply, lower demand from the
Fed, uncertainty surrounding the future impact of high
public debt, as well as the risk of inflation and exchange
rate volatility act to restrain demand. The euro may
continue to weaken in the months to come on the back
of the debate on the poor state of public finances in
several euro zone member states. Thereafter, the euro
may well strengthen against the US dollar because of
the major structural adjustments that the USA still faces.
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On the equity markets the dynamic recovery and now
very optimistic expectations of corporate profits increase
the probability that the markets will experience more
muted growth. But, in view of the lack of alternatives, this
is offset to a certain extent by the pressure to invest.

Anticipated business situation
Core areas of HSH Nordbank strengthened for the future
Key changes were made to help create a sustainable structure for the Bank in the year under review. The Bank’s
restructuring concept was drafted and individual measures
were implemented in close coordination with the Free
and Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of Schleswig-
Holstein as the guarantor as well as the EU Commission.
Although the EU Commission has made no final decision
in the matter (see below “EU state-aid proceedings”),
much progress has been made in restructuring HSH Nordbank as of the beginning of 2010 and we will continue
to rigorously pursue this plan in 2010.
One of the main goals of the Bank is to continue to wind
down non-strategic portfolios and risk positions at the
internal Restructuring Unit set up at the end of 2009. This
will be accompanying by a further major reduction in
total assets. The spin-off and bundling of portfolios will sig
nificantly relieve the remaining strategic business areas
at the Core Bank. In connection with vast improvements
made to the lending and risk processes, the focus on
core activities will create a strong basis for it to increasingly concentrate on the profitable client business in
2010 and 2011. In addition to existing business which pro
duced higher income in 2009, new business will once
again play a key role on the back of a rise in the demand
for credit in 2010. The Bank will take a risk-sensitive
approach and maintain business volume at the Core Bank
at a steady rate. The tighter meshing of the client-facing
units with the financial markets unit should provide a significant boost to the Bank’s cross-selling business. The
income base of HSH Nordbank (incl. the Restructuring
Unit) will decrease in size over the coming years as total
business volume falls.

In applying IAS 39.AG8 we have recognised the net
present value of loss participations that were to be expected on the basis of our planning and also of defaulted
and postponed interest payments from hybrid financial
instruments in the income statement for the current
reporting period. Given the same planning assumptions,
this means that there will be no relief in future financial statements for actual defaults on coupon payments
or loss participation. Moreover, given an unchanged
basis for estimation, expense will be recognised in coming periods arising from the gradual reversal of the
discounting effect (known as the pull to par effect).
Although the outlook in many industries and sectors has
improved over recent months, conditions for lending
remain difficult as a result of the impact of the economic
downturn and continued sluggish economic growth.
This may mean that income will be lower than expected
and that default risks will remain high for banks. We
continue to see longer-term challenges in shipping, which
is a key business area for the Bank. We therefore also
expect high loan loss provisions in 2010. However, these
should remain significantly below last year’s levels
should the macroeconomic indicators continue to stabilise.
A large portion of expected value adjustments relate
to wind-down portfolios bundled in the Restructuring Unit.
The ongoing reduction and disposal of portfolios will
reduce potential loan loss provisions here. This applies to
charges related to risk positions in the capital market
business, too, which have been significantly reduced starting as far back as 2007.
In view of staff cuts, which were effectively completed in
2009 and which played a major role in the lowering of
administrative expenses, there is less room for cost reductions in 2010. In the area of human resources, we expect
higher costs for training and in some cases also for recruiting as part of restructuring activities and for efforts to
strengthen risk management. Our goal is to further reduce
operating expenses.
Overall, we are expecting HSH Nordbank to post a loss
in 2010. We anticipate that earnings in 2011 will be better
than 2010.

Outlook

Anticipated refinancing situation
Broad based refinancing mix
As conditions on the financial market normalise, banks
will increasingly be able to raise funds on their own,
i. e. without state guarantees. This will be done primarily
through unsecured bonds and Pfandbriefe. A reduction
in total assets as a result of the financial crisis lowers the
overall refinancing requirements.
HSH Nordbank plans for 2010 and 2011 to pursue a
balanced approach to refinancing its lower business volume on its own. Under the Bank’s issue plan, it will
place increased amounts of unsecured bonds and Pfandbriefe with institutional investors in Germany. Funds
are expected to be raised through secured funding channels, such as securitisations, commercial loans and
development banks. In the short-term maturity band, the
Bank has access to time and sight deposits by banks
and customers. In addition to the expansion of the interbank repo business, we also use central banks around
the world as a secure source of liquidity to meet our shortterm funding requirements. In spite of success in sta
bilising and realigning the Bank, it cannot be ruled out
that our issuer rating will be changed, which will in
turn affect our fund raising activities.

eu state-aid proceedings
The Bank’s realignment concept formed the basis of a
restructuring plan filed with the Commission of the European Union (EU-Commission) on 1 September 2009.
On 29 May 2009, the EU Commission granted preliminary
approval for a period of six months for recapitalisation
measures, which were completed in mid-2009. In its decision dated 22 October 2009, the EU Commission opened
a formal investigation of whether the restructuring plan
and the aforementioned measures comply with state aid
provisions. At the same time, the EU Commission extended its preliminary approval for these measures until the
conclusion of its formal investigation.
Since that time, the Bank, together with the Free and
Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of Schleswig-
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Holstein and under the leadership of the Federal Republic
of Germany, has engaged in intensive and constructive
discussions with the EU Commission. These resumed at the
beginning of 2010. The EU Commission has subsequently
approved in principle the Bank’s realignment concept presented in the restructuring plan. As is standard practice
in similar subsidy disputes, the EU Commission makes final
approval contingent on certain condition being met.
Discussions with the EU Commission currently centre
on fees for second loss guarantees provided by the Free and
Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of SchleswigHolstein as well as the specific terms for a future reduction
of the stake held by these states. In addition, certain
details related to conditions imposed by the EU still remain
unresolved. These include the dates for disposing of certain holdings.
The continued existence of HSH Nordbank depends
on the definitive approval by the European Commission
of the stabilisation measures taken by the Free and
Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the State of SchleswigHolstein. Furthermore, the conditions on which such
approval is granted must be achievable as part of an economically viable business plan, and specifically, may
not jeopardise the regulatory effectiveness of the regulatory capital relief from the stabilisation measures.
We firmly believe that the EU Commission will grant final
and permanent approval to the stabilisation measures
and the restructuring of HSH Nordbank once all open issues have been resolved. We expect a decision from the
EU Commission by mid-2010.

Anticipated segment performance
Expectations in the individual business divisions are profoundly influenced by economic activity and the performance of the financial markets. Specific market conditions
vary widely from one division to another, and so, accordingly, do estimates of their effects on future opportunities
and threats. Once more, sluggish economic activity is
likely to necessitate significantly higher loan loss provisioning in all divisions – though most of these will apply
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to the non-core activities now pooled in the Restructuring
Unit for systematic winding down. The risk report provides details of the default risks.

Sector Specialist Bank segment
Market stabilisation set to continue
Following the stabilisation tendencies, disparate as they
were, that emerged in the second half of 2009, markets in
the Shipping, Transport and Renewable Energy sectors
are expected to continue their recovery in 2010, with the
gradual equalisation of market imbalances. In the shipping markets, however, demand is unlikely to reach the
levels of previous years for some time to come – and
overcapacities will continue to weigh on price performance. In container shipping the employment situation is likely to improve in the course of 2010, and this is
expected to be accompanied by increases in charter
rates. The main reason for this is that fewer new ships are
being delivered, while more old ones are being decom
missioned. The oil tanker market in 2010 will likely be
affected by the phasing-out of so-called single-hulled
ships, compensating for the effect of some new deliveries.
The ratio of supply to demand in the oil tanker market
is not expected to deteriorate further. Charter rates and
ship values are generally expected to be stable. We expect rising demand for raw materials to cause demand in
the bulk freighter market segment, to rise faster than
supply. At the same time large numbers of newly built
ships could trigger another price downturn in this market.
Though traffic volumes in the aviation industry will probably continue to stabilise, the revenue of major market
participants is likely to remain under pressure for some
time to come. Delivery postponements and the support
of export credit agencies should enable the industry to
cope with the financing gap in the market for new aircraft. The situation is mitigated by barriers to market entry, and by the fact that companies have higher cash
reserves than they had in previous crises. Capacity reductions and improved fleet efficiency should also have
positive effects, laying the foundation for performance
improvements in the long term. In the transport infrastructure field, public and private spending is making for

stable business in public-private partnerships. The number of these transactions is likely to continue to rise in the
course of 2010.
Investment activity in Europe is again rising quickly in
the field of renewable energy. 2010 may well bring rising
momentum to solar energy, putting the area as a whole
back on track for long-term growth in Europe. Wind energy is also expected to experience a further growth in capacity.

Risk-conscious client support
Despite recognisable stabilisation tendencies in the markets, the environment remains difficult for the time
being, with many uncertainties. Against this backdrop,
the Bank’s activities, in particular in the shipping division, focus on risk management in its existing business
portfolio and close support for clients to help them
through the crisis. This applies particularly to shipping.
New business is expected to play a larger role in 2010,
however. In the aviation and transport infrastructure sectors, HSH Nordbank expects that its specialist expertise
is likely to be in demand for numerous projects. In the infrastructure area, the Bank has expanded its range of
specialist consultancy services with the recent establishment of the Global Infrastructure Advisory Group. In
the constantly growing renewable energy market, 2010 is
likely to present specialists like HSH Nordbank with at
tractive business opportunities. Bearing risk constantly in
mind, the Bank helps our clients in this area to implement selected projects. In all sectors the Bank intends to
increase earnings through cross-selling, especially of
risk management products.
The overall situation may be more stable, but it remains difficult. We therefore expect subdued earnings
and a higher loan loss provisioning requirement.

Regional Bank segment
Economic activity: the recovery is distinctly sluggish
Further developments of the northern German corporates
and the German real estate markets will largely depend
on the after-effects of last year’s economic downturn and
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the general state of economic activity in Germany. Given
that economic activity is recovering, albeit slowly, the general business position of north German companies can
also be expected to improve – though performance will
differ among sectors. Accordingly, it can be assumed
that companies’ demand for credit will also continue to
grow. At the same time, the supply of credit by banks
to companies by the banks should not be restricted as tension in the financial markets reduces. Office staff numbers in Germany are falling, and the German commercial
real estate market is likely to be hampered by rising
vacancies until 2011. Office rents, accordingly, will probably decline on the whole. The rental market for retail
properties, conversely, should be stable. The rising demand
for housing is likely to restrict the effects of economic
activity on the residential market. On the whole, we can
expect the real estate field to be characterised in 2010
also by low transaction volumes and a small number of
new project developments.
A stable performance of the financial markets should
tend to increase private investors’ interest in financial investments. Because of persisting low interest rates on
security-oriented investments, investors can be expected
to focus more closely on yields and to become less re
luctant to consider longer-term commitments.

Long-term client orientation
Given these difficult conditions, the Regional Bank
segment will also focus on servicing its existing clients in
2010. At the same time, the Bank will look to conduct
new business – albeit selectively, applying stringent risk
criteria. It will continue to offer a broad range of services going well beyond traditional lending. A long-term
relationship with its partners throughout all stages of
the economic cycle will remain a central guideline of the
Bank’s client orientation. Since the crisis in the financial markets, security and transparency have become increasingly important to private investors – and we
have responded with a professional, logical investment
process that will be able to adjust to new statutory requirements as they arise. There is further potential in the
Bank’s collaboration with savings banks; not only in
supporting their business with private and corporate clients, but also in managing their portfolios and the
banks themselves.
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Given the general conditions, the Bank expects that the
earnings situation in the Regional Bank segment will
be tense in 2010. Risks include the threat of rising unemployment in northern Germany, and the possibility that
the economic recovery may be weak and slow.

segment Other
Client focus and refinancing
Given the considerable recovery of global financial markets and the upturn in economic activity in the course of
2009, general conditions can be expected to continue
to stabilise in 2010 – despite potential setbacks, thus enabling banks to engage in successful financial market
activities. Even so, continued improvement of the financial
markets may lead to the reversal of positive valuation
effects the Bank’s liabilities recorded in 2009.
The Bank’s activities in the financial markets will con
tinue to focus on developing capital market solutions that
are tailored to the needs of the clients and investors of
HSH Nordbank and the savings banks, and that consolidate
client relations and strengthen the Bank’s earnings base
in the long term. Along with investment products, client
risk management facilities will take centre stage. To
strengthen the refinancing activities of the realigned Bank,
even more importance will be attached to the care and
expansion of investor relations. The stabilisation of both
the market environment and the Bank itself are expected to continue to support the Bank’s independent fundraising activities. The Bank is planning to increase the
placement of unsecured bonds and Pfandbriefe with institutional investors in 2010 to refinance its business volume. Secured funding channels such as securitisations,
commercial loans and development banks will also be
utilised. In addition, in 2010, the capital market area will
focus on cooperating with core areas in restructuring
credit portfolios, and on helping the Restructuring Unit
with its asset reduction activities.
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Restructuring Unit segment
Following initial successes in certain areas, the systematic,
efficient reduction of portfolios by the Restructuring
Unit will remain one of HSH Nordbank’s principal objectives in 2010. The ongoing winding down of risk positions is continuing to reduce HSH Nordbank’s potential
losses. Since the environment will remain challenging,
however, further substantial losses must be anticipated in
every type of business conducted by the Restructuring
Unit – including, but not limited to, existing commitments with real estate and shipping clients and the
LBO portfolio.

Real estate business
Conditions in the real estate markets indicated are expected to remain difficult in 2010. We do not expect any
significant recovery in these markets, and thus in the property values, until after 2010 – and then only if economic activity picks up and the credit markets perform
well. In this environment, the Restructuring Unit is
unlikely to be able to make significant progress with winding down the portfolio by means of early loan repayments and disposals until after 2010.
Other lending business
Given existing overcapacities in the shipping markets,
neither charter rates nor ship values are expected to rise
substantially in 2010. Many clients find themselves in
a tense earnings situation, which will restrict the scope
for significant reductions in the Bank’s commitments.
Only if charter rates recover towards the end of 2010 can
any significant progress with winding down the portfolio be expected. The recovery of commodity prices in
2010 will create potential for improved performance
of the business in the commodities area. The leasing portfolio can be further wound down as loans are repaid,
either early or when they fall due, but at present there do
not appear to be any commercially viable possibilities
of placing entire portfolios. Depending on developments
in individual sectors, further losses in the LBO portfolio
cannot be ruled out.

Capital market portfolios
The credit investment business is continuing its gradual
wind-down. The process is geared to maximising earnings
and minimising risk. Further losses in the remaining
portfolios cannot be ruled out, since the market recovery
that began in 2009 and continued at the beginning of
2010 is largely liquidity driven and supported by radical
intervention on the part of central banks and governments. As state liquidity programmes wind down, financial institutions could find themselves facing new challenges.
Events after December 31, 2009
After the balance sheet day, there were no major events
pertaining to the Bank’s net assets, financial position
and results of operations beyond those cited at various
places within the management report, in particular in
relation to the EU subsidy proceedings.
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RISK REPORT
An overview of the state of risk

Stabilizing the financial markets and realignment of
HSH Nordbank
The state of risk at HSH Nordbank has significantly improved overall in the course of the year under review. The
capital increase and risk shield boosted the Banks capital
ratios, which had fallen as a result of the 2008 net loss, so
that the regulatory capital requirements were clearly
exceeded after implementation of these measures in 2009.
The capitalization measures also increased the Bank’s
risk coverage potential to € 11 billion, while the economic capital requirement fell by about half. This re-established the risk-bearing capacity of HSH Nordbank in the
year under review. The calmer state of the financial
markets also contributed to early achievement of the refinancing goals for 2009 as a whole.
The increased charges are the result of the consequences
of the economic crisis. While the economy has recovered from its lowest point, default rates have continued
to rise in recent months, as the crisis has left its mark
on many companies. Loan loss provisions were increased
by € − 2,794 million in 2009, much of which was for
commitments to the shipping industry, an important one
for HSH Nordbank.
On 1 December 2009 HSH Nordbank completed the internal split into the Core Bank and Restructuring Unit, as
planned. The Restructuring Unit is part of the fundamental
strategic realignment. Its central function is to operate
as a separate Board-level brief within the Bank to reduce in
a controlled and gradual manner the positions in business areas no longer regarded as strategic and specific risk
positions of HSH Nordbank, disposing of them with regard to results and liquidity in order to strengthen the Core
Bank. Decisions on reducing portfolios are taken on the
basis of defined principles, such as limiting losses in value,

utilizing potential for write-ups, making careful use
of liquidity and the risk shield, and cost efficiency. The
transfer of responsibility for portfolios to the Restructuring Unit makes it possible for the Core Bank’s front office units to focus more on their target customers.

Risk management system
Principles of risk management
Active risk management is a fundamental component of
HSH Nordbank’s overall bank management. This was
the position from which the Bank started in 2008 to work
systematically through the points for improving the risk
culture which had been identified in the course of the crisis, e. g. by strengthening the market tracking function.
HSH Nordbank defines risk to mean unfavourable future
developments that may have an adverse impact on the
Bank’s asset, earnings or liquidity position. Material risks
for the Bank are classified as default risk, market risk,
operational risk, liquidity risk and other risks. The individual elements of risk management constitute, in their
entirety, a system that ensures the identification, analysis,
evaluation, management and ongoing monitoring and
reporting of risks.
Responsibility for risk management is clearly assigned
within the Bank. The Management Board bears overall responsibility for the Bank’s risk management activities,
including the methods and procedures to be applied in
measuring, managing and monitoring risk. Taking into
account all material risk categories, the risk strategy represents the organizational and strategic focus of risk man
agement. It includes the planned development of all key
business activities taking account of risk strategy fac-
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tors and, in particular, taking the capacity to bear risk into
consideration.
A risk manual, which is published throughout the Bank,
sets out the methods and instruments used in risk management. Both the Management Board and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board are informed about the
Group’s risk situation in a comprehensive quarterly
risk report. The Restructuring Unit as a separate Board-level brief of HSH Nordbank is fully integrated into the
Group’s risk management. The same methods and processes apply to it as at the Core Bank.

Risk-bearing capacity
To monitor its risk-bearing capacity and to safeguard it
in a sustainable way, HSH Nordbank has integrated a capital adequacy process into its risk management. The
management of risk-bearing capacity is closely related to
capital and value added management.
The economic capital required to protect against unexpected losses (overall risk) is regularly compared with the
available economic risk coverage potential. This com
parison takes place within the Bank’s integrated limit system, which forms the basis for economic risk limitation
for all risk categories across the Group.
The economic risk coverage potential is calculated using
the net asset value approach. Besides equity (including
changes in net asset value), the net asset value takes into
account unrealized reserves and losses on securities,
equity participations and the lending business as well as
negative effects on the income statement.
The guarantee provided by the states of Hamburg and
Schleswig-Holstein reduce the risk coverage potential since
the second quarter of 2009 by the first loss piece of
HSH Nordbank of € 3.2 billion. At the same time, the economic capital requirement for default risk is reduced
generally, as there is no economic capital requirement
for default risks after June 2009 for positions covered
by the guarantee provided by the states of Hamburg and
Schleswig-Holstein.

The full recognition of the guarantee in the risk coverage
potential was completed as at 31 December 2009. This
increased the risk coverage potential by reducing cost components in calculating the unrealized reserves and losses on the lending business. Conversely, recognition of the
future guarantee costs to be paid to the states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein lead to a reduction in the risk
coverage potential.
In the course of the Bank’s strategic realignment, a global
limit for the overall risk was derived from the risk coverage potential in the third quarter of 2009; individual limits for default, market, operational and liquidity risks
were then determined on this basis. As the full risk coverage potential is not allocated to the key risk categories,
this leaves a buffer for covering specifically the risks under
specific stress scenarios and risks which are currently
unquantifiable.
The overall risk takes into account the default risk, market
risk, operational risk and liquidity maturity transformation risk as part of liquidity risk. The economic capital requirement for default, liquidity and market risks is cal
culated by consistent use of a value at risk (VaR) approach
with a confidence level of 99.9 % and a one-year risk
horizon. The market risks are scaled up to the one-year horizon on the basis of VaR calculated daily. Since July
2009, different liquidation horizons have been assumed
in this scaling for the Core Bank portfolio and the positions of the Restructuring Unit. Operational risks are calculated using the standard approach in the German
Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). The economic capital requirements for the individual risk categories are aggregated
into an overall economic risk. No risk-reducing correlations
are applied. The analysis of the risk-bearing capacity is
carried out quarterly at HSH Nordbank and also as part of
the annual planning process.
Due to a change of the valuation method the comparability
of risk coverage potential as of 31 December 2009 with
figures up to and including 30 September 2009 is limited.
The risk coverage potential has been reduced by this
adjustment, other things being equal. As the use of the
values calculated according to the new method does not
change the status of HSH Nordbank’s risk-bearing capacity
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on 30 June or 30 September 2009, retrospective adjustment was waived. In the course of the past four quarters,
the risk coverage potential has developed as follows:
Economic risk
coverage potential

31.3.09

30.6.09

30.9.09

31.12.09

First loss piece under
guarantee transaction
Unrealised gains / losses
(net)
Total

8,567

9,235

8,421
Equity Capital for
economic purposes

10,952

¤m

14,549

14,232

14,232

12,942

–

-3,200

-3,200

-3,200

-6,128

-1,797

-2,465

1,210

8,421

9,235

8,567

10,952

After the charges from the 2008 net loss (taken into account from 31 December 2008 in the risk coverage potential), inclusion of the loss expected for the 2009 financial year (taken into account in the risk coverage potential
since 31 March 2009) and full recognition of the risk
shield provided by the states of Hamburg and SchleswigHolstein (taken into account in the risk coverage potential since 31 December 2009), the risk coverage potential
at end-2009 was € 10,952 million. The capital increase
in mid-2009 as such led to an increase in risk coverage potential, while the Bank’s excess under the guarantee
transaction led to a decrease.
For losses related to default risk, we make a distinction
between expected and unexpected loss. Expected loss is default or impairment as a result of changes in credit rating expected to occur within one year and is compensated
for by the calculated risk costs. The maximum amount
by which an actual loss can exceed the expected loss with
a certain degree of probability (99.9 %) within a certain
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period of time (1 year) is known as unexpected loss. Risk
parameters used to determine unexpected loss include
probability of default (PD), loss-given default (LGD) and
exposure at default (EaD). EaD includes both the outstanding loan amount as well as the anticipated call on provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments. Unexpected losses must be covered by the risk coverage potential. The economic capital requirement for default risks
has decreased significantly as a result of the guarantee
from the states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein, and
amounted to € 2,859 million at the reporting date (31 December 2008: € 6,629 million).
In response to the liquidity shortage in the markets, HSH
Nordbank introduced a VaR approach for quantifying
the liquidity maturity transformation risk as early as the
start of 2008. This long-term / structural liquidity risk is
an expression of the danger of increased refinancing costs
on the open liquidity position. As planned, the liquidity
VaR calculation was refined at the start of 2009 on the basis of the data acquired in the course of 2008. Our analyses have shown that the liquidity maturity transformation
risk in the previous year was overestimated as a result
of the conservative liquidity value at risk approach. The adjustments result in a more accurate presentation of the
Bank’s actual risk situation. In all, liquidity-at-risk amounted to € 673 million as at 31 December 2009, € 232 million below the previous year’s level, which was also recalculated using the refined method for better comparability. The insolvency risk, which in the current financial
market crisis is the more significant expression for the
Bank of the liquidity risk, compared with the maturity
transformation risk, cannot be compared with the risk
coverage potential, as it is not expressed in terms of magnitude of loss. Information on managing the insolvency
risk is included in the section “Liquidity risk”.
The economic capital requirement for market risk rose
€ 329 million compared with 31 December 2008 to € 657
million. This increase was primarily due to the integration of other risk factors in market risk measurement (e. g.
credit spread risk, basis risk) and the methodological
modifications in calculating capital requirement (e. g. increasing the liquidation horizons). In the course of scaling the market risk calculated daily (VaR) based on a confi-
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dence level of 99.0 % and a one-day holding duration
up to the economic capital requirement for market risk
positions for the purpose of managing the risk-bearing
capacity with a confidence level of 99.9 % and a one-year
risk horizon, we have adopted different liquidation horizons since July 2009 for the Core Bank portfolio and the positions of the Restructuring Unit. In addition, since July
2009 the daily net income from trading for all portfolios
has been added to the relevant loss limit, so that the security premium used in calculating the economic capital
requirement for positions subject to market risk was discontinued.
Operational risks have been calculated since the start
of 2008 using the standard approach in the German Sol-

vency Ordinance (SolvV). The corresponding economic
capital requirement as at 31 December 2009 amounted to
€ 261 million (31 December 2008: € 291 million).
The economic overall risk declined significantly compared
to end-2008 as a result of the effects described above,
and amounted to € 4,450 million as at the reporting date
(31 December 2008: € 9,016 million). The security of
the guarantee transaction applies to the position values as
at 31 March 2009, and is retroactive to 1 April 2009.
The regulatory effect was evident for the first time in the
capital reporting for 30 June 2009. The following diagram shows the change in total economic risk over the
course of the last four quarters.

Economic capital required
¤ billion

31.3.09

7.9

30.6.09

3.0

30.9.09

3.0

31.12.09

2.8
Default risk
Liquidity risk

0.5

0.7

0.7

Market risk
Operational risk

0.5 0.3

0.6 0.3

0.7 0.3

0.6

1.1 0.3

9.8

4.3

4.6

4.5
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The following table shows the economic risk coverage potential of the Group, the risk limits and the economic
capital requirement for the individual risk types and the
remaining risk coverage potential buffer.

Group risk-bearing capacity
(¤ m)

Economic risk coverage potential

absolute

as % of risk coverage potential

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

31.12.2009

31.12. 2008

10,952

9,862

100

100

Risk limits
of which: Default risk

3,060

9,163

28

93

Market risk

1,470

1,086

13

11

Liquidity risk

750

750

7

8

Operational risk

261

420

2

4

5,541

11,419

51

116

of which: Default risk

2,859

6,629

26

67

Market risk

657

328

6

3

Liquidity risk

673

1,768

6

18

Total

Economic capital required

261

291

2

3

Total

Operational risk

4,450

9,016

41

91

Risk coverage potential buffer

6,502

846

59

9

Utilisation of the risk coverage potential as at 31 December
2009 was 41 %. The unused portion of 59 % is used to
cover specifically the risks from specific stress scenarios
and risks currently not quantifiable. The risk-bearing
capacity was accordingly secured at the end of the year under review (as was already the case in the third quarter
of 2009), after being effectively nonexistent from the end
of 2008 to the point of the capital increase and the risk
shield provided by the states in June 2009. As a result of
the development of the balance from unrealized reserves
and losses and the negative effect on the income statement,
the risk coverage potential actually available at end2008 was below the total of the risk limits set for the year,
although the risk coverage potential actually exceeded
the total for economic capital. The risk-bearing capacity
developed as follows:
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Use in %

Use of risk coverage potential					

Normal case

Stress case

117

243

46

79

53

81

41

57

¤ billion

31.3.09

30.6.09

8.4

9.8

9.2

4.3

30.9.09

4.6

31.12.09

8.6

4.5
Used (economic capital required)

11.0
Available (economic risk coverage potential)

To get better estimates of the anticipated effects of potential crises on the overall risk situation of HSH Nordbank
beyond the utilization of risk coverage potential on the
reporting date, we carry out regular stress tests which simulate the increase in economic capital requirements
under specific scenarios for default, market and liquidity risks. When the overall risk at Group level under
the simulated stress conditions still clearly exceeded the
stressed risk coverage potential in the first quarter of
2009, the risk-bearing capacity as at 31 December 2009
(as in the two preceding quarters) was still adequate
even in the stress situations.
HSH Nordbank uses the recognized risk management instruments for both regulatory and economic risk management. The Bank was, for example, one of the first banks
approved by the Federal Banking Supervisory Office to calculate its capital cover for default risks on the basis of
internal ratings (advanced IRB approach). In addition to
these statistical risk management tools, HSH Nordbank
manages risks on a classic approach. For this purpose, reviews are made repeatedly during the year under review
of credit risks, with the goal of promptly implementing the
necessary specific risk management processes as needed,
e. g. in transferring a commitment to intensive supervision.
In the course of the portfolio analyses, HSH Nordbank reviews its internal risk planning and identifies potential
need for loan loss provisioning and possible RWA changes.

A distinction is made in this between loss risks which
are dealt with in the planned income statement (planned
losses) and additional loss risks resulting from supplementary stress assumptions. RWA changes are treated similarly under plan and stress assumptions. The analysis
of the customer lending business is done on the basis of
detailed PD / LGD analyses. The credit investment portfolio is also reviewed by internal experts on the basis of a
market value analysis. Single event risks – i. e. risks
from commitments with low probability of default but
large volume – are also analysed under stress conditions.
The results of risk planning provided the basis for the
amount of the capital and guarantee measures by the states
of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein and the corresponding agreement with SoFFin and in connection with the EU
subsidy agreement.

Organization of risk management
The organization of risk management at HSH Nordbank
is geared towards the requirements of the business model.
The regulatory requirements are also taken into account.
The risk and financial responsibility of the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) were divided in the year under review between two Board positions.
The Management Board defines the Bank’s risk strategy
on an annual basis as part of its overall responsibility. The
involvement of the Supervisory Board ensures that the
risk strategy is aligned with the interests of shareholders.
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The CRO is, as a member of the Management Board,
responsible for risk controlling including risk monitoring
and back-office functions in the Bank’s Core Bank. Accordingly, he is responsible for the Group Risk Management and Credit Risk Management units. The Board
member for the Restructuring Unit is responsible for back
office functions in this segment. The CRO is also responsible for the second risk assessment for the Restructuring
Unit.
In Credit Risk Management, Group Risk Management
and the Restructuring Unit, the tasks of the independent
back office function are bundled. In addition, Credit
Risk Management functions include preparing the marketindependent risk assessment, the review and determination of ratings, the calculation of collateral value and the
processes and regulations for the Bank’s lending business. Group Risk Management is responsible for back office
functions for work-out loans by the Core Bank and Restructuring Unit. The Restructuring Unit is responsible for
decisions on reduction of positions in the commitments
transferred to it. In addition to the market-independent risk
assessment by the Restructuring Unit, a second assessment is carried out here by Credit Risk Management for
non-problem and intensively managed loans.
The CRO and the Head of the Restructuring Unit make
decisions independently of the Management Board members responsible for front-office and trading units. This
ensures the functional separation of front-office and trading activities, on the one hand, and risk controlling, settlement and control and back-office activities, on the other,
at all organizational levels of the Bank, as stipulated by
the relevant regulatory requirements. The CRO regularly
reports to the Management Board and the Supervisory Board’s Risk Committee on the Group’s risk situation.
The methods and instruments for measuring, managing
and monitoring risk are developed centrally by Risk Controlling in the Group Risk Management unit. It ensures
that the main risks to which the Group is exposed remain
transparent and manageable. Transaction Services are
responsible for the settlement and control of trading activities.
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Active risk management for the Core Bank is carried out
in particular in the front-office and trading units, whose
business activities mean that they are directly responsible
for risks and results. The risks are analysed and monitored decentrally by portfolio managers in the business
area concerned.
The Restructuring Unit created in December 2009 is
responsible for positions of business areas no longer considered strategic and special risk positions. This also
includes central responsibility for disposal of the credit
investment portfolio, with regard to results and liquidity. Between October 2008 and November 2009, Group
Risk Management was responsible for this.
To reflect the realignment of the Bank and the changes
in the Management Board, responsibility for management
of strategic positions of the overall bank, management
of the risk-bearing capacity and capital measures during
the course of the year was transferred on 8 December
2009 from the Asset Liability Committee to the Management Board.
Since June 2009, lending decisions for new loans above
a certain amount are handled by a cross-divisional management group, which manages all liquidity outflows required on the assets side for the business. The group comprises market Board members and the Heads of the
Group Treasury, Finance, Credit Risk Management and
Capital Markets Credit business areas. The position
of capital market Board member was not filled at the start
of 2010.
Internal Audit is an instrument established by the Management Board and is required to report directly to that
body. It audits in a risk-oriented and process-independent
manner the effectiveness and appropriateness of the
Bank’s risk management, covering both Core Bank and Restructuring Unit. Internal Audit plays a supporting role
in key projects, whilst maintaining its independence and
avoiding any conflicts of interest. Legal and Group Compliance as an independent unit monitors and manages the
Group’s legal and compliance risks.
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Organisation of risk management

Supervisory Board
Risk Committee

Management Board
Chief Risk Officer

Control and Settlement

Transaction
Services

Group Risk
Management

Board Member Restructuring Unit

Risk
Controlling

Group Risk
Management

Definition of Risk Strategy

Active Riskmanagement:
Front Office and Trading

Back Office

Credit Risk
management

Group Risk
Management

restructuring
unit

Sector
Specialist Bank
Segment

Regional Bank
Segment

Others
Segment

Risk Types

Default Risk

Operational
Risk

Market Risk

Liquidity
Risk

Other Risks

Internal Audit, Legal and Group Compliance

The global head principle helps to ensure uniform management of the divisions around the world. In line with
this principle, the global heads – who are primarily directors of corporate divisions – assume responsibility for
the global management of the divisions, administrative
functions and services that are assigned to them. The
global head principle is also applied to risk controlling,
thus guaranteeing the ongoing evolution of uniform,
Group-wide risk controlling.
The Bank has established rules according to which any
transactions involving new products or new markets must
be subject to a formal auditing process. The aim is to
ensure that the recognition of the products in the relevant
systems and their inclusion in the relevant process are
ensured, and that such transactions are only entered into
with the approval of the Board member.

1)

Cf. the section on organization of default risk management.

As part of Group-wide risk management, the Bank takes
into account each of the relevant subsidiaries when managing and controlling individual types of risk.
Modifications to HSH Nordbank’s systems, processes
and organisation (particularly for risk management in the
capital market business area) were defined in 2008 and
implemented in 2009. These include specifically the process for new products and markets, internal risk reporting, integration of further factors for market risk (e. g. credit spread risks) and liquidity risk controlling.
The lending decision process was further developed in the
year under review by the Credit Risk Management unit1)
with the goal of strengthening the back office function to
ensure a balance between risk and return goals, particularly for cyclical transactions. Together, these measures
make a significant contribution to the further develop-
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ment of the risk culture. In the next step the Board member for Credit Risk Management has decided that the
functions of credit analysis, loan management and collateral management will be integrated into the back office
function in 2010. The lending decision process previously
dominated by the front office areas will accordingly
be replaced by a substantially risk oriented approach.

Internal control and risk management systems for the
accounting process
General statements
The Management Board of HSH Nordbank bears overall responsibility for an orderly business organization of the
HSH Nordbank Group, including an appropriate and effective internal control and risk management system. The
internal control system is an integral part of the risk management system, which covers methods and procedures
for risk measurement, management and monitoring on
the basis of the risk strategy determined by the Manage-ment Board. HSH Nordbank defines risk to mean unfavourable future developments that may have an adverse impact on the Bank’s assets, financial position and
earnings. The individual elements of risk management
constitute, in their entirety, a system that ensures the identification, analysis, evaluation, management and ongoing monitoring of risks. At the same time, an appropriate and effective system cannot give absolute security
in identifying and managing risks. Further explanations
of the risk management system are given below.
Tasks and goals
The accounts-related internal control system has the goal of
ensuring that the consolidated financial statements of
HSH Nordbank Group give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and earnings in accordance with
the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Specifically,
the internal control system ensures that material subsidiaries over which HSH Nordbank can exercise a controlling
influence directly or indirectly are included in the con
solidated financial statements, and that their assets and liabilities are correctly recognized and measured in the
consolidated financial statements. Further the internal con
trol system makes a key contribution to the efficiency
of the accounting process.
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Organizational structure
The internal control system is based on the organization of
the accounting process within the Group, and as such
on the organization of HSH Nordbank and the subsidiaries
included in the consolidated financial statements. The
internal audit of HSH Nordbank as a process-independent
instrument of the Management Board reviews the appropriateness and effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management system. While maintaining its independence, the internal audit unit is also integrated into the
further development of the internal control and risk
management system. The Bank has further formed an Audit Committee which regularly receives reports on the
orderliness of the internal control and risk management
system. In the 2009 financial year the Audit Committee
met four times.
The divisions of HSH Nordbank and the consolidated subsidiaries have decentralized responsibility for the internal control system. Tasks, competences and responsibilities
are determined at the level of subprocesses in the divisions and subsidiaries. The HSH Nordbank Finance Division is responsible for the accounting process of the
HSH Nordbank Group and the orderliness of the accounting. Communication with the consolidated subsidiaries
is managed by fixed contacts in the HSH Nordbank Finance
Division. In the 2009 financial year, HSH Nordbank
further expanded the existing internal control system, including further developing the process organization.
In this connection a central internal control system office
will act as a management unit. The central ICS office
is also particularly responsible for the organizational further development of the internal control system and
reporting to the Management Board.

Control environment and procedures
A key basis for the internal control system is the documented regulations covering all internal instructions and
rules. The central guideline for preparing the annual
consolidated financial statements of HSH Nordbank is the
accounting manual, which is based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applied in the consolidated financial statements and contains the rules
for uniform recognition and measurement. In addition
there are internal instructions on technical issues and
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processes which contain binding regulations on accounting issues (for example, categorization of financial instruments). The process of preparing financial statements
according to IFRS is broken down into planning financial statements, technical processing, drawing up individual financial statements, drawing up consolidated financial statements, and publication of the annual report. Each
phase has subprocesses and process responsibilities
which are documented in a database. In the HSH Nordbank headquarter, an instruction on financial statements is issued quarterly establishing the requirements
for content and timing of the Finance Division for the
other units in the financial statements process. Corresponding instructions, data requests and timetables are sent
to the branches and subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements. Reconciliation of intragroup
transactions is also separately regulated. The accounting
manual and other instructions are published in German (and where necessary also in English) in the Group
and regularly updated.

All events are communicated by the responsible party to
the unit in the Finance Division responsible for the
process and are entered in a central list. The Finance Division determines whether these involve a change in the
accounting methods, an error or a changed estimate, and
whether adjustment is required under established materiality limits. This is followed by quality assurance by
another unit in the Finance Division and approval by
management.

The consolidated financial statements are drawn up on the
basis of the financial accounting system at HSH Nordbank. Accounting controls at HSH Nordbank include specifically compliance with the dual control principle
and separation of functions in entering and processing
transactions. There are also automatic controls within
the IT systems and separate access authorizations. To ensure complete and correct processing of data relating
to the accounts, general and subsidiary ledgers are reconciled, interfaces and general ledger accounts which can
be posted manually monitored, and technical accounting
procedures implemented and controlled. Any errors
arising in technical processing are analysed and corrected. In the course of preparing the financial statements,
the correct recognition of the underlying facts with regard to contents in the annual financial statements
is checked. The data processed in the accounting is accordingly subject to both technical and material quality by
the responsible Finance Division.

The subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements supply all necessary information to HSH
Nordbank using a predetermined reporting format, where
it is processed using database-based consolidation software. In this process, the reported data and supplementary information are subject to quality assurance measures by the responsible contacts. Additionally, technical
controls are performed, such as a credit-debit comparison. Previously, local financial statements of subsidiaries were subject to audit by external auditors.

The Bank has established a process for entering and documenting events which require retroactive adjustment
of items in the financial statements and have a material
effect on the assets, financial positions and earnings.

All HSH Nordbank equity holdings in other companies
are centrally recorded and managed with all the relevant
data. In addition, all special purpose entities with which
HSH Nordbank maintains relations are centrally recorded
in a database and reviewed quarterly in a multistage
process for possible obligation to consolidate. The materiality of equity holdings and special purpose entities
for the HSH Nordbank Group is regularly monitored, ensuring that material subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements of HSH Nordbank.

In connection with the further development of the internal
control system in the 2009 financial year, all controls
will in future be monitored in a permanent procedure. The
goal is regular and risk-oriented consideration of all processes, their inherent risks and the controls established to
reduce these. Like all the processes considered, the accounting process is reviewed regularly to identify and allocate material risks and adopt the subprocesses relevant
to the risks. Key controls are defined and reviewed for suitability to minimize risks and their actual effectiveness.
On this basis, the necessary measures for establishing the
appropriateness and effectiveness of the controls are
defined and implemented.

Risk report

Regulatory requirements
Since the start of 2008 the Bank has determined the necessary capital required for default, market and operational risks on the basis of the German Solvency Ordinance
(SolvV). After approval by the Federal Banking Supervisory
Office, we use the advanced IRB approach for default
risks. The Bank will therefore use the same parameters for
regulatory reports that already apply internally in risk
management and default risk management and will there
utilize the associated capital relief. The Bank determines
the amounts to recognized for market risk positions on the
basis of the required or optional standard procedures.
The Bank recognized operational risks using the standard
approach. The overall limit was complied with from the
time of adoption of the 2009 annual financial statements
on 27 April 2009 to the legal signature of the risk shield
guarantee by the states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein
on 2 June 2009. In the further course of the year under
review, all the applicable limits in this connection were
consistently complied with. 2)
In August 2009 the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) published a new version of MaRisk (minimum
requirements for risk management). Key reasons for revision were the international regulatory initiatives resulting from the financial markets crisis, e. g. by the Financial
Stability Board (FSB). Particular topics for operationalization and expansion were the rules on risk-bearing capacity, stress tests, management of liquidity risks, risk concentrations, details of compensation systems and risk management at Group level. The Bank will complete implementation of the resulting new requirements in 2010.
In accordance with the requirements of § 26a of the
German Banking Act (KWG) and the German Solvency Ordinance, the Bank has published key qualitative and
quantitative information on capital, risks incurred, risk
measurement procedures and risk management in a
separate report. Special requirements apply to HSH Nordbank as a bank using the advanced IRB approach. The
document goes beyond the disclosure in the present annual
report on the basis of the accounting regulations applied to give a comprehensive picture of the regulatory
framework and the Bank’s current risk situation on
the basis of the regulatory ratios. We have also published

2)

Regulatory ratios: See section “Net assets and financial position”.
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the document voluntarily for the reporting date 30 June
2009, to show the effects of the capitalization by the shareholders Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein on the minimum capital requirements. The reports can be viewed on
the Bank’s Internet site www.hsh-nordbank.de, under
“Investor Relations”. With this publication HSH Nordbank
implements the requirements of the third pillar of
Basel II (market discipline).
As part of its efforts to analyze, monitor and report on
risks, HSH Nordbank has a centralized data storage system
that takes into account the requirements of the Solvency Ordinance. This includes in particular the provision of
data and information for regulatory reporting and disclosure in accordance with Basel II. The Bank completed
development of a system for calculating the regulatory
capital adequacy of HSH Nordbank in 2008. Both systems
were reviewed and accepted by the Federal Banking
Supervisory Authority in 2008. There was a further review
by the Federal Banking Supervisory Authority in the
reporting year in the context of the risk shield provided
by the states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein.

Default risk
In view of HSH Nordbank’s strong orientation towards
the lending business, entering into, managing and limiting
default risks represent one of the Bank’s key competencies. The default risk is broken down into credit, country,
equity holding and settlement risks. In addition to traditional credit risk, credit risk also includes issuer and counterparty risk. Settlement risk consists of delivery risk
and clearing risk. Clearing risk consists of possible loss of
value if there are delivery or acceptance claims under a
matured transaction which have not yet been met by both
parties. Delivery risk arises where the Bank has performed its contractual obligations but the counterparty has
yet to do so. All the elements of default risk referred
to are taken into account within the context of the management of capital. For risk concentrations (in particular at borrower / country level) and equity holding risks,
additional management measures are in place.
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The organization and methods for managing default risk
are constantly developed to reflect changes in market conditions and new regulatory requirements.

Organization of default risk management
The organizational structure of HSH Nordbank means that,
for the lending business, it is possible to separate frontoffice from back-office and risk controlling functions at all
levels up to the Management Board.
The Credit Risk Management division in its independent
back office function is responsible for formulating and
implementing appropriate management for lending risks.
Its tasks include quality assurance for risk evaluation in
the lending business by preparing the market-independent
risk assessment for lending decision documentation,
the review and determination of ratings, the calculation of
collateral value and the processes and regulations for
the Bank’s lending business. As a result of these responsibilities it is possible to identify systematic errors in evaluating credit risks and managing the lending business at
an early stage.
There were decisive changes in the structure of the Credit
Risk Management division in the year under review. To
strengthen the back office function, the units dealing with
preparing the back office assessment and setting ratings were given enhanced status within the organisation.
In addition, a separate monitoring unit was created,
which is responsible for developing and operating an early warning system and segment risk analysis.
In the course of the measures taken by the Bank in the
financial market crisis, the existing lending decision process was also intensively analysed and significantly refined. For example, in 2009 the credit risk strategy was developed into an integrated market strategy and credit
risk strategy for the individual front office units which consolidates the consideration of opportunities and risks
in the relevant markets. The integrated market strategy
and credit risk strategy also establishes a comprehensive, obligatory and exclusive framework for all lending
business. Linking the market and risk perspectives allows us to ensure that lending guidelines (“lending standards”) conform with current market developments

and HSH Nordbank’s standing in this market. Credit risk
management manages and monitors the development
of the integrated market strategy and credit risk strategy,
which is reviewed semi-annually.
In November 2009, introduction of new competence
guidelines established direct participation by the back office functions in the lending decision, in addition to the
existing independent assessments by front and back office.
In the event of any discrepancy between the front-office
and back-office assessments, a decision is reached by means
of an escalation process. This procedure eliminates entry into transactions against the decision of the back office
units. Competence levels for assessments and lending
decisions are aligned with internal rating class and nominal volume. Until November 2009, the focus was on the
economic capital requirement as a management variable.
HSH Nordbank makes use of the option to dispense with
back-office risk assessment for all lending business classified as non-risk relevant that involves certain transactions
types and for loans below certain amounts as set out by
the escape clause in MaRisk. The definition of lending business classified as non-risk relevant has been focused on
nominal volume since November 2009. Until that time, the
focus was on the economic capital requirement as a
management variable.
Operations in the lending area are based on the rules and
internal guidelines set out in the HSH Nordbank Credit
Manual, particularly the lending, competence, risk assessment, rating, collateral and LGD guidelines and the
guidelines on the monitoring of exposure, the value calculation guidelines and the guidelines on the definition
of default, which describe the main principles of the Bank’s
lending and credit monitoring activities. Under these
principles, credit risks recorded in accordance with the ex
tended definition as set out in section 19 (1) of the German Banking Act (KWG) are viewed and treated individually according to the collateral provided, the type of loan,
the rating class and the degree of credit risk. This is based
on the aggregate exposure of the HSH Nordbank Group
to the borrower unit in accordance with section 19 (2) of
the German Banking Act. For this purpose, the relevant
borrower is always the economic risk-bearer.
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With regard to the distinction between secured and unsecured loans, the types of collateral considered acceptable
by the Bank are set out in the Bank’s collateral and LGD
guidelines. Compliance with the requirements of the Solvency Ordinance (e. g. identifiable market value, ability
to realize collateral value, no correlation with secured loan,
legal enforceability, matching of maturities) is taken into account. The list of recognized forms of collateral may
be expanded by means of a review by a market-independent team of specialists from the Credit Risk Management,
Group Risk Management and Legal and Group Compliance units through the RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH &
Co. KG (RSU).
Management of individual credit risks is supplemented
in particular by rules governing the monitoring of exposure and the early detection of risks.
With regard to the Core Bank, Group Risk Management is
responsible for the independent monitoring of risks at
portfolio level, independent reporting, managing country
risks and the processing and management of restructuring cases and risk provisions. With regard to the Restructuring Unit, Group Risk Management is responsible for
the independent monitoring of risks at portfolio level, independent reporting, managing country risks and the
processing and management of restructuring cases and
risk provisions.
Expertise in reducing portfolios is bundles in the Restructuring Unit as an independent Board-level brief with
further back office functions. The Restructuring Unit is responsible for decisions on reduction of positions in the
commitments transferred to it. In addition to the marketindependent assessment by the Restructuring Unit,
there is a second assessment by Credit Risk Management.
The Restructuring Unit processes and manages the restructuring cases for the positions for which it is responsible
independently. It also handles processing of liquidation
commitments for its own positions and positions of the
Core Bank, where decision making authority for the latter
is still vested in the relevant decision maker in the Core
Bank.
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To ensure Group-wide controlling of default risks, relevant
subsidiaries such as HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., HSH
Real Estate AG and HSH Nordbank Private Banking S.A.
are included in risk reporting.

Managing default risk
Default risks account for the major part of the risk potential of HSH Nordbank. The Bank has developed an advanced range of instruments to enable it to analyze, evaluate and actively manage these risks.
The risk shield provided by the states of Hamburg and
Schleswig-Holstein reduces the economic capital requirement for default risk, as there has been no economic
capital requirement for default risks since June 2009 for
positions covered by the guarantee. HSH Nordbank manages both the guaranteed and unguaranteed portfolio in
accordance with regulatory and economic principles.
For example, there is a further limit on the economic capital requirement for default risks for the guaranteed
positions without taking the guarantee into account. The
goal is to keep any claim against the states of Hamburg
and Schleswig-Holstein under the risk shield as small as
possible.

Default risk exposure
The outstanding loan amount indicates the volume of
loans, securities, equity holdings, derivative financial instruments and other off-balance sheet business such as
irrevocable, undrawn credit commitments that are at risk.
As at 31 December 2009 the outstanding loan amount
totalled € 205,168 million.
The outstanding loan amount is shown broken down by
the Bank’s internal rating classes in the following table.
The outstanding loan amount with an investment grade
rating (rating classes 1 [AAAA] to 5) stands at € 129,438
million (previous year: € 183,493 million).

71

72

HSH Nordbank 2009

Default risk structure by rating
(¤ m)

Loan amount outstanding

Default risk structure by maturity
(¤ m)

2009

2008

1 (AAAA) to 1 (AA+) 1)

48,675

70,103

up to 3 months

1 (AA) to 1 (A-) 1)

40,406

53,856

> 3 months to 6 months

2 to 5

40,357

59,534

> 6 months to 1 year

6 to 9

31,406

47,064

10 to 12

14,015

7,099

> 10 years
Total

205,168

249,910

Loan amount outstanding
2009

2008

Industry

20,672

22,461

Shipping

34,941

40,763

Trade and transportation

13,092

15,725

Credit institutions

41,924

55,563

Other financial institutions

32,917

39,636
39,168

Real estate and property

26,799

Other services

12,896

8,918

Public sector

17,704

23,638

4,223

4,031

Private households
Other

–

7

Total

205,168

249,910

The allocation to industry as at 31 December 2009 follows the new industrial classification (SIC 2008) of the Federal Statistical Office for the main classifications. Comparability with figures for 31 December 2008 is accordingly limited.
The outstanding loan amount is shown broken down by
residual maturities in the following table.

28,806
94,935

6,390

Default risk structure by sector
(¤ m)

8,457

27,558

56,981

5,864

The outstanding loan amount is shown broken down by
the Bank’s main sectors in the following table.

23,230

8,906

81,123

16,327

The values shown for 2008 have been adjusted here accordingly.

15,940

45,481

13,982

to the first two rating classes was changed in the year under review.

2008

> 1 year to 5 years

13 to 15

Total

2009

> 5 years to 10 years

16 to 18

1) Allocation


Loan amount outstanding

26,160

37,501

205,168

249,910

Rating procedures / LGD
During the initial development of various internal rating
modules, as well as during their further development and
ongoing validation, HSH Nordbank collaborates intensively with other banks. This takes place at the Landesbank
Association through the RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH
& Co. KG and also in collaboration with Sparkassen Rating
und Risikosysteme GmbH (SR), a subsidiary of the German Savings Bank Association (DSGV).
RSU, which was formed in 2003 as a result of a cooperation between Landesbanks aimed at developing internal
rating procedures, is a subsidiary of the participating
banks and is responsible for new development, uniform
management and further development of rating systems complying with banking regulatory quality requirements and for the operation of the rating modules in a
uniform IT environment. In its activities, RSU is provided
with methodological and technical support by specialists from the participating institutions. Besides the rating
modules supported by RSU, HSH Nordbank also uses
rating procedures provided, maintained and further developed by SR.
HSH Nordbank plays a leading role in the management of
the Shipping, Leasing and Leveraged Finance modules
and is also jointly responsible for the International Real
Estate and Country and Transfer Risk modules. A rating
model for credit financing for funds was developed in 2008
in the RSU Association with the cooperation of HSH
Nordbank. The module was introduced at HSH Nordbank
in January 2009 for internal management.

Risk report
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In the year under review, the predictive quality of the
rating modules with regard to the forecast probabilities of
default was examined jointly on the basis of the anonymous pooled data in a validation process. Following this
process, the suitability of the modules for the Bank’s
portfolio and the transferability of the results were analyzed and confirmed within the Bank by providing
proof of representative status.

ated from the financed asset or property. The cash flow of
the asset or property is simulated in various scenarios
reflecting different macroeconomic and industry-specific
conditions and the future development of factors such
as rental levels, vacancy rates and charter rates. As a result,
an individual default probability (probability of default,
or PD) is obtained for each borrower, enabling assignment
to a specific credit rating class.

Credit conversion factors (CCF) are empirically calculated
and applied to determine contingent liabilities and
commitments anticipated in the event of a default. The
outstanding loan amount weighted with a CCF is called
Exposure at Default (EaD). To forecast the Loss Given Default, HSH Nordbank has developed a differentiated
LGD method for lending and trading transactions for all
divisions. Item-specific collateral recovery rates and borrower-specific recovery rates are estimated on the basis of
historical loss information. The default amount is calculated on the basis of the EaD using the LGD. The LGD
and CCF procedures were reviewed and continuously
developed as part of the annual validation process in the
year under review. In the year under review the Bank’s
LGD and CCF methods were introduced in the RSU Association. The 2009 validation was accordingly carried
out for the first time under the leadership of HSH Nordbank together with the other Landesbanks.

To ensure the comparability of the various portfolio segments the Bank uses an identical rating master scale for all
modules, which also makes possible mapping with
external ratings. As part of the development and validation
of methods, the internal guidelines are also constantly
updated.

The Banks, Corporates, International Authorities, Country
and Transfer Risk, Insurance Companies, Leveraged Finance and Leasing and Funds rating modules used within
HSH Nordbank, as well as the standard rating used for
smaller domestic corporate clients, are based on the scorecard approach. Using this approach, quantitative and
qualitative characteristics and factors are identified which
are used to assign borrowers to various credit rating
classes. A scorecard approach can only be used if there is a
sufficient number of relatively homogeneous borrowers.
As this condition is often not fulfilled for special lending,
simulation-based rating techniques are predominantly
used. Special-purpose financing for shipping, real estate,
projects and aircraft, for example, is valued with the
help of cash flow simulation models. The primary source
for the reduction of debt service is the income gener-

The Bank’s approach of applying the methods newly
developed and refined with Basel II in mind is not only
applied to determine the future regulatory capital requirement, but also incorporated in full at an early stage
into the internal management system. This means that
all of the parameters relating to Basel II form the basis for
the integrated approach to overall bank management
and risk management at HSH Nordbank. For example, the
corresponding risk parameters are used in preliminary
costing calculations and in determining competencies.
They are also factored into the Bank’s integrated risk
limitation system and its planning and strategy processes.

Managing the default risk in preliminary and actual
costing
HSH Nordbank applies a uniform method across the
Bank for the preliminary costing of lending transactions,
including a present-value calculation of the expected
and unexpected losses from default risk positions, taking
into account any currency transfer risks. This calculation reflects the entire contribution margin, up to the value added after cost of capital / tax effects. The risk parameter ratings, LGD and CCF calculated internally for each
transaction are used in the preliminary costing. Similarly, monthly actual costing (profit centre accounting) of
the transactions is also carried out. The costs and the
added value based on them are calculated using the current risk parameters of the individual transactions.

73

74

HSH Nordbank 2009

Stress tests
HSH Nordbank performs quarterly stress tests to determine the economic capital requirement for default risks.
For this, the relevant risk parameters in calculating the
economic capital requirement are varied, e. g. by changing
the anticipated default probability and default rates.
The result is a check whether the risk limit budgeted for
default risk is met for the relevant stress scenarios. These
stress tests also serve to meet the regulatory requirements
of the Solvency Ordinance.
Risk concentrations
Risk concentrations must be effectively limited for both
regulatory and economic reasons. To manage and monitor risk concentrations effectively at borrower and country
level, corresponding limits for economic capital have
been set. These limits were derived from the risk coverage
potential, taking into account the portfolio granularity.
At least once a year the limits are examined on the basis of
the Bank’s risk-bearing capacity and approved by the
Management Board in compliance with the risk strategy.
Sector and rating-class-specific risk concentrations are
monitored within the integrated limit system. This allows
for early identification of unwelcome developments and
the implementation of corresponding countermeasures.
With regard to the limiting of risk concentrations at
borrower level, the decision on any new lending business
which would result in the limit being exceeded lies with
the Management Board. The Management Board and Risk
Committee were informed about all cases where limits
have been exceeded in new and existing business, as well
as about any measures introduced, as part of the quarterly risk report.
A further limit on risk concentrations is imposed at the
level of regulatory borrower units (in accordance with
§ 19 (2) KWG) as part of internal major risk management.
The process used for managing large risks ensures compliance with the regulatory limits for large loans at both
institution and institution group level, and allows the
Bank to detect potentially excessively large loans at an early stage and take suitable precautionary measures before they actually arise. In addition, there are limits on
classic lending and trading business.

Country risk
HSH Nordbank considers country risk to mean the risk
of agreed payments either not being made at all or only
partly or with delay on account of state restrictions on
cross-border payments (transfer risk). The risk is not related to the debtor’s rating.
The limitation of country risk represents an additional
management dimension within the context of managing
concentration risks. The risks of foreign lending transactions are managed using economic capital. Fundamental
risk drivers taken into account in the measurement of
the country risk include, among other things, the rating
and LGD of the country where an economic risk applies. The country ratings and country LGDs are based on
a method that was developed as part of the joint project
by the Landesbanks / RSU. Furthermore, portfolio granularity aspects are taken into account in order to correctly
represent cluster effects.
The concentration risks for all countries at Group level
are limited by the country limits for economic capital derived from the risk-bearing capacity. In addition, for
countries in which the Bank has its core business areas,
limits are also defined by the Management Board at
global head level, taking strategic importance into account.
The utilization of limits is monitored centrally on an
ongoing basis by the units responsible for country risk
management.
Given the intensified financial market crisis, country risk
management has identified high-risk countries which
will probably be particularly affected by the adverse macroeconomic effects of the crisis. Tight limits were introduced for these high-risk countries, which are subject to
ongoing review. The country risk concept for these limits includes all country risks, going beyond the transfer risk
described above. Because of the deterioration in their
fiscal data, a number of countries in the euro zone are subject to increased monitoring. In April 2009, additional
limits were imposed for Ireland, and in January 2010 for
Greece.
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The following table “Country exposure by region” provides
an overview of country exposure by region, which
reached a level of € 111,887 million as at 31 December
2009. Country exposure is defined as the nominal exposure relating to lending and trading transactions, taking into account transfer-risk-relevant collateral. The
item “Other” includes e. g. ABS and funds which cannot
be unambiguously attributed to a country or region.

Country exposure by region
(¤ m)

Western Europe
of which euro zone countries
Central and Eastern Europe
of which euro zone countries

Loan amount outstanding
2009

2008

61,160

76,670

29,713

35,958

3,464

3,776

249

357

1,665

2,319

North America

25,274

32,889

Latin America

3,346

5,229

845

1,624

14,927

19,470

African countries

Middle East
Asia-Pacific region
International organisations

76

77

Other

1,130

2,017

Total

111,887

144,071

Securitization
The securitization of loan portfolios is a key component
of HSH Nordbank’s risk management. Given the virtually
illiquid state of the securitization market, the scope for
trading in such transactions continued to be very limited
in 2009. The principal aim of transactions since 2004
was risk transfer. This was achieved by means of synthetic
securitization through entering into credit default
swaps (CDS) and issuing and placing credit-linked notes
(CLN). The risk relief resulting from these transactions
served to reduce risk concentration in the loan portfolio
in terms of individual borrowers and sectors. The only
transaction remaining after 2008 (Baltic Star 1) for securitizing ABS was liquidated in the year under review.
Equity holding risk
Equity holding risk is understood to mean the danger of a
financial loss due to value impairments on equity holdings. Under regulatory requirements, equity holdings must
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either be consolidated, deducted from equity capital
or backed with equity as an asset in the ‘equity holdings’
class. In this context, regulatory law regards equity
holding risk as a subcategory of default risk. The opportunities and risks of an equity holding commitment are
analysed in detail before entering into a transaction. Equity
holdings are only entered into if they are in alignment
with the Bank’s strategic goals.
A key instrument for monitoring and managing equity
holding risk is regular company valuation. At least once a
year, impairment tests are performed on all direct equity
holdings and the relevant indirect equity holdings of HSH
Nordbank. Significant equity holdings are subjected to
detailed valuation, in compliance with the relevant standards of the Institute of independent Auditors in Germany (IDW). All other equity holdings are subject to riskoriented review.
In addition, all equity holdings in the portfolio are subject to analysis annually. The focus here (among other aspects) is on identifying potential risks in the individual
companies. Based on this analysis, measures are taken to
counter identified risks actively. If necessary, exit strategies are formulated for strategically insignificant equity
holdings.
Regular reporting on the development of business and the
economic position of the companies is carried out at
varying intervals and intensities, according to the materiality for the Bank. In addition, partnership agreements
are formulated to ensure that HSH Nordbank can assert as
much management influence as possible over its equity holdings. The Bank also takes steps to ensure that it is
represented in the management bodies of particularly
important companies.

Loan loss provisions
Within the scope of risk management the bank pays very
great attention to default risks. Borrower credit risk is
hedged by recognizing individual valuation allowances on
receivables and provisions on contingent liabilities in
the amount of the potential default; this takes place in accordance with uniform Group-wide principles. Beyond
that, the Bank forms portfolio valuation allowances for
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groups of financial assets with a comparable risk profile.
Based on Basel II criteria, this covers default risks which
have already occurred on the reporting date but which
the Bank is not yet aware of.

out the problem loan administration process. The loan loss
provisions expected for the financial year are constantly
determined and reported to the Management Board on a
quarterly basis.

Problem loans include both liquidation and loan restructuring. The basis for calculating the amount of possible
allowances for losses in the case of problem loans is the
IFRS carrying value less the present value of all expected incoming payments. The expected incoming payments
comprise in particular all expected interest and redemption payments as well as payments from the liquidation of
collateral. The collateral is revalued in each case. The
revaluation of collateral takes into account the Bank’s experience in the realization of collateral value and appropriate individual risk premiums. The suitability of allowances for loan losses is constantly monitored through-

The difficult economic environment has increasingly affected the loan loss provisions and the quality of the loan
portfolio in recent months. As a result, the economic capital requirement for default risks (without taking into
account the guarantee provided by the states of Hamburg
and Schleswig-Holstein) significantly increased in the
year under review as a result of rating downgradings and
rising loss ratios. In the same period, loan loss provisions rose further in all segments, starting from a comparatively high level in 2008. The following “loan loss provisions” table provides an overview:

1.1. – 31.12.2009
Individual
valuation
allowances,
provisions

Portfolio
valuation
allowances

Specialist Bank

-499

-214

Regional Bank

-144

9

Changes in loan loss provisions
(¤ m)

Other
Consolidation Core Bank
Total Core Bank
Restructuring Unit

1.1. – 31.12.2008
Individual
valuation
allowances,
provisions

Portfolio
valuation
allowances

-713

-126

-164

-290

-135

-200

-46

-246
-98

Total

Total

7

18

25

-39

-59

-12

-18

-30

37

7

44

-648

-205

-853

-328

-262

-590

-1,670

-271

-1,941

-1,130

-168

-1,298

–

–

–

–

–

–

Consolidation Restructuring Unit
Total Restructuring Unit

-1,670

-271

-1,941

-1,130

-168

-1,298

Group

-2,318

-476

-2,794

-1,458

-430

-1,888

At Group level, net transfers to loan loss provisions in the
year under review were € − 2,794 million (previous year:
€ − 1,888 million). A significant portion of this was for the
shipping business. This also takes into account the
Group’s estimate of a possible further deterioration in the
market situation for ship financing. In view of the uncertain economic situation, it is expected that credit risks
in the portfolios will remain high in 2010 and the need
for provisions will remain substantial. Detailed information on the development of the individual business

areas and expectations for 2010 are given in the sections
“Segment reporting” and “Outlook” in this Group management report.
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The following table shows the individual elements of loan
loss provisions.
Total loan loss provisions
(¤ m)

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

110,557

117,610

15,541

23,340

9,819

5,500

Individual valuation allowances for
loans and advances to customers

-3,165

-1,670

Portfolio valuation allowances for
loans and advances to customers

-1,183

-671

-363

-362

-7

-48

-4,718

-2,751

Provisions for individual risks in the
lending business

-523

-328

Provisions for portfolio risks in the
lending business

-140

-144

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to banks
Volume of impaired loans

Individual valuation allowances for
loans and advances to banks
Portfolio valuation allowances for
loans and advances to banks
Total loan loss provisions for balance
sheet items

Total loan loss provisions
for off-balance sheet items
Total loan loss provisions

-663

-472

-5,381

-3,223

In the year under review, the Group’s loss rate amounted
to 0.26 % (previous year: 0.10 %). The loss ratio is the actual
loan defaults (the aggregate of the utilization of individual value adjustments, direct writedowns on loans and payments received on receivables written off) expressed
as a percentage of total loan volume. Defaults for 2009 totalled € 496 million (previous year: € 234 million), while
the total loan volume amounted to € 190,338 million (previous year: € 235,426 million). The total of actually realized defaults is the total of the depletion of individual impairment allowances offset against assets in the amount
of € 461 million (previous year: € 257 million), use of provisions for the credit business of € 6.0 million (previous
year: € 0.6 million), direct write-downs in the financial year
of € 70 million (previous year: € 14 million) less revenue
from the receipt of charged-off receivables of € 40 million
(previous year: € 37 million). Lending volume as defined
by IFRS includes all on and off-balance sheet assets, taking
into account valuation allowances as individual and
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portfolio impairment allowances on loans to customers
and banks, including deposits with central bank, bonds
from public issuers as well as bills of exchange and other
assets subject to default risk.
The loan loss provisions in the lending business are
formed according to uniform rules throughout the Group
and cover all identifiable default risks. Portfolio impairment allowances are calculated for defaults which have
occurred but are not yet known using the procedure
based on the Basel II system. Impairment allowances in the
Group as at 31 December 2009 totalled € − 5,381 million
(previous year: € − 3,223 million).
Impairment allowances totalled € − 4,051 million (previous year: € − 2,360 million), and comprised specific impairment allowances of € − 3,528 million (previous year:
€ − 2,032 million) for loans and advances to banks and
customers, € − 383 million (previous year: € − 317 million)
for contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments, and € − 140 million (previous year: € − 11 million)
for other business not shown on the statement of financial position.
Portfolio impairment allowances totalled € − 1,330 million (previous year: € − 863 million), and comprised portfolio impairment allowances of € − 1,190 million (previous
year: € − 719 million) for loans and advances to banks and
customers, and € − 140 million (previous year: € − 144 million) for contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments.

Market risk
Market risks entail potential losses that may result from
detrimental changes in the market value of positions
in the trading and banking book. Among the market movements of relevance to the Bank are fluctuations in interest rates and credit spreads (interest rate risks), exchange
rates (foreign exchange risks), stock prices, indices and
fund prices (equity risks) as well as commodity prices (commodity risks), including their volatilities.
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Organization of market risk management
The Management Board determines the methods and processes for measuring, limiting and managing market
risk, and budgets an overall share of the global limit for
market risks. As part of this loss ceiling, the risk arising
from all transactions exposed to market risk is restricted by
means of a system of loss and risk limits.
Market risk is managed directly in the Bank’s Financial
Market Division. Selected strategic positions exposed to
market risks were managed by the Asset Liability Committee until 8 December 2009. To reflect the Bank’s realignment and the changes in the Management Board, responsibility was transferred to the entire Management Board
at the end of the year under review. Daily market risk reports ensure that the Management Board and the trading units are kept constantly informed of the level of exposure to market risks and the current limit utilization.
In accordance with MaRisk requirements, the organizational separation of market risk controlling, settlement and
control, on the one hand, and the trading units responsible
for the positions, on the other, is ensured at all levels.
All key methodological and operational tasks relating to
risk measurement and monitoring are grouped together
in the Group Risk Management division.
The Restructuring Unit manages the positions assigned to
it from the capital market and credit investment businesses. Settlement and control, financial and risk controlling are handled by Core Bank divisions independent of
the Restructuring Unit.
HSH Nordbank Securities S. A. has been identified as a
subsidiary that must be included in the Group-wide market
risk controlling process. Risk limits and monitoring are
done centrally by HSH Nordbank AG.

Market risk management
Market risk measurement and limitation
The basis of the system for measuring and managing market risk is a value at risk approach. The market risk of a
position is the loss in value (in euro) which, with a defined
probability, will not be exceeded within a defined period
until the position is hedged or liquidated.

Within the Bank, value at risk (VaR) is calculated using
historical simulation methods. Calculations are based
Group-wide on a confidence level of 99.0 % and a holding
period of one day over an observation history of 250
equally weighted trading days.
The material market risks at HSH Nordbank are interest
rate risk (including credit spread risk) and exchange
rate risk. The VaR of HSH Nordbank covers these risk categories and also equity and commodities risk for both
the trading and investment portfolios. No separate limit is
applied to the different types of risk. A limit is set for
the total market risk for the bank. To manage market risks,
the VaR is limited for the various reporting units. There
are clearly defined processes for limit adjustment and overshoot.
Market risks from the lending business and the Bank’s liabilities are transferred to the trading units and taken
into account in the corresponding risk positions. There,
they are managed as part of active portfolio management and hedged through external transactions.

Further development of market risk measurement
The Bank developed measurement of credit spread risks
further in 2009, supplementing the existing VaR method.
A bond’s credit spread is a premium for the issuer’s
default risk. Credit spread risk refers to the danger that the
value of a position may rise or fall as a result of a change
in the spread. In July 2009, measurement of credit spread
risks from CDS, single name bonds and loan notes were
integrated into daily VaR measurement for the Group. In
addition, measurement of credit spread risks was meth
odologically further developed, particularly for securitized
positions. Full integration of credit spread risks into daily
VaR measurement – for which a monthly approximation
was already introduced in the year under review – is
planned in 2010.
The Bank analysed all basis risks in the entire portfolio
in the year under review. The swap positions in particular
include basis spread risks. Basis spread risk refers to
the potential loss of value from differing payment frequencies and reference interest rates on the variable side of
swaps. In the course of integrating basis spread risks into
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daily market risk measurement, the necessary modifications for the main HSH Nordbank currencies (USD, GBP,
CHF, JPY) were made in the year under review. The remaining work on integrating secondary currencies (DKK,
SEK) will be completed in the first half of 2010.

Daily value at risk during the year under review
The following diagram illustrates the movements in the
daily value at risk for the entirety of HSH Nordbank’s
trading and banking book positions during 2009. Market
risk fluctuated between € 27 million and € 75 million,
with the VaR for trading book positions amounting to € 6
million on 31 December 2009, while the VaR for banking book transactions amounted to € 30 million. On the
last trading day of 2009, the Bank’s total VaR was € 30
million, while the VaR limit for market risk was € 80 million, giving a figure of 37 % for limit utilization.
The table “Value at risk” shows the value at risk for the
entirety of the Bank’s trading and banking book positions.
Maximum and minimum refer to the upper and lower
limits of the range in which the risk ratio in question
moved during the year under review. Overall risk is calculated by aggregating the individual market risk types.
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The Group’s market risk is calculated in full, and taking
into account Group-wide correlations in HSH Nordbank
AG. Market risks from derivatives, including volatility risks
arising from options, are included in the figures shown
below. Since July 2009, credit risks from single name bonds,
CDS and loan notes are included in the figures shown.
Integration of credit spread risks from securitization positions is planned for 2010.
The increase in total market risk compared with end-2008
is primarily due to the widening of the Pfandbrief
spread in the Group Treasury portfolio and an increase in
exchange rate risk. The latter was driven by increased
volatility of the exchange rates used in the valuation, with
the EUR / USD exchange rate subject to particularly wide
fluctuations in March 2009. Integration of credit spread
risks in daily VaR measurement increased total market
risk at the date of introduction by c. € 20 million. The decrease in VaR, particularly in the third quarter, was a
methodological result of the elimination of data for the
corresponding period in the previous year for the historical observations for the last 250 trading days, the improvement in portfolio recognition and the portfolio
reduction under the Bank’s realignment. In the course of

Market risk: daily value at risk in the course of 2009
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risk-bearing capacity management, the VaR was extrapolated by aggregating the individual risk categories to total
risk of € 657 million.

Daily value at risk 3)
(¤ m)

Interest rate risk *)
2009

2009

2008

Foreign exchange risk
2009

2008

Average

33.7

22.5

27.0

–

20.6

10.3

Maximum

47.8

34.7

40.0

–

47.3

27.0

Minimum

20.7

13.1

20.7

–

2.2

3.9

End of period value

25.4

24.9

21.3

–

2.3

10.7

*)Credit

spread risks are a subcategory of interest rate risk. Due to their importance for HSH Nordbank they are shown here separately, rather than as part of interest rate risk.

Daily value at risk
(¤ m)

Equity risk
2009

2008

Commodity risk
2009

2008

Market risk (aggregated)
2009

2008

Average

5.3

10.3

0.3

0.5

49.8

27.0

Maximum

9.9

15.2

1.7

1.3

74.8

48.2

Minimum

2.6

4.4

0.0

0.1

27.2

16.8

End of period value

2.7

4.4

0.2

0.2

29.9

24.0

Backtesting
The Bank performs regular backtesting to verify the appropriateness of its value at risk forecasts. This involves
comparing the theoretical daily profit/loss derived from the
market performance observed on the following day with
the VaR figures for the previous day as forecast using historical simulation, assuming unchanged positions. The
results of backtesting are taken into account in the ongoing development of the Bank’s value at risk methodology.
Stress tests
In addition to limit-based management of the daily VaR,
at least two weekly stress tests are carried out to investigate the effects of unusual market fluctuations on the value of positions. To this end, the Bank varies its modelling
against the calculation of risk under normal circumstances.

3)

2008

Credit spread risk *)

The VAR is not additive as a result of correlation effects.

For example, in the course of interest rate risk stress tests,
a change in risk factors under extraordinary market con
ditions is simulated, e. g. by shifting or rotating the interest rate curve. At end-2009 the scenario for positive in
terest rate movements showed a potential loss of € 43 million. The scenario for rising exchange rates showed a
potential loss of € 8 million. The Bank also carries out separate stress tests for currencies, equities, commodities
and volatilities, where uniform shifts are assumed for the
individual positions. The Bank supplements these stress
tests by other parametric scenarios and historic scenarios
(e. g. 11 September 2001). The Bank regularly calculates
the change in the present value of banking book positions,
assuming interest rate shocks of +130 and − 190 basis
points to analyze interest rate risks. This satisfies on a timely basis the new regulatory requirements for calculating
the effects of a sudden and unexpected change in interest
rates on positions in the trading book.
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Liquidity risk
HSH Nordbank divides its liquidity risk into insolvency
risk and liquidity maturity transformation risk. Insolvency
risk refers to the danger of the Bank not being able to
meet its own payment obligations or refinancing requirements as they fall due, or not to the desired extent. Liquidity maturity transformation risk refers to the risk that
a loss may occur as a result of the differing fixed conditions periods for assets and liabilities, known as liquidity
maturity transformation positions, and the fluctuations
in the Bank’s own refinancing premium. Liquidity maturity transformation risk is also an integral part of the
risk-bearing capacity concept. The Bank deploys a variety
of instruments to measure, manage and limit its liquidity risks.
Based on the information on the current financial and
economic crisis and the results of backtesting activities, the
Bank further developed the structure and parameters
for measuring and limiting insolvency risk in December
2009. This also took into account the lowered rating of
HSH Nordbank was by a rating agency, which also affected
the modelling for the stress scenarios. Overall, the adjustments led to a more conservative presentation of the Bank’s
liquidity situation.
The split into Core Bank and Restructuring Unit had no
effect on management of liquidity risks. The individual divisions within the Restructuring Unit are integrated into
the processes and methods for managing liquidity risks,
like all relevant business areas of the Bank.

Organization of liquidity risk management
Liquidity management is done by the Group Treasury unit
as a cross-divisional banking function for the Core Bank
and Restructuring unit. The goal is to ensure the Bank’s solvency at all times, in all locations and currencies. The
Group Treasury unit is also responsible for the implementation of funding operations, as well as market-smoothing activities.
The liquidity buffer from securities and receivables from
lending (collateral pool) was again supported and further
developed by Group Treasury, to make optimal use of
the potential for secured refinancing.
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The Bank draws up liquidity planning for strategic multiyear management of liquidity as a resource. For shortterm liquidity management, comparisons of plan and actual figures are carried out, based on a monthly analysis
of changes relevant to liquidity, so that deviations from the
plan can be countered.
The Group Risk Management unit is responsible for defining the methods used for measuring and limiting the
Group’s liquidity risks. It also measures risks and monitors
limits as part of the daily reporting of liquidity risks.
This supports Group Treasury in managing the liquidity of
all maturity bands and enables it to counter potential
risks at an early stage.
As part of Group-wide controlling of liquidity risks, HSH
Nordbank Securities S. A. was identified as the only relevant subsidiary and incorporated into the Group-wide examination of liquidity risk. Management also includes
the special purpose entities Carrera and Poseidon. The Bank
has a contingency plan comprising a catalogue of measures as well as documented processes and clearly assigned
responsibilities for the event of a liquidity crisis.
The Bank’s liquidity policy defines the Group’s framework
for dealing with liquidity and the associated risks.

Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk measurement
To measure the Bank’s insolvency risk and funding requirements, transactions impacting its liquidity are converted into cash flow figures, and incoming and outgoing payments are assigned to maturity bands to produce
a liquidity maturity statement. The difference between
incoming and outgoing payments is the liquidity excess or
shortfall (gap) in the individual maturity bands. Measures of insolvency are individual gaps for the first to the
fourteenth day to show concentrations of outgoing payments, and cumulative gaps from one day to 12 months to
show future liquidity requirements.
In the year under review the Bank further developed the
methodology for modelling payment flows, e. g. for loan
commitments. In addition, further products and their cash
flows were included in the liquidity maturity statements,
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e. g. the planned new lending business including roll-overs.
Liquidity maturity statements are compiled daily at
Group level, for the Bank as a whole, for foreign branch
offices and for HSH Nordbank Securities S. A. In addition
to all business shown in the statement of financial position,
these statements include loan commitments granted,
guarantees, transactions with forward value dates and other business not shown in the statement of financial position. Maturity scenarios are used for a number of positions to map economic maturities more effectively. Factors
such as possible minimum levels of deposits and current
accounts as well as the realization periods and amounts of
assets are always modelled conservatively. The liquidity
maturity statements take the current market situation into
account as a basic scenario (normal case view). In addition to calculating the liquidity maturity statement in €
equivalent values, the Bank calculates a separate liquidity maturity statement for all USD transactions daily. This
ensures adequate management of the Bank’s USD position.
Besides the normal case liquidity maturity statement, the
Bank takes into account a deterioration in the market
situation through a daily calculation of the results of a market liquidity stress test in the form of a stressed liquidity
maturity statement. This, for example, takes into account
more difficult refinancing conditions and looks at other
cash flows under stress assumptions.
HSH Nordbank has been using a VaR approach to quantify its liquidity maturity transformation risk since the
start of 2008. Liquidity VaR is calculated using a historic
simulation (99.9 % confidence level) of liquidity spreads
and their present effect on transactions which would be
theoretically necessary to be able to close out the current maturity transformation position immediately. The
assumption here is that these hypothetical closing out
transactions can actually be entered into the market, so
that full refinancing is possible. As planned, the liquidity VaR calculation was refined at the start of 2009 on the
basis of the data acquired in the course of 2008. The
Bank’s analyses have shown that the liquidity maturity
transformation risk in the previous year was overesti
mated as a result of the conservative liquidity-at-risk approach used. The adjustments result in a more accurate

presentation of the Bank’s actual risk situation. For example, the gaps are closed even using the covered funding
potential, and minimum levels of customer deposits are
taken into account.

Limiting and monitoring liquidity risk
Both the individual gaps and the cumulative gaps for the
first 14 days have limits set in the context of insolvency
risks. Furthermore, limits are applied to the cumulative
gaps for five additional maturity bands up to 12 months.
The insolvency risk is limited in principle by the ability of
HSH Nordbank to utilize its entire liquidity cover potential. This liquidity cover potential consists of various components, expressed in the total overall limit. The liquidity potential (limit) is the respective ceiling for the cumulative gaps of the individual maturities and consists of
a securities portfolio which is maintained as a precaution
in the event of a crisis (crisis liquidity), additional liquid
securities and loan notes on the basis of their convertibility
into cash, unsecured funding options and secured potential funding from the issue of Pfandbriefs and commercial
loans eligible for rediscount at central banks. In the year
under review the limit was supplemented by further components, e. g. the funding potential from usable new
lending. As an adjustment to the market situation, since
2009 unsecured funding potential has also been included in a significantly more restrictive way in the liquidity
cover potential, which has been significantly reduced
as a result, other things being equal. The liquidity cover potential components are examined and validated on an
ongoing basis in accordance with internal minimum requirements. To minimise the likelihood of full utilization or breaching the ceilings, security buffers and risk
premiums were taken into account in the limits. These
individual premiums involve e. g. haircuts or other security premiums which reflect uncertainty over the future
development of the relevant limit components.
Group Risk Management calculates and monitors utilization of the limits every day and reports its findings to
the Management Board and Group Treasury. If limits are
exceeded, Group Treasury determines and implements
appropriate measures and Group Risk Management monitors their implementation.
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The Management Board and responsible management
units are also notified monthly in aggregated form of limit utilization in the normal and stress case, in the stress
scenarios and the overall estimate of the Group’s liquidity
situation.
The liquidity VaR for liquidity maturity transformation
risks is determined monthly by Group risk Management
and reported to the Management Board and responsible
management. The limits are at Group level, and are an integral part of the risk-bearing capacity concept.

Decreasing limit utilization over the course of the year
The state of the financial markets was still difficult at the
start of 2009, but has normalized significantly over
the course of the year. Secured funding, e. g. through repo
transactions, is now possible again without restrictions,
and even unsecured funding has become increasingly possible since the middle of the year. Overall, the refinancing situation of the banks has eased substantially over the
course of the year under review.
This difficult market trend at the start of 2009 in combination with the downgrading of the long and short term
ratings by a rating agency initially had a negative impact
on the liquidity position of HSH Nordbank, leading to
higher utilization of the liquidity cover potential. The Bank
accordingly made greater use of the liquidity supplied
by the central banks by borrowing from the central banks
against its collateral pool, and placed a number of benchmark bonds guaranteed by the Special Fund for Financial
Market Stabilization (SoFFin). In January, April and
July 2009, HSH Nordbank successfully placed benchmark
bonds guaranteed by SoFFin with maturities of two and
three years and a total volume of € 9.0 billion. The Bank
also received € 5.3 billion in June 2009 and € 2.4 billion
in September 2009 under one-year tenders. This significantly benefited the liquidity situation in these maturities.
In addition, the following measures were taken in the year
under review to improve the Group liquidity situation:
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−	Increase the collateral pool by identifying further assets
eligible for discount at central banks (e. g. commercial
loans) and depositing these with the relevant central
banks.
−	Increase the cover pool for covered issues.
−	Risk-adequate pricing and restrictive lending and irrevocable loan commitments.
−	Measures to strengthen customer deposits to offset the
decrease in deposits by banks and nonbanks after the
rating downgrades.
−	Selling assets, e. g. from the credit investment portfolio, and restructuring portfolios.
Overall, the Bank’s liquidity situation has stabilized compared with end-2008, so that e. g. more funding has
been attracted than planned. For 2010 and 2011, refinancing will take further increased efforts, and will be secured by implementing concrete measures.
The following table shows the relative utilization levels of
the limits and ceilings for individual cumulative liquidity gaps in the normal case and stress case as at 30 December 2009. Utilization represents the share of the cumu
lative gap in total liquidity cover potential, which also includes utilization of borrowing options at the central
banks.
In the normal case presentation, liquidity cover potential
was shown as at the reporting date at 74 % in nine
months. The stress case liquidity maturity statement shows
only moderate utilization of liquidity cover potential
at times in the range up to three months, which is particularly relevant for insolvency risk. From the sixth month,
the liquidity cover potential is no longer sufficient to meet
the cumulative gap. Maximum utilization is 113 % in
the 12 th month. Methodological refinement in measuring and limiting cumulative gaps means there is limited
comparability in this table between the year-end values for
2008 and 2009. Basically, however, the level of utilization of liquidity cover potential as at 30 December 2009
shows significant positive development in both the normal case and the stress case compared with end-2008, despite more conservative modelling and limit parameters.
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Normal case

Limit on cumulative liquidity gaps
Use of liquidity potential (%)

30.12.2009

30.12. 2008

Stress case
30.12.2009

30.12.2008

1st day

1

0

7

4

7th day

14

38

21

50

14th day

25

52

35

67

3rd week

33

56

44

79

4th week

38

52

54

79

8th week

48

58

68

94

3rd month

57

78

83

129

6th month

67

72

101

128

9th month

74

71

110

138

12th month

73

65

113

138

The liquidity VaR as an expression of liquidity maturity
transformation risk varied on a monthly basis in the
year under review between € 435 million and € 1,136 million. As at 30 December 2009 it was € 673 million.
Since June 2009, the SoFFin guarantee framework has been
taken into account to its usable extent in the liquidity
VaR calculation. The resulting additional refinancing possibilities, the capital increase and the overall improvement in the liquidity situation led to a decrease of more
than half in the liquidity VaR compared with the previous month.

Backtesting
In the course of backtesting, we review the modelling of
products with stochastic payments streams in the liquidity maturity statement on the basis of statistical analysis of historical payment streams. Choice of the relevant
products is based on the volume and risk content of the
product in terms of the uncertainty in previous modelling. In the year under review we carried out backtesting
for numerous products, e. g. current account loans, sight
deposits, savings deposits, cash collateral for OTC derivatives, early redemption of own issues and loan notes,
determinist and stochastic credit commitments, roll-over
credits.

Risk report

Stress tests
Our regular stress tests for insolvency risk involve unusual
scenarios and their effects on the Group’s liquidity situation. In determining the stress tests, the risk (and hence key
parameters) was identified for all transaction types in the
liquidity maturity statement which change the cash flow
profile in the relevant stress situation. For example, inflows could be lower or later and outflows higher or earlier
than expected.
Stress tests were chosen on the basis of an analysis of historical events and hypothetical models. The rating downgrade of HSH Nordbank accordingly required redefinition
and restructuring of the stress scenarios. In addition, ex
perience from the downgrade was incorporated in new
modelling and parameter configuration. Based on an
assumed deterioration in the market liquidity crisis, market-specific scenarios (e. g. global recession) and scenarios specific to the Bank (e. g. a downgrade of HSH Nordbank
AG) are examined in the various stress scenarios. In each
of these scenarios, it is assumed that some new lending
will have to be continued and maturing loans to customers will have to be extended and refinanced, while the options for extending repayment terms for deposits are
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partly restricted or totally impossible, resulting in a financing gap. In addition, the model assumes that large numbers of credit facilities that the Bank has granted are drawn
down and that the Bank’s own issues and securitized
liabilities are redeemed early. Stress test results are reported
to the Management Board and Group Treasury at least
once a month.
Both the market-specific and bank-related stress scenarios
from December 2009 show that the liquidity requirement is covered by liquidity cover potential for several
weeks, even in updated and strict worst case assumptions. These results demonstrate that the Bank is sufficiently prepared for possible crises.

Liquidity ratio of HSH Nordbank AG
The regulatory ratio for liquidity risks is the liquidity ratio
in the German Solvency Ordinance. The Bank manages
its liquidity ratio actively through specific market transactions. For internal management, it uses a lower limit
above the regulatory minimum of 1.0. During the year
under review, the Bank’s liquidity ratio was above the
regulatory minimum at all times, with a value between
1.17 and 2.17. The average value for 2009 was 1.66 (pre
vious year: 1.25).

Liquidity value at risk in the course of 2009
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Liquidity ratio (Liq v)
Month-end values

2009

2008

January

1.37

1.27

February

1.17

1.23

March

1.30

1.18

April

1.50

1.18

May

1.41

1.26

June

1.72

1.35

July

1.92

1.29

August

1.67

1.26

September

1.88

1.23

October

2.17

1.18

November

1.92

1.18

December

1.87

1.34

well as encouraging risk awareness within the Group. The
central risk controlling unit also reports independently
to the units of the Bank that are responsible for managing
these risks.
The central controlling unit for operational risks is backed
up by a local network of experts. All business units have
OpRisk officers and OpRisk assistants who are responsible
for applying the controlling instruments and who act as
the link between central risk controlling and the relevant
divisions. The OpRisk officers and OpRisk assistants receive training for their duties from the Risk Controlling
department.

Operational risk

All methods and procedures within the context of controlling operational risks are also employed at the Bank’s
locations abroad.

HSH Nordbank defines operational risk (OpRisk) as the risk
of direct or indirect loss caused by the inappropriateness
or failure of the internal infrastructure, internal processes
or staff or as a result of external factors (risk categories).
This definition includes legal and reputation risks.

The subsidiaries designated as relevant – HSH Nordbank
Securities S. A., HSH Real Estate AG, HSH Nordbank
Private Banking S. A. and HSH Facility Management Holding AG – are integrated into operational risk from
the Group-wide perspective.

HSH Nordbank considers operational risk control and the
fostering of corresponding risk awareness within the
Group to be a key aspect of its management systems. This
is because of the dynamic business conditions, the
Bank’s ongoing restructure measures, limited scope for risk
transfer, as well as the increased demands by rating
agencies and other market participants.

Operational risk management
Operational risks can affect all products, processes and organizational entities. For this reason, particular attention is paid to effective risk awareness so that the expertise
possessed by the Bank’s staff can be utilized for identifying operational risks.

The internal division of the Bank into Core Bank and Restructuring Unit had no effect on management of operational risks. The individual divisions within the Restructuring Unit are integrated into the processes and methods
for managing operational risks, like all relevant business areas of the Bank.

Organization of operational risk management
HSH Nordbank has an independent central controlling
unit for identifying, analyzing, evaluating and monitoring
operational risks. This unit is responsible for developing
and supporting the relevant controlling instruments and
providing expertise and advice on operational risks, as

In the course of realignment of the Bank, a significant
reduction in headcount is planned. The reduction in headcount planned for 2009 and 2010 was almost achieved
in the year under review. This leads to a risk in some divisions that performance of the impending tasks with the
necessary care will be possible to only a limited extent. To
counter the resulting operational risks, the Bank has
taken measures to curb high staff fluctuation, to manage
the internal job market, and to intensify external recruiting. This enabled the Bank to fill key vacancies in the Credit
Risk Management, Group Rick Management and Internal
Audit units. In addition, specific measures were initiated to
improve the staffing situation in management of intensive management and work-out cases.

Risk report
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Measures were also taken in 2009 to improve the qualitative and quantitative resources for decentralized operational risk management in the divisions. Training throughout the bank is planned for 2010 to further increase risk
awareness for operational risks.

thereby contributes indirectly to the identification of
operational risk events.

Risk event database
Risk events resulting from operational risks are combined
for the Bank and the relevant subsidiaries in a central
risk event database. The organizational entities concerned
record the risk events locally and forward this data to
the central risk controlling unit, which checks the data,
collates collective risk events, if applicable, and prepares analyses and reports. The results of the analysis of
risk events allow us to take preventive action. In addition, Internal Audit examines and assesses all the Bank’s
activities and processes from a risk-oriented, processindependent perspective, and identifies any measures that
can be taken to reduce operational risk. This covers both
the Core Bank and Restructuring Unit.

Since 2006, HSH Nordbank has been participating in the
exchange of information on operational risk events as
part of the Operational Risk Data Pool (DakOR) at the level
of the Association of German Public Sector Banks (VÖB).
The Bank played a key role in the establishment of this
pool.

The central risk event database takes into account all risk
events with a gross loss of at least € 2,500. A gross loss
is the sum of the cash outflow, income foregone and internal resources consumed. In addition, unexpected revenue from operational risks is also logged in the risk event
database for amounts in excess of € 2,500, as risk events
with net income for the Bank can indicate e. g. procedural
weaknesses. The categorization of risk events makes it
possible to systematically analyze the causes of losses and

The largest individual gross losses in 2009 were in the category External Influences.

Risk inventory
Since 2005, HSH Nordbank has carried out a Group-wide
risk inventory annually. Based on the information about
the risk situation of organizational entities gained from
this inventory, operational risk reporting to the management units is supplemented by the addition of forwardlooking risk estimates to encourage the proactive management and monitoring of operational risks. In cooperation with the other Operational Risk Data Pool (DakOR)
member banks, a standard scenario catalogue for risk inventory was developed in the year under review. This
was supplemented by HSH Nordbank with internal scenario, and used for the first time in 2009 for the bottom-up
logging of loss potential. The individual scenarios were consolidated in core topics, e. g. reorganization and outsourcing, and supplemented by a cross-divisional top-down
analysis. The results of the risk inventory will be used

Share of risk categories in gross operational losses
(%, 2009)

50 % 
7% 
43 % 
0% 
43 %

50 %

7%

Internal processes
Employees
External influences
Internal infrastructure
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as the basis for scenario analyses in individual cases to estimate the danger of particularly serious operational risk
events; this will be important in particular for the derivation of suitable measures.

ployees, managers and the Management Board of HSH
Nordbank AG, and is a binding part of personal goal
agreements. The contents were communicated in a bankwide training programme.

Legal risks
Under the German Solvency Ordinance (SolvV), legal risks
also fall under operational risks. The Legal and Group
Compliance unit is responsible for overseeing such risks.
All organizational entities are given comprehensive advice on legal matters by regularly trained employees to ensure that risks are minimized, contained or prevented.
A structured process with clear requirements and responsibilities serves to ensure that the Bank’s contracts and
agreements are kept up-to-date.

The Code of Conduct introduced an international whistleblower office where employees and managers can report
indications of possible violations of compliance regulations, possibly even anonymously. The whistleblower
office was staffed with independent ombudspeople from
BDO Deutsche Warentreuhand Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft.

Other risks
Compliance risk
Compliance risk encompasses legal and regulatory sanctions or financial losses due to failure to comply with
laws, regulations and guidelines and organizational standards and codes of conduct. The Compliance unit at
HSH Nordbank is responsible for managing risks with regard to the German Securities Trading Act and related
standards, prevention of fraud and money laundering and
international financial sanctions.
There has been a considerable further increase in the
compliance requirements on financial institutions. This
can be attributed to new legal and regulatory requirements on the one hand (also as a result of the financial
market crisis), and to significant compliance risk events
in the international financial services sector on the other.
HSH Nordbank has responded by continuously developing its compliance system and taking market standards
into account.
A key milestone in expanding compliance in 2009 was the
introduction of a Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct
is based on systems and processes introduced or expanded
in recent years. It covers all behavioural requirements
for compliance, which are explained in detail in internal
instructions. The Code of Conduct applies to all em-

In the year under review, further development of instruments in the individual compliance areas included instruments for monitoring employee securities transactions,
customer acceptance in terms of money laundering risks,
and identification of fraud risks.

Strategic risk
Strategic risk is the danger of financial loss being incurred
as a result of long-term decisions which are erroneous or
based on incorrect assumptions, particularly with respect
to the performance of individual areas of business or the
banking sector as a whole.
The strategic realignment of HSH Nordbank initiated at
end-2008, the successful capital increase and risk shield by
the states of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein, and the
SoFFin guarantees all reduced the strategic risk. Particular
contributions were the concentration on core business
areas, transfer of nonstrategic and high risk business to the
Restructuring Unit and the significant reduction in the
international network as part of alignment. To strengthen
the Bank’s risk culture, the risk functions and back office
function competences were significantly enhanced, including reorganization of the lending decision process.

Core Bank risks
The risks of the “Core Bank” subportfolio are shown separately below. The risks dealt with are the Core Bank’s default and market risks. Management of liquidity, operational and other risks is handled at Group level for both the
Core Bank and the Restructuring Unit.
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Default risk in the Core Bank
The processes and methods for determining default risks in
the Core Bank have already been covered in detail in the
section “Default risks”. As at 31 December 2009 the outstanding loan amount for the Core Bank totalled
€ 119,938 million.
Default risk exposure
The outstanding loan amount of the Core Bank is shown
broken down by the Bank’s internal rating classes in the
following table. The outstanding loan amount with an investment grade rating (rating classes 1 [AAAA] to 5)
stands at € 81,455 million.

The outstanding loan amount in the Core Bank is shown
broken down by residual maturities in the following table.

Default risk structure by maturity
(¤ m)

up to 3 months
> 3 months to 6 months

2009

27,011

1 (AA) to 1 (A-)

26,811

2 to 5

27,633

6 to 9

19,178

10 to 12

7,550

13 to 15

7,385

16 to 18

4,370

5,064

> 1 year to 5 years

45,874

> 5 years to 10 years

26,397

> 10 years

11,608
119,938

Country risk
The following table “Foreign commitments by region”
provides an overview of the Core Bank’s country exposure
by region, which reached a level of € 54,863 million as
at 31 December 2009.

Country exposure by region
(¤ m)

Loan amount outstanding
2009

119,938

The outstanding loan amount is shown broken down by
the Bank’s main sectors in the following table.
Loan amount outstanding
2009

of which euro zone countries
Central and Eastern Europe
of which euro zone countries

Industry

11,640

Shipping

25,410
8,416

Credit institutions

29,303

Other financial institutions

16,435

Real estate and property

11,038

Other services

8,014

Public sector

7,674

Private households

2,008

Other

–

Total

119,938

28,565
14,837
2,006
114

African countries

1,433

North America

9,594

Latin America

2,142

Middle East

Trade and transportation

11,770

19,225

Western Europe

Default risk structure by sector
(¤ m)

2009

Loan amount outstanding

1 (AAAA) to 1 (AA+)

Total

Loan amount outstanding

> 6 months to 1 year

Total

Default risk structure by rating
(¤ m)
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Asia-Pacific region
International organisations

517
10,521
26

Other

59

Total

54,863
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Market risk in the Core Bank
The processes and methods for determining market risks
in the Core Bank have already been covered in detail in
the section “Market risks”.
The Core Bank’s market risk is essentially characterized
by interest and exchange rate risk from lending and refinancing. There are equity risks only to a limited extent.
Daily value at risk at Core Bank
(¤ m)

31.12.2009

Interest rate risk

13.5

Credit spread risk

1.2

Foreign exchange risk

2.9

Equity risk

1.9

Commodity risk
Market risk (aggregated)

0.2
15.1

As at 31 December 2009, the value at risk of the Core
Bank’s trading book positions amounted to € 5.5 million,
with the banking book VaR totalling € 15.8 million. On
the last trading day of 2009 the Core Bank’s total VaR was
€ 15.1 million.

Risks of the Restructuring Unit
The risks of the Restructuring Unit subportfolio are shown
separately below. The risks dealt with are the Restruc
turing Unit’s default and market risks. Management of liquidity, operational and other risks is handled at Group
level for both the Core Bank and the Restructuring Unit.
Risk reporting for the Restructuring Unit is generally
secured by management and reporting systems in the
Group Risk Management unit. In addition to regular risk
reporting, an expanded reduction and management
reporting system is being introduced at portfolio level for
the Restructuring Unit. The aim of this is to take into
account special characteristics of the reduction, to be able
to respond flexibly and promptly to changes in the portfolios. This reporting already exists today to a great extent,
but will be further expanded in the next few months.

For reducing the loan portfolio, structured reduction is
planned in addition to standard loan processing. This distinguishes between three categories of commitments:
normal cases, intensively managed cases and work-out
loans. With normal cases, various reduction strategies
are followed, using a value-oriented approach. For intensively managed cases, it may be necessary to take into
account increased risks of reduction for an individual case.
For work-out cases, a concept is developed and assessed
for each individual case, and here reduction is generally
only possible after a successful work-out.
For reducing the capital market business, positions are
allocated to various categories on the basis of current market valuation and impairment losses already recognized.
Depending on the characteristics of the category in question, reduction is done in the framework of a loss budget
set by the Management Board, including consideration of
possible increased risks or potential for write-ups in the
individual case.

Default risk in the Restructuring Unit
The processes and methods for determining default risks in
the Restructuring Unit have already been covered in
detail in the section “Default risks”. As at 31 December
2009 the outstanding loan amount for the Restructuring Unit totalled € 85,230 million.
Default risk exposure
The outstanding loan amount of the Restructuring Unit is
shown broken down by the Bank’s internal rating classes
in the following table. The outstanding loan amount with
an investment grade rating (rating classes 1 [AAAA] to 5)
stands at € 47,983 million.

Risk report

Default risk structure by rating
(¤ m)

Loan amount outstanding
2009

1 (AAAA) to 1 (AA+)

21,664

1 (AA) to 1 (A-)

13,595

2 to 5

12,724

6 to 9

12,228

10 to 12

6,465

13 to 15

8,942

16 to 18

9,612

Total

85,230

The outstanding loan amount is shown broken down by
the Restructuring Unit’s main industries in the following
table.

Default risk structure by sector
(¤ m)

Loan amount outstanding
2009

Industry

9,032

Shipping

9,531

Trade and transportation

4,676

Credit institutions

12,621

Other financial institutions

16,482

Real estate and property

15,761

Other services

4,882

Public sector

10,030

Private households

2,215

Other

–

Total

85,230
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The outstanding loan amount in the Restructuring Unit is
shown broken down by residual maturities in the following table.

Default risk structure by maturity
(¤ m)

Loan amount outstanding
2009

up to 3 months

4,170

> 3 months to 6 months

3,842

> 6 months to 1 year

8,333

> 1 year to 5 years

35,249

> 5 years to 10 years

19,084

> 10 years

14,552

Total

85,230

Country risk
The following table “Foreign commitments by region”
provides an overview of the Restructuring Unit’s country
exposure by region, which reached a level of € 57,024
million as at 31 December 2009.

Country exposure by region
(¤ m)

Western Europe
of which euro zone countries
Central and Eastern Europe
of which euro zone countries
African countries

Loan amount outstanding
2009

32,595
14,876
1,458
135
232

North America

15,680

Latin America

1,204

Middle East
Asia-Pacific region
International organisations

328
4,406
50

Other

1,071

Total

57,024

Market risk in the Restructuring Unit
Market risks in the Restructuring Unit are calculated using
the same processes and methods as in the Core Bank.4)

4)

Cf. the section “Market risk”
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Market risks in the Restructuring Unit arise mainly out of
the credit investment portfolio. The credit spread risk is
accordingly dominant here.
Daily value at risk
at Restructuring Unit
(¤ m)

31.12.2009

Interest rate risk

18.2

Credit spread risk

21.4

Foreign exchange risk

1.5

Equity risk

1.8

Commodity risk

0.0

Market risk (aggregated)

24.2

As at 31 December 2009, the value at risk of the Restructuring Unit’s trading book positions amounted to € 1.1
million, with the banking book VaR totalling € 24.6 million. On the last trading day of 2009 the Core Bank’s
total VaR was € 24.2 million.

Summary and outlook
As a result of the consequences of the global financial and
economic crisis in March 2009, the Bank has adopted
an initiated a far-reaching strategic realignment.5) The goal
was to create a Core Bank with a focused business model,
a significantly improved risk profile in all divisions, significantly smaller total assets and adequate capitalization.
The creation of an internal Restructuring Unit for business
areas which are not longer strategic and special risk positions as at 1 December 2009, marked implementation of a
key pillar to this concept. The Bank will continue to con
sistently pursue the reduction in the loan and capital market portfolios in the Restructuring Unit in accordance
with results and liquidity. A further recovery in the capital
markets would favour this reduction. As the environment continues challenging, however, further significant
charges must be expected in all types of business in the
Restructuring Unit.
As a result of the financial and economic crisis, the restructuring of problem loans to reduce the impact on earnings will be a central factor for the Bank’s success. A start
has already been made on a corresponding increase in
resources.
After carrying out the capital increase of € 3 billion, the
Bank’s core capital ratio has risen significantly. The core
capital quota is expected to maintain the minimum of
7 % required by SoFFin, despite the anticipated difficult
earnings situation for the Bank in 2010. With a view to
the expected future developments, the additional risk
shield will protect the bank against possible unexpected
losses of up to € 10 billion. This significant increase in
capital is expected to provide appropriate capital for the
implementation phase of the strategic realignment over
the next three years.
As both the capital increase and the risk shield are regarded under EU law as subsidies, the EU Commission initi
ated proceedings in the year under review. The EU Commission has since accepted the realignment concept, including the capitalization measures. The EU Commission
is expected to approve the stabilization measures and
reorganization of HSH Nordbank finally after clarifying

5)

Cf. the section “Business outlook”
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the remaining outstanding points. The final decision
by the EU Commission is expected by mid-2010.
In the course of the measures taken by the Bank in the
financial market crisis, the existing lending decision process was also intensively analysed and significantly refined. For example, in 2009 the credit risk strategy was developed into an integrated market strategy and credit
risk strategy for the individual front office units which consolidates the consideration of opportunities and risks in
the relevant markets.
HSH Nordbank carried out a weakness analysis for credit
risk management in 2009 and formulated a concept for
improving risk organization and a lending decision process
in accordance with the regulatory requirements (KWG,
MaRisk). A key element in the new credit risk organization
will be the centralization of all relevant functions (including credit analysis, previously carried out in the front
office, and loan and collateral management) in the risk
function. The concept is being further developed with a
view to the future overall organization of the CRO unit.
Key aspects to be considered in implementation are avoiding negative effects on core processes in front office
functions, establishing a best practice decision process for
credit and market risks with appropriate competence
levels and decision making documentation and competitive processing times, with current and foreseeable new
regulatory requirements.
HSH Nordbank also intends to further optimize its existing
methods, processes and systems in the areas of market
and liquidity risk management. Key aspects for consideration are the current and foreseeable new regulatory
requirements, accurate recognition of risks and the specific organizational requirements of HSH Nordbank. The
existing model for calculating the risk adjusted return on
capital (RAROC) and the early warning system will also
be reviewed.
The risk and bank management systems described above
are intended to take systematic account of risks. This also
applies to expectations of future market and business
trends. In the Bank’s opinion, this is a correct presentation
of the opportunities and risks arising from the future de-

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

velopment of its business activities in, among other
things, the outlook and this risk report. Despite clear signs
of recovery, the financial markets and economic crisis
is expected to continue in 2010. In particular because of
the capital measures completed in the year under review,
which still need to be finally approved by the EU, it is expected that HSH Nordbank will maintain its risk-bearing
capacity and solvency.

Hamburg / Kiel, 16 March 2010
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Statement of Comprehensive Income of HSH Nordbank Group
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2009

Income statement
(¤ m)

Note

Interest income
Interest expenses
Net income on hybrid financial instruments

2009

following
adjustment
2008

change in %

20,664

33,163

-37.7

-18,918

-31,112

-39.2

375

–

–

Net interest income

(8)

2,121

2,051

3.4

Loan loss provisions

(9)

-2,794

-1,888

48.0

-673

163

> -100

Net interest income after loan loss provisions
Net commission income

(10)

211

270

-21.9

Result from hedging

(11)

146

-15

> +100

Net trading income

(12)

568

-1,127

> +100

Net income from financial investments

(13)

-106

-1,022

89.6

Administrative expenses

(14)

-830

-899

-7.7

Other operating income

(15)

> +100

Net income before restructuring
Result from restructuring

(16)

Expenses for government guarantees

(17)

Net income before taxes
Income tax expenses (-) / income (+)

(18)

Net income after taxes
Income from the assumption of losses
Group net loss for the year
Group net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders

Earnings per share
(¤ )

(19)

30

-166

-654

-2,796

76.6

-124

-172

-27.9

-483

–

–

-1,261

-2,968

57.5
> +100

423

-227

-838

-3,195

73.8

159

351

-54.7

-679

-2,844

76.1

-9

-35

74.3

-670

-2,809

76.1

2009

following
adjustment
2008

Note

-3.93

-36.63

Earnings per share (diluted)

-4.41

-38.07

Number of shares (millions)

171

77

Earnings per share (undiluted)

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares
Weighted average of shares outstanding adjusted for the anticipated conversion

(21)

17

6

188

83
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Reconciliation with total comprehensive income
(¤ m)

Group net loss for the year
Change in revaluation reserve (before taxes)
Of which: from exchange rate effects
Income taxes not recognised in the income statement
Of which: from exchange rate effects

Currency conversion reserve
Actuarial gains / losses (before taxes)
Income taxes not recognised in the income statement

Other net income for the period
Comprehensive income
Group net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders

Group financial statements

2009

following
adjustment
2008

-679

-2,844

307

-529

-9

1

-101

147

2

-1

206

-382

-5

29

-45

80

14

-26

-31

54

170

-299

-509

-3,143

-9

-35

-500

-3,108
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Statement of financial position of HSH Nordbank Group
as at 31 December 2009

Note

31.12.2009

following
adjustment
31.12.2008

Cash reserve

(22)

1,296

1,419

-8.7
-33.4

(¤ m)

Change
in %

Assets

Loans and advances to banks

(23)

15,541

23,340

Loans and advances to customers

(24)

110,557

117,610

-6.0

Loan loss provisions

(25)

-4,718

-2,751

71.5

Positive fair values of hedging derivatives

(26)

1,684

2,807

-40.0

295

427

-30.9
-36.7

Positive adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges
Assets held for trading

(27)

16,879

26,655

Financial investments

(28)

29,732

36,511

-18.6

Intangible assets

(29)

197

246

-19.9

Property, plant and equipment

(30)

101

114

-11.4

Investment properties

(30)

316

285

10.9

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

(31)

586

–

–

Current tax assets

(32)

518

572

-9.4

Deferred tax assets

(33)

1,211

726

66.8

Other assets

(34)

338

409

-17.4

174,533

208,370

-16.2

Total assets

Statement of financial position of HSH Nordbank Group
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Note

31.12.2009

following
adjustment
31.12.2008

Liabilities to banks

(35)

38,591

61,498

Liabilities to customers

(36)

49,803

52,469

-5.1

Securitised liabilities

(37)

53,121

58,200

-8.7

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives

(38)

-76.4

(¤ m)

Change
in %

-37.2

Liabilities

Negative adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges

517

2,194

1,085

1,159

-6.4

Liabilities held for trading

(39)

14,649

17,779

-17.6

Provisions

(40)

1,619

1,412

14.7

Liabilities relating to disposal groups

(42)

19

–

–

Current tax obligations

(43)

78

101

-22.8

Deferred tax obligations

(44)

93

24

> +100

Other liabilities

(45)

1,583

1,795

-11.8

Subordinated capital

(46)

8,884

9,734

-8.7

Equity capital

(47)

4,491

2,005

> +100

Share capital

2,460

881

> +100

Capital reserve

1,509

88

> +100

Retained earnings

1,607

1,354

18.7

-356

-562

-36.7

Revaluation reserve
Currency conversion reserve
Group loss / profit
Total before non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests
Total equity and liabilities

-90

-85

5.9

-670

284

> -100

4,460

1,960

> +100

31

45

-31.1

174,533

208,370

-16.2
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Statement of changes in equity of HSH Nordbank Group

Statement of changes in equity
(¤ m)

Share capital

Capital reserve

Note

As at 1 January 2008

702

2,317

Group net loss for the year

–

–

Changes due to restatements

–

–

Changes not recognised in the income statement

–

–

Changes recognised in the income statement

–

–

Exchange rate changes

–

–

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

–

Comprehensive income 2008

–

–

Dividend payments and distributions

–

–

179

806

(41, 47)

Capital increases
Change in retained earnings

–

–

Change in the capital reserve

–

-3,035

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

–

Transactions with shareholders

–

–

881

88

–

–

(41, 47)

–

–

(47)

–

–

–

–

As at 31 December 2008
Group net loss for the year
Changes not recognised in the income statement
Changes recognised in the income statement
Exchange rate changes
Comprehensive income 2009

–

–

Dividend payments and distributions

–

–

1,579

1,421

–

–

2,460

1,509

Capital increases
Change in retained earnings
As at 31 December 2009

Statement of changes in equity of HSH Nordbank Group

Retained earnings

Currency conversion reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Group net
income / loss

Total before
non-controlling
interests

Group financial statements

Non-controlling
interests

Total

of which
actuarial
gains / losses
acc. to IAS 19

1,505

95

-114

-180

50

4,280

88

4,368

–

–

–

–

-2,669

-2,669

-35

-2,704

–

–

–

–

-140

-140

–

-140

54

54

–

-622

–

-568

-2

-570

–

–

–

232

–

232

–

232

–

–

29

-12

–

17

2

19

–

–

–

20

–

20

–

20

54

54

29

-382

-2,809

-3,108

-35

-3,143

-175

–

–

–

–

-175

-6

-181

–

–

–

–

–

985

–

985

-8

–

–

–

8

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,035

–

–

–

-14

–

–

–

–

-14

5

-9

-8

–

–

–

–

-8

-7

-15

1,354

149

-85

-562

284

1,960

45

2,005

–

–

–

–

-670

-670

-9

-679

-31

-31

–

-115

–

-146

–

-146

–

–

–

325

–

325

–

325

–

–

-5

-4

–

-9

–

-9

-31

-31

-5

206

-670

-500

-9

-509

–

–

–

–

–

–

-5

-5

–

–

–

–

–

3,000

–

3,000

284

–

–

–

-284

–

–

–

1,607

118

-90

-356

-670

4,460

31

4,491
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Cash flow statement of HSH Nordbank Group

2009

(¤ m)

1.

Group net loss for the year

following adjustment 2008

-679

-2,844

Adjustments to cash flow from operating activities
2.

Depreciation, impairments and write-ups on loans and advances,
tangible assets and financial investments, intangible assets and
investment properties
a) Loans and advances to customers and banks
b) Financial investments
c) Tangible assets, investment properties

3.

Change in provisions

4.

Other non-cash expenses / income

5.

Profit / loss from disposal of financial investments and tangible fixed assets
a) Financial investments
b) Tangible assets / investment properties

6.

Other adjustments

7.

Subtotal

8.

Changes in loans and advances

9.

2,922

2,553

2,630

1,516

195

1,000

97

37
305

664

-895

857

215

293

212

295

3

-2
-2,544

-1,648

-676

-125

12,616

-5,603

a) To banks

7,136

7,867

b) To customers

5,480

-13,470

Changes in assets held for trading

10.

Changes in other assets from continuing operations

11.

Changes in liabilities
a) To banks
b) To customers

11,914

-4,154

70

-217

-24,932

5,352

-22,524

3,298

-2,408

2,054

12.

Changes in securitised liabilities

-4,563

-11,663

13.

Changes in liabilities held for trading

-5,336

10,247

14.

Changes in other liabilities from continuing operations

15.

Interest and dividends received

-391

-537

20,749

33,200

-18,915

-31,304

-198

-292

16.

Interest and dividends paid

17.

Income tax payments

18.

Cash flow from operating activities

-9,662

-5,096

19.

Receipts from disposals of

14,665

15,727

a) Securities
b) Interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries and equity holdings
c) Tangible assets
20.

14,438

107

1,277
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Payments for investments in
a) Securities
b) Interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries and equity holdings
c) Tangible assets
d) Other investing activities

21.

14,548

Cash flow from investing activities

12
-7,364

-11,628

-6,949

-11,193

-338

-359

-77

-32

–

-44
7,301

4,099

Cash flow statement of HSH Nordbank Group

Group financial statements

2009

(¤ m)

following adjustment 2008

22.

Payments received from allocations to equity capital

3,000

300

23.

Payments (-), payments received (+) from subordinated capital

-617

1,253

-140

-153

-5

-181
1,219

24.

Payments (-), payments received (+) from silent participations

25.

Distributions on equity capital

26.

Cash flow from financing activities

2,238

27.

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

1,419

1,197

28.

Cash flow from operating activities

-9,662

-5,096

29.

Cash flow from investing activities

7,301

4,099

30.

Cash flow from financing activities

2,238

1,219

31.

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

1,296

1,419

Cash and cash equivalents is equivalent to the cash reserve
item in the statement of financial position and comprises cash
on hand, balances at central banks, treasury bills, discounted
treasury notes and similar debt instruments issued by publicsector bodies and bills of exchange.
The cash flow from operating activities is calculated using the
indirect method, whereby the Group net income / loss for the
year is adjusted for non-cash expenses (increased) and non-cash
income (reduced) and for cash changes in assets and liabilities
used in operating activities.
The item for other non-cash expenses / income contains primarily valuation effects from assets and liabilities recognised and
measured at fair value.
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explanatory notes
General information

1. Accounting principles

HSH Nordbank AG has issued debt instruments as defined in

in equity can either follow the one statement approach or the

Section 2 (1) sentence 1 of the German Securities Trading

two statement approach. HSH Nordbank Group retains the two

Act (WpHG) on an organised market as defined in Section 2 (5)

statement approach with the income statement and income

WpHG, and is thus obliged, as a publicly traded company

and other net income for the period.

as defined in Regulation (EC) No. 1606 / 2002 of the European
Parliament and the Council dated July 19, 2002 (IAS Regu

If items of other net income for the period are reclassified

lation) in conjunction with Section 315a (1) of the German

under the corresponding items in the operating profit (e. g. net

Commercial Code (HGB), to draw up its group financial

income from financial investments), the amounts of the re-

statements in accordance with International Accounting Stan-

classifications must be shown separately, either in the Notes or

dards (IFRS / IAS).

in the statement of comprehensive income. HSH Nordbank
Group shows the amounts of the reclassifications separately in

The supplementary provisions of Section 315a HGB are taken

the Notes.

into account and are shown individually in Note (62). Inter
national Accounting Standards in general, subsequently referred

The total comprehensive income for the period under review

to as IFRS or standards, refer to the International Accounting

must be shown in the statement of changes in equity. No

Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Stan-

further breakdown is required into net income for the year,

dards (IFRS) and the associated interpretations by the Stand-

changes recognised or unrecognised in profit or loss, and

ing interpretations Committee (SIC) and the International Finan-

changes in exchange rates. HSH Nordbank Group retains the

cial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), published

previous presentation of income in the statement of changes

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and

in equity.

adopted under the IAS Regulation as part of the EU endorsement.

IAS 20	Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of

All compulsory IFRS standards, interpretations and revisions

In the year under review HSH Nordbank AG received guarantees

were applied for the financial year, to the extent that these are

from SoFFIN and HSH Finanzfonds AöR. These are other

relevant for the HSH Nordbank Group.

forms of government grants, so that IAS 20 applies in the year

Government Assistance

under review for the first time.
IAS 1

Presentation of financial statements (revised 2007)

The revisions relate primarily to the statement of the changes in

IAS 39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,

equity, statement of comprehensive income and comparable
IAS 1.10 periods.

and
IFRIC 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

The change applies to the case that a company intends to
The presentation of income and expenses recognised and not

reclassify a hybrid (combined) instrument previously measured

recognised in profit and loss arising out of non-owner changes

at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit

General information
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or loss. In this case it is necessary to review if an embedded

form Group-wide accounting policies. The consolidated finan-

derivative must be separated from the host contract.

cial statements include the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of financial position, statement of changes in equity,

IFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

cash flow statement and Notes, including segment reporting. The

The revisions to the standard extend disclosure on financial

consolidated financial statements have been expanded to in-

instruments in terms of fair value and liquidity risk. Fair values

clude the Group management report, in accordance with Section

are now to be presented in a three-stage fair value measure-

315 HGB.

ment hierarchy. These stages reflect the input factors used as
the basis for determining fair values. HSH Nordbank Group

The consolidated financial statements are based on the assump-

already satisfies the new disclosure requirements on liquidity

tion that the enterprise is a going concern. HSH Nordbank

risk, so that no change in presentation is needed.

Group justifies this assumption primarily by the recapitalisation
in the year under review by the two States Hamburg and

IFRS 8

Operating Segments

Schleswig-Holstein and a viable restructuring concept which

HSH Nordbank Group segment reporting in the year under

will ensure the Bank’s independent competitiveness. In eval

review is for the first time on the basis of IFRS 8, which

uating the going concern status there are still material uncer-

replaces IAS 14. In contrast to IAS 14, which followed the risk

tainties in drawing up the consolidated financial statements

and reward approach, IFRS 8 follows the management

with regard to the conclusion of the EU subsidy dispute. The

approach. Under this, segment identification is based on the

continuing existence of HSH Nordbank Group depends on

internal reporting system.

whether the European Commission approves the stabilisation
measures implemented by the States Hamburg and Schleswig-

The application of these standards and the interpretation

Holstein on a permanent basis. It is further necessary for this

had no material impact on the Group’s net assets, financial and

approval to be subject only to conditions which

earnings situation.
–– can be met within commercially viable corporate planning,
Because of the lack of relevance, there was no voluntary early
use of standards which are to be applied only to reporting
periods after 1 January 2009.

and
–– specifically, do not endanger the regulatory effectiveness
of the regulatory capital relief under the stabilisation measures.

The following are the standards and interpretations which apply
to HSH Nordbank Group in principle but were not applied

Group income and expenses are recorded and reported in

early in the financial year:

the period to which they relate. Accounting for assets, liabilities, income and expenses takes place on a consistent basis.

IAS 1	Presentation of financial statements –
Amendment

Deviations are only made in justified exceptional cases and are
explained separately in the Notes on the relevant items.

IAS 27 amended	Consolidated and Separate Financial StateIAS 32

ments

Unless explicitly stated otherwise, all amounts are in millions

Financial Instruments: Presentation

of euros (€ million).

IAS 39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
IFRS 3 rev

Business Combinations

IFRIC 17

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

IFRIC 18	Transfers of Assets from Customers

The year under review corresponds to the calendar year.
IFRS 7.31 et seq. contains rules on reporting the risks arising
from financial instruments. In this regard, IFRS 7.B6 allows for
the possibility of disclosing risk in a suitable medium separate

The consolidated financial statements of the HSH Nordbank

from the consolidated financial statements. Availing itself of this

Group were prepared in line with IAS 27.24 according to uni-

option, the HSH Nordbank Group has published disclosures
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about financial instruments as permitted by IFRS 7.31 et seq.

In addition, as part of the supplementary German commercial

predominantly in the Group Risk Report within the Group

regulations the Group observed the following German

Management Report. Specifically, this relates to the overall qual

Accounting Standards (GAS) in preparing these consolidated

itative and quantitative risk information under IFRS 7.33 et

financial statements:

seq. and the complete market risk reporting under IFRS 7.40–
42. This gives a uniform presentation of the risk situation in

–– GAS 15 Management Reporting

conjunction with Section 315 HGB and DRS 5 and DRS 5–10.

–– GAS 17 The Remuneration of Members of Governing Bodies.

2. Capital measures

I. Capital increase

are not protected by the guarantee. Mere fluctuations in market
value and capital losses incurred on the disposal of perform-

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 May 2009 the

ing assets are also not covered by the guarantee. The guarantee

Bank’s owners voted to increase its capital by € 3 billion. All

is denominated in euro, and any exchange rate risk arising

the new shares were subscribed by HSH Finanzfonds AöR. They

from the protection of portfolios in different currencies remains

are fully paid up.

with HSH Nordbank AG.

The capital increase took effect upon entry in the commercial

The guarantor is liable for defaults that exceed the specific

register on 25 June 2009.

loan loss provisions recognised as at 31 March 2009 for the relevant individual commitments and a first loss piece of € 3.2
billion on the protected reference portfolio. Losses in excess of

II. Provision of a guarantee facility

this amount are covered as a second loss piece up to a maximum of € 10 billion. HSH Nordbank AG and the guarantor can

In addition to the capital increase, on 2 June 2009 the Federal

jointly agree to reduce the first loss piece of € 3.2 billion.

State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City
of Hamburg granted HSH Nordbank AG a guarantee facility of

Default on a specific commitment is determined by the out-

€ 10 billion via HSH Finanzfonds AöR in order to limit the

standing amount, taking into account the existing specific loan

effects of the current financial market upheaval. The agreement

loss provision as at 31 March 2009. The outstanding amount

on the provision of the guarantee facility is subject to approv-

is at most the amount repayable as at 31 March 2009, plus all

al by the European Commission in line with the law on state aid.

interest owed and other ancillary payments. Losses may only
be allocated under the guarantee once the guarantee case has

As of the start date, the guarantor thus indemnifies any de-

been examined and approved by the guarantor.

faults under debt instruments owned by HSH Nordbank AG, its
subsidiary HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., Luxembourg, and

The guarantee came into effect on 2 June 2009 and will expire

the SIV Carrera Capital Finance Limited, Jersey which are recog-

when it is returned to the guarantor after the last reference

nised in the consolidated interim financial statements as at

commitment in the hedged portfolio has been met irrevocably

31 March 2009 and have been selected in accordance with de-

and in full or has resulted in a guarantee claim for the full

fined criteria, to the extent that they exceed a first loss piece

amount. HSH Nordbank AG may reduce the guarantee to € 4

to be borne by the Bank.

billion between 1 January 2010 and the end of 2013 through
partial cancellations of no more than € 3 billion per year. The

Derivatives, debt instruments with embedded derivatives that

guarantee may be cancelled in full from 2014 onwards.

have to be separated under IAS 39 and equity instruments

Once reduced, the maximum amount cannot be increased again.
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The initial guarantee from the Federal States is recognised in

The accounting treatment of the derivative is in accordance

the consolidated financial statements as a financial guarantee

with the requirements of IAS 39.

under IAS 39.9.
In the 2009 financial year, first commitments notified to the
If during the restructuring and settlement programme measures

guarantor have been transferred to the partial guarantee

consistent with the guarantee are implemented in respect

for the credit derivative. Neither partial guarantee had any

of hedged commitments that conflict with recognition of the

cover effect in the financial statements as at this reporting

hedging instrument in the financial statements as a financial

date, as the cumulative impairments due to changes in credit

guarantee under IAS 39.9, commitments may be transferred to

standing in the hedged reference portfolio did not exceed

a partial guarantee under the framework agreement that falls

the first loss piece to be borne by the Bank.

within the definition of a credit derivative under IFRS accounting requirements, subject to approval from a trustee appoint-

In exchange for the guarantee HSH Nordbank AG pays a con-

ed by the guarantor. The maximum guarantee amount is not

tractual premium of 4 % p. a. on the guarantee volume out-

altered by the creation of the partial guarantee, as the sum

standing at the time. The cost of the guarantee premium is

of the individual amounts remains the same.

reported under expenses for government guarantees. The

Once the credit derivative has been created the guarantee pre-

poris.

premium payments are recognised as an expense pro rata temmium is divided pro rata between the partial guarantees.

3. Adjustments to prior year comparative figures for 2008

The present financial statements contain various adjustments

I. Corrections under IAS 8.41 et seq.

compared with the 2008 annual report, solely for the purpose
of correcting errors. Where no explicit information was pro-

The corrections under IAS 8.41 et seq. were made retrospec-

vided on individual adjustments, these had no effects on finan-

tively for all previously published periods in accordance with

cial statements prior to 31 December 2008.

the requirements.

The adjustments made were reviewed in accordance with the

A) Corrections to carrying amounts

requirements of IAS 8 and classified as changes in accordance

Change in the carrying amount of a structured negative

with IAS 8.41 et seq.

profit participation right
The correction to the carrying amount of a structured negative

The adjustments to comparative values are documented below

profit participation right (dfv) and the economically associated

for the statement of financial position and income state-

derivative (hft) led to a reduction of € 8 million in the assets held

ment. Material changes in the Notes or other parts of the finan-

for trading and € 228 million in subordinated capital for the

cial statements are described separately where they are not

comparative figures as at 31 December 2008; liabilities held for

connected with the accounting changes shown. The restatements

trading accordingly increased by € 220 million. The change

made in the consolidated income statement also involve

resulted in a shift of € 228 million within net trading income be-

adjustments in the segment reporting for the 2008 financial

tween the valuation result hft (reduction) and dfv (increase).

year.
Finance leasing transactions as lessor
Compared to the previous year the accounting for finance
leases as lessor was changed. Formerly, leasing operations were
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stated net (leverage leasing). Finance leasing transactions are

the total revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2008 and the

shown gross, retroactive to the 2008 financial year. This increas-

deferred taxes in the revaluation reserve are unchanged.

es loans and advances to customers by € 179 million from

The result of the two adjustments described above was merely

the original € 142 million, liabilities to banks increase by € 107

a division into changes recognised in profit or loss (€ − 224

million and customers increase by € 72 million. The corre-

million) and changes recognised in equity (€ + 225 million), and

sponding Note on “Lease receivables and liabilities” was revised

the adjustment of exchange rate changes (€ − 1 million) in

accordingly. A non-guaranteed residual value of € 39 mil-

the statement of changes in equity. In the statement of changes

lion was calculated retroactively for these leasing transactions.

in the revaluation reserve (Note 47), the presentation of
transfers and releases of the revaluation reserve from measure-

Changes in carrying amounts in the Notes

ment and reclassifications to the income statement was

There were further several shifts in carrying amounts in the

adjusted accordingly.

figures in the Notes for items of the statement of financial
position and income statement, which are described below.

Credit risk exposure
Receivables from finance leasing business as lessor of € 321

Net trading income

million are shown as at 31 December 2008 as a separate class

Within net trading income there was a shift of € 8 million

under the heading “Without IAS 39 category”. Receivables

between the valuation result hft (increased) and dfv (reduced).

from customers lar are reduced in this connection by € 142
million.

Loans and advances to customers
In addition to the restatements due to finance leasing transac-

Classification under IFRS 7

tions (increase of € 179 million in other receivables) there were

Classification of financial instruments was also redefined (Note

the following shifts:

7.1.B.). The figures for prior years were adjusted for the
new presentation. The changes relate to the following Notes:

–– Reduction of loans and advances to domestic corporate
customers and increase in loans and advances to foreign cor-

–– Carrying values of financial instruments by IAS 39 category

porate customers of € 6,112 million

–– Statement of the fair value under IFRS 7 – Fair values

–– Increase of € 302 million in loans secured by real estate
–– Reduction of € 4,922 million in loans secured by ship mortgages

of financial instruments
–– Credit risk analysis of financial assets and details of collateral
–– Credit risk exposure

–– Increase of € 4,620 million in other receivables

B) Other corrections
This shift involves essentially the change in carrying amounts

Net income from foreign currency

for receivables secured by real estate and ship mortgages.

In the 2009 financial year, a retrospective correction was made
for an erroneous foreign exchange reconciling item. As a

Similarly to the presentation of loans secured by real estate,

result, other assets were reduced by € 63 million and liabilities

only the fully secured share of loans secured by ship mortgages

held for trading by € 5 million. Conversely, net trading

is recognised; the rest is recognised in other receivables.

income (valuation result hft) was reduced by € 58 million.

Revaluation reserve

Correction to the recognition of cross currency interest

Compared to the presentation in the 2008 annual report, there

rate swaps

was a reclassification of the carrying amount of the changes

Cross currency interest rate swaps with special contractual

in the revaluation reserve in connection with hedge accounting

components, which were contractually agreed with the option

(€ − 164 million). In addition, the method for calculating

of reversal at any time without settlement of the current

deferred taxes on the revaluation reserve was optimised com-

market value, should have been recognised only at the amount

pared with the previous year. The carrying values of both

of the prorated interest. In fact they were recognised at their

General information
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imputed market value (including prorated interest). The correc-

The corresponding information on figures for prior years in the

tions as at 31 December reduce the assets held for trading

risk report was also adjusted accordingly.

by € 139 million and liabilities held for trading by € 23 million.
Conversely, net trading income (valuation result hft) was

Reclassification under IAS 39 (2008 revision)

reduced by € 116 million.

There is a resulting increase of € 45 million in the revaluation
reserve without reclassification. The Note was also changed

Other corrections in the Notes

as a whole compared to the previous year and the figures for

The following presentation shows further adjustments to the

prior years supplemented accordingly.

Notes as at 31 December 2008 going beyond the shifts within
the items in the statement of financial position and income

Fair value of financial instruments

statement described above and leading to quantitative changes.

The fair value of financial instruments in IAS 39 category lar is
reduced by € 1,002 million.

Financial investments
The figure for financial investments recognised and measured at

Collateral received and transferred

cost as at 31 December 2008 did not include equities mea-

Reporting of collateral received and transferred was revised

sured at cost. Their carrying value of € 334 million was supple-

compared to the previous year and adjusted for improved eval-

mented.

uations. This led to the following resulting adjustments for
assets transferred as collateral:

Intangible assets – software
Software in development is shown as a separate item retrospec-

–– Loans and advances to banks:

tive to 31 December 2008. The carrying values and changes

–– Loans and advances to

in acquisition costs and amortisation for software acquired or

customers:

developed in-house were adjusted for the new presentation.

–– Assets held for trading,

Other provisions

–– Other assets:

financial investments:

reduction € 1,071 million
reduction € 3,817 million
increase € 3,489 million
reduction € 37 million

Residual maturities of more than one year primarily included
the pension reserves in 2008. Retroactively, residual maturi-

In addition, in future assets put in the cover pool to secure

ties of more than one year were adjusted for other long-term

Pfandbriefs under the German Pfandbrief Act (PfandBG) and

provisions of € 524 million.

the German Public-sector Pfandbrief Act (ÖPG) are no longer
included in transferred collateral. This reduces assets trans-

Credit risk analysis of financial assets and details of
collateral

ferred as collateral as follows:

The gross carrying values of impaired financial assets are re-

–– Loans and advances to banks:

duced by € 4,037 million for loans and advances to customers

–– Loans and advances to

(lar) and increased by € 840 million for financial assets afs;
allowances for financial assets afs increase by € 244 million.
The carrying values of impaired financial assets after adjust-

customers:

€ 4,662 million
€ 19,095 million

–– Assets held for trading,
financial investments:

€ 2,358 million

ment change accordingly.

–– Other assets:

The fair value of collateral for impaired financial assets under

Related parties and companies

the heading loans and advances to customers (lar) is increased

Financial investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries are

in this connection by € 47 million.

reduced by € 679 million as at 31 December 2008.

The changes affect the table on credit quality of financial

Certificated liabilities to related parties fell by € 192 million. As

instruments which are neither impaired nor overdue.

a result of the capital increase, holdings of voting rights

€ 251 million
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changed so that the related parties no longer had decisive influence, although they continued to be described as such.
In addition, business with related parties not shown in the
statement of financial position is also reported separately, retroactive to 2008.
–– The parent company and companies with joint management
or significant influence on the company:
€ 65 million irrevocable loan commitments
–– Subsidiaries:
€ 1 million contingent liabilities
€ 39 million irrevocable loan commitments
–– Associated companies:
€ 159 million contingent liabilities
€ 584 million irrevocable loan commitments

II. Effects of adjustments on deferred taxes
As a result of the adjustments, deferred taxes for the periods
affected were recalculated. As a result, profit as at 31 December
2008 was increased by a reduction of € 34 million in deferred
income tax liabilities.

III. Summary of the effects
The following table shows the effects of the adjustments,
including effects on taxes, for the key items at the reporting
dates shown.
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Income statement and earnings per share
after adjustments
2008

Adjustments 2008
(¤ m)

Net trading income

before
adjustment

adjustment

after
adjustment

-953

-174

-1,127

Other items (without adjustment)

-1,841

–

-1,841

Net income before taxes

-2,794

-174

-2,968

-261

34

-227

-3,055

-140

-3,195

Income taxes
Net income after taxes
Income / expenses from the assumption of losses
Group net loss for the year
Group net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders

351

–

351

-2,704

-140

-2,844

-35

–

-35

-2,669

-140

-2,809

2008

Adjustments 2008
(¤ m)

Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders – undiluted
Dilution effects from: convertible bonds
Group net income attributable to HSH Nordbank shareholders – diluted

before
adjustment

adjustment

after
adjustment

-2,669

-140

-2,809

-351

–

-351

-3,020

-140

-3,160

77

–

77

6

–

6

83

–

83

Number of shares (millions)
Average number of ordinary shares outstanding – undiluted
Dilution effect from convertible bonds
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding adjusted for
assumed conversion – diluted
in ¤
Earnings per share (undiluted)

-34.80

-1.83

-36.63

Earnings per share (diluted)

-36.38

-1.69

-38.07

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2008
after adjustments
31 December 2008

Adjustments 2008
(¤ m)

Loans and advances to customers
Assets held for trading
Other assets
Other items (without adjustment)
Total assets

before
adjustment

adjustment

after
adjustment

117,431

179

117,610

26,802

-147

26,655

472

-63

409

63,696

–

63,696

208,401

-31

208,370
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31.12.2008

Adjustments 2008
(¤ m)

before
adjustment

adjustment

after
adjustment

Liabilities to banks

61,391

107

61,498

Liabilities to customers

52,397

72

52,469

Liabilities held for trading

17,587

192

17,779

58

-34

24

9,962

-228

9,734

64,861

–

64,861

2,145

-140

2,005

881

–

881

88

–

88

1,354

–

1,354
-562

Deferred tax obligations
Subordinated capital
Other items (without adjustment)
Equity capital
Share capital
Capital reserve
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

-562

–

Currency translation reserve

-85

–

-85

Consolidated distributable profit

424

-140

284

2,100

-140

1,960

45

–

45

208,401

-31

208,370

Total before non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities

4. Consolidation principles

The Group financial statements include the parent company

Subsidiaries which were not consolidated because of their sub-

HSH Nordbank AG together with the consolidated subsidiaries,

ordinate importance have been stated in the statement of

including special purpose entities (SPEs), as an economic unit.

financial position as available-for-sale instruments using the
reporting and measurement guidelines of IAS 39.

The purchase method was used to consolidate subsidiaries, in
accordance with IAS 27.18 in conjunction with IFRS 3.

Joint ventures are based on contractual agreements under
which two or more companies establish an economic activity

Shares held by third parties in the equity of subsidiaries are

under shared management. Associated companies are com

shown as non-controlling interests in Group equity. Non-

panies where the Group can exercise a significant but not con-

controlling interests are that part of the net results for the period

trolling influence.

and net assets of a subsidiary due to shares not directly held
by the parent company.

In the reporting period, there were no interests in joint ventures
and associated companies that would have been material to

Under IAS 27.20, intra-group receivables, liabilities and in-

the proper presentation of the Group’s net assets, its financial

come are offset in the consolidated financial statements.

position and the results of operations. There was therefore

Gains arising from the transfer of assets within the Group are

no consolidation of joint ventures and associated companies.

eliminated in accordance with IAS 27.21.

Instead, all interests in joint ventures and associated companies are measured according to the reporting and measurement
guidelines of IAS 39 as afs instruments and stated under finan-

General information
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cial investments. Where the HSH Nordbank Group has no infor-

for the HSH Nordbank Group’s net assets, financial position and

mation as of the reporting date which would allow for the

results of operations. All Special Purpose Entities affected

fair value of these instruments to be reliably determined, mea-

in this period under review were required to be consolidated

surement is based on acquisition cost analogously to the

on the basis of SIC-12.

practice for non-consolidated subsidiaries.
Wherever possible, the financial statements of consolidated
Special Purpose Entities and specific funds coming under these

subsidiaries used to draw up the Group financial statements use

are included in the consolidation where they are material

the same reporting date as the parent company.

5. Scope of consolidation

In addition to the parent company HSH Nordbank AG,

The following subsidiaries or special purpose entities are

Hamburg / Kiel, 46 companies (31 December 2008: 57) have

included in the consolidated financial statements of HSH Nord-

been consolidated. This includes 7 (previous year: 18)

bank AG:

special purpose entities which must be consolidated according to the provisions of SIC 12.

Fully consolidated companies

Registered office

Share of equity
capital (in %)

Reporting date

Company
1

Adessa Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Vermietungs KG

Kiel

0.0

31.12.2009

2

Carrera Capital Finance Ireland Limited

Dublin

0.0

31.12.2009

3

Carrera Capital Finance Limited

Jersey

0.0

31.12.2009

4

CPM Luxembourg S.A.1)

Luxembourg

3.2

31.12.2009

5

CPM Securitisation S.A.1)

Luxembourg

3.2

31.12.2009

6

Ealing Investments Limited

London

100.0

31.12.2009

7

Endor 8. Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG 3)

Hamburg

94.8

31.12.2009

8

Equilon GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

9

Hamborner Aktiengesellschaft 2)

Duisburg

52.7

31.12.2009

10

HGA Capital Grundbesitz und Anlage GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

11

HSH Asset Management S.A.1)

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

12

HSH Corporate Finance GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

13

HSH Investment Management S.A.1)

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

14

HSH N Composits GmbH

Kiel

100.0

31.12.2009

15

HSH N Finance (Guernsey) Limited

Guernsey

100.0

31.12.2009

16

HSH N Funding I 4)

Grand Cayman

100.0

31.12.2009

17

HSH N Funding II

Grand Cayman

100.0

31.12.2009

18

HSH Nordbank Private Banking S.A.1)

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

19

HSH Nordbank Securities S.A.

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

20

HSH Private Equity GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

21

HSH RE Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

22

HSH RE 2. Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009
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Fully consolidated companies

Registered office

Share of equity
capital (in %)

Reporting date

Company
23

HSH RE 3. Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

24

HSH RE 4. Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

25

HSH RE 5. Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

26

HSH RE 6. Beteiligungs GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

27

HSH RE 7. Beteiligungs

GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

28

HSH Real Estate AG

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

29

International Fund Services & Asset Management S.A.1)

Luxembourg

51.6

31.12.2009

30

Jantar GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

31

LB Immo Invest GmbH 3)

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

32

Leashold Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

33

Mesitis GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

34

Minimoa GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

35

Nubes GmbH

Lockstedt

100.0

31.12.2009

36

Neptune Finance Partner S.à.r.l.

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

37

Neptune Finance Partner II S.à.r.l.

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

38

Neptune Ship Finance (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l. & Cie, S.e.c.s.

Luxembourg

100.0

31.12.2009

39

Northern Blue 2009 S.A.

Luxembourg

0.0

31.12.2009

40

Pregu GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

41

Resparcs Funding I Limited Partnership

Hong Kong

0.0

31.12.2009

42

Resparcs Funding II Limited Partnership

Jersey

0.0

31.12.2009

43

Resparcs Funding III Limited Partnership

Jersey

0.0

31.12.2009

S.à.r.l.1)

44

Sotis

100.0

31.12.2009

45

Swift Capital 1 Europäische Fondsbeteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

99.5

31.12.2009

46

Thestor GmbH

Hamburg

100.0

31.12.2009

1)

Subsidiaries of HSH Nordbank Securities S.A.

2)

Subsidiaries of HSH RE 2.-7. Beteiligungs GmbH

3)

Subsidiaries of HSH Real Estate AG

4)

Subsidiaries of HSH N Composits GmbH

Luxembourg

General information
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The companies RESPARCS Funding I and RESPARCS Funding

–– Rasmus Purchase No. 7 Limited, Jersey

II Limited Partnership are consolidated under the provisions of

–– Rasmus Purchase No. 8 Limited, Jersey

IAS 27 based on the majority of voting rights.

–– Hambornberg Immobilien- und Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Duisburg

The following companies were consolidated for the first time in
the 2009 financial year:

The Spielbanken were deconsolidated as of 1 January 2009.
The companies have since been sold.

–– Foxtrot Funding I Limited, Dublin
–– Neptune Ship Finance (Luxembourg) S.á.r.l. & Cie, S.e.c.s.,

The Discovery special fund was wound up on 31 March 2009.

Luxembourg
–– Neptune Finance Partner S.á.r.l., Luxembourg

The AHL 2 fund was wound up on 20 May 2009.

–– Neptune Finance Partner II S.á.r.l., Luxembourg
–– Northern Blue 2009 S.A., Luxembourg

The HSH Money EuroPlus fund was wound up on 31 July 2009.

–– HSH RE 2. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg
–– HSH RE 3. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg

Perseus Investment Limited Partnership and Lebus L. P. were

–– HSH RE 4. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg

deconsolidated as of 30 September 2009. The companies

–– HSH RE 5. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg

were sold.

–– HSH RE 6. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg
–– HSH RE 7. Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg

Minerva GmbH, Poseidon Funding Limited, Rasmus Purchase

In contrast to the financial statements as at 31 December 2008

dated on 31 December 2009, as the underlying transactions

the following companies or funds are no longer included in the

had expired or the companies had been wound up.

No. 1, No. 2, No. 3, No. 4, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 were deconsoli-

scope of consolidation:
The company Foxtrot Funding I Limited, Dublin, which was to
–– Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co. Casino Flensburg KG, Kiel

be consolidated for the first time in the financial year was

–– Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co. Casino Kiel KG, Kiel

also deconsolidated as of 31 December 2009, as the underlying

–– Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co. Casino Lübeck-Travemünde

transaction had expired.

KG, Kiel
–– Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co. Casino Stadtzentrum Schenefeld KG, Kiel

Hambornberg Immobilien- und Verwaltungs-GmbH was
merged with Hamborner Aktiengesellschaft in December 2009.

–– Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co. Casino Westerland auf Sylt
KG, Kiel

A complete list of the shareholdings in the IFRS consolidated

–– Spielbanken SH GmbH, Kiel

financial statements is published in the electronic German

–– Discovery, Frankfurt a. M.

Federal Gazette (www.ebundesanzeiger.de).

–– AHL 2, Frankfurt a. M.
–– HSH Money EuroPlus, Luxembourg
–– Perseus Investment Limited Partnership, Jersey
–– Lebus L. P., Grand Cayman
–– Minerva GmbH, Lockstedt
–– Poseidon Funding Limited, Jersey
–– Rasmus Purchase No. 1 Limited, Jersey
–– Rasmus Purchase No. 2 Limited, Jersey
–– Rasmus Purchase No. 3 Limited, Jersey
–– Rasmus Purchase No. 4 Limited, Jersey
–– Rasmus Purchase No. 6 Limited, Jersey
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6. Management estimates and discretionary decisions

As permitted, estimates and assumptions for the measurement

Where estimates were necessary on a large scale, the underly-

of assets and liabilities have been incorporated into the con

ing assumptions are presented in greater detail in the explana-

solidated financial statements of HSH Nordbank. All estimates

tion of the item in question below.

and judgments necessary for accounting and measurement
according to IFRS were undertaken in accordance with the ap-

With the exception of estimates, major discretionary decisions

propriate standard in each case, are continuously reassessed

by management in the application of accounting and measure-

and are based on past experience and other factors including

ment methods include:

expectations of future events which appear reasonable under
the circumstances. Specifically, the determination of the loan
loss provisioning (see Note [7.I.C]), provisions and pension
reserves (see Note [7.III.6]), goodwill (see Note [7.III.I]) and measurement of fair value (see Note [7.I.D]) and deferred taxes
(see Note [7.III.7]) are affected by uncertainty. Estimates are also
needed for the future payments streams of hybrid financial
instruments (see Note [7.I.E]). In connection with the production

–– use of the fair value option for financial instruments
(see Note [7.I.A]),
–– not categorising financial instruments as held to maturity,
htm;
–– applying the current reclassification rules under IAS 39
(see Note [49]);
–– determining fair values for certain financial instruments,

of software, estimates are necessary regarding technical feasi

including estimating the existence of an active or inactive

bility and the ability to use or sell the software etc.

market.

7. Accounting Policies

I. Financial Instruments

Spot transactions in non-derivative financial assets (“regular
way contracts”) are recognised as of the settlement date. The

A) Categorisation of financial assets and liabilities

change in fair value between the trading date and settlement

A financial instrument is an agreement which simultaneously

date is recognised according to the measurement rules for the

creates a financial asset for one company and a financial liability

category of asset. This means that changes in value of finan-

or equity instrument for the other company. Under IAS 39

cial instruments in the category “available for sale” must be re-

all financial assets and liabilities including financial derivatives

cognised in the revaluation reserve, while changes in value

must be stated in the statement of financial position and

for the categories “designated at fair value” and “held for trad-

measured according to the category to which they are assigned.

ing” are recognised in the income statement in net trading
income.

Financial assets and liabilities are stated in the statement of
financial position if HSH Nordbank Group is a counterparty

Other non-derivative financial assets which do not result

under the contract for the corresponding financial instru-

from spot transactions, e. g. loans granted, are recognised as of

ment. Anticipated future transactions or contracts are not

the settlement date.

recognised.
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised if one of the
Pending transactions in the form of derivatives must always be
stated in the statement of financial position as financial assets or liabilities and measured at fair value on the trading date.

two parties to the contract has settled (settlement date).

General information
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Initial recognition is measured at fair value, which generally

quirements of IAS 39 for hedge accounting, are also cate-

corresponds to the acquisition cost of the financial instrument.

gorised as designated at fair value (dfv). In addition,
the fair value option can be applied at HSH Nordbank

Derecognition of a financial asset takes place on the settlement

Group to portfolios whose management and perfor-

date. In the case of derivatives, derecognition takes place on

mance measurement is done on a fair value basis in accor-

the trading date.

dance with the documented risk management strategy.
This is possible e. g. with special funds or similar assets to

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities

be consolidated.

depends on which IAS 39 category they were assigned to at the
time of acquisition. The following distinctions are made here:

The designation in the HSH Nordbank Group serves to
avoid or reduce accounting mismatches from securities and

1.	Financial assets and liabilities which are financial instruments

loans hedged with interest rate derivatives. As well, the

at fair value through profit and loss include both instru-

fair value option is applied to any structures otherwise re-

ments held for trading (hft) as well as instruments which

quired to be segregated.

are voluntarily and irrevocably designated at fair value
(dfv) at the time of first recognition:

Financial assets designated as dfv primarily relate to positions in the credit investment portfolio (Asset Backed

	a.	All financial instruments held for trading and derivatives

Securities, synthetic Collateralised Debt Obligations, Credit

which are not part of hedge accounting are categorised as

Linked Notes) and convertible bonds. Financial liabilities

held for trading (hft).

designated as dfv specifically comprise structured registered and bearer instruments with imbedded interest,

Initial and subsequent measurement is done at fair value,

currency, equity and other risks.

with transaction costs being recognised as an expense at the
time of acquisition. In accordance with IAS 39.43, trans

Financial instruments in the fair value option are stated

action costs are only included in the initial recognition in

at fair value. These financial instruments are stated under

the case of financial assets or liabilities not categorised

loans and advances to banks, loans and advances to cus-

at fair value through profit or loss. Where a market price

tomers, financial investments, liabilities to banks, liabilities

exists in the form of an exchange quotation, this is used

to customers, securitised liabilities and subordinated

for the purposes of measurement. In other cases, the mar-

capital. Gains or losses arising from ongoing measurement

ket price of comparable instruments or recognised valua-

and realised gains or losses are stated under net trading

tion models, especially discounted cash flow methods and

income. Interest income and expenses for these financial

option pricing models, are used to determine fair value.

instruments are stated under net interest income.

These trading instruments and derivatives are stated under
assets or liabilities held for trading on the statement of

2.	Loans and receivables, which are stated in the statement of
financial position at amortised cost:

financial position. Ongoing measurement gains and losses
and realised gains and losses on these financial instru-

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-

ments are incorporated into net trading income. Interest

ments not traded on an active market when first recognised

income and expenses arising from hft transactions

are shown under IAS 39.9 as loans and receivables (lar). Excep-

are recorded under net interest income.

tionally, this category also includes financial instruments
which have been transferred from the hft and afs catego-

b.	In addition, certain complex structures arising from issues

ries in accordance with the changes in IAS 39 (rev. 2008)

and assets that contain derivatives requiring separation,

because there was no longer any active market and the inten-

as well as certain financial instruments which are a com-

tion and ability to hold the financial asset for the foresee-

ponent of an economic hedge without satisfying the re-

able future or to maturity were present.
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An active market exists when quoted prices are regularly

Where changes in value to afs instruments stated at fair

provided, e. g. by an exchange or a broker, and these prices

value are not attributable to impairment, they are recorded

are representative of actual transactions between arms-

in the revaluation reserve in equity (after allowing for de-

length third parties.

ferred taxes), without affecting net income. By contrast, where
hedged afs instruments are concerned, the change in fair

Financial instruments in this category are stated at cost of

value attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in the in-

acquisition, equivalent to fair value at the time of first recog-

come statement under result from hedging.

nition. They are measured subsequently at amortised cost;
premiums or discounts are amortised according to the effec-

When an asset is sold or impaired the revaluation reserve

tive interest method over the term and recognised in net

is released and recognised as income or expense, so the

interest income. Financial instruments in the lar category

gain or loss arising from the disposal is reflected in the in-

are shown under cash reserves, loans and advances to

come statement. Any write ups required after impairment

banks and loans and advances to customers, financial invest-

are recognised in equity for equity securities and recognised

ments or other assets.

in profit or loss for debt securities.

3.	Financial assets available for sale (afs) stated in the statement

The difference between costs of acquisition and repayment

of financial position at fair value with fair value changes

amount for interest-bearing securities is stated under

recognised in equity:

net interest income, using the effective interest method.

The category available for sale (afs) encompasses all non-

4.	Other liabilities (lia):

derivative assets which cannot assigned to any of the other
categories. The Group’s afs holdings relate primarily to

Other financial liabilities (lia) include liabilities which are

marketable fixed income securities, investment fund units

neither part of the trading portfolio nor categorised as dfv.

and equity instruments such as interests in affiliated com
panies and equity holdings which are recognised in accor-

Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value at the time of

dance with IAS 39. They are carried under the positions

issue plus transaction costs. Fair value at the time of issue

for cash reserves, financial investments and loans and ad-

generally corresponds to the transaction price. In subsequent

vances to banks.

periods, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The initial measurement of financial assets available for sale
is at the fair value at the time of acquisition plus transac-

B) Classification of financial instruments

tion costs. Fair value at the time of acquisition generally cor-

The classification of financial instruments required for report-

responds to the transaction price. Subsequently, financial

ing by IFRS 7.6 is consistent to the categorisation of financial

instruments afs are measured at fair value in accordance

instruments according to IAS 39 in association with the corre-

with IAS 39.46, to the extent that this can be reliably de-

sponding items in the statement of financial position, in or-

termined. Particularly for equity securities which are not

der to ensure a uniform and clear picture of the financial posi-

listed and whose fair value cannot be determined reliably

tion and performance. The table below shows the classes of

by other methods, subsequent measurement takes place at

financial instruments at HSH Nordbank Group:

cost in accordance with IAS 39.46 (c) in association with
IAS 39.AG81. These are primarily equity instruments of unlisted companies for which no active market exists and
realistic estimates of the parameters determining market
value are not possible because future expectations are
difficult to forecast.

General information
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Classes
IAS 39 Category

Statement of financial position item / sub-item

loans and receivables (lar)

Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Other assets

other liabilities (lia)

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities relating to disposal groups
Subordinated capital
Other liabilities

Financial instruments measured at cost

available for sale (afs)

Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

Financial instruments measured
at fair value

held for trading (hft)

Assets held for trading
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Liabilities held for trading
Liabilities relating to disposal groups

designated at fair value (dfv)

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities relating to disposal groups
Subordinated capital

available for sale (afs)

Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

n/a

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives
Negative fair value of hedging derivatives

Financial instruments measured
on the basis of other standards

n/a

Receivables under finance leases

Off-balance-sheet transactions

n/a

Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable loan commitments
Other obligations

Financial Instruments
measured at amortised cost

C) Allowances for impairments and impairment of
financial instruments

Criteria for impairment are essentially major financial difficul-

At every reporting date, a check is performed to establish

information, interest payments cannot be made and an improve-

whether there is objective evidence for the impairment of a

ment in the financial situation cannot be demonstrated.

ties for the borrower and indications that, based on current

financial asset which is not measured at fair value through
the income statement.

For securities there is also a check on whether the market value
has decreased in the last twelve months, either permanently

An impairment test is performed if, after initial recognition of

by at least 10 % or once by 20 % below amortised cost. If securi-

a financial instrument, there is objective evidence of an impair-

ties meet any one of these criteria, they are checked to see if

ment which would have an impact on the anticipated future

there are any indicators for impairment. An indicator for an im-

cash flows from the financial instrument.

pairment of a security means a downgrade to below investment grade. Where a security is already below investment grade
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and the rating falls another three categories, this is another

With respect to risks which have already occurred but have not

indicator, as is the occurrence of default. The impairment crite-

yet been identified, portfolio value adjustments are created

ria were further refined in connection with the subprime

for groups of assets which are comparable on the basis of their

crisis. Asset backed security (ABS) transactions are checked to

default risk. The portfolio value adjustment is calculated on

see if the over-collateralisation mechanisms have seen a sig

the basis of current developments in the financial environment

nificant deterioration since purchase or issue. For collateralised

using the parameters of an expected loss approach. The port

debt obligations (CDOs) the par-value and interest-cover tests

folio value adjustments are determined as of the reporting date

can normally be used, for example.

on the basis of the regulatory calculation parameters under
Basel II, i. e. probability of default (PD) and loss given default

Special rules in the consolidated financial statements apply

(LGD). For transactions covered by the credit risk standardised

to securities in the subprime segment (asset classes “Residential

approach (CRSA), the probability of default from internal con-

Mortgage Backed Securities [RMBS] of Home Equity Loans

trol is taken into account. The loss identification period (LIP)

[HEL]”, “Collateralised Debt Obligations [CDO] of Asset Backed

in the calculation represents the interval between the occurrence

Securities [ABS]” and “CDO of CDO”). These securities are

of a default event and its announcement, transforming the

monitored for impairment without exception, even if this is not

expected loss approach to an incurred loss approach.

apparent from the market development in a given instance.
In case of CDO of ABS and CDO of CDO, impairments are al-

Given the current deep recession, the regulatory valuation

ways regarded as due to changes in credit standing. For US

parameters are inadequate to reflect the current risk situation,

HEL transactions (RMBS of Home Equity Loans), the loss cover-

as key parameters respond with a lag to the economic down-

age ratio (LCR) is applied. The LCR is calculated as the loss

swing. HSH Nordbank Group has accordingly formed an addi-

buffer (= subordinated tranches) divided by the expected loss.

tional security premium for the portfolio impairment allow-

HEL transitions with an LCR below 150 % or a rating below

ances (“management adjustment”).

AAA are inherently assumed to involve impairment induced
by a change in creditworthiness.

Because the posting of the value adjustment depends on the
category of financial assets, the following distinctions must be

Identifiable risks from the lending business are dealt with by

made with regard to measurement:

making specific value adjustments to the loan or advance in
question. To calculate the amount of the specific value adjustment, the net present value of the anticipated cash flows aris-

	a.	Financial instruments belonging to the category loans and
receivables (lar) which are measured at amortised cost.

ing from the loan or advance – i. e. the achievable amount –
is compared to its carrying value. The anticipated cash flows

Impairments to loans and advances to banks and custom-

may comprise capital repayments, interest payments or the pro-

ers are recorded in separate value adjustment accounts

ceeds from sales of collateral less liquidation costs. If the

under allowances for impairments. Allowances for impair-

carrying value is greater than the realisable amount, a specific

ments thus created are written off at the time when the

value adjustment equivalent to the difference is posted.

amount of the actual default of the receivable is determined
or the receivable defaults. Irrecoverable receivables for

In the current crisis in the real economy, estimates of the

which there was no specific value adjustment are written

necessary loan loss provisions are extensively made on the basis

off directly. Impairments to lar securities are recorded

of information which is partly provisional in nature (e. g.

by means of direct writedowns to the securities. Recoveries

planned restructuring of borrowers, draft reorganisation reports)

on receivables written-off are recognised in the income

or are subject to increased volatility (e. g. collateral value of

statement.

real estate and ships). This results in increased uncertainty regarding estimates of key parameters of loan loss provisions.

	 b.	Financial instruments belonging to the category available
for sale (afs) which are measured at fair value and not
recognised in the income statement.

General information
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In the case of permanent or significant impairment to an

method. Fair value is determined on the basis of prices apply-

afs equity financial instrument, a direct writedown is

ing at a point in time shortly before the valuation date. Alter-

recognised in the income statement. In the process, the

natively, transaction prices may be used, i. e. prices from a

cumulative gains taken through the income statement

recent, genuine transaction. If fair value cannot be determined

and recognised as equity are rebooked to net investment

from the market or transaction prices of the financial instru-

income. This approach is used analogously for afs

ment, either it is derived from the prices of comparable finan-

debt instruments. In the case of debt securities only, if the

cial instruments or a model valuation is conducted with

reasons for impairment no longer apply a writeup to

parameters that are almost completely observable in the market.

the maximum of amortised cost is made through the in-

Alternatively, quality assured market data from suitable

come statement. Amounts beyond this and writeups to

price agencies is used. A distinction can be drawn between pro-

equity securities are entered in the revaluation reswerve

cedures based exclusively on observable market data or

without recognition in the income statement.

only to an insignificant extent on non-observable parameters
and those based to a significant extent on non-observable

	 c.	Equity securities belonging to the afs category not quoted

parameters. Observable market data are usually available for

on an active market and measured at the cost of acquisi-

liquid securities and plain vanilla OTC derivatives traded

tion because their fair value cannot be reliably determined.

on liquid markets, such as interest-rate swaps, FX-forward transactions and FX-options in certain currencies, and equity

In the case of impairment to an afs financial instrument,

derivatives on certain listed equities or indices. It the valuation

a depreciation to the financial instrument is made, which

procedure uses exclusively observable market data or non-

is recognised in the income statement.

observable parameters with only insignificant influence, the
fair value is classified as level 2 in the valuation hierarchy

Specific and portfolio impairment allowances are also made for

under IFRS 7.

off-balance-sheet transactions and are recorded in the balance
sheet as provisioins in the lending business.

Fair value is determined by the mark-to-model valuation using
a suitable model (e. g. option-price model, discounted cash

D) Determining fair value

flow method, collateralised debt obligation model) if a valuation

Fair value is defined in accordance with IAS 39 as the price at

cannot be derived, either of adequate quality or at all, using

which a financial instrument can be traded between two

the mark-to-market or mark-to-matrix method. Valuation mod-

informed, willing and independent parties who are under no

els that are based on non-observable parameters, and which

obligation to deal. The fair value of financial instruments is

therefore require assumptions about these parameters, are often

determined on the basis of the listed price on an active market

necessary for structured securities – or more generally for

(mark-to-market), or if this is not possible on the basis of

securities whose markets are illiquid and for complex OTC deriv-

recognised valuation techniques and models (mark-to-matrix or

atives. Examples of non-observable parameters are correla-

mark-to-model).

tions, volatilities and prepayment rates. It the valuation proce-

Fair value can determined using the mark to market method if

ence on the fair value, the fair value is classified as level 3 in

a market price is available at which a transaction could be

the valuation hierarchy under IFRS 7.

dure uses non-observable parameters with significant influ-

performed or has been performed. This is generally the case for
securities and derivatives traded on liquid markets. Such an

The following section gives an overview of the parameters and

unadjusted market price at the measurement date for the iden-

assumptions used.

tical instrument is classified as level 1 of the valuation hierarchy under IFRS 7.

1. Parameters used in valuation techniques and models
The following assumptions are used to determine the fair value

The mark-to-matrix method is used to determine fair value
where no market price is available under the mark-to-market

for each class of financial assets and liabilities.
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a.	Assets / liabilities held for trading (hft):

Fair value is not calculated for unlisted equity instruments

Many securities in the trading portfolio are valued using

(holdings in affiliated companies and equity holdings treated

quoted market prices. If no current price from a liquid market

under IAS 39) as there is no active market for them and

is available, interest-bearing securities are valued using

the necessary estimates cannot be made within an acceptable

the discounted cash flow method based on rating and sector-

range of variation and suitable probability of occurrence.

dependent yield curves derived from comparable fixed-

They are therefore valued at cost of acquisition.

income securities.
d.	Assets / liabilities designated at fair value (dfv)
Exchange-traded derivatives are also valued using market

Assets designated at fair value carried under financial invest-

prices. If no current price is available, valuation uses recog-

ments and loans and advances to customers or banks pri

nised valuation models (such as Black-Scholes for European

marily comprise holdings in the credit investment business

options) that are based on non-observable parameters to an

(ABS, synthetic CDOs, CLN). For valuing CDOs, a standard

insignificant extent at most.

market model (Gauss-Copula) is used which includes both observable and non-observable market parameters. The pric-

OTC derivatives are valued using valuation techniques and

ing hierarchy described above is used for the other products.

models. A distinction is drawn between simple derivatives
traded in liquid markets, such as interest rate swaps, interest

Dfv liabilities stated under securitised liabilities, liabilities to

rate-currency swaps, forward currency transactions, cur-

customers or banks and subordinated capital include

rency options, single-name and index credit default swaps

complex structured registered and bearer securities with em-

and complex derivatives where markets are illiquid. The

bedded interest, currency, equity and other risks. Where

former are valued using recognised techniques and models

current market prices are available for securitised liabilities

that are based on non-observable market parameters to

on liquid markets, these are used. However, the predomi-

an insignificant extent at most, while the latter require a sig-

nant majority of dfv liabilities are valued using valuation

nificant body of estimates in relation to the selection of

techniques and models. These make significant use of

both the model and the parameters.

complex techniques and models which also use parameters
which are not directly observable. dfv liabilities are gen-

b.	Positive / negative fair values of hedging derivatives

erally hedged through offsetting derivatives so that there are

This class contains exclusively simple interest rate and cross

positions which compensate for model risks or parameter

currency interest rate swaps which can be valued using

uncertainties.

recognised techniques and models that use non-observable
market parameters to an insignificant extent, if at all.

Separate determination of the change in fair value attributable to credit risk of dfv holdings is done on the basis of the

c.	Financial investments (afs):

carrying value, the residual maturity of the financial instru-

The HSH Nordbank Group’s financial investments comprise

ment or transaction, information from external rating agen-

mainly fixed income securities. Substantial parts are valued

cies and market spreads for instruments of the same rating

using market prices. If no current price from a liquid market

and maturity. For liabilities categorised as dfv, a distinction

is available, interest-bearing securities are valued using the

is made in assigning an appropriate spread between instru-

discounted cash flow method based on rating and sector-de

ments with and without guarantee obligation.

pendent yield curves derived from comparable fixed-income
securities.

2. Valuation Adjustments
If the value of a financial instrument as determined by a valua-

The financial investments also include ABS as partial

tion technique or model does not take adequate account of

holdings in the credit investment business. These are valued

factors such as bid-offer spreads, closing costs, liquidity, model

using the pricing hierarchy described above.

risks and credit or counterparty default risks, the Bank makes
corresponding value adjustments. The methods used make par-
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tial use of non-observable market parameters in the form of

Application of IAS 39.AG8 means that valuation of hybrid

estimates.

financial instruments involves more than just the loss situation
in the period under review. Specifically, it involves more

3. Day One Profit and Loss

than assigning the prorated loss in the period under review. In

Use of a valuation model based to a significant extent on non-

addition, the possible effects of possible future assignment

observable market data can lead to differences between the

of loss and the cancellation or postponement of future interest

transaction price and model price at the acquisition date. For

payments must be recognised in profit or loss in the period

financial instruments valued through the income statement,

in which the estimate is changed. This can mean that in future

such differences (“day one profit and loss”) are accrued and

loss periods it is not possible to recognise any further loss

spread over the maturity.

participations in profit or loss, if these future losses correspond
to the estimates made previously. The loss participation

E) Hybrid financial instruments

recognised in profit or loss is accordingly anticipated, rather than

IAS 39.AG8 states that the carrying amount of financial assets

being left to the period in which the loss arises. Future loss-

and liabilities must be adjusted and recognised in profit or

related reductions in interest also do not result in full relief to

loss if the estimated future cash flows associated with the in-

interest expenses, if the reduction in interest has already

strument change.

been taken into account in the estimate. Instead, the reversal
of the effect of discounting applied in the year the estimate

This also applies for financial instruments not measured at fair

was changed is recognised in expenses (write-up of the liability

value. The new carrying amount is given by the present

due to the passage of time). The IFRIC has confirmed

value of the newly estimated future cash flows using the finan-

the applicability of IAS 39.AG8 to hybrid debt instruments.

cial instrument’s original effective interest rate for discounting. In subsequent years the discount effect reduces with con-

The estimation of future cash flows from hybrid financial

stant effective interest rate, leading to a write-up for financial

instruments required in applying IAS 39.AG8 requires mate-

liabilities which is recognised in net interest income.

rial assumptions which are associated with uncertainties.
Among the key sources of uncertainty in estimation are the

Application of IAS 39.AG8 had an effect in the year under

future income of HSH Nordbank, which depends specifically

review on valuation of the hybrid financial instruments issued

on the development of the economy and expected requirements

by HSH Nordbank Group, as the estimated future cash flows

by the European Union in connection with approval of

differ from the contractual cash flows.

restructuring subsidies. Assumptions are also required about
the exercise of termination or extension options associated

The term “hybrid financial instruments” covers silent participa-

with the individual transactions. Based on the state of knowl-

tions, profit participations and three bonds issued by consol

edge of uncertainties at the time financial statements are

idated subsidiaries measured at amortised acquisition cost. A key

drawn up, the possibility cannot be excluded that changing

common feature of these instruments is that their interest

information in subsequent periods will require departure

depends on profit and they participate in an annual net loss of

from previous assumptions, which would require new adjust-

the Bank.

ments to the carrying value of hybrid financial instruments
recognised in profit or loss. In the case of declining expectations

The future cash flows whose amount and payments dates have

of loss, the participation in loss of investors would also de-

to be estimated are payments of interest and principal which

crease, which would be associated with an increase in repay-

take into account

ment obligations recognised in expenses. The same considerations apply to the reverse case.

–– participations in loss by investors, where these will probably
not be made up by the expected redemption date of an

Net income from hybrid financial instruments is shown as a

instrument,

separate item under net interest income, and in addition to

–– any contractually agreed retrospective coupon payments.

current interest expenses it includes the effects of applying IAS
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39.AG8 (see Note [8]). Deferred taxes arise because of the

In the case of a micro fair value hedge, the carrying value of the

difference between valuation for tax purposes and valuation in

underlying transaction is adjusted through the income state-

the consolidated financial statements. The associated effects

ment for the fair value change attributable to the hedged risk.

on net income are recognised under income taxes. Prorated par-

The fair value changes which are not attributable to the

ticipation in the loss of the financial year to which IAS 39.

hedged risk are treated in accordance with the general rules for

AG8 did not apply are recognised as in the previous year under

the corresponding IAS 39 category.

“income from assumption of losses”. Hybrid financial instruments are shown either as securitised liabilities or as subordi-

In the case of portfolio fair value hedge for interest rate change

nated capital (Notes [37, 46]).

risks, portfolios of assets and liabilities hedged for interest

F) Hedge accounting

tive procedure. At the start of a hedging period, the financial

Under IFRS, changes in value of items in IAS 39 categories afs,

instruments in the portfolios are allocated to maturity ranges on

lar and lia are not recognised in profit or loss. Changes in the

the basis of their anticipated maturity or interest adjustment

value of derivatives are always recognised in profit or loss. If

dates, and the hedged amount is then determined for each matu-

underlying transactions in IAS 39 category afs, lar or lia are

rity range. The hedging transactions are also allocated at the

hedged with derivatives, the result is to distort the income state

start of the hedging period. At the end of the hedging period, the

ment so that it does not correspond to the economic reality.

hedge is recognised and valued and a new hedge is designated.

One way of avoiding these distortions is to use fair value hedge

The changes in the fair value of the hedged amounts of the un-

accounting. This also takes account of the changes in value

derlying transactions due to the hedged risk are recognised

of the underlying transactions to be attributed to the hedged

in a separate item in the statement of financial position (asset

risk in the income statement.

or liability reconciling items from the portfolio fair value

rate change risks are taken into account. This involves an itera-

hedge). The fair value changes which are not attributable to the
HSH Nordbank Group employs derivatives to economically

hedged risk are treated in accordance with the general rules

hedge against market risks arising from loans, issues and secu-

for the corresponding IAS 39 category.

rities holdings. Both individual loans, issues and securities
items and entire portfolios of such instruments are hedged in

Using fair value hedge accounting requires a series of conditions

this way.

to be met. These principally relate to the documentation of
the hedge and its effectiveness. In the HSH Nordbank Group, all

Micro and portfolio fair value hedge accounting are used to

hedging relationships are documented in accordance with

avoid distortions in the income statement. Currently only

the requirements of IAS 39, including the hedging instrument,

hedges of fair value against interest rate risk are taken into

the hedged item (underlying transaction), the hedged risk and

account. Fixed-interest rate loans, issues and securities

the result and method of measuring effectiveness.

items are designated as underlying transactions (hedged items),
while only interest rate and interest rate currency swaps

Future changes in value of underlying and hedging transac-

are designated as hedging instruments.

tions are simulated using a regression model within the framework of the prospective effectiveness test. Any actual changes

Where individual lending, issuing or securities transactions are

in value are used in retrospective effectiveness testing. The re-

hedged by derivatives with non-Group counterparties and

sults of retrospective and prospective effectiveness measure-

this hedging arrangement satisfies the requirements of IAS 39.,

ment in micro fair value hedge accounting are analyzed using

micro fair value hedge accounting is applied. Where portfo-

regression analyses. In portfolio fair value hedge accounting,

lios of hedged items are hedged, the hedging of these items with

HSH Nordbank Group uses the dollar offset method to measure

matching external derivatives is shown under portfolio fair

effectiveness. This tests whether the relationship between

value hedge accounting to the extent that this meets the require-

the changes in value of underlying and hedging transactions lies

ments of IAS 39.

within an interval of 80 % to 125 %.
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Changes in value of underlyings and hedging transactions in

ceivables arising from repos are not netted against liabilities

effective hedges which are attributable to the hedged risk are

from repos involving the same counterparty.

recognised in gains on hedging.
The emphasis in repo transactions is on bonds from German
Income and expenses from the depreciation of reconciliation

public sector issuers and from EURO-zone bank issuers and the

items for the fair value hedge portfolio and proceeds from

Bank’s own bonds. Corresponding transactions were also

the closing of the underlying transactions which contributed

entered into in equities.

to reconciliation items.
Securities lending transactions are carried on the statement of

G) Derecognition

financial position in a similar way to genuine repurchase

A financial asset is booked out when all material risks and

agreements. Lent securities remain in the securities portfolio,

opportunities associated with ownership of the asset have been

while borrowed securities are not capitalised on the state-

transferred, i. e. when contractual claims on cash flows from

ment of financial position. Cash collateral furnished for securi-

the asset have been extinguished. Where not all risks and oppor-

ties lending transactions is shown as a receivable, while

tunities are transferred, the HSH Nordbank Group carries

collateral received is shown as a liability. As with repo transac-

out a control test to ensure that no continuing involvement due

tions, securities lending transactions are also entered into

to opportunities and risks retained prevents it from being

in equities, although the emphasis is on bonds.

booked out. Financial assets are also booked out if the contractual rights to payment streams have expired. Financial lia

I) Financial guarantees

bilities are booked out when they are repaid, i. e. when the asso-

Pursuant to IAS 39.9, a financial guarantee is a contract that

ciated liability is settled or lifted, or when due.

requires the issuer of the contract to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder of the contract for the loss that the

H) Repurchase agreements and securities lending
transactions

holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment

HSH Nordbank Group only enters into genuine repo transac-

instrument. A credit derivative is treated as a financial guaran-

tions. Genuine repurchase agreements, repo agreements or

tee based on the provisions of IAS 39 if the requirements of

sell-and-buy-back transactions combine the spot purchase or

IAS 39.9 for the financial guarantee are met. Credit derivatives

sale of securities with their forward sale or repurchase, the

that do not meet the definition of a financial guarantee are

counterparty being the same in both cases.

allocated in accordance with the general valuation rules for the

when due under the original or amended terms of a debt

hft category and valued using fair value.
For genuine repo transactions with assets sold under repurchase agreements, the securities continue to be recognised by

Financial guarantees at the HSH Nordbank Group are provided

the HSH Nordbank Group, as the interest, credit rating and

in the form of warranties, bank guarantees and letters of

other material risks associated with the securities continue to be

credit. Corresponding contingent liabilities are based on past

borne by HSH Nordbank Group. According to counterparty,

events that may result in possible liabilities in the future.

the inflow of liquidity from the repo transaction is shown in the

These liabilities arise as a result of the occurrence of uncertain

statement of financial position as a liability either to banks

future events where the amount required to meet them can-

or customers. Interest payments are recognised under interest

not be estimated with sufficient reliability. Financial guarantees

expense over the term of the transaction. Outflows of liquid-

are stated in accordance with the net method. If the premium

ity caused by reverse repos are reported as loans and advances

payment to the HSH Nordbank Group is distributed over the

to banks or customers. Correspondingly, the securities bought

term of the financial guarantee, the guarantee will be stated

under repurchase agreements are not carried or measured in the

as zero and the premium payment recognised on an accrual

statement of financial position. Agreed interest payments are

basis. If the HSH Nordbank Group is the holder of a contract,

booked as interest income over the term of the transaction. Re-

the financial guarantee will be presented as collateral for the
Group.

125

126

HSH Nordbank 2009

II. Notes on selected items relating to
financial instruments in the statement of
financial position

taken into account as hedging instruments currently. If a derivative is only partially designated under hedge accounting,
this item contains the corresponding share of that derivative’s
fair value. In these cases, the remainder is stated under assets

1. Cash reserve

or liabilities held for trading.

Cash on hand, balances with central banks, treasury bills and
discounted treasury notes are stated under cash reserve.

4. Reconciling asset and liability items from the fair
value hedge portfolio

Both initial and subsequent measurement of assets (lar) stated

The asset-side reconciling item from portfolio fair value hedge

under cash reserve take place at par value, which is equivalent

accounting contains the value change of the hedged object

to fair value due to its short-term nature.

to be attributed to the hedged risk from portfolio fair value hedges for assets. Similarly, the liability-side reconciling item

Treasury bills and discounted treasury notes recognised under

from portfolio fair value hedge accounting contains the value

afs are measured at fair value.

change of the hedged object to be attributed to the hedged
risk from portfolio fair value hedges for liabilities.

2. Loans and advances
Primarily assets from the loans and receivables (lar) category are

5. Assets and liabilities held for trading

recognised in the statement of financial position under loans

Only financial assets categorised hft are stated under assets

and advances to banks and loans and advances to customers. In

held for trading. These include primary financial instruments

addition, financial instruments in the categories dfv and afs

held for trading purposes, particularly fixed income securities

are recognised here. Carrying amounts of receivables which are

and pro rata interest, and also equities and other trading port-

an element of micro fair value hedge accounting are adjusted

folios such as precious metals. Also included in this category

by the change in value attributed to the hedged risk.

are derivatives with a positive market value which are either
trading derivatives or not designated as a hedge derivative

Loans and receivables are stated gross (before value adjust-

because they do not meet the requirements of hedge accounting.

ments are deducted). Allowances for impairments are stated in
a separate item loan loss provisions, shown under receivables

Measurement gains and losses are recognised in trading in-

as a deduction. Financial instruments in the dfv and afs catego-

come. Interest and dividend income is recognised as net interest

ries are stated net. Loans and receivables are stated under

income and commission income and expenses are recognised

assets held for trading if they have been acquired or incurred

in net commission income.

with the intention of trading.
In a similar way to assets held for trading, liabilities held for
Interest income from loans and advances to banks and custom-

trading only shows financial obligations belonging to the

ers is recorded under interest income from lending and

category of held for trading (hft), which includes derivatives with

money market transactions. This also includes early repayment

a negative market value which are either trading derivatives

penalties from premature repayment of receivables. Premi-

or have not been designated as hedge derivatives because they

ums and discounts are accrued using the effective interest rate

do not meet the requirements of hedge accounting. Delivery

method. Accrued interest is also allocated to this item in the

commitments from short sales of securities and pro rata inter-

statement of financial position.

est from these are also stated in this category.

3. Positive and negative market value of hedge
derivatives

6. Financial investments

This item shows the market value of derivatives which have

lar, and also securities or holdings in categories afs and dfv.

a positive or negative fair value and are used in hedge account-

This item includes fixed-interest securities not held for trading

ing. Only interest rate and interest rate currency swaps are

including accrued interest, equities and other non-fixed-inter-

Financial investments include particularly securities in category
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est securities, holdings in unconsolidated affiliated companies,

are shown under subordinated capital, due to their different

and holdings in joint ventures and associated companies not

nature from other liabilities.

carried at equity. Realised gains and losses from financial investments are shown in the income statement in net income

Profit-sharing certificates outstanding form part of liable equity.

from financial investments. Net interest income from financial

Interest payments on profit-sharing certificates are made if

investments is shown in net interest income. If the disposal

distributable profit is available. Profit-sharing certificates are

of equity holdings or interests in affiliated companies was decid-

offset up to the full amount against a loss in the statement

ed and initiated at the balance sheet date and it is highly

of financial position.

probable that it can be completed within the following twelve
months, they are reclassified as non-current assets held for

Based on their contractual structure and financial character,

sale and disposal groups.

the participations of the typical silent partner represent debt,
which is why they are stated under subordinated capital.

7. Liabilities
Liabilities include financial liabilities in categories lia and dfv.

Subordinated capital categorised as lia is recognised and mea-

They are recognised as liabilities to banks, liabilities to custom-

sured initially at cost of acquisition and at amortised cost

ers and securitised liabilities.

subsequently. Premiums and discounts are allocated on a constant effective interest rate basis.

Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value at the time of
issue plus transaction costs, which generally corresponds to the

Current gains and losses from measuring subordinated capital

transaction price. In subsequent periods securities categorised

categorised as dfv are stated under net income from trading.

as lia are measured pursuant to IAS 39.47 at amortised cost
applying the effective interest method.
Changes in the measurement of lia financial instruments are

III. Notes on other items in the statement
of financial position

only recorded when the relevant instrument is sold. Differences between acquisition costs and repayment amount (e. g.

1. Intangible assets

premiums and discounts) are allocated according to the effec-

Software acquired or developed in-house, acquired goodwill

tive interest rate method and taken to net interest income. Cur-

and other intangible assets are recognised and measured under

rent gains and losses from measuring dfv financial instru-

intangible assets. In accordance with IAS 38.21, the HSH

ments are stated under net income from trading.

Nordbank Group capitalises software development costs if the
production of the in-house software is likely to generate an

The carrying value of hedged liabilities which fulfil the require-

economic benefit and the costs can be reliably determined. If

ments of micro fair value hedge accounting are adjusted by

the criteria for capitalisation are not met, expenses are recog-

the gains and losses arising from fluctuations in fair value attrib-

nised in the income statement in the year they are incurred.

utable to the hedged risk.

Goodwill arises on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures when the cost of acquisition exceeds the Groups’

Repurchased own debentures are set off against securitised

share in the net assets (shareholders’ equity) of the company

liabilities.

acquired. Other intangible assets are long-term service contracts
which are capitalised at net present value through a purchase

8. Subordinated capital

price allocation. An indefinite useful life is assumed for other

No obligation to other creditors for premature redemption of

assets.

subordinated liabilities is possible. In the case of liquidation or
insolvency, subordinated liabilities may only be repaid after

According to IAS 38.24, an intangible asset is initially mea-

the claims of all senior creditors have been met. Profit-sharing

sured at cost of acquisition or production and subsequently at

certificates, subordinated liabilities and silent participations

amortised cost.
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Software is subject to linear depreciation over three to ten

they increase the economic utility of the asset concerned.

years.

Interest paid to finance acquisition costs of property, plant and
equipment is recorded as an expense in the period concerned.

All intangible assets are reviewed on each reporting date for
signs which suggest impairment. Intangible assets with an

Physical wear and tear, technical obsolescence and legal and

indefinite useful life, intangible assets which are currently not

contractual restrictions are taken into consideration when

usable and goodwill are subjected to an impairment test an-

determining useful life. For property, plant and equipment, lin-

nually even if there are no signs which suggest impairment, by

ear depreciation is calculated over the following periods:

comparing the carrying amount of the assets with their realisable amount. The realisable amount is defined as the greater

Property, plant and equipment category

Useful life
in years

of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. An asset is
impaired if its carrying value exceeds its realisable amount.

Buildings

50
1)

Leasehold improvements

Examination of the value of goodwill is carried out on the basis

Other operating equipment

of cash-generating units. Where underlying subsidiaries are
integrally involved in the business activities of divisions, cashgenerating units were previously defined as the segments

4–13

Leasing assets
1)

Calculation of residual life is based on the remaining term of the rental agreement.

2)

Leasing assets are depreciated in accordance with their useful life.

2)

shown in segmental reporting. After the modification of the
segments in the course of the realignment of HSH Nordbank

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting

Group in the 2009 financial year, the cash generating units to

date for signs which suggest impairment.

which goodwill has been allocated (old segments) have been
redefined as the new segments specialist banking and regional

Gains and losses from the disposal of property, plant and equip-

banking, and retain their validity in this definition. However

ment are shown under other operating income in the income

if the value in use is expected to be realised by cash inflows or

statement. Repairs, servicing and other maintenance costs are

an increase in value of a subsidiary alone, then the subsidiary

recorded as an expense in the period concerned.

is treated as a cash-generating unit. Where the anticipated benefit can no longer be determined, a write-down is made.

3. Investment Properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rental

The value in use of a cash generating unit is determined on the

income or make capital gains but not used for own operations.

basis of forecast and discounted net cash flows. Net cash flows

For mixed use properties a percentage allocation of the

are determined on the basis of Group planning for a five-year

carrying value is made. Own-used properties are reported under

period, allowing for a subsequent trend of 1.0 % (previous

property, plant and equipment; rented-out or empty parts

year: between 1.0 % and 1.5 %). The planned cash flows are based

are reported as investment properties. The properties are report-

on a risk-adequate discount rate. Other parameters are taken

ed at acquisition cost and are subject to scheduled linear de-

from standardised industry figures. Capitalisation interest rates

preciation. Scheduled depreciation is based on a useful life of

ranging between 9.75 % and 11.75 % (previous year: 9.25 % to

33 to 50 years.

10.75 %) are used by carrying out impairment tests.
In determining the fair value of investment properties, real

2. Property, plant and equipment

estate market values are mainly calculated using the discounted

Land and buildings, operating equipment and leasing assets

cashflow method (dcf). In the procedure a period of eleven

under operating leases where HSH Nordbank Group acts as les-

years is used by an external appraiser. Risk-adjusted interest rates

sor are stated under this item. Property, plant and equipment

from 5.1 % to 10.25 % are used for discounting.

are stated at cost of acquisition or production less linear depreciation in line with its expected useful life. Subsequent ex-

The capitalised income method is used in determining the

penses of acquisition or production are capitalised provided

fair value of the remaining investment properties, using market

General information
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data from internal appraisers. The fair value is shown in

mainly determined based on the best estimate of the expen

Note (30).

diture necessary to meet the obligations identifiable on the reporting date.

4. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
and liabilities from disposal groups

Long-term provisions are discounted. The effects of this are

Non-current assets whose carrying value can be predominantly

recognised as part of net interest income.

or primarily realised through a sale and not through continuing use must be classified as held for sale in accordance with

b. Pension provisions

IFRS 5, on condition that a sale has already been decided on

The great majority of employees of HSH Nordbank AG as well

and initiated as of the reporting date, and is extremely likely to

as employees of several domestic subsidiaries are entitled to

be completed within the following twelve months.

benefits from different staff pension plans, which include both
defined contribution and defined benefit plans.

A disposal group is a group of assets which are sold to the same
purchaser in a single transaction and at a single price. A dis-

In the case of defined contribution plans, contributions are paid

posal group can also include liabilities, if these are taken over

to external pension providers, with employees also contrib

by the purchaser together with the assets. HSH Nordbank

uting a share. HSH Nordbank AG also participates in a multi-

Group recognises as disposal groups and liabilities from disposal

employer plan which is run by BVV Versorgungskasse des

groups specifically the assets and liabilities of consolidates

Bankgewerbes e.V. HSH Nordbank AG has no obligations to

subsidiaries which meet the requirements of IFRS for classifica-

pensioners beyond the contribution payments. There are

tion as held for sale.

also policies with Provinzial Nord Lebensversicherung AG for
direct insurance policies partly financed by employees. As

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are mea-

the insurance company is required to be a member of Protektor

sured at fair value less sale costs in cases where this is lower

Lebensversicherungs-AG, the insured employees are protect-

than carrying value. Financial instruments continue to be mea-

ed against its insolvency, so that HSH Nordbank AG is not bur-

sured according to the requirements of IAS 39.

dened even in the event of Provinzial Nord Lebensversicherung AG’s insolvency. These direct insurance policies represent

5. Other Assets and Other Liabilities

insured benefits and are treated as defined contribution plans.

All remaining assets and liabilities not allocable to any other
item are stated under other assets or liabilities. This includes

In the case of the defined benefit plans, the amount of benefit

accruals and deferrals.

depends on various factors, such as age, salary and length
of service. Pension plans include specifically retirement and

6. Provisions

disability pensions and survivor benefits. They are based

Provisions are created where the Group has existing legal and

primarily on employment contracts of Landesbank Schleswig-

actual obligations resulting from previous events for which it is

Holstein Girozentrale, the retirement plan of Hamburgische

likely that meeting the obligation will require an outflow of

Landesbank Girozentrale, retirement pension guidelines of the

resources and a reliable assessment of the amount of the obli-

Hamburgische Landesbank Girozentrale relief fund, the

gation can be made. Provisions are examined and redeter-

pension plan of Hamburgische Landesbank Girozentrale and

mined at least quarterly.

section 2 (2) of the Investment Bank Act in the version of
23 January 1998. Pension provisions for defined benefit plans

a. Other provisions

are equivalent to the net present value of the pension enti

Other provisions include, for example, provisions for personnel

tlements earned as of the reporting date, factoring in anticipated

expenses, restructuring and litigation risks, as well as for the

wage and salary increases and the trend in annuities. Calcu

lending business. Provisions in the lending business are created,

lations are based solely on actuarial reports as in compliance

among other reasons, for any sudden calls to pay under

with IAS 19, which are prepared by independent actuaries

warranty bonds, guarantees and letters of credit. Provisions are

using the projected unit credit unit method.
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Actuarial gains and losses are recognised under equity in
retained earnings in the year in which they arise. Pension provisions are discounted as long-term liabilities. The interest
expense included in post-retirement expenses is recognised as
part of net interest income.
The following assumptions are made in calculating defined
benefit pension obligations:

Actuarial assumptions

2009

2008

5.1 %

5.8 %

Discount rate
Domestic

5.3 % – 5.6 %

4.0 % – 6.5 %

Expected return on plan assets

Foreign

5.1 % – 7.6 %

3.3 % – 7.6 %

Salary growth

2.0 % – 5.2 %

1.5 % – 4.7 %

individual

individual

Adjustment rate for pensions
Domestic
Employment contract 1 / old pension provision rules
New pension provision rules

2.0 %

2.0 %

Employment contract 4

2.0 %

2.0 %

3.2 %

3.5 %

Foreign
Staff turnover
Age 20
Age 20 – 55
Age 56

6.0 %

6.0 %

Linear decline to zero

Linear decline to zero

0.0 %

0.0 %

Retirement age in years

63–67

63–65

Mortality, disability etc.

Based on the 2005 G
tables of K. Heubeck

Based on the 2005 G
tables of K. Heubeck

General information

Defined benefit pension plans are partly financed from assets
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IV. Leasing transactions

and qualified insurance policies used exclusively for pensions
(plan assets). Plan assets are measured at fair value and recog-

In accordance with IAS 17, a distinction is made between

nised in the statement of financial position as reducing provi-

finance and operating leases. The allocation depends on whether

sions.

the lease substantially transfers all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee.

The expected return on pension plan assets is determined using
the long-term return on bonds. Suitable risk premiums are

A finance lease is considered to be present where the economic

applied to this to reflect the plan’s asset structure, based on

risks and rewards as defined by IAS 17 lie with the lessee;

capital market yields and expectations.

consequently, the leased asset is reported in the latter’s statement of financial position. All other leasing arrangements

7. Income taxes

are classified as operating leases. The classification is made at

Current tax assets and liabilities are stated at the amount of

the beginning of each lease.

the anticipated refund from, or payment to, the tax authorities,
applying the tax provisions of the countries in question.

1. Finance leases
In the case of finance leases, the HSH Nordbank Group acts

Deferred tax assets and liabilities derive from temporary differ-

solely as lessor and recognises a receivable in the amount

ences between the value of an asset or liability as measured

of the net investment value either under loans and advances

by IFRS standards and its assigned value in tax terms. Deferred

to banks or loans and advances to customers, depending

taxes on tax loss carryforwards are stated as the amount likely

on the lessee.

to be used in future. Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax
rates and rules anticipated to be valid at the time when the

Leasing rates due are divided into a repayment part which is

deferred tax assets are to be realised. The effects of tax rate

not recognised in profit or loss and an interest part which

changes on deferred taxes are taken into account on adop-

is. The part taken to profit or loss is recognised in net interest

tion of the legislative amendment. Deferred tax assets are recog-

income.

nised and measured as tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
as tax liabilities.

2. Operating leases
As a lessor the HSH Nordbank Group states leasing objects as

The basis for capitalising deferred tax assets is the general bank

assets measured at amortised cost under property, plant

planning for the next five years, which is used to derive tax

and equipment or as investment properties. Leasing instalments

results planning. For the further planning horizon, the result

received are stated under other operating income, and the

for the last planning year is continued. Despite possible esti

corresponding depreciation stated in administration expenses.

mation uncertainties due to the current economic crisis and its
consequences, no impairment is anticipated for deferred tax

Rental expenses from contracts where the HSH Nordbank Group

assets.

acts as lessee are shown in the full amount as rental expense
under administration expenses in the period in which the asso-

Expenses and income from deferred taxes are in principal

ciated liability was assumed.

recognised on an accrual basis in the income statement under
income taxes, separate from actual tax expenses and income,
with recognition of the underlying events. Deferred taxes are

V. Currency translation

recognised in the income statement if the item in the statement of financial position itself is recognised in profit or loss. If

The consolidated financial statements of HSH Nordbank AG

the balance sheet item itself is not taken through the income

are drawn up in euros. The euro is the functional currency

statement, then the deferred taxes are also taken straight to eq-

of the overwhelming majority of the individual financial state-

uity in the revaluation reserve or retained earnings (IAS 12.61).
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ments included in the consolidated statements. However some
Group companies have another functional currency.
The following principles are applied when translating foreign
currency items within individual financial statements and
for translating the financial statement of Group companies
which do not draw up their accounts in euro.

1. Recognition and valuation of foreign currency transactions in the parent company financial statements
Initial measurement of assets and liabilities from all foreign cur
rency transactions takes place at the spot rate for the transaction.
In subsequent measurement, monetary items are translated
based on the spot mid-rate as of the reporting date. Nonmonetary items that are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value are translated using the spot mid-rate
applicable at the time of measurement and any other nonmonetary items at the historical rate.
Expenses and income in foreign currency arising from the measurement of items in the statement of financial position are
translated using the rates applied for translating the items in
question. The transaction rates are used for all other expenses
and income.
For monetary and non-monetary items measured at fair value,
currency translation differences are always recognised in
the income statement of the period when the result arose. An
exception is currency translation gains and losses from
the measurement of non-monetary afs financial instruments
recognised at fair value, which are included in the revaluation reserve.

2. Translation of financial statements prepared in foreign currency for inclusion in the consolidated financial
statements
Assets and liabilities from financial statements denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the period-end rate. Average rates for the reporting period are used to translate expenses
and income. With the exception of the revaluation reserve
in the parent company financial statements, which is translated
at the period-end rate, equity is translated at historic rates.
Any differences arising from this method of translation are
reported under equity in a separate item.

notes on the income statement
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Notes on the income statement

8. Net interest income

Net interest income
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Interest income and expenses relating to trading and hedging
derivatives are shown under interest income and expenses
from derivative financial instruments.

Interest income from
Lending and money market transactions

4,628

7,373

In case of unchanged payment expectations a change in

Fixed-interest securities

1,050

1,888

the present value of impaired loans and advances (unwinding)

173

601

14,598

23,036

111

36

Equities and other non-fixed-interest
Securities

41

56

Interest expense for securitised liabilities includes realised

Associated companies

14

43

net income from repurchased own bonds of € 167 million (pre-

Equity holdings

40

122

Trading transactions
Derivative financial instruments
Unwinding

occurs over time. The interest income from such loans and
advances is calculated as the present value by adding accrued
interest using the original effective interest rate.

Current income from

Other holdings
Interest income
Of which attributable to financial
instruments not categorised as hft or
dfv according to IAS 39

9

8

20,664

33,163

vious year: € 32 million).
As at 31 December 2009 changes were made for the first time
in estimates for hybrid financial instruments which had effects

5,706

9,910

in accordance with IAS 39.AG8. In this connection, the results
of hybrid financial instruments were recognised separately in
net interest income (see Note 7.I.E).

Interest expenses for
Liabilities to banks

1,255

2,161

Liabilities to customers

1,806

2,710

Hybrid financial instruments include securitised liabilities

Securitised liabilities

1,744

3,043

of € 1,104 million (previous year: € 1,326 million), profit partic-

273

403

ipation capital of € 433 million (previous year: € 966 million)

Trading transactions

1

1

and holdings carried as silent participations of € 1,341 million

Other liabilities

6

8

(previous year: € 1,720 million).

13,833

22,786

18,918

31,112

4,573

7,686

599

–

Subordinated liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Interest expenses
Of which attributable to financial
instruments not categorised as hft or
dfv according to IAS 39
Net income from reestimating interest
and redemtion cash flows
Net income from discounting and compounding

The cumulative net income on hybrid financial instruments is
€ 375 million (previous year: € 0 million), which used € 599
million for net income from reestimating interest and redemtion
cash flows (previous year: € 0 million) as a result of current
and expected participation in loss by investors, and € 224 mil-

-224

–

lion for net loss from discounting and compounding (previous

Net income on hybrid financial instruments

375

–

year: € 0 million).

Of which attributable to financial
instruments not categorised as hft or
dfv according to IAS 39

375

–

2,121

2,051

Total

The total of current participation in losses (not allowing for
anticipated write-ups) relating to the 2009 financial year was
€ 400 million (previous year: € 0 million).
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The difference between valuation for tax purposes and valuation under IAS 39.AG8 results in deferred taxes of € 13 million
(previous year: € 0 million).

9. Loan loss provisions

Loan loss provisions
(¤ m)

2009

2008

3,482

1,917

922

414

Direct write-downs

70

14

Payments received on loans and advances
previously written down

40

37

651

426

Expenses from allocations to loan loss
provisions
Income from releases of loan loss provisions

Expenses from allocations to provisions
in the lending business
Income from releases of provisions
in the lending business
Total

447

18

2,794

1,888

Loan loss provisions in on-balance-sheet lending business relate
exclusively to loans and advances to banks and customers categorised as lar.
Additions to and release of loan loss provisions include net
individual valuation allowances for loans and advances to banks
and customers of € 2,081 million (previous year: € 1,191 million) and portfolio valuation allowances for loans and advances
to banks and customers of € 479 million (previous year: € 314
million).
Additions to and release of provisions in the lending business
include net new specific loan loss provisions for contingent liabilities and loan commitments totalling € 77 million (previous
year: € 285 million); a specific loan loss provision for other lending risks was formed in the amount of € 130 million (previous
year: € 5 million). Net portfolio valuation allowances totalled
€ 22 million (previous year: € 535 million). Portfolio valuation
allowances for loan commitments were released in the amount
of € 25 million (previous year: € 66 million).

Direct write-downs of € 70 million (previous year: € 14 million)
related entirely to loans and advances to customers.
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10. Net commission income

Net commission income
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Of net commission income, € 152 million (previous year:
€ 277 million) was incurred by financial instruments measured
at fair value not recognised in profit or loss. € 59 million

Commission income from
Lending business

(previous year: € 7 million) was accounted for by financial instru121

195

Securities business

43

51

Guarantee business

51

61

Foreign business

15

18

Payments and account transactions

7

7

66

66

303

398

Lending business

23

23

Securities business

30

39

Guarantee business

1

21

Foreign business

5

3

Payments and account transactions

2

3

31

39

Other fees and commission income
Commission income
Commission expenses from

Other commission expenses
Commission expense
Total

92

128

211

270

11. Gains on hedging

The change in value attributable to the hedged risk for designated underlying and hedging transactions in effective hedging
relationships is reported in gains on hedging. The item contains the corresponding profit contributions from micro and
portfolio fair value hedges.
Gains on hedging
(¤ m)

Fair value changes from hedging
transactions
Micro fair value hedge
Portfolio fair value hedge
Fair value changes from underlyings
Micro fair value hedge
Portfolio fair value hedge
Total

2009

2008

580

750

87

10

493

740

-434

-765

-84

-24

-350

-741

146

-15

ments measured at fair value and recognised in the income
statement.
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12. Net trading income

Net trading income comprises realised income / loss and the

Income from foreign exchange transactions, credit derivatives

valuation result for financial instruments in the categories of

and commodities is stated under other products. Gains and

held for trading (hft) and designated at fair value (dfv). Interest

losses on currency conversion are also stated under this item.

income and expenses for financial instruments of these categories are shown under net interest income.

Net trading income
(¤ m)

Bonds and interest
rate derivatives

Equities and equity
derivatives

2009

2008

2009

Other products

2008

2009

2008

Total
2009

2008

Realised net income
Held for trading

216

-204

-4

3

-110

102

102

-99

-303

-181

-1

-5

2

12

-302

-174

-87

-385

-5

-2

-108

114

-200

-273

497

-1,125

42

-291

304

4

843

-1,412

66

192

-140

141

-1

225

-75

558

Subtotal

563

-933

-98

-150

303

229

768

-854

Total

476

-1,318

-103

-152

195

343

568

-1,127

Designated at fair value
Subtotal
Valuation result
Held for trading
Designated at fair value

The growth of the net trading income is primarily due to the

The parameters used in mark-to-model calculation of fair val-

sustained recovery in the financial markets.

ues (credit spread curves) were further developed in the period
under review. The adjustments made lead to a more adequate

In the financial year, € 486 million (previous year: € − 765

calculation of fair values. This particularly affects net trading

million) of the changes in fair value of the financial assets cate-

income from assets categorised as dfv. At the adjustment date

gorised as designated at fair value (dfv) related to changes in

1 October 2009, adjustments compared to using the former pa-

the credit spread rather than changes in market interest rates. In

rameters resulted in income of € 136 million.

cumulative terms, as at 31 December 2009 a total of € − 809
million (previous year: € − 1,223 million) was attributable to

Net trading income includes net income from foreign currency

changes in the credit spread.

of € 51 million (previous year: € 1 million).

For liabilities categorised as designated at fair value (dfv), the
fair value changes in the financial year attributable to changes
in the credit spread rather than changes in market interest
rates amounted to € 1 million (previous year: € 331 million) in
the period under review. In cumulative terms, as at 31 December 2009 a total of € 342 million (previous year: € 342 million) was attributable to changes in the credit spread.
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13. Net income from financial investments

In addition to any realised gains and losses from financial
investments categorised as loans and receivables (lar) and available for sale (afs), write-downs and write-ups and portfolio
impairment allowances are reported under this item. In the case
of financial investments categorised as available for sale (afs),
write-ups are only recognised in the income statement for debt
instruments up to a maximum of the amortised cost.
Net income from financial investments
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Categorised as afs
Realised gains / losses (-)
Amortisation
Write-ups
Total

63

-20

188

314

31

–

-94

-334

Lar holdings
Realised gains / losses (-)

26

-3

Amortisation

194

618

Write-ups

135

109

-33

-512

Additions to portfolio valuation allowance

Total

56

210

Releases of portfolio value allowance

77

34

-106

-1,022

Total

In the year under review equity instruments categorised as afs
not measured at fair value with a carrying value of € 95 million (previous year: € 1,242 million) were booked out, leaving
realised gains of € 3 million (previous year: € 28 million).
Remaining transactions of this kind were written down by
€ 162 million (previous year: € 164 million).
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14. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Personnel expenses

388

412

Operating expenses

403

444

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment and amortisation on intangible assets

39

43

830

899

Operating expense
(¤ m)

IT costs

2009

2008

148

129

Costs of external services and project work

68

68

Expenses for land and buildings

60

50

Obligatory contributions and related
to corporate law expenses

20

35

Legal service costs

21

24

The depreciation does not contain any amortisation of good-

Costs of advertising, PR and promotional
work

11

16

will. Any such amortisation are stated in other operating

Expenses on property, plant and equipment

income (see Note [15]).

Other expenses

Total

Total

Personnel expense
(¤ m)

2009

2008

328

341

2

3

73

119

403

444

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment and intangibles broke down as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions

42

44

Expenditure for pensions and support

18

27

388

412

Total

Depreciation
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Scheduled depreciation on

Without taking into account benefits from statutory pension

Plant and equipment

8

11

systems the expenditure for defined contribution plans

Property

11

10

amounted in the 2009 financial year € 3 million (previous

Acquired software

11

13

year: € 2 million).

Software developed in-house

6

5

Leasing assets

1

1

Detailed information on expenses for pension plans and benefits is provided in Note (41).

Non-scheduled depreciation on
Property
Total

2

3

39

43

€ 10 million (previous year: € 9 million) of scheduled depreciation is on investment properties. € 2 million (previous year:
€ 3 million) of non-scheduled depreciation is on investment
properties.
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15. Other operating income

Other operating income
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Amortisation of goodwill

59

141

Income from release of other provisions
and liabilities

52

44

Amortisation of goodwill totalling € 59 million (previous year:
€ 141 million) is attributed to the Regional banking segment.
In the previous year this primarily involved goodwill of € 87

Rental income from investment properties

26

22

Expenses from additions to other provisions

10

88

Income from leasing transactions

2

2

Expenses on investment properties

1

5

Income from write-ups on property, plant
and equipment and investment properties

1

1

Income from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Income from casinos

-3

2

–

36

Other income and expenses (net)

22

-39

Total

30

-166

2009

2008

Personnel expenses

71

122

Operating expenses

103

50

16. Result from restructuring

Result from restructuring
(¤ m)

Income from release of provisions and
liabilities in the personnel area
Total

50

–

-124

-172

million in the Regional banking segment and € 46 million in
the Other segment.
Rental income on investment properties is the result of operating leasing.
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17. Expenses for government guarantees

Expenses for government guarantees
(¤ m)

2009

2008

In the previous year, total expense for government guarantees
recognised in interest expense was € 5 million only, and
related exclusively to the SoFFin guarantees used since end-

Special Fund for Financial Market
Stabilisation

118

–

HSH Finanzfonds AöR

365

–

Total

483

–

2009

2008

November 2008.

18. Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses
(¤ m)

Tax expenses
(¤ m / %)

Corporate tax and solidarity surcharge
Domestic
Foreign

81

-20

-68

37

Trade tax
Domestic
Foreign
Other income tax

22

67

–

–

1

–

Current income tax

36

84

Income tax from previous years

36

-2

Other income tax from previous years

Tax expenses have developed as follows:

2009

2008

Group net loss for the year

-679

-2,844

Income tax expenses

-423

227

-1,102

-2,617

31.61

31.63

-348

-828

Previously unrecognised tax losses

36

878

Differing effective tax rates in Domestic
and abroad

Income before taxes incl. income from
transfer of losses
Domestic income tax rate to be applied in %
Imputed income tax expenses in the
financial year
Tax effects due to

1

–

73

82

29

175

-496

145

Non-deductible expenses

24

36

Subtotal deferred tax

-496

145

Corrections to trade earnings

11

42

Total

-423

227

Changes in tax rate

–

3

Subtotal current income tax
Income from deffered tax
From temporary differences

Taxes for previous years
Tax-free income

Taxes for previous years amounting to approximately € 37 million depend essentially on counteractive effects relating to

Devaluation and other effects
Total tax expense

12

-120

-175

-191

-12

232

-423

227

domestic corporate tax and trade tax (dissolution of receivables
against the tax authorities as a consequence of tax field audits)
and subsequent income tax payments abroad.

In calculating taxes for 2009, a rate of 31.61 % (previous year:
31.63 %) was assumed for domestic income tax rate due to the
change in the trade tax rate.
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In the previous year, the item devaluation and other effects

year: increase of € 147 million) and an increase in deferred

included € 200 million, which resulted out of the devaluation

tax assets in retained profits of € 14 million (previous year: in-

of deferred tax assets due to an adjusted coporate planning.

crease in deffered tax obligiations of € 31 million). Of the

This effect was reduced in the period under review by € 25 mil-

taxes in retained earnings, € 14 million (previous year: € 26

lion to € 175 million.

million) relates to actuarial gains and losses.

As at 31 December 2009, the following changes not recognised

The difference between valuation for tax purposes and valua-

in the income statement were made: a reduction of deferred

tion under IAS 39.AG8 results in deferred taxes of € 13 million

tax assets in the revaluation reserve of € 101 million (previous

(previous year: € 0 million).

19. Income from the assumption of losses

Prorated participations in the loss for the financial year are

end-2009, so that their participation in loss could be deter-

recognised as income from assumption of losses. These arose

mined, and a convertible bond which will be converted into

out of profit and loss participation rights which expired at

ordinary shares in 2010 in a non-cash transaction.

20. Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprises net

The loan loss provisions formed in the year under review for

trading income and net income from financial investments

business shown on the statement of financial position is

together with loan loss provisions for business shown on the

included in this presentation for the first time. The realised net

statement of financial position, broken down into IAS 39

income from redeemed own issues, which is part of net inter-

categories.

est income, is no longer taken into account in determining net
gains and losses, in contrast to the previous year.

Net gains and losses from financial
instruments
(¤ m)

2009

2008

The decrease in fair value changes cumulated in equity associated with value adjustments and sales of financial instruments

Designated at fair value (dfv)
Available for sale (afs)
Loans and receivables (lar)
Held for trading (hft)
Total

-377

384

-94

-334

-2,602

-2,168

945

-1,511

-2,128

-3,629

categorised as afs is shown in Note (47).
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21. Earnings per share

To calculate earnings per share, the Group net income attrib
utable to HSH Nordbank shareholders is divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period under review. The calculation was based on
non-rounded values.
Earnings per share

2009

2008

Attributable Group net income (¤ m) –
undiluted

-670

-2,809

Dilution effects from: convertible bonds

-159

-351

Attributable Group net income (¤ m) –
diluted

-829

-3,160

Average number of ordinary shares outstanding – undiluted

171

77

Dilution effects from: convertible bonds

17

6

Potential number of diluting ordinary shares

17

6

188

83

Number of shares (millions)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding adjusted for assumed
conversion – diluted

In ¤
Earnings per share (undiluted)

-3.93

-36.63

Earnings per share (diluted)

-4.41

-38.07
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22. Cash reserve

Cash reserve
(¤ m)

Cash on hand
Balances at central banks
Of which: at the Deutsche Bundesbank
Treasury bills, discounted treasury Notes
and similar debt instruments issued
by public-sector institutions
Of which: eligible for discounting at the
Deutsche Bundesbank
Bills of exchange
Total

2009

2008

11

14

967

1,125

655

972

318

260

278

249

–

20

1,296

1,419

23. Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to banks
(¤ m)

Due daily

2009

2008

Domestic

Foreign

Total

Domestic

Foreign

Total

914

4,835

5,749

1,960

4,110

6,070

Other loans and advances

5,411

4,381

9,792

8,048

9,222

17,270

Total before loan loss provisions

6,325

9,216

15,541

10,008

13,332

23,340

Loan loss provisions
Total after loan loss provisions

1

369

370

2

408

410

6,324

8,847

15,171

10,006

12,924

22,930

Of loans and advances to banks, the amount of € 4,493 million
(previous year: € 7,958 million) has a residual maturity of more
than one year. Loans and advances to banks include money
market transactions in the amount of € 3,831 million (previous
year: € 4,127 million).
Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements are
summarised in Note (57).
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24. Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers
(¤ m)

2009
Domestic

Foreign

Total

2008
Domestic

Foreign

Total

Retail customers

2,391

190

2,581

2,457

629

3,086

Corporate clients

41,599

56,568

98,167

42,237

61,702

103,939

Public authorities
Total before loan loss provisions
Loan loss provisions
Total after loan loss provisions

9,154

655

9,809

9,818

767

10,585

53,144

57,413

110,557

54,512

63,098

117,610

2,057

2,291

4,348

1,329

1,012

2,341

51,087

55,122

106,209

53,183

62,086

115,269

Of loans and advances to customers, the amount of € 78,605
million (previous year: € 91,280 million) has a residual matu-

Loans and advances to customers – collateral
(¤ m)

2009

2008

rity of more than one year.
Local authority loans

12,033

13,064

Loans and advances to customers include money market trans-

Loans secured by real estate

13,241

14,177

actions in the amount of € 435 million (previous year: € 569

Loans secured by ship mortgages

13,420

17,426

million).

Other loans and advances

71,863

72,943

110,557

117,610

Total

Loans and advances to customers include receivables under
finance lease transactions in the amount of € 252 million (previous year: € 321 million). The gross investment value of the

Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements can be

leases is € 249 million (previous year: € 320 million). Further

found in Note (57).

details on the leasing business can be found in Note (56).

25. Loan loss provisions

Loan loss provisions
(¤ m)

Loans and advances to banks

2009

2008

370

410

Loans and advances to customers

4,348

2,341

Loan loss provisions for items in the
statement of financial position

4,718

2,751

Provisions in the lending business
Total

663

472

5,381

3,223
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The development of loan loss provisions for banks during the
period under review was as follows:

Development of loan loss provisions for banks
(¤ m)

Individual valuation
allowances
2009

Portfolio valuation
allowances

2008

2009

Total

2008

2009

2008

As at 1 January

362

–

48

7

410

7

Additions

106

362

3

41

109

403

Releases

85

–

44

–

129

–

Utilisation

14

–

–

–

14

–

Reclassifications

-3

–

–

–

-3

–

-3

–

–

–

-3

–

363

362

7

48

370

410

Unwinding
As at 31 December

Development of loan loss provisions for customers during the
financial year was as follows:

Development of loan loss provisions for customers
(¤ m)

Individual valuation
allowances
2009

2008

As at 1 January

1,670

1,121

Additions

2,736

1,230

Releases

676

403

Utilisation

447

Reclassifications
Unwinding
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Exchange rate changes
As at 31 December

The value adjustments relate exclusively to items categorised
as loans and receivables (lar). The total volume of loans
impaired in the 2009 financial year amounted to € 9,819
million (previous year: € 5,500 million).
Reclassifications in individual valuation allowances relate to
€ 2 million in provisions from the lending business. In
addition, € 2 million was reclassified to financial investments.

Portfolio valuation
allowances
2009

Total

2008

2009

2008

671

401

2,341

1,522

637

284

3,373

1,514

117

11

793

414

257

–

–

447

257

-1

–

–

–

-1

–

-108

-36

–

–

-108

-36
6

–

6

–

–

–

-9

9

-8

-3

-17

6

3,165

1,670

1,183

671

4,348

2,341
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26. Positive fair values of hedging derivatives

This item shows the positive fair value of derivatives used
in hedge accounting. At present only interest swaps and interest
rate currency swaps are taken into account as hedging instruments. If a derivative is only partially designated under hedge
accounting, this item contains the corresponding share of
that derivative’s fair value. In these cases, the remainder is stated
under liabilities held for trading. Hedge accounting is used
solely for interest rate risks.
Positive fair values of hedging derivatives
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Positive fair value of derivatives used in
micro fair value hedges

452

270

Positive fair value of derivatives used in
portfolio fair value hedges

1,232

2,537

Total

1,684

2,807

Loans and advances to banks include transactions in the
amount of € 1,544 million (previous year: € 2,699 million) with
residual maturity of more than one year.
Changes in this item are directly related to changes in the item
negative fair values of hedging derivatives. Overall changes
in the two items reflect both a change in portfolio composition
and movements in interest rates in the USD and EUR capital
markets.
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27. Assets held for trading

Only financial assets categorised as hft are stated under assets

Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements can be

held for trading. Mainly included in this category are original

found in Note (57).

financial instruments held for trading purposes, including
accrued interest, and derivatives with a positive fair value which

The decrease in assets held for trading in 2009 is mainly due to

are either not designated as a hedge derivative or are used

the reduction in holdings of securities and derivatives.

as hedging instruments but do not meet the requirements of
IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
Assets held for trading
(¤ m)

2009

2008

–

176

Money market instruments
From other issuers
Negotiable and listed
Money market instruments

–

176

–

176

1,077

2,416

1,077

1,993

Bonds and debentures
From public-sector issuers
Negotiable and listed
Negotiable and not listed
From other issuers
Negotiable and listed
Negotiable and not listed

–

423

1,956

4,683

1,756

3,959

200

724

Bonds and debentures

3,033

7,099

Bonds and other fixed-interest securities

3,033

7,275

16

32

9

92

11

1

36

125

Equities and other non-fixed-interest
securities
Negotiable and listed
Negotiable and not listed
Not negotiable
Equities and other non-fixed-interest
securities
Positive fair value of financial derivatives
Interest rate-related business

12,461

13,436

Currency-related business

691

4,240

Other business

606

1,160

13,758

18,836

Positive fair value of financial derivatives
Other, including loan Notes held for trading
Total

52

419

16,879

26,655

Assets held for trading include € 13,744 million (previous year:
€ 19,129 million) of assets with residual maturity of more than
one year.
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28. Financial investments

Financial instruments include specifically financial instru-

This portfolio also contains equities and other non-fixed-inter-

ments not held for trading categorised as lar and, to a lesser

est securities categorised as afs and measured at cost in the

extent, as afs and dfv. This item includes bonds and other

amount of € 488 million (previous year: € 334 million). In view

fixed-interest securities, equities and other non-fixed-interest

of the current inactive market, there are no plans to sell these

securities, holdings in unconsolidated affiliated companies,

securities.

holdings in joint ventures and associated companies not carried at equity in the Group financial statements.

Financial investments include € 27,253 million (previous year:
€ 32,513 million) of assets with residual maturity of more than

Financial investments
(¤ m)

2009

2008

one year.
Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements can be

Bonds and other fixed-interest securities
lnegotiable and listed
lnegotiable and not listed
Equities and other non-fixed-interest
securities
lnegotiable and listed
lnegotiable and not listed
Equity holdings
lnegotiable and listed
lnegotiable and not listed
Interests in associates

27,819

34,455

22,231

23,147

5,588

11,308

803

956

46

71

619

615

885

940

8

10

90

249

225

160

lnegotiable and listed

–

–

lnegotiable and not listed

1

1

29,732

36,511

Total

Individual valuation allowances amount to € 777 million
(previous year: € 1,135 million) on bonds and other fixed-interest securities and amount to € 33 million (previous year:
0 million) on equities and other non-fixed-interest securities.
Portfolio valuation allowances amounted to € 233 million
(previous year: € 255 million).
Changes in individual and portfolio valuation allowances are
recognised directly in net income from financial investments.
Equity capital instruments measured at cost in the category afs,
relating to holdings in affiliated companies and equity holdings, amounted to € 1,102 million (previous year: € 1,089 million). There are currently no plans to sell these equity capital
instruments.

found in Note (57).
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(¤ m)

Cost of acquisition as at 1 January 2009

Group financial statements

Equity
holdings

Interests
in affiliated
companies

Total

1,161

189

1,350

Additions

227

111

338

Disposals

90

63

153

-111

56

-55

-1

–

-1

–

31

31

Reclassifications
Exchange rate changes
Changes in the scope of consolidation

1,186

324

1,510

Impairment loss as at 1 January 2009

As at 31 December 2009

221

29

250

Additions

110

52

162

Disposals
Reclassifications
Write-ups
Changes in the scope of consolidation

3

36

39

-24

23

-1

-3

–

-3

–

31

31

As at 31 December 2009

301

99

400

Carrying value as at 31 December 2009

885

225

1,110

Carrying value as at 1 January 2009

940

160

1,100

Equity
holdings

Interests
in affiliated
companies

Total

Developments in equity holdings and interests in affiliated companies 2008
(¤ m)

2,073

107

2,180

Additions

Cost of acquisition as at 1 January 2008

238

121

359

Disposals

1,193

85

1,278

40

2

42

Exchange rate changes

1

–

1

Changes in the scope of consolidation

2

44

46

1,161

189

1,350

76

3

79

Additions

145

19

164

Disposals

–

2

2

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

9

9

Reclassifications

As at 31 December 2008
Impairment loss as at 1 January 2008

As at 31 December 2008

221

29

250

Carrying value as at 31 December 2008

940

160

1,100

1,997

104

2,101

Carrying value as at 1 January 2008
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Reclassifications in equity holdings include equity holdings of

companies are shown in the full list of shareholdings, which

€ 54 million which were transferred to the item “Non-current

can be seen on the Internet at www.ebundesanzeiger.de.

assets held for sale and disposal groups”. There are also net

The following financial information relates to the associated

reclassifications of € 33 million from equity holdings and inter-

companies and joint ventures of the HSH Nordbank Group.

ests in affiliated companies.
Reclassifications in equity holdings and interests in affiliated

Associated companies / joint ventures
(¤ m)

2009

2008

companies in the previous year include equity holdings and
interests amounting to € 34 million which were held for sale

Total assets

but could not be sold on adequate terms. In addition, there

Total liabilities

was a reclassification of € 16 million from equities and other

Net income / loss

1,066

1,690

816

1,136

1

197

fixed-interest securities. In the course of 2008, an equity holding of € 8 million was reclassified to “Non-current assets held

In the previous year the net income/loss included one-time

for sale” which was sold in the fourth quarter of 2008

effects of € 174 million, including € 35 million received at the

and had a contrary effect to the other two reclassifications.

time the claim arose by the HSH Nordbank Group based on
the interest in the relevant companies.

The HSH Nordbank Group holds shares in 99 associated companies and joint ventures that are not consolidated at equity
but treated as equity holdings in accordance with IAS 39. The

29. Intangible assets

Intangible assets mainly comprises software acquired or developed in-house and acquired goodwill.
Intangible assets
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Goodwill

76

135

Software

73

54

Developed in-house

43

23

Acquired

30

31

Software in development

31

40

Developed in-house

22

34

Acquired
Other intangible assets
Total

9

6

17

17

197

246
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Changes in the carrying value of intangible assets are shown
below:

Software

Development in intangible assets 2009
(¤ m)

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2009

Software in
development

Goodwill

Software
produced
in-house

Acquired
software

Software
produced
in-house

Acquired
software

Other intangible
assets

Total

297

33

158

34

6

17

545

Additions

–

2

8

14

9

–

33

Disposals

–

–

2

2

4

–

8

Reclassifications

–

24

2

-24

-2

–

–

Changes in the scope of consolidation

-24

–

–

–

–

–

-24

As at 31 December 2009

273

59

166

22

9

17

546

Amortisation as at 1 January 2009

162

10

127

–

–

–

299

Additions

59

6

11

–

–

–

76

Disposals

–

–

2

–

–

–

2

Changes in the scope of consolidation

-24

–

–

–

–

–

-24

As at 31 December 2009

197

16

136

–

–

–

349

76

43

30

22

9

17

197

135

23

31

34

6

17

246

Other intangible
assets

Total

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2009
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2009

Software

Software in
development

Goodwill

Software
produced
in-house

Acquired
software

Software
produced
in-house

Acquired
software

295

33

142

12

6

–

488

–

–

16

23

6

–

45

Disposals

6

–

7

1

–

–

14

Reclassifications

–

–

6

–

-6

–

–

Changes in the scope of consolidation

8

–

1

–

–

17

26

297

33

158

34

6

17

545

23

5

120

–

–

–

148

Additions

145

5

13

–

–

–

163

Disposals

6

–

6

–

–

–

12

As at 31 December 2008

162

10

127

–

–

–

299

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2008

135

23

31

34

6

17

246

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2008

272

28

22

12

6

–

340

Development in intangible assets 2008
(¤ m)

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2008
Additions

As at 31 December 2008
Amortisation as at 1 January 2008
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The changes in goodwill relate to the Spielbanken which were

In the previous year impairment losses of € 145 million were

deconsolidated as at 1 January 2009.

recognised. These included mainly impairment losses on goodwill in the cash-generating units Real Estate (in the Regional

In the course of the annual impairment test of goodwill under

banking segment) and Financial Markets & Institutions (Other

IAS 36 a need was identified to recognise an impairment

new segment) of € 87 million and € 46 million respectively.

loss based on measurement of the value in use of goodwill

There was also amortisation of € 4 million in connection with

attributed to Corporates & Private Banking as the cash-generat-

the reorganisation which was recognised in restructuring

ing unit. The cash-generating unit Corporates & Private

expenses.

Banking was incorporated into the Regional banking segment
after the modification of the segment structure. As a result

Other intangible assets were attributed to the Regional banking

of the impairment test, the attributed goodwill of € 59 million

segment as the cash-generating unit.

was written off in full as at 31 December 2009. Of the remaining goodwill as at 31 December 2009 after impairment,

Research costs of € 1 million (previous year: € 0 million)

€ 56 million was attributed to the Transportation & Energy

were incurred in connection with the installation of software

cash-generating unit (in the specialist banking segment under

developed in-house.

the new structure) and € 20 million to the Real Estate cashgenerating unit (in the Regional banking segment under the new
structure).

30. Property, plant and equipment and investment properties

Land and buildings, operating equipment and leased assets
under operating leases where HSH Nordbank Group acts as les-

Investment properties
(¤ m)

2009

2008

sor are stated under this item.
Property, plant and equipment
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Land and buildings

44

48

Operating equipment

37

47

Investment properties

316

285

Total

316

285

The fair value of investment properties amounted to € 336 mil-

Assets under construction
Leased assets
Total

2

–

18

19

101

114

Further details on the existing leasing business can be found in
Note (56).
Investment properties are properties held to earn rental
income or make capital gains but not used for own operations.
Real estate leased as lessor in the operating leasing business
is also included in this item.

lion (previous year: € 298 million).
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The development in property, plant and equipment and investment properties in the financial year was as follows:
Development in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties 2009
(¤ m)

Cost of acquisition as at 1 January 2009

Land and
buildings

Operating
equipment

Assets under
construction

Investment
properties

Leased assets

22

59

100

–

353

Additions

–

2

2

40

–

Disposals

–

6

–

1

–

Reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation

-3

–

–

1

–

–

-13

–

–

–
22

As at 31 December 2009

56

83

2

393

Impairment loss as at 1 January 2009

11

53

–

68

3

1

8

–

12

1

Additions
Disposals

–

4

–

–

–

Reclassifications

–

–

–

-2

–

Write-ups

–

–

–

-1

–

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

-11

–

–

–

As at 31 December 2009

12

46

–

77

4

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2009

44

37

2

316

18

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2009

48

47

–

285

19

Land and buildings in the amount of € 3 million were reclassi-

assets held for sale and disposal groups” and sold in the fourth

fied as investment properties.

quarter.

In addition, a property with a carrying amount of € 2 million

Additions to investment properties resulted mainly from acqui-

was reclassified from investment properties to “non-current

sitions in the financial year.

Development in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties 2008
(¤ m)

Cost of acquisition as at 1 January 2008

Land and
buildings

Operating
equipment

Assets under
construction

Investment
properties

Leased assets

21

59

97

–

303

Additions

–

10

–

20

–

Disposals

–

8

–

1

–

Reclassifications

–

1

–

31

–

–

–

–

–

1

As at 31 December 2008

Exchange rate changes

59

100

–

353

22

Impairment loss as at 1 January 2008

10

48

–

45

2

1

11

–

12

1

Additions
Disposals

–

7

–

–

–

Reclassifications

–

1

–

11

–

As at 31 December 2008

11

53

–

68

3

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2008

48

47

–

285

19

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2008

49

49

–

258

19
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31. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups
(¤ m)

The item includes the holdings of the transactions Omega 52
2009

2008

98

–

330

–

Financial investments

63

–

Other assets held for trading

86

–

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

Derivative assets held for trading
Total

9

–

586

–

2009

2008

535

32. Current tax assets

Current tax assets
(¤ m)

Domestic

408

Foreign

110

37

Total

518

572

and 55, which were liquidated in January 2010.
This item also contains other disposal groups and financial
investments which will be sold with a high degree of probability in the upcoming twelve months in the course of the strategic realignment.
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33. Deferred tax assets

Deferred taxes arose due to temporary differences in the fol-

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards were recognised

lowing items in the statement of financial position and tax loss

in the amount of € 132 million (previous year: € 80 million).

carryforwards:

Based on HSH Nordbank Group’s medium term planning there
are convincing substantial indications justifying the conclu-

Deferred tax assets
(¤ m)

2008

215

7

wards in the amount of € 2,696 million (previous year: € 2,894

1

2

million) for which no deferred tax assets had been created.

384

111

2,015

–

1

–

409

242

Assets
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loan loss provisions
Assets held for trading
Positive adjustment item from portfolio fair
value hedges
Financial investments
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets

5

4

255

356

–

3

Liabilities to customers

2

2

–

25

3,018

2,764

159

558

Negative fair values attributable to
derivative hedging instruments
Negative adjustment item from portfolio
fair value hedges

343

366

Provisions

304

448

Other liabilities

153

521

Tax losses carried forward

132

80

7,396

5,489

-6,185

-4,763

1,211

726

Subtotal for deferred tax assets
Netting off deferred tax obligations
Total

In the financial year the procedure for determining deferred
taxes was switched to an itemised approach. As the statement
of financial position for tax purposes does not allow redeemed
own securities to be offset against securitised liabilities, this results in a shift compared with the previous year’s presentation
between deferred tax assets on assets held for trading and deferred tax liabilities on assets held for trading and securitised
liabilities.

Of deferred tax assets, € 1,107 million (previous year: € 606
million) were incurred domestically and € 104 million (previous year: € 120 million) abroad.
The difference between the valuation for tax purposes and the
valuation under IAS 39.AG8 results in deferred taxes of € 15

Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading

to use the available tax loss carryforwards.
At the reporting date, there were also unused tax loss carryfor-

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

sion that the Bank will in future have adequate taxable income

2009

million (previous year: € 0 million).
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34. Other assets

Other assets
(¤ m)

Receivable from participations and affiliates

2009

2008

96

16
57

Accrued income

69

Tenant loans

12

9

Receivables from fund transactions

10

17

4

19

Receivables from miscellaneous taxes
Other receivables from securities commission
transactions

–

3

Other assets

147

288

Total

338

409

Other assets include € 80 million (previous year: € 170 million)
of assets with residual maturity of more than one year.

35. Liabilities to banks

Liabilities to banks
(¤ m)

Due daily

2009
Domestic

Foreign

Total

2008
Domestic

Foreign

Total

1,329

1,324

2,653

2,001

5,762

7,763

Other term liabilities

27,636

8,302

35,938

40,180

13,555

53,735

Total

28,965

9,626

38,591

42,181

19,317

61,498

The decrease in liabilities to banks is due primarily to lower
need for refinancing.
Loans and advances to banks include transactions in the
amount of € 14,119 million (previous year: € 16,831 million)
with residual maturity of more than one year.
The difference between the carrying value of liabilities designated at fair value and their par value, which indicates
the contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date,
amounted in this financial year to € − 6 million (previous
year: € 24 million).
Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements can be
found in Note (57).

notes on the statement of financial position

Group financial statements

36. Liabilities to customers

Liabilities to customers by customer group
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Corporate clients

45,828

47,701

Public authorities

3,044

3,648

931

1,120

49,803

52,469

Retail customers
Total

Liabilities to customers
(¤ m)

2009
Domestic

2008

Foreign

Total

Domestic

Foreign

Total

78

2

80

2

–

2

86

2

88

2

–

2

Savings deposits with agreed notice periods of
3 months
> 3 months
Other liabilities
Due daily
Term liabilities
Total

9,239

1,135

10,374

6,283

2,819

9,102

35,908

3,439

39,347

38,520

4,757

43,277

45,227

4,576

49,803

44,891

7,578

52,469

Loans and advances to customers include transactions in the
amount of € 21,812 million (previous year: € 24,011 million)
with residual maturity of more than one year.
The difference between the carrying value of liabilities designated at fair value and their par value, which indicates the contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date,
amounted in this financial year to € 441 million (previous year:
€ 386 million).
Details of securities lending and repurchase agreements can be
found in Note (57).
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37. Securitised liabilities

Securitised liabilities
(¤ m)

2009

2008

52,302

53,499

Money market securities issued

205

3,863

Other securitised liabilities

614

838

53,121

58,200

The securitised liabilities contain repurchased own debentures
in the amount of € 15,254 million (previous year: € 13,256
million) and own money market securities in the amount of

Bonds issued

Total

€ 156 million (previous year: € 1,418 million). There were
no redeemed own securitised liabilities in the year under review
(previous year: € 7 million). The decrease in issued money
market securities in 2009 is due to the scheduled expiration of
transactions.

Securitised liabilities include € 39,068 million (previous year:

The difference between the carrying value of securitised liabili-

€ 41,253 million) of liabilities with residual maturity of more

ties categorised as dfv and their par value, which indicates

than one year.

the contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date,

The bonds issued include € 1,104 million of hybrid financial

(previous year: € 279 million).

amounted in the 2009 financial year to € − 274 million
instruments (previous year: € 1,326 million, see Note 7.I.E).

38. Negative fair values of hedging derivatives

This item shows the negative fair value of derivatives used

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives include transactions

in hedge accounting. At present only interest rate and interest

in the amount of € 493 million (previous year: € 2,063 million)

rate currency swaps are taken into account as hedging in-

with residual maturity of more than one year.

struments. If a derivative is only partially designated under
hedge accounting, this item contains the corresponding

Changes in this item are directly related to changes in the item

share of that derivative’s fair value. In these cases, the remain-

positive fair values of hedging derivatives. Overall changes

der is stated under liabilities held for trading. Hedge account-

in the two items reflect both a change in portfolio composition

ing is used solely for interest rate risk.

and movements in interest rates in the USD and EUR capital
markets.

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Negative fair value of derivatives used in
micro fair value hedges

282

397

Negative fair value of derivatives used in
portfolio fair value hedges

235

1,797

Total

517

2,194
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39. Liabilities held for trading

Only financial assets categorised hft are stated under assets held

Assets held for trading include € 12,990 million (previous year:

for trading. Mainly included in this category are derivatives

€ 12,596 million) of assets with residual maturity of more than

with a negative fair value which are either not designated as a

one year.

hedging derivative or are used as hedging instruments but
do not meet the requirements of IAS 39 for hedge accounting.

The decrease in liabilities held for trading in the financial year

Delivery commitments from short sales of securities are also

is mainly due to the reduction in holdings of derivatives.

stated in this category.
Liabilities held for trading
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Negative fair value of financial derivatives
Interest rate-related business

13,500

12,723

Currency-related business

811

3,754

Other business

337

1,228

Commitments to deliver securities
Total

1

74

14,649

17,779

2009

2008

40. Provisions

Provisions
(¤ m)

Changes in pension provisions can be found in Note (41).
Financial investments include € 1,194 million (previous year:

Provisions for pension obligations
taken directly to equity

563

1,008

849

Provisions in the lending business

663

472

Provisions for restructuring

131

131

 rovisions for litigation risks and
P
costs

40

30

individual valuation adjustments on guarantees, warranty bonds

Provisions for personnel expenses

11

23

and letters of credit amounting to € 169 million (previous

163

193

1,619

1,412

Other provisions

Other provisions
Total

€ 1,090 million) of assets with residual maturity of more than

611

one year.
Provisions in the lending business include portfolio valuation
adjustments of € 82 million (previous year: € 60 million) and

year: € 33 million). There are provisions for other credit risks of
€ 140 million (previous year: € 11 million). They also include
€ 58 million (previous year: € 84 million) of portfolio valuation
adjustments and € 214 million (previous year: € 284 million)
of individual valuation adjustments for irrevocable lending commitments.

159

160

HSH Nordbank 2009

Other provisions changed as follows:
For
personnel
expenses

In the
lending
business

For
restructuring

For litigation risks
and costs

Miscellaneous

Total

23

472

131

30

193

849

Additions

8

651

111

13

95

878

Releases

3

447

47

3

44

544

Reclassifications

–

2

-13

–

-7

-18

Changes in exchange rates

-1

-9

–

–

–

-10

Utilisation in the financial year

16

6

51

–

74

147

As at 31 December 2009

11

663

131

40

163

1,008

For
personnel
expenses

In the
lending
business

For
restructuring

For litigation risks
and costs

Miscellaneous

Total

7

61

-

10

92

170

Additions

16

426

132

22

168

764

Releases

–

18

1

2

23

44

Changes in exchange rates

1

3

–

–

–

4

Changes in the scope of consolidation

1

–

–

–

1

2

Utilisation in the financial year

2

–

–

–

45

47

23

472

131

30

193

849

Changes in other provisions 2009
(¤ m)

As at 1 January 2009

Changes in other provisions 2008
(¤ m)

As at 1 January 2008

As at 31 December 2008

Provisions in the lending business include € 2 million in
reclassifications from individual valuation allowances in the
loan loss provisions for banks and customers. € 13 million
of the provisions for restructuring were reclassified in other liabilities for restructuring. Reclassifications from other provisions resulted in a reallocation of liabilities from disposal groups
in the third quarter of 2009, resulting in use of € 5 million.
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41. Pensions and similar obligations

In recognising and measuring direct benefit pension plans, the
net present value is reduced by the fair value of the plan assets.
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
(¤ m)

		
		
2009
2008

Net present value of obligations, wholly or partly financed through funds

2007

21

16

15

Net present value of obligations not financed through funds

602

557

625

Net present value of pensions and similar obligations

623

573

640

Fair value of plan assets
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The net present value of pension provisions has changed as

12

10

10

611

563

630

The fair value of plan assets changed as follows:

follows:
Changes in new present value
(¤ m)

Change in fair value of plan assets
(¤ m)
2009

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January
Net present value as at 1 January

2009

2008

2008

573

640

10

10

Expected return on plan assets

1

1
-2

8

11

Actuarial losses

–

Interest costs

33

34

Employer’s contributions

2

3

Benefits paid

-40

-37

-1

–

Current service cost

Changes from currency conversion
Actuarial gains (-) / losses
One-time expense
Net present value as at 31 December

1

-1

45

-80

3

6

623

573

Benefits paid
Foreign exchange effects
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December

–

-2

12

10

2009

2008

Plan assets break down as follows:
The actuarial gains for the year before deferred taxes amounted
to € 45 million (previous year: € − 80 million). Allowing for

Breakdown of plan assets
(%)

deferred taxes, this gives an amount of € 31 million (previous
year: € 54 million), which was taken directly to retained
earnings. As at 31 December 2009 the balance of actuarial
gains / losses in retained earnings before tax was € 177 million (previous year: € 222 million) and after tax € 118 million
(previous year: € 149 million).

Equities and other non-fixed-interest
securities

42

60

Bonds and other fixed-interest securities

21

17

Real estate

4

6

Other assets

33

17

100

100

Total

161

162
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Actual income from plan assets in the 2009 financial year was

the effects of differences between earlier actuarial assumptions

€ 0 million (previous year: € 1 million).

and actual development.

Adjustments based on experience represent part of the actuarial

The following table shows the effects of adjustments based on

gains and losses of direct benefit pension plans. They show

experience on the plan obligations and plan assets:

Adjustments based on experience
(¤ m)

Adjustments to plan obligations based on experience
Adjustments to plan assets based on experience
Total

Expenses on direct benefit pension plans in the 2009 financial
year were € 45 million (previous year: € 50 million), which
broke down as follows:
Expenses for pensions
(¤ m)

Interest costs

2009

2008

33

34
11

Service cost

8

One-time expense

3

6

Exchange rate changes

1

-1

45

50

Total

Expenses for defined contribution pension plans without taking
into account benefits from statutory pension schemes in
the 2009 financial year were € 3 million (previous year: € 2 million).

2009

2008

2007

-8

-7

19

1

-2

–

-7

-9

19
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42. Liabilities relating to disposal groups

Liabilities relating to disposal groups
(¤ m)

The difference between the carrying value of liabilities desig-

2009

2008

1

–

15

–

3

–

Other liabilities contain financial instruments in the amount

19

–

of € 1 million (previous year: € 0 million).

nated at fair value and their par value, which indicates
the contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date,

Liabilities to banks
Assets held for trading – derivatives
Other liabilities
Total

amounted in this financial year is nil.

Further details on this item are given in Note (31).
The holdings under this item are part of disposal groups classified as such under the strategic realignment.

43. Income tax liabilities

Income tax liabilities
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Income tax liabilities to tax authorities

12

39

Provisions for income taxes

66

62

78

101

Current income tax liabilities:

Total

Liabilities to tax authorities include liabilities on income taxes
due to domestic and foreign tax authorities.
Provisions for income taxes include tax liabilities for which no
legally binding tax assessment notices have been received.
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44. Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities were formed for the following items in

In the financial year the procedure for determining deferred

the statement of financial position:

taxes was switched to an itemised approach. As the statement of financial position for tax purposes does not allow

Deferred tax liabilities
(¤ m)

2009

2008

redeemed own securities to be offset against securitised
liabilities, this results in a shift compared with the previous
year’s presentation between deferred tax assets on assets

Assets
Loans and advances to banks

held for trading and deferred tax liabilities on assets held for
–

165

478

388

Assets held for trading

156

2,727

Positive fair value of hedge derivatives

125

711

Loans and advances to customers

trading and securitised liabilities.
There were no timing differences as of the reporting date for
which deferred tax liabilities had to be recognised.

Positive adjustment item from portfolio
fair value hedges

93

135

Financial investments

94

466

2

–

39

38

€ 2 million (previous year: € 0 million).

Liabilities to banks

72

83

Of deferred tax liabilities, € 91 million (previous year: € 0 mil-

Liabilities to customers

81

21

lion) were incurred domestically and € 2 million (previous year:

4,668

1

Property, plant and equipment
Other assets

The difference between valuation for tax purposes and val
uation under IAS 39.AG8 results in deferred tax liabilities of

Liabilities

Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Other liabilities
Subtotal
Netting off deferred tax assets
Total

7

–

463

52

6,278

4,787

-6,185

-4,763

93

24

2009

2008

€ 24 million) abroad.

45. Other liabilities

Other liabilities
(¤ m)

Other liabilities include € 1,192 million (previous year: € 1,355
million) of liabilities with residual maturity of more than one
year.

Collateral provided for guarantees given

1,186

1,286

Personnel liabilities

54

26

Liabilities for outstanding invoices

42

57

Deferred income

41

56

Liabilities for restructuring

27

10

Other tax liabilities

16

7

Other

217

353

Total

1,583

1,795

The collateral provided for assumed liabilities serves to hedge
leasing payments arising from sale-and-lease-back transactions.
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46. Subordinated capital

Under subordinated capital HSH Nordbank Group states profit-

Subordinated capital includes € 6,630 million (previous year:

sharing certificates, subordinated liabilities and silent par

€ 6,977 million) of assets with residual maturity of more than

ticipations. Based on their contractual structure and financial

one year.

character, the participations of the typical silent partner rep
resent debt; therefore they are stated under subordinated capital.

The difference between the carrying amount of liabilities designated at fair value and their par value, which indicates

Subordinated capital
(¤ m)

the contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date,
2009

2008

amounted in this financial year to € − 17 million (previous
year: € − 24 million).

Subordinated liabilities

5,375

5,518

245

302

Silent participations

1,341

1,720

silent participations and € 433 million (previous year: € 966

Profit participation capital

2,168

2,496

million) for profit participation capital, based on specific

349

827

8,884

9,734

Maturing in less than two years

Maturing in less than two years
Total

The carrying values shown for 2009 are the full amount for

assumptions (see Note 7.I.E).
As at the reporting date 31 December 2009, the following
material subordinated liabilities were in circulation:

Carrying amount of material subordinated
liabilities in circulation
Commencement date

¤m

Million
(currency)

14.2.2007

1,000

1,000

EUR

14.2.2007

776

776

EUR

25.5.2005

296

296

30.6.2005

246

23.5.2005

137

15.10.2002

Issuer

Interest rate %

Maturity

HSH Nordbank

1.01

14.2.2017

HSH Nordbank

4.38

14.2.2017

EUR

HSH Nordbank

3.63

23.12.2015

354

USD

HSH Nordbank

0.42

30.12.2015

137

EUR

HSH Nordbank

1.18

23.12.2015

105

105

EUR

HLB 1)

1.12

15.10.2015

21.3.2001

100

144

USD

HLB 1)

0.66

21.3.2031

30.6.2005

100

100

EUR

HSH Nordbank

1.88

30.12.2015

22.1.2001

92

92

EUR

HLB 1)

1.12

22.1.2041

Bearer securities over ¤ 80 million

25.11.1999

86

86

EUR

HLB 1)

1.10

25.11.2039

30.10.2000

80

80

EUR

HLB 1)

1.10

30.10.2040

106

14,128

JPY

HLB 1)

6.42

26.8.2017

Registered securities over ¤ 80 million
26.8.1997
1)

Hamburgische Landesbank
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As at the reporting date 31 December 2009, there were the
following material silent participations:

Carrying amount of material silent participations
Commencement date

¤m

Million
(currency)

19.2.2002

418

418

EUR

17.6.2005

278

400

24.7.2000

85

85

¤m

Million
(currency)

24.1.2000

26

26

21.5.1999

25

25

17.1.2000

23

9.2.1998

21

Issuer

Interest rate %

Maturity

HSH N
Funding I

7.41

perpetual

USD

HSH N
Funding II

7.25

perpetual

EUR

LBSH 1)

7.63

perpetual

Issuer

Interest rate %

Maturity

EUR

HLB 1)

7.35

31.12.2011

EUR

HLB 1)

5.61

31.12.2009

23

EUR

LBSH 2)

7.05

31.12.2009

42

DEM

HLB 1)

6.28

30.12.2009

Over ¤ 30 million

1)

Landesbank Schleswig-Holstein

As at the reporting date 31 December 2009, there were the
following material profit participation rights:
Carrying amount of material profit participation capital
Commencement date

Registered securities over ¤ 20 million

1)

Hamburgische Landesbank

2)

Landesbank Schleswig-Holstein

There is also a registered profit participation right with a carrying amount of € 1,734 million (previous year: € 1,530 million)
issued by a subsidiary under a structured transaction.
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47. Equity

Equity
(¤ m)

2009

2008

€ 2,460 million (31 December 2008: € 881 million). It is divided
into 246,017,368 registered shares each representing a notional
€ 10 of share capital.

Share capital

2,460

Capital reserve

1,509

88

Retained earnings

1,607

1,354

Gains on pension obligations and
similar obligations not recognised
in the income statement
Deferred taxes on pension obligations
and similar obligations not recognised
in the income statement
Revaluation reserve
Currency conversion reserve
Group net income / loss
Equity before non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests
Total

881

At the reporting date HSH Finanzfonds AöR, held equally by
the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg and the Federal State
of Schleswig-Holstein, is the largest shareholder with a direct

177

222

share of voting rights of 64.18 % (previous year: 0 %). Further
direct and indirect shares in voting rights of the Free and Han-

-59

-73

-356

-562

seatic City of Hamburg as at 31 December 2009 were 10.89 %
(previous year: 30.41 %) and the further direct and indirect shares

-90

-85

of the Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein were 10.43 % (previ-

-670

284

ous year: indirect 29.10 %). The direct share of the Savings Bank

4,460

1,960

31

45

was 5.31 % (previous year: 14.82 %). As at 31 December 2009 the

4,491

2,005

nine groups of investors advised by J. C. Flowers & Co. LLC held

Association for Schleswig-Holstein as at 31 December 2009

9.19 % of the voting rights (previous year: 25.67 %).
In accordance with the package of measures to ensure the

The Management Board is authorised, with the consent of

survival and viability of HSH Nordbank and meet regulatory

the Supervisory Board, to increase the Bank’s share capital before

capital requirements, the shareholders conducted a capital

30 June 2011 by € 174,909,090 in exchange for non-cash

increase in the second quarter of 2009 in line with resolutions

contributions by means of a one-time issue of 17,490,909 new

passed in the State parliaments of Hamburg and Schleswig-

bearer shares of no par value ranking for dividends from

Holstein.

1 January of the year in which the implementation of the capital increase is entered in the Commercial Register (Autho-

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 May 2009

rised Capital 2008 / 1). Neither HSH Nordbank AG nor any com

approved a capital increase for cash of € 3 billion. 157,894,737

pany dependent on it or majority-owned companies hold

new shares were issued, each representing a notional € 10

treasury stock. There is no cross-shareholding as defined by sec-

of share capital, at an issue price of € 19 per share. The agreed

tion 19 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

premium of € 9 per share was added to the capital reserve
in full.

Changes in ordinary shares
(no. of shares)

2009

2008

88,122,631

64,495,640

All the new shares were subscribed by HSH Finanzfonds AöR.
The payment was made in full in June 2009. The capital increase
took effect upon entry in the commercial register on 25 June
2009.

Share capital
The capital increase saw the share capital of the HSH Nordbank
Group as at 31 December 2009 rise by € 1,579 million to

Number at the beginning of
the year
Conversion of non-voting preference shares into ordinary shares

–

5,725,207

Capital increase

157,894,737

17,901,784

Number at end of the period

246,017,368

88,122,631
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Capital reserve

Development of the revaluation reserve
(¤ m)

2009

2008

In the course of the capital increase for cash in the financial
year, the capital reserve rose by € 1,421 million to € 1,509 mil-

As at 1 January

-562

-180

lion (previous year: € 88 million).

Addition / release of revaluation reserve
due to valuation

-115

-622

Premiums realised from the issue of shares above their calculated par value are stated in the capital reserve. Generally,
amounts realised from the issue of bonds for conversion and

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

20

Changes due to foreign currency effects

-4

-12

-681

-794

325

232

9

285

Subtotal
Transfers to the income statement

option rights to acquire interests and additional cash pay-

Available for sale due to impairment

ments made by shareholders in return for a guarantee of pref-

Available for sale due to disposal

301

-53

erence for their interests are also included in the capital

Available for sale due to reclassification

15

–

reserve.

Of which from exchange rate effects

19

1

-356

-562

106

207

As at 31 December

Retained earnings and dividends

Of which: deferred taxes not recognised
in the income statement

The item retained earnings shows amounts allocated from previous year’s profits and the profits of the current year. There

In the current year, deferred taxes in the amount of € − 101

are no statutory reserves or legal reserve within the meaning of

million (previous year: € 147 million) were recognised in the

Section 150 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

revaluation reserve. As of the balance sheet date, deferred
taxes in the revaluation reserve amounted to € 106 million

There were no dividend payments in the 2009 financial year for

(previous: € 207 million).

previous years. In 2008 a dividend of € 2.76 a share was paid
to the holders of fully paid up ordinary shares (total: € 156 mil-

The parameters used in mark-to-model calculation of fair

lion) for the 2007 financial year. In addition, € 3.26 a share

values (credit spread curves) were further developed in the

was distributed to the holders of preference shares (total: € 19

financial year. The adjustments made lead to a more adequate

million).

calculation of fair values. For assets categorised as afs this
affected the revaluation reserve. At the adjustment date 1 October 2009, adjustments compared to using the former parame-

Revaluation reserve

ters resulted in an increase of € 9 million in the revaluation
reserve.

Financial instruments categorised as afs are measured at fair
value with no effect on the income statement. The effects
of this measurement are recognised in the revaluation reserve.

Currency conversion reserve

The changes in value associated with deferred taxes shown

Assets and liabilities in financial statements of subsidiaries in

in the revaluation reserve are also presented in the revaluation

foreign currencies are translated at the reporting date exchange

reserve pursuant to IAS 12.61.

rate in preparing the consolidated financial statements, while
average rates for the reporting period are used to translate ex-

The development of the revaluation reserve breaks down as

penses and income. Equity is translated at historical rates,

follows:

with the exception of revaluation reserves in individual financial statements in foreign currencies, which are translated
at the reporting date exchange rate.
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Any differences arising from this method of translation com-

The regulatory capitalisation is in accordance with the pro

pared to complete translation at the reporting date exchange

visions of the German Banking Act and German Solvency Regu-

rate are reported in this item under equity.

lation. HSH Nordbank Group calculates the regulatory capital requirement for its counterparty risks in accordance with
the IRB Advanced Approach recognised by the regulatory

Capital management

authorities. The capital base is reported to the regulatory author
ities quarterly. The total ratio was not met from the time of

The capital management of HSH Nordbank Group aims to com-

adoption of the 2008 annual financial statements on 27 April

plying with regulatory minimum capital ratios. Due to the

2009 to the legal signature of the second loss guarantee by

provision to the Bank of liquidity guarantees by SoFFin, there

the Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein and Free and Hanseatic

is the requirement to comply with a further agreed minimum

City of Hamburg on 2 June 2009. The capital increase and

core capital ratio. In addition to this minimum requirement, cap-

agreement of the State guarantees significantly increased the

ital management ensures that the Bank’s capital meets the

capital ratios as at 30 June 2009. The regulatory minimum

requirements of risk-bearing capacity.

ratios were complied with on each of the subsequent reporting
dates. The ratios are well above the regulatory minimum
ratios.
31.3.2009

In %

Tier 1 capital ratio (incl. market risk position)
Total ratio / Regulatory capital ratio
* Values

before adoption of the annual financial statements of HSH Nordbank AG

This capital buffer restored the risk-bearing capacity. The regu
latory capital commitment is managed by limiting risk-weighted
assets (RWA) at division level. Within the framework of internal income statements, the regulatory capital requirement is
decisive for the allocation of capital costs at division level.

30.6.2009

30.9.2009

31.12.2009*

6.80 %

9.80 %

10.20 %

9.50 %

10.10 %

15.50 %

16.00 %

14.50 %
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Segment report of the HSH Nordbank Group
(¤ m / %)

Specialist
banking

Regional
banking

Other

Consolidation
core bank

Total
core bank

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

567

442

469

428

528

559

-163

-219

1,401

1,210

58

72

90

93

-11

-12

-18

-49

119

104

Result from Hedging

–

–

–

–

–

–

146

-15

146

-15

Net trading income

27

65

39

32

17

-250

28

502

111

349

-54

-3

-3

-23

60

-33

–

-7

3

-66

Net interest income
Net commission income

Net income from financial investments
Total income

598

576

595

530

594

264

-7

212

1,780

1,582

Loan loss provisions

-713

-290

-135

-246

25

-98

-30

44

-853

-590

Administrative expenses

-165

-136

-224

-241

-172

-250

4

16

-557

-611

Other operating income

1

2

-55

-2

60

102

2

-65

8

37

-279

152

181

41

507

18

-31

207

378

418

Restructuring expenses

–

–

–

–

–

–

-52

-123

-52

-123

Expenses for government guarantees

–

–

–

–

–

–

-284

–

-284

–

Net income before taxes

-279

152

181

41

507

18

-367

84

42

295

Cost / income ratio (CIR) in %

28 %

24 %

38 %

45 %

31 %

39 %

-35 %

26 %

38 %

7%

24 %

24 %

788

583

482

562

202

489

136

132

1,608

1,766

32

31

25

29

40

55

1

-2

98

113

Net income before restructuring

Return on equity before tax
and restructuring expenses in %
Average equity
Segment assets (bn)

Segment report of the HSH Nordbank Group
(¤ m / %)

Net interest income
Net commission income
Result from Hedging
Net trading income
Net income from financial investments

Restructuring Unit

Consolidation
Restructuring Unit

Total
Restructuring Unit

Group

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

742

814

-22

27

720

841

2,121

2,051

92

166

–

–

92

166

211

270

–

–

–

–

–

–

146

-15

509

-1,478

-52

2

457

-1,476

568

-1,127
-1,022

-149

-956

40

–

-109

-956

-106

1,194

-1,454

-34

29

1,160

-1,425

2,940

157

-1,941

-1,298

–

–

-1,941

-1,298

-2,794

-1,888

Administrative expenses

-273

-288

–

–

-273

-288

-830

-899

Other operating income

22

-203

–

–

22

-203

30

-166

-998

-3,243

-34

29

-1,032

-3,214

-654

-2,796

–

–

-72

-49

-72

-49

-124

-172

–

–

-199

–

-199

–

-483

–

-998

-3,243

-305

-20

-1,303

-3,263

-1,261

-2,968

28 %

573 %

Total income
Loan loss provisions

Net income before restructuring
Restructuring expenses
Expenses for government guarantees
Net income before taxes
Cost / income ratio (CIR) in %
Return on equity before tax
and restructuring expenses in %
Average equity
Segment assets (bn)

-20 %

-88 %

1,640

1,421

–

–

1,640

1,421

3,248

3,187

77

95

–

–

77

95

175
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The cost / income ratio and return on equity are not shown

Credit rating effects on dfv liabilities held in net trading

in the segment report for the Restructuring Unit and Other seg-

income were not allocated to segments.

ments. There is a summary under IFRS 8.16 in the Other
segment. The ratios are not shown for this segment as a joint

Average (reported) equity capital was allocated to the segments

ratio for the summary provides little information. In the

on the basis of risk weighted assets before guarantees. The

case of the Restructuring Unit, the segment involves business

cost / income ratio is the ratio of administrative expenses to total

areas which are not strategic and are in the course of reduc-

income. Return on equity is the ratio of net income before

tion. This segment is not managed on the basis of these ratios.

restructuring to average equity. For information on the amortisation on goodwill in the segments see Note (29).

Segment reporting is in accordance with the provisions of
IFRS 8. The segments are based on the internal organisational

For a detailed discussion of the individual segments, please see

structure in alignment with product and customer groups.

the management report.

For reasons of comparability, last year’s segment results have
been adjusted in accordance with the organisational changes
implemented in 2009. Geographical information and information on products and services are not disclosed in accordance
with IFRS 8.32 and 8.33.
The basis for the segment reporting is internal reporting to
management. Income and expenses were assigned to the segments in which they originated.
Net interest income has been calculated in accordance with the
market interest rate method. The planned investment and
financing profit was taken from Corporate Centre and distributed among the business segments on the basis of economic
capital committed. The central transformation contribution is
allocated to the specialist banking and regional banking
segments for the first time on the basis of average receivables.
The costs of the SoFFin liquidity guarantee are taken into
account in this allocation.
Total income recognised in the segments is exclusively from
external customers.
Internal services are netted out. Group overheads are allocated
to the segments from the Other segment based on risk
weighted assets before guarantees and directly allocated costs.
Portfolio valuation allowances are shown in the segments in
which they originated.
Net income from hedges is reported in accordance with internal risk management principles on the basis of internal
transactions. The income statement hedge result was not allocated to individual segments.
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48. Carrying amounts of financial instruments by IAS 39 category

2009
No IAS 39 category

Carrying amounts of financial instruments
by IAS 39 category
(¤ m)

dfv

hft

lia

Hedge
accounting (fair
value)

lar

afs

Other

Total

978

318

–

–

–

–

–

1,296

15,282

46

213

–

–

–

–

15,541
110,305

Assets
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

109,140

–

1,165

–

–

–

–

Receivables under finance leases

–

–

–

–

–

–

252

252

Positive fair value of hedge derivatives

–

–

–

–

–

1,684

–

1,684

Assets held for trading

–

–

–

16,879

–

–

–

16,879

Financial investments

16,744

9,648

3,340

–

–

–

–

29,732
586

Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups

–

63

428

95

–

–

–

Other assets

338

–

–

–

–

–

–

338

Total assets

142,482

10,075

5,146

16,974

-

1,684

252

176,613

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

–

–

323

–

38,268

–

–

38,591

Liabilities to customers

–

–

3,712

–

46,091

–

–

49,803

Securitised liabilities

–

–

5,587

–

47,534

–

–

53,121

Negative fair value of hedge derivatives

–

–

–

–

–

517

–

517
14,649

Liabilities held for trading

–

–

–

14,649

–

–

–

Liabilities relating to disposal groups

–

–

1

15

1

–

–

17

Subordinated capital

–

–

1,934

–

6,950

–

–

8,884

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

1,583

–

–

1,583

Total liabilities

–

–

11,557

14,664

140,427

517

–

167,165
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2008
No IAS 39 category

Carrying amounts of financial instruments
by IAS 39 category
(¤ m)

dfv

hft

lia

Hedge
accounting (fair
value)

lar

afs

Other

Total

1,159

260

–

–

–

–

–

1,419

22,842

50

448

–

–

–

–

23,340
117,289

Assets
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

116,025

–

1,264

–

–

–

–

Receivables under finance leases

–

–

–

–

–

–

321

321

Positive fair value of hedge derivatives

–

–

–

–

–

2,807

–

2,807

Assets held for trading

–

–

–

26,655

–

–

–

26,655

Financial investments

13,229

19,933

3,349

–

–

–

–

36,511

Other assets

409

–

–

–

–

–

–

409

Total assets

153,664

20,243

5,061

26,655

–

2,807

321

208,751

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

–

–

367

–

61,131

–

–

61,498

Liabilities to customers

–

–

3,699

–

48,770

–

–

52,469
58,200

Securitised liabilities

–

–

5,803

–

52,397

–

–

Negative fair values of hedge derivatives

–

–

–

–

–

2,194

–

2,194

Liabilities held for trading

–

–

–

17,779

–

–

–

17,779

Subordinated capital

–

–

1,721

–

8,013

–

–

9,734

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

1,795

–

–

1,795

Total liabilities

–

–

11,590

17,779

172,106

2,194

–

203,669
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49. Reclassification under IAS 39 (2008 revision)

HSH Nordbank Group exercised the option of reclassifying

costs. For reclassification of financial instruments from afs to

securities holdings under IAS 39 (2008 revision). Assets have

lar the revaluation reserves recognised up to the point of

been reclassified as loans and receivables (lar) where they

reclassification are released through net interest income in

met the relevant requirements, were not intended for short-

accordance with IAS 39.54 (a).

term sale at the time of reclassification and are due to be
held for the foreseeable future.

The impact of these reclassifications on the consolidated financial statements is shown below.

The reclassification as lar measures fair value at the time of
reclassification at costs or amortised costs. At the time of

In the third quarter of 2008 financial instruments categorised

reclassification an effective interest is determined which is used

as hft and afs were reclassified as lar.

for subsequent measurement of the amortised acquisition

2009

Carrying amount
(¤ m)

Carrying
amount
at the time of
reclassification

Carrying
amount

Fair value

2008

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Reclassified from hft to lar

1,020

403

390

912

861

Reclassified from afs to lar

1,841

321

316

1,814

1,847

Total financial assets reclassified to lar

2,861

724

706

2,726

2,708

The effective interest rate applied for held for trading (hft) finan-

More assets were reclassified in the second quarter of 2009.

cial instruments was between 0.03 % and 14.72 %; that

These are shown in the table below.

for available for sale (afs) financial instruments was between
2.97 % and 9.75 %. Anticipated repayments amounted to
€ 2,988 million.
Prior to the reclassification, an unrealised measurement gain
of € − 47 million (previous year: € 6 million) had been taken to
profit or loss for hft assets. Afs assets had reduced the revaluation reserve by € − 70 million in 2008 prior to reclassification.
The decrease in carrying values and fair values of the reclassified financial instruments is due to extensive changes in
holdings. At the time of reclassification as hft the carrying value
of the financial instruments affected was € 587 million and
the carrying value of assets categorised as afs was € 1,510 million. The changes in holdings are the result of sales in the
course of the HSH Nordbank Group realignment which were
not intended or foreseeable at the time of reclassification
and maturities.
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2009
Carrying
amount
at the time of
reclassification

Carrying amount
(¤ m)

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Reclassified from hft to lar

399

398

406

Reclassified from afs to lar

6,336

6,309

6,379

Total financial assets reclassified to lar

6,735

6,707

6,785

The effective interest rate applied for held for trading (hft) finan-

–– If the reclassification had not taken place, the financial year

cial instruments was between 1.21 % and 5.06 %; that for

2008 would have seen a valuation result of € − 26 million

available for sale (afs) financial instruments was between 0.87 %

and a revaluation reserve of € − 24 million.

and 5.00 %. Anticipated repayments amounted to € 6,859
million.

–– For financial instruments reclassified from hft the valuation
result in the income statement for reclassified financial

Prior to the reclassification in the second quarter of 2009, an

instruments would have been € 53 million in the 2008 finan-

unrealised measurement gain of € 3 million (previous year: € 6

cial year and € 6 million in the 2009 financial year.

million) had been taken to profit or loss for hft assets. Afs
assets had reduced the revaluation reserve by € 42 million (pre-

–– For financial instruments reclassified from afs the valuation

vious year: € 15 million) in 2009 prior to the reclassification.

result in the revaluation reserve for reclassified financial

Shown below is the impact all holdings reclassified to date would

cial year and € 93 million in the 2009 financial year.

instruments would have been € − 1 million in the 2008 finanhave had on the income statement and revaluation reserve
if they had not been reclassified, along with the actual impact
on the income statement:

Actual pre-tax gains / losses in the income
statement from reclassified assets
(¤ m)

2009

2008

from hft

from afs

Total

from hft

from afs

Total

Net interest income

39

131

170

20

32

52

Net trading income

-1

–

-1

42

-1

41

8

28

36

-20

-30

-50

46

159

205

42

1

43

Net income from financial investments
Total
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50. Residual Maturity breakdown of financial instruments

The calculation of residual maturities for financial instruments

on contractually agreed maturity dates and undiscounted cash

to show the liquidity risk of the HSH Nordbank Group is based

flows.

2009

Financial instruments
(¤ m)

Due daily

less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year
to 5 years

over 5 years

Total

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

2,763

9,134

12,614

9,754

7,410

41,675

10,275

11,234

6,840

10,874

21,343

60,566

41

5,676

9,164

30,775

13,853

59,509

–

1

23

229

264

517

36

1,769

3,710

7,739

2,899

16,153

35

1,769

3,710

7,739

2,899

16,152

–

2

5

1

9

17

Subordinated capital

2,035

19

308

2,017

7,401

11,780

Contingent liabilities

4,244

–

–

–

–

4,244

14,199

–

–

–

–

14,199

33,593

27,835

32,664

61,389

53,179

208,660

Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Negative fair values of hedge derivatives
Liabilities held for trading
Of which derivatives
Liabilities relating to disposal groups

Irrevocable loan commitments
Total

2008

Financial instruments
(¤ m)

Due daily

less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year
to 5 years

over 5 years

Total

Liabilities
Liabilities to banks

4,395

33,914

7,058

11,169

8,076

64,612

Liabilities to customers

8,775

15,015

4,946

12,304

23,077

64,117

55

9,437

8,565

32,147

14,692

64,896

–

1

131

759

1,304

2,195

227

2,388

3,234

8,222

5,241

19,312

215

2,387

3,233

8,190

5,204

19,229

–

–

–

–

–

–

Subordinated capital

2,216

147

533

2,006

8,547

13,449

Contingent liabilities

6,308

–

–

–

–

6,308

Securitised liabilities
Negative fair values of hedging derivatives
Liabilities held for trading
Of which derivatives
Liabilities relating to disposal groups

Irrevocable loan commitments
Total

23,118

–

–

–

–

23,118

45,094

60,902

24,467

66,607

60,937

258,007

Interest rate swaps, interest rate and currency swaps and equity

A detailed description of liquidity management can be found

swaps are stated at the net value of future payment obligations.

in the risk report in the Group management report.

Other derivatives are assigned to maturity bands by overall
maturity at their carrying amount.
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51. Information on fair value under IFRS 7

I. Fair value of financial instruments
In accordance with IFRS 7.25, the fair value of financial assets
and liabilities by class of financial instrument is shown below
and compared to carrying value.

Fair value of financial instruments
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Carrying value

Fair value

Difference

Carrying value

Fair value

Difference

16,879

16,879

–

26,655

26,655

–

95

95

–

–

–

–

Assets
Held for trading (hft)
Assets held for trading
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Designated at fair value (dfv)
213

213

–

448

448

–

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to banks

1,165

1,165

–

1,264

1,264

–

Financial investments

3,340

3,340

–

3,349

3,349

–

428

428

–

–

–

–

318

318

–

260

260

–

46

46

–

50

50

–

9,648

9,648

–

19,933

19,933

–

63

63

–

–

–

–

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Available for sale (afs)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Loans and receivables (lar)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Other assets

978

978

–

1,159

1,159

–

14,912

15,313

401

22,432

22,414

-18

104,792

104,855

63

113,684

114,791

1,107

16,744

15,696

-1,048

13,229

11,490

-1,739

–

–

–

–

–

–

338

338

–

409

409

–

1,684

1,684

–

2,807

2,807

–

252

252

–

321

321

–

171,895

171,311

-584

206,000

205,350

-650

Excluding IAS 39 category
Positive fair values of hedging derivatives
Receivables under finance leases
Total assets

177
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Fair value of financial instruments
(¤ m)

2009
Carrying value

Fair value

14,649
15

2008

Difference

Carrying value

Fair value

Difference

14,649

–

17,779

17,779

–

15

–

–

–

–

Liabilities
Held for trading (hft)
Liabilities held for trading
Liabilities relating to disposal groups
Designated at fair value (dfv)
323

323

–

367

367

–

Liabilities to customers

Liabilities to banks

3,712

3,712

–

3,699

3,699

–

Securitised liabilities

5,587

5,587

–

5,803

5,803

–

1

1

–

–

–

–

1,934

1,934

–

1,721

1,721

–

Liabilities relating to disposal groups
Subordinated capital
Other liabilities (lia)
Liabilities to banks

38,268

38,412

144

61,131

61,051

-80

Liabilities to customers

46,091

46,091

–

48,770

49,005

235

Securitised liabilities

47,534

47,258

-276

52,397

51,269

-1,128

1

1

–

–

–

–

Liabilities relating to disposal groups
Other liabilities

1,583

1,583

–

1,795

1,795

–

Subordinated capital

6,950

5,658

-1,292

8,013

5,293

-2,720

Excluding IAS 39 category
Negative fair values attributable
to derivative hedging instruments
Total liabilities

517

517

–

2,194

2,194

–

167,165

165,741

-1,424

203,669

199,976

-3,693

The fair value of financial instruments for which there is

fair values. At the adjustment date 1 October 2009, adjust-

an active market is measured by the stock exchange or market

ments compared to using the former parameters resulted in a

price at the reporting date. If there is no active market for

decrease of € 2,339 million in unrealised gains.

financial instruments, the fair value is determined by applying
recognised valuation models. For receivables and liabilities
valued at amortised acquisition cost, fair value is determined
by discounting cash flows taking into account rating related
spreads. For current receivables and liabilities (e. g. current
accounts) the carrying value is shown at fair value.
The carrying values of loans and advances to banks and loans
and advances to customers categorised as lar are shown less
the reported loan loss provisions, since fair value also reflects
possible impairments.
The parameters used in mark-to-model calculation of fair values
(credit spread curves) were improved in the financial year.
The adjustments made lead to a more adequate calculation of
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II. Valuation hierarchy
Assets and liabilities show the following breakdown by valuation level in the valuation hierarchy under IFRS 7. For
assets and liabilities recognised and measured at fair value,
the carrying amounts are broken down by class of
financial instrument in the three levels in the hierarchy.

2009

Hierarchy levels, assets
(¤ m)

Assets recognised and measured at fair value
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

10

308

–

318

Cash reserve
afs
Loans and advances to banks
afs

–

–

46

46

dfv

–

161

52

213

Loans and advances to customers
dfv
Positive market value of hedging derivatives
Assets held for trading (hft)

–

112

1,053

1,165

–

1,684

–

1,684

514

15,611

754

16,879

Financial investments
afs

3,833

3,942

1,873

9,648

dfv

1,280

1,049

1,011

3,340

–

–

63

63

dfv

–

–

428

428

hft

–

9

86

95

5,637

22,876

5,366

33,879

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
afs

Total

Financial assets afs also includes interests in affiliated companies and equity holdings which are recognised and measured at cost in the amount of € 1,102 million in accordance
with IAS 39, rather than at fair value. In addition it includes equities and other non-fixed-interest securities afs in
the amount of € 488 million which are also recognised
and measured at cost. However, these financial instruments
recognised and measured at cost are shown under the assets
recognised and measured at fair value and allocated entirely
to valuation level 3.
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2009
Liabilities recognised and measured at fair value

Hierarchy levels, liabilities
(¤ m)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

–

215

108

323

–

649

3,063

3,712

46

2,107

3,434

5,587

–

517

–

517

18

13,990

641

14,649

hft

–

15

–

15

dfv

–

–

1

1

Liabilities to banks
dfv
Liabilities to customers
dfv
Securitised liabilities
dfv
Negative fair values attributable to derivative hedging instruments
Liabilities held for trading (hft)
Liabilities relating to disposal groups

Subordinated capital
dfv
Total

–

1,840

94

1,934

64

19,333

7,341

26,738

Of the financial instruments allocated to level 3, € 2,355 million

During the period under review there were transfers between

of assets and € 6,286 million of liabilities are in an economic

hierarchy levels for financial instruments recognised and

hedging relationship, so that the uncertainties and risk positions

measured at fair value. The transfers are shown below with the

due to unobservable parameters offset each other at the level

carrying values at the time of transfer for each class of finan-

of the hedging relationships involved.

cial instrument.

2009
Shift from
level 1

Bills of
exchange
in level 2

2

–

1

afs

795

-341

dfv

529

-11

Transfer, assets
(¤ m)

Assets held for trading (hft)

Bills of
exchange
in level 1

Shift from
level 2

Bills of
exchange
in level 3

Shift from
level 3

-2

–

-1

316

-917

155

-8

3

-613

95

-3

Financial investments

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
hft
Total

–

–

9

–

–

-9

1,326

-352

329

-1,532

250

-21

notes on financial instruments
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2009

Transfer, liabilities
(¤ m)

Bills of
exchange
in level 1

Shift from
level 1

Bills of
exchange
in level 2

Shift from
level 2

Bills of
exchange
in level 3

Shift from
level 3

–

–

109

–

–

-109

–

–

137

–

–

-137

–
–

–

6

–

–

-6

–

252

–

–

-252

Liabilities to banks
dfv
Liabilities to customers
dfv
Liabilities relating to disposal groups
hft
Total

The largest transfer movement between 2008 and 2009 was

The following shows the reconciliation for all assets and liabili-

from level 2 to level 1 in the financial investments afs

ties recognised and measured at fair value and allocated to

and dfv. This is due to an improvement in liquidity of various

valuation level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The presentation

fixed-interest securities.

is by class of financial instrument, runs from the start to the
end of the period, and takes into account all movements of assets

By contrast, transfers from level 1 to level 2 in financial

and liabilities which were or are allocated to valuation level 3

instruments afs are the result of a decrease in the liquidity

during the reporting period.

of certain securities.

Reconciliation, assets
(¤ m)

Loans
and advances
Loans and to cusadvances to banks
tomers

Assets
held for
trading

Non-current assets
held for sale
and disposal groups

Financial
investments

Total

afs

dfv

dfv

hft

afs

dfv

afs

dfv

hft

50

356

1,159

1,119

2,216

975

–

–

–

5,875

Unrealised net income
(income statement)

–

-15

159

96

-159

76

–

–

–

157

Realised net income (income statement)

–

–

–

-150

48

246

–

–

–

144

-1

–

–

–

-46

-

–

–

–

-47

1 January 2009
Changes in holdings recognised in profit
or loss

Net income not recognised in profit
or loss
Quantitative change
Purchases

–

48

65

210

589

74

–

–

–

986

Sales

–

-238

–

-386

-690

-458

–

–

–

-1,772

Settlements

-3

–

–

-2

–

–

–

–

–

-5

Transfer from level 3

–

–

–

-1

-8

-3

–

–

-9

-21

Transfer to level 3

–

–

–

–

155

95

–

–

–

250

Reclassification

-

-97

-330

-121

-221

48

63

428

95

-135

Exchange rate changes

–

-2

–

-11

-11

-5

–

–

–

-29

Changes in the scope of consolidation

–

–

–

–

–

-37

–

–

–

-37

31 December 2009

46

52

1,053

754

1,873

1,011

63

428

86

5,366

Net income not recognised in profit or loss
from assets held as at 31 December 2009

-1

-15

159

208

-148

52

–

–

–

–

181

182
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Reconciliation, liabilities
(¤ m)

Liabilities
to banks

Liabilities
to cus- Securitised
tomers liabilities

Liabilities
held for
trading

Liabilities
from disposals

Sub
ordinated
capital

Total

dfv

dfv

dfv

hft

dfv

hft

dfv

256

3,075

4,504

1,229

–

–

97

Unrealised net income (income statement)

19

220

403

-531

–

–

1

112

Realised net income (income statement)

-1

-6

-260

-22

–

–

–

-289

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

16

–

-1

119

–

–

–

134

-36

-125

-385

-117

–

–

–

-663

–

110

87

–

–

–

–

197

Settlements

-36

-76

-884

-24

–

–

–

-1,020

Transfer from level 3

-109

-137

–

–

–

-6

–

-252

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

-1

–

–

-6

1

6

–

–

–

2

-30

-7

–

–

-4

-39

108

3,063

3,434

641

1

–

94

7,341

14

198

219

-265

–

–

1

–

1 January 2009

9,161

Changes in holdings recognised in profit or loss

Net income not recognised in profit or loss
Quantitative change
Purchases
Sales
Issues, new business

Transfer to level 3
Reclassification
Exchange rate changes
31 December 2009
Net income not recognised in profit or loss
from liabilities held as at 31 December 2009

Transfers to level 3 for financial investments afs and dfv were
mainly due to illiquidity of individual securities.
Transfers from level 3 were primarily liabilities to banks and
customers due to the expiration of structured termination
rights.
In the year under review equity instruments categorised as afs
not measured at fair value generated realised income of
€ 3 million and an unrealised loss of € 162 million. These are
recognised in net income from financial investments.
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The following tables show the items containing realised and
unrealised gains and losses in the income statement and equity
(statement of comprehensive income).

Items containing realised and unrealised
gains and losses – assets
(¤ m)

Loans
and adLoans and
vances
advances to custo banks
tomers
afs

dfv

dfv

Assets
held for
trading

Non-current assets
held for sale
and disposal groups

Financial
investments

hft

afs

dfv

afs

dfv

hft

Total

Realised / unrealised net income
(income statement)
Net interest income

–

–

-1

34

-1

-4

–

–

–

28

Net trading income

–

-15

160

-88

–

326

–

–

–

383

Net income from financial investments

–

–

–

–

-110

–

–

–

–

-110

–

-15

159

-54

-111

322

–

–

–

301

-1

–

–

–

-46

–

–

–

–

-47

Net income, income statement total
Other net income for the period

Net income from assets held as at
31 December 2009
Net interest income

–

–

-1

44

–

-1

–

–

–

42

Net trading income

–

-15

160

164

–

53

–

–

–

362

Net income from financial investments

–

–

–

–

-152

–

–

–

–

-152

Net income in profit or loss from assets held
as at 31 December 2009

–

-15

159

208

-152

52

–

–

–

252

Other net income for the period from assets
held as at 31 December 2009

-1

–

–

–

4

–

–

–

–

3

Net income items from
reconciliation, liabilities
(¤ m)

Liabilities
to banks
dfv

Liabilities
to cus- Securitised
tomers liabilities
dfv

dfv

Liabilities
held for
trading

Liabilities relating
to disposal groups

Sub
ordinated
capital

hft

dfv

hft

dfv

Total

Realised / unrealised net income
(income statement)
Net interest income

-2

1

-6

6

–

–

–

-1

Net trading income

20

213

149

-559

–

–

1

-176

18

214

143

-553

–

–

1

-177

Net income, income statement total

Net income (income statement) from
liabilities held as at 31 December 2009
Net interest income

-1

5

-1

–

–

–

–

3

Net trading income

15

193

220

-265

–

–

1

164

14

198

219

-265

–

–

1

167

Net income (income statement) from
liabilities held as at 31 December 2009

183
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III. Effects of non-observable parameters

31.12.2008

Fair value changes assets level 3
(¤ m)

If the valuation of a financial instrument is based partly on

advan disadvantageous
tageous

non-observable parameters, the resulting fair value – though
the best estimated value in accordance with a discretionary

Assets held for trading (hft)

decision by the Bank – remains subjective in that there may

Financial investments

22

-5

109

-22

be alternative parameter selection possibilities that cannot

afs

24

-5

be refuted by observable market data. An alternative choice of

dfv

85

-17

131

-27

parameters depending on the outer values of a possible

Total

range would have had the following effects on the fair value
of the financial instruments in question.
31.12.2008

If existing risk positions offset each other due to a non-observable parameter within various classes of financial instruments

Fair value changes liabilities level 3
(¤ m)

advan disadvantageous
tageous

(e. g. in the case of hedging covering multiple classes), only the
net effect is shown.

Liabilities held for trading (hft)

21

-4

Total

21

-4

In contrast to the information in Note (51.II) the following
financial investments recognised and measured at cost are not
taken into account.

Fair values for financial instruments in valuation level 3 are
subject to uncertainties, as there are no observable market
prices on the valuation date in an active market for the instru31.12.2009

Fair value changes assets level 3
(¤ m)

advan disadvantageous
tageous

ment to be valued, and the valuation method uses non-ob
servable input data as well as observable market data. The range
of fair values given is primarily due to three reasons.

Assets held for trading (hft)

26

-6

First, the estimate for the fair value of certain financial instru-

Financial investments

44

-9

ments which are not traded on an active market may involve

afs

13

-3

prices from various sources (transaction prices, transaction prices

dfv

31

-6

for similar financial instruments, index prices, prices obtained

70

-15

Total

from market partners, prices from price service agencies, model
prices). In these cases, the range is derived from the differences
between the various price sources.

31.12.2009

Fair value changes liabilities level 3
(¤ m)

advan disadvantageous
tageous

Second, different valuation models are used in the market for
certain financial instruments, i. e. there is no uniform market
standard. For such financial instruments, possible ranges in de-

Liabilities held for trading (hft)

29

-6

termining fair value arise out of differences between the vari-

Total

29

-6

ous model prices.

notes on financial instruments

Third, non-observable input parameters (e. g. correlations,
specific volatilities etc) are used in the valuation model for specific financial instruments. In these cases, the range arises
out of alternative possible parameter selections in the model.

IV. Day One Profit and Loss
The day one profit and loss reserve developed as follows:
Day One Profit and Loss
(¤ m)

Holding as at 1 January

2009

2008

22

19

Additions not recognised in profit or loss

–

10

Disposals recognised in profit or loss

3

7

19

22

Reserve as at 31 December

Group financial statements
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52. Credit risk analysis of financial assets and details of collateral

I. Credit quality of financial instruments
which are neither impaired nor overdue
The table below gives information on the credit quality of
financial instruments which were neither impaired nor overdue
as of the reporting date. The table provides a breakdown
of the instruments by category and rating of counterparty.

Credit quality
(¤ m)

1 (AAA) to 1 (AA+)

1 (AA) to 1 (A-)

2 to 5

6 to 9

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

5,719

9,802

1,868

4,057

2,718

4,102

2,870

7,617

32

–

11

–

15

–

16

–

120

281

69

118

24

9

–

33

Held for trading (hft)
Assets held for trading
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Designated at fair value (dfv)
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

1,098

793

–

334

67

25

–

94

Financial investments

1,333

2,101

1,577

884

85

67

167

248

403

–

–

–

25

–

–

–

318

260

–

–

–

–

–

–

5

23

33

11

8

5

–

11

4,826

9,791

2,262

1,611

976

2,757

597

4,326

–

–

49

–

–

–

14

–

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Available for sale (afs)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Loans and receivables (lar)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Other assets

978

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

5,802

6,332

4,244

3,442

4,370

1,949

187

9,432

13,108

23,923

12,177

11,198

23,476

29,234

22,412

33,631

9,980

2,575

3,439

1,205

1,804

3,146

389

3,620

–

103

–

48

–

95

–

113

692

1,033

935

427

26

432

4

802

34

69

33

33

61

86

58

99

44,448

57,086

26,697

23,368

33,655

41,907

26,714

60,026

Excluding IAS 39 category
Positive fair value of hedging derivatives
Receivables under finance leases
Total
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The method for consolidating data to determine rating class
allocation was refined in the year under review. This achieved
improved consistency between the presentation on the risk
report and the presentation by rating class in the income statements.
The first two rating classes were modified.

Credit quality
(¤ m)

10 to 12

13 to 15

16 to 18

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

1,837

564

1,054

336

813

177

10

–

6

–

5

–

–

3

–

4

–

–

Held for trading (hft)
Assets held for trading
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Designated at fair value (dfv)
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

–

8

–

10

–

–

Financial investments

–

21

178

28

–

–

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups

–

–

–

–

–

–

Available for sale (afs)
Cash reserve

–

–

–

–

–

–

Loans and advances to banks

–

–

–

1

–

–

Financial investments

8

201

33

63

–

–

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups

–

–

–

–

–

–

Loans and receivables (lar)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

173

254

1

252

–

377

10,689

5,710

11,598

2,667

3,138

3,080

34

615

302

287

–

332

102

25

171

12

65

13

Excluding IAS 39 category
Positive fair value of hedging derivatives

19

59

–

35

6

19

Receivables under finance leases

28

17

30

8

8

9

12,900

7,477

13,373

3,703

4,035

4,007

Total

187
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II. Carrying amounts of overdue,
unimpaired financial assets
The table below shows financial assets which were overdue
but unimpaired as of the reporting date. The carrying amounts
are compared to the renegotiated credit volume and the
collateral received. The assets are broken down by category.
Categories not shown have no overdue assets.

Carrying amounts of overdue,
unimpaired financial asstets
(¤ m)

Overdue
< 3 mths

Overdue
3 to 6 mths

Overdue
6 to 12 mths

Overdue
> 12 mths

Value
of collateral1)

Renegotiated
volume

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

8

22

–

–

–

–

–

–

3

27

–

–

2,333

1,711

730

47

93

27

64

79

1,762

1,345

1,112

231

2,341

1,733

730

47

93

27

64

79

1,765

1,372

1,112

231

Loans and receivables (lar)
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to
customers
Total
1)

Value as at 30 November 2009

Payments of € 143 million on transactions with a carrying volume of € 1,913 million were received up to ten days after
the reporting date of 31 December 2009. Payments are regarded
as being in arrears when they are one day overdue.
The overdue but unimpaired loan portfolio is backed by
collateral in the form of land charges, pledges and assignments.
The collateral assigned largely comprises physical assets.
Renegotiated credit volumes are restructured loan transactions
where an assessment is made of the renegotiated contractual
terms resulting in changes to the interest rate structure, the
maturity and the other terms agreed.
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III. Impaired financial assets and associated
collateral
The table below shows all impaired financial assets and
the associated collateral received as of the reporting date. The
financial assets are broken down by category.

Impaired financial assets and their collateral
(¤ m)

Gross carrying
amount of impaired
financial assets
2009

2008

Impairment
2009

2008

Carrying amount
of financial assets
after impairment

Value of collateral2)

2009

2009

2008

2008

Loans and receivables (lar)
Loans and advances to banks

497

782

363

362

134

420

–

–

Loans and advances to customers

9,322

4,718

3,165

1,684

6,157

3,034

2,170

1,691

Financial investments 1)

1,564

2,389

768

939

796

1,450

47

46

Available for sale (afs)
Financial investments 1)
Total
1)

1,388

1,788

442

605

946

1,183

–

–

12,771

9,677

4,738

3,590

8,033

6,087

2,217

1,737

Financial assets categorised as lar and afs are shown net in the statement of financial position, i. e. at carrying amount less impairment.

2) Value

as at 30 November 2009

The impaired loan portfolio is backed by collateral in the
form of land charges, pledges and assignments. The collateral
assigned largely comprises physical assets.
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53. Credit risk exposure

Maximum credit risk exposure is based on both the IFRS carrying amounts shown in Note (48), which are net of loan loss
provisions of € 4,718 million (31 December 2008: € 2,751 mil-

Credit risk exposure
(¤ m)

Carrying amount /
nominal value
2009

2008

16,879

26,655

95

–

lion), and on the off-balance-sheet business shown in Note (54).
Assets

For details of collateral received please see Note (57).

Held for trading (hft)
Assets held for trading
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Designated at fair value (dfv)
Loans and advances to banks

213

448

Loans and advances to customers

1,165

1,264

Financial investments

3,340

3,349

428

–

318

260

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Available for sale (afs)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups

46

50

9,648

19,933

63

–

978

1,159

Loans and receivables (lar)
Cash reserve
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups
Other assets

14,912

22,432

104,792

113,684

16,744

13,229

–

–

338

409

1,684

2,807

252

321

Excluding IAS 39 category
Positive fair values of hedging derivatives
Receivables under finance leases
Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups

–

–

Subtotal for balance sheet business

171,895

206,000

Off-balance sheet-business
Excluding IAS 39 category
Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
Subtotal for off-balance-sheet business
Total credit risk exposure

4,244

6,308

14,199

23,118

18,443

29,426

190,338

235,426

notes on financial instruments

54. Contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments

Contingent liabilities
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Loan guarantees

599

1,148

Letters of credit

604

995

Contingent liabilities from guarantees
and indemnity agreements

Other guarantees

15

12

Other warranties

3,026

4,153

4,244

6,308

2009

2008

258

474

Total

Irrevocable loan commitments
(¤ m)

Irrevocable loan commitments for
Open account loans to banks
Open account loans to customers

13,890

22,338

Guarantees

34

293

Other

17

13

14,199

23,118

Total

For reasons of practicality no figures under IAS 37.86 and
IAS 37.89 are shown.

Group financial statements
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Other disclosures

55. Report on business in derivatives

Derivative financial instruments were used to a considerable

The system for obtaining data for the report on derivatives

degree in order to hedge risk efficiently, to take advantage

business was changed in the 2009 financial year, and the new

of market opportunities and to cover special customer financ-

system was used for the first time for the figures shown here

ing needs. The derivatives business of HSH Nordbank Group

for 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009. In comparison

is predominantly transacted with banks based in OECD coun-

with the previous presentation, the figures for 31 December

tries.

2008 changed particularly for listed derivatives (the presentation
is now gross instead of net). For 31 December 2009 there is
a supplementary presentation for the first time of positive and
negative fair values.

I. Volumes

Derivative transactions with interest rate risk
(¤ m)

Interest rate swaps
FRAs

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2009

2008

2009

2009

469,048

444,393

11,142

11,586

6,944

20,393

1

5

Swaptions
Long positions

2,297

3,777

166

–

Short positions

3,713

7,822

–

281
191

Caps, floors

24,012

34,116

259

Exchange-traded contracts

10,915

20,293

–

–

9,768

9,691

187

215

526,697

540,485

11,755

12,278

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2008

2009

2009

Other forward interest rate transactions
Total

Derivative transactions with interest rate and currency risk
(¤ m)

2009

Cross currency interest rate swaps

40,275

35,493

706

1,237

Total

40,275

35,493

706

1,237

other disclosures

Derivative transactions with currency risk
(¤ m)

Forward exchange transactions

Group financial statements

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2009

2008

2009

2009

33,067

85,726

490

613

Currency options
Long positions

2,108

6,657

201

–

Short positions

2,010

6,429

–

198

37,185

98,812

691

811

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2008

2009

2009

Total

Derivative transactions with equity and other price risks
(¤ m)

2009

Equity options
Long positions

641

735

59

–

Short positions

172

287

–

45

Forward equity transactions

–

179

–

–

Exchange-traded contracts

72

6

6

17

Equity / index-based swaps

362

382

3

64

Commodity-based transactions

376

90

136

116

1,623

1,679

204

242

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2008

2009

2009

Total

Credit derivatives
(¤ m)

2009

Guarantor position

2,406

6,066

31

38

Secured position

3,033

6,935

347

30

Total

5,439

13,001

378

68

The table for credit derivatives includes premiums from
credit default swaps which are recognised and measured under
receivables and liabilities.
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Derivative transactions in fair value hedge accounting
(¤ m)

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2009

2008

2009

2009

44,110

81,623

1,609

477

643

1,043

75

40

44,753

82,666

1,684

517

Nominal values

Positive
market values

Negative
market values

2009

2008

2009

2009

547,244

656,260

11,405

13,710

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps
Interest rate and currency swaps
Total

II. Counterparty classification

Counterparty classification
(¤ m)

OECD banks
Non-OECD banks
Non-banks 1)
Public authorities
Total
1)

179

2,502

10

20

103,987

107,969

3,824

1,245

4,562

5,405

179

178

655,972

772,136

15,418

15,153

Positive
market values,
derivatives

Positive
market value
of derivatives
from fair value
hedging

Negative
market values,
derivatives

Negative
market value
of derivatives
from fair value
hedging

2009

2009

2009

2009

including exchange-traded contracts

III. Maturities

Maturities
(¤ m)

Residual maturities
Up to 3 months

976

10

901

1

3 months to 1 year

831

130

762

23

1 year to 5 years

5,028

880

5,952

229

More than 5 years

6,899

664

7,021

264

13,734

1,684

14,636

517

Total
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56. Lease receivables and liabilities

Operating leases where the HSH Nordbank Group is lessee are

II. Lessor under operating leases

for the purposes of leasing technical facilities and equipment
required to operate IT networks, among other purposes.

Minimum lease payments expected
operating leases
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Up to 1 year

19

20

1 year to 5 years

62

62

In operating leasing transactions HSH Nordbank Group primarily acts as lessor of rental properties shown as investment properties.
The HSH Nordbank Group also acts as a lessor under finance
leases in the US market, including financing railroad cars, aircraft and solar installations.

I. Lessee under operating leases

Minimum lease payments to be received

Over 5 years
Total

50

46

131

128

No income from conditional leasing payments was recorded
during the year or in the previous year.

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases
(¤ m)

2009

2008

63

65

173

133

Minimum lease payments due
Up to 1 year
1 year to 5 years
Over 5 years
Total

Expenses for lease payments
(¤ m)

141

157

377

355

2009

2008

Minimum lease payments

64

62

Sub-lease arrangements

–

1

64

63

Expenses for

Total

Expenses on assets used under operating leases are recognised
in administrative expenses (Note [14]).

III. Lessor under finance leases
Net present value of minimum lease payments
(¤ m)

Gross total investment

2009

2008

249

320

Unearned finance income

30

38

Unguaranteed residual value

33

39

Net present value
of minimum lease payments

252

321

The gross investment amount and the net present value of
minimum leasing payments break down by maturity as follows:
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Gross investment in leases

Breakdown of residual maturity
(¤ m)

2009

Net present value
of minimum lease payments

2008

2009

2008

Minimum leasing payments to be received
Up to 1 year

19

22

17

19

1 year to 5 years

65

82

60

75

Over 5 years
Total

165

216

175

227

249

320

252

321

No income from conditional leasing payments was recorded
during the year or in the previous year.

57. Disclosures on collateral transferred and received

I. Collateral transferred

borrowing. A small amount of collateral has been transferred
in the course of securities lending business.

As at 31 December 2009 HSH Nordbank Group had assets
transferred as collateral with a carrying value of € 23,379 mil-

The following table shows the carrying amount of the corre-

lion (previous year: € 32,100 million) which do not meet

sponding liabilities.

the requirements for derecognition under IAS 39. The assets
transferred as collateral continue to be recognised by the
HSH Nordbank Group, as the interest, credit rating and other

Carrying amount of liabilities
(¤ m)

2009

2008

11,497

22,922

material risks associated with the securities together with
the benefits of appreciation in value and interest income con-

Liabilities to banks

tinue to be borne by HSH Nordbank Group.

Liabilities held for trading
Total

Carrying amount of transferred collateral
(¤ m)

2009

4,088

2,910

15,585

25,832

2008

Money market borrowing generally involves pledging and
Loans and advances

11,713

8,960

transferring securities lodged with the European Central Bank.

Loans and advances to banks

3,528

2,754

Loan Notes and other receivables from lending are not

Loans and advances to customers

8,185

6,206

pledged to the ECB; undisclosed assignment is used instead.

Assets held for trading, financial
investments

11,666

23,140

Total

23,379

32,100

These cannot be sold on or pledged in the meantime.
HSH Nordbank Group has securitised customer loans in structured transactions and generated senior notes eligible for

The collateral transferred comprised mainly assets in the form

rediscount at central banks, which were lodged with the ECB

of securities, loan notes and other receivables from lending,

in the amount of € 866 million (as at 31 December 2009).

which have been lodged with domestic and foreign commercial

The underlying customer loans are included in loans and ad-

and central banks as short-term collateral for money market

vances to customers.

other disclosures
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HSH Nordbank Group also transacts securities repurchase

this € 4,852 million (previous year: € 0 million) was sold or

agreements under both german and international repo master

pledged. HSH Nordbank Group is obliged to return collateral

agreements. The associated liabilities are recognised under

sold and pledged in the amount of € 4,852 million to the

liabilities to banks and / or customers. In the financial year the

guarantor.

carrying amount of securities transferred as collateral in
the framework of repo transactions was € 1,890 million (previ-

At the reporting date there were also genuine repo transactions

ous year: € 8,405 million). The corresponding liabilities are

in which the HSH Nordbank Group acts as lender. For these

recognised at € 2,678 million. The requirements for derecogni-

the Group received collateral with fair value of € 2,985 million

tion under IAS 39 are not met. The assets sold under repur-

(previous year: € 2,606 million).

chase agreements continue to be recognised by the HSH Nordbank Group, as the interest, credit rating and other material

HSH Nordbank Group carries out securities repurchase, securi-

risks associated with the securities together with the benefits

ties lending and triparty repo transactions under standard

of appreciation in value and interest income continue to be

master agreements with selected counterparties. The same con-

borne by HSH Nordbank Group.

ditions and collateralisation methods apply as for collateral
received.

Repo and securities lending transactions are monitored by measuring transactions daily. If there is a shortfall in collateral
the counterparty can require HSH Nordbank Group to provide

III. Other collateral received

additional securities to increase the collateral. Where HSH
Nordbank Group has provided collateral and the market situa-

Assets totalling € 37 million were recognised from the sale of

tion changes such that the cover provided is excessive, it is

collateral in the reporting period (31 December 2008: € 0 mil-

entitled to require the counterparty to release collateral. The

lion). The acquired assets are real estate.

collateral provided is subject to a full transfer of rights, i. e.
the party receiving the collateral can act as owner, and in par-

HSH Nordbank AG received a SoFFin guarantee facility of up

ticular can transfer it or pledge it. In the case of securities

to € 30 billion in November 2008. This expired at end-2009

collateral, securities of the same type and quality (“the same

in agreement with SoFFin. Independently of this, the SoFFin

sort”) must be delivered or returned unencumbered. Where

guarantee for the issues to the value of € 17 billion by HSH

collateral has been provided in the form of securities, it may

Nordbank AG during the financial year still applies.

not be returned in cash.
With regard to the € 10 billion guarantee facility provided to
The above conditions and collateral modalities apply analo-

HSH Nordbank and two of its subsidiaries by the Federal

gously to triparty repo transactions between HSH Nordbank

State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City of

Group and its counterparties. The transactions are executed

Hamburg via HSH Finanzfonds AöR, see Note (2).

through a triparty agent.
The expense for the guarantee is recognised in the income statement under expenses for government guarantees (see Note [17]).

II. Collateral received
In the course of OTC derivates and structured transactions HSH
Nordbank has received financial and non-financial assets
with a fair value of € 5,422 million (previous year: € 5,308 million) as collateral. A small amount of collateral has been
transferred in the course of securities lending business. This
includes cash of € 512 million (previous year: € 3,465 million). There are no restrictions on disposal and realisation. Of
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58. Trust Transactions

The table below shows the volume of trust transactions not
recognised in the statement of financial position:
Trust transactions
(¤ m)

Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other loans and advances
Trust assets

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers

2009

2008

1

1

387

384

–

7

388

392

2

5

386

380

Other liabilities

–

7

Trust liabilities

388

392

other disclosures
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59. Related parties and companies

HSH Nordbank Group does business with related parties and
companies. These include the AöR as parent company, the
Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic

I. The parent company and companies with
joint management or significant influence
on the company

City of Hamburg as owners in an associated capacity, and
subsidiaries which are controlled but not consolidated for reasons of materiality, associated companies, individuals in key
positions and their relatives and companies controlled by these

The parent company and companies with
joint management or significant influence
on the company – assets
(¤ m)

2009

2008

656

782

individuals. Individuals in key positions comprise exclusively
the members of the Management and Supervisory Boards of

Loans and advances to customers

HSH Nordbank AG.

Positive fair values of hedging derivatives
Assets held for trading

In the course of the normal business operations of HSH Nord-

Financial investments

bank Group transactions are entered into at arm’s length

Total

25

23

273

277

278

429

1,232

1,511

2009

2008

1,283

1,175

264

316

conditions with companies and individuals constituting related
parties under IAS 24. These transactions include loans, sight
and term deposits, derivatives and securities transactions. Securitised liabilities include hybrid financial instruments.

The parent company and companies with
joint management or significant influence
on the company – liabilities
(¤ m)

With regard to the € 10 billion guarantee facility provided to
HSH Nordbank and two of its subsidiaries by the Federal

Liabilities to customers

State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City

Securitised liabilities

of Hamburg via HSH Finanzfonds AöR, see Note (2).

Negative fair values attributable
to derivative hedging instruments
Liabilities held for trading
Other liabilities
Total

–

15

79

40

102

–

1,728

1,546

Securitised liabilities are hybrid financial instruments; income
from assumption of losses in the amount of € 52 million
(previous year: € 182 million) arose in connection with the
holdings shown here.
The parent company and companies with
joint management or significant influence
on the company – income statement
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Net interest income

21

26

Net income from hedging

10

–

Net trading income

6

6

Net income from financial investments

2

–

Expenses for government guarantees

365

–

Total

404

32
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III. Associated companies

Expenses for government guarantees relate to the € 10 billion guarantee facility by the Federal States of Hamburg and

The following tables show transactions which HSH Nordbank

Schleswig-Holstein.

Group holds shares in and are not listed under II. above:
This item includes irrevocable loan commitments of € 65
million (previous year: € 65 million) and contingent liabilities,
which were nil as in the previous year.

Associated companies – assets
(¤ m)

Loans and advances to banks

II. Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries – assets
(¤ m)

Loans and advances to customers

2009

2008

837

856

Assets held for trading

29

45

Financial investments

340

403

Other assets
Total

Subsidiaries – liabilities
(¤ m)

Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Other liabilities
Total

Subsidiaries – income statement
(¤ m)

Net interest income

88

11

1,294

1,315

2008

139

165

–

102

15

–

5

1

159

268

2009

2008

48

34

3

1

Gains on hedging

-1

1

Net trading income

14

33

Net commission income

Net income from financial investments
Total

-21

–

43

69

267

800

1,698

996

86

40

Financial investments

923

1,123

9

5

2,983

2,964

2009

2008

Liabilities to banks

194

141

Liabilities to customers

184

128

99

–

Other assets

Associated companies – liabilities
(¤ m)

Securitised liabilities
2009

2008

Assets held for trading

Total
Loans and advances to customers

2009

Negative fair values attributable
to derivative hedging instruments

–

2

Liabilities held for trading

1

8

Other liabilities
Total

Associated companies – income statement
(¤ m)

Net interest income

2

1

480

280

2009

2008

62

18

Gains on hedging

–

8

Net trading income

–

-9

-68

-28

Net income from financial investments
Other operating income
Total

-5

–

-11

-11

This item includes € 111 million (previous year: € 159 million)
of contingent liabilities and € 229 million (previous year: € 584
million) of irrevocable lending commitments.

This item includes € 15 million (previous year: € 1 million)
of contingent liabilities and € 39 million (previous year: € 39

Other financial liabilities to associated companies are shown in

million) of irrevocable lending commitments.

Note (61).
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IV. Related parties and companies
The following table shows the figures on business with individuals in key positions at HSH Nordbank AG as defined in
IAS 24, including their close relatives and companies controlled
by these individuals.
Related parties and companies – assets
(¤ m)

2009

2008

Loans and advances to customers

2

5

Total

2

5

V. Remuneration of members of the
Management Board and Supervisory Board
The following table shows benefits and changes in the various
kinds of remuneration for members of the management in key
positions.

Remuneration of management
(¤ 000)

Current benefits

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Total

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

3,949

3,577

570

577

4,519

4,154

Post-employment benefits

1,145

430

–

–

1,145

430

Subtotal

5,094

4,007

570

577

5,664

4,584

-2,966

-8,749

–

–

-2,966

-8,749

2,128

-4,742

570

577

2,698

-4,165

Reclassification for former members
of the Management Board
Total

The remuneration for the Management Board up to and includ-

agreements on remuneration are the responsibility of the

ing 2009 is made up of a fixed salary and a variable bonus

Executive Committee.

which is based on the Bank’s business performance, particularly
the achievement of certain budget figures. There are also

In 2009 HSH Nordbank AG adopted a new remuneration sys-

appropriate payments in kind. Remuneration for seats on exter-

tem for members of the Management Board, which applies

nal supervisory bodies is offset against the variable bonus

from 2010 onwards. The basic elements for contracts entered

above a certain limit. The Bank does not offer long-term incen-

into at end-2009 and all future contracts are a long-term

tives such as share option schemes. In accordance with the

assessment period, a legal right to variable remuneration only

recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code,

when the Bank is able to distribute a dividend, disbursement

the total remuneration of the members of the Management

over a number of years, the possibility of recourse against pay-

Board therefore includes fixed and variable components. The

ments not yet made, and a restriction on payments at the
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end of employment. Further information is contained in the

VI. Advances, loans and other liabilities

management report.
Advances, loans and other liabilities as at 31 December 2009
The remuneration of the Management Board in 2009 totalled

amounted to € 187 thousand (previous year: € 3,042 thousand)

€ 3,949 thousand (previous year: € 3,577 thousand). In 2009

for members of the Management Board and 1,343 thousand

there was no variable remuneration to members of the Manage-

(previous year: € 1,513 thousand) for members of the Supervi-

ment Board, nor was there any right to this. The increase in

sory Board.

remuneration to the Management Board compared to the previous year was primarily due to a special payment in the

The advances and loans to members of the Management and

period under review, which was offset by a reduced current

Supervisory Boards and other liabilities on the part of this

remuneration due to a temporary shortfall in the number

group of individuals primarily involve real estate financing and

of members.

overdraft facilities. Loans to members of the Management
Board are granted with maturities from variable to final matu-

In the financial year under review, € 1,145 thousand (previous

rity in 2027, loans to members of the Supervisory Board

year: € 430 thousand) was transferred to the pension obliga-

with maturities from variable to final maturity in 2038. Loans

tions to active and prior members of the Management Board;

to members of the Management and Supervisory Board

these amounted to € 4,173 thousand (previous year: € 3,027

are at arm’s length conditions with interest rates between

thousand) as of 31 December 2009. These are exclusively direct

4.43 % and 4.52 % (loans to Management Board members)

benefit pension plans.

and 7.00 % and 9.50 % (overdraft facilities for Management Board
members), and between 3.80 % and 5.64 % (loans to Super

Payments to former members of the Management Board and

visory Board members) and 7.00 % and 12.50 % (overdraft facili-

their surviving dependents totalled € 3,246 thousand (previous

ties for Supervisory Board members). In the 2009 financial

year: € 3,717 thousand), which as in the previous year did

year no new loans were granted to members of the Management

not include any variable components. There were no provisions

Board. New loans to members of the Supervisory Board to-

for current remuneration (previous year: € 1,450 thousand).

talled € 58 thousand.

In the financial year under review, € 6,411 thousand (previous
year: € 1,479 thousand) was transferred to the pension com

Collateral for loans is in the form of land charges for real estate

mitments to former members of the Management Board and

financing and open credit for overdraft facilities. In the 2009

their surviving dependents. As of December 31, 2006, a total

financial year members of the Management Board repaid loans

of € 38,200 thousand (previous year: € 32,734 thousand) had

in the amount of € 5 thousand (previous year: € 67 thousand).

been set aside for pension obligations. The total includes

Repayments of loans by members of the Supervisory Board to-

reclassification of € 2,966 thousand (previous year: € 8,749

talled € 40 thousand in 2009 (previous year: € 39 thousand).

thousand) from provisions for active members of the Man
agement Board.
The Annual General Meeting decides on the amount of remuneration to be received by the members of the Supervisory
Board. The expected total for the 2009 financial year of € 570
thousand has been recognised in provisions. These provisions are offset by a release of € 105 thousand from the provi
sion formed in the previous year. Of the total recognised
provisions in 2008 (€ 595 thousand) € 490 thousand was paid
out to members of the Supervisory Board in the period
under review. This includes € 66 thousand of value added tax.
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60. Letters of comfort

Except in the case of political risk, HSH Nordbank ensures that

In addition, HSH Nordbank AG has undertaken – except in the

the associates HSH Nordbank Private Banking S.A., Luxem-

case of political risk – to provide HSH N Residual Value Ltd.,

bourg, and HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., Luxembourg, can

Hamilton, with sufficient funds to allow it to meet when due

meet their obligations.

the obligations it entered into during the period when HSH
Nordbank AG held an equity interest in HSH N Residual Value
Ltd.

61. Other financial obligations

The transactions listed below include payment obligations under

There are also annual obligations of c. € 6 million from long-

pending contracts or ongoing debts that cannot be reported

term leases for offices.

in the statement of financial position, as well as other financial
obligations that could have a material effect on the future

In addition there is joint liability together with the other

financial position of HSH Nordbank AG.

companies in DekaBank Deutsche Girozentrale as guarantor.

There are shareholder liabilities of € 335 million for outstand-

There are no material other financial obligations apart from

ing payments on subscribed nominal capital that have not yet

those listed above.

been called in (previous year: € 507 million).
With respect to the equity interest in Liquiditäts-Konsortialbank GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, there is an additional funding
obligation not exceeding € 17 million (previous year: € 17 million).
In addition companies in the HSH Nordbank Group have
made investment commitments totalling € 372 million (previous year: € 425 million) to private equity funds.
The maximum funding obligation that would result from membership of the joint liability scheme of the Sparkassen-Finanz
gruppe, if a case occurs where support is needed, is € 422 million (previous year: € 384 million). If the resources of the savings bank guarantee fund are insufficient for the financial rescue, the additional funding can be claimed immediately.
There are further obligations to two investment companies
arising from long-term leasing contracts relating to land
and buildings used for commercial purposes totalling € 11 million, which expire in 2011.
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62. Disclosures required under German commercial law

I. Basic Documents

on the Internet at www.ebundesanzeiger.de. The list of
shareholdings also contains a definitive enumeration of all

Under the terms of Section 315a (1) HGB, HSH Nordbank

subsidiaries which make use of the disclosure relief as

Group is required to observe the standards of the German Com-

defined in Section 264 (3) HGB.

mercial Code in preparing and presenting the annual financial statements, as well as the IFRS standards. The Group financial statements, prepared in accorcance with IFRS, can be

II. Number of employees

requested at www.hsh-nordbank.com. The complete list of shareholdings under Section 313 (2) HGB, which is an integral

The average number of employees as of the reporting date

part of the consolidated Notes is filed with the Hamburg and

is calculated on the basis of staff figures at quarter-end for all

Kiel Municipal Court commercial registers under HRB

fully consolidated companies:

87366 (Hamburg) and HBR 6127 (Kiel) and can be inspected

Number of employees

2009

2008

Male

Female

Total

Total

Full-time employees

2,216

1,218

3,434

3,879

Part-time employees

82

542

624

591

2,298

1,760

4,058

4,470

Subtotal (excluding trainees)
Trainees
Total

III. Corporate governance code

49

34

83

99

2,347

1,794

4,141

4,569

Section 161 AktG. This is also available to shareholders in
an online version (www.hamborner.de).

HSH Nordbank AG supports the aims of the German Corporate
Governance Code and has recognised the Code’s rules on a
voluntary basis as an unlisted company. The Management Board

IV. Auditor’s fees

and Supervisory Board of HSH Nordbank AG have given a
declaration of conformity pursuant to Section 161 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) that the recommendations of

Auditor’s fees
(¤ 000)

2009

2008

11,202

8,390

4,507

1,203

–

–

the German Corporate Governance Code Commission together
with the restrictions have been complied with and will be

Auditing

complied with until the subsequent declaration is made. The

Other certification and valuation services

declaration of conformity is published on HSH Nordbank AG’s

Tax advisory services

website and printed in the 2009 Annual Report.

Other services for the parent company
or subsidiaries

Similarly, the fully consolidated company Hamborner AG has
also recognised the German Corporate Governance Code
and submitted a declaration of conformity in accordance with

Total

–

13

15,709

9,606

other disclosures

In 2009 the KPMG ELLP partnership (affiliated companies for
the purpose of the disclosure) expanded to include KPMG
Luxembourg, among others. If this had been taken into account
in the previous year’s figure, audit fees would have been
€ 2 million higher.

V. Seats on supervisory bodies
On the reporting date, the following seats were held by members of the Management Board on supervisory bodies of major
corporations or financial institutions.

Prof. Dr. Dirk Jens Nonnenmacher
DekaBank Deutsche Girozentrale, Frankfurt am Main
Member of the Advisory Board (from 11 February 2009)
Dr. Martin van Gemmeren
HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., Luxembourg
Chairman of the Advisory Board
(from 19 December 2009, previously member)
Bernhard Visker
HSH Nordbank Private Banking S.A., Luxembourg
Chairman of the Advisory Board
HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft für Vermögens- und
Beteiligungsmanagement mbH, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board
LB Immo Invest GmbH, Hamburg
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
(from 6 May 2009, previously member)

Group financial statements
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63. Names of board members and directorships held

I. The Supervisory Board of the HSH
Nordbank Group

Ronald Fitzau, Seevetal
Employee of HSH Facility Management Holding AG
(until 1 July 2009)

Hilmar Kopper, Rothenbach
Former spokesperson of the Management Board of

J. Christopher Flowers, New York

Deutsche Bank AG

Chairman of the Management Board of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC

(from 1 July 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)

Chairman (from 3 July 2009)
Dr. Michael Freytag, Hamburg
Dr. Wolfgang Peiner, Hamburg

Senator and President of the Ministry of Finance of the Free

Auditor.

and Hanseatic City of Hamburg

Chairman

(until 1 July 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)
Jürgen Friedland, Kiel
Olaf Behm, Tangstedt

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

(from 1 July 2009)

Deputy Chairman
Jens-Peter Gotthardt, Moorrege

Sabine-Almut Auerbach, Lübeck

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

District secretary, ver.di Southern Holstein district
Lothar Hay, Flensburg

Astrid Balduin, Kiel

Minister of the Interior of the State of Schleswig-Holstein

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

(until 1 July 2009)

Hans-Werner Blöcker, Helmstorf

Torsten Heick, Rellingen

Managing Director of Vereinigte Asphalt-Mischwerke

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

GmbH & Co. KG
(from 1 July 2009)

Reinhard Henseler, Schobüll
Chairman of the Management Board of Nord-Ostsee Sparkasse

Berthold Bose, Hamburg

(until 1 July 2009)

Regional financial services representative, ver.di Hamburg
district

Oke Heuer, Kiel
Deputy Head of Internal Audit, Savings Banks Association for

Detlev Bremkamp, München

Schleswig-Holstein

Former member of the Management Board of Allianz AG

(from 1 July 2009)

Holding
(from 1 July 2009)

Jörg-Dietrich Kamischke, Selk
President of the Savings Banks Association for Schleswig-Holstein

Prof. Dr. Hans-Heinrich Driftmann, Elmshorn
Managing Partner of Peter Kölln KGaA
(until 1 July 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)
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Dr. Rainer Klemmt-Nissen, Hamburg

Ravi S. Sinha, London

Managing Director of HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft für

Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. UK Ltd

Vermögens- und Beteiligungsmanagement mbH, Hamburg

(until 1 December 2009)

(from 1 July 2009)
Rainer Wiegard, Bargteheide
Lutz Koopmann, Altenholz

Minister of Finance of the State of Schleswig-Holstein

Chairman of the Board of Management of Investitionsbank

(until 1 July 2009)

Schleswig-Holstein
(from 1 July 2009)

Bernd Wrede, Hamburg
Former member of the Executive Board of Hapag Lloyd AG

Dr. Joachim Lemppenau, Korschenbroich

(from 1 July 2009)

Former Chairman of the Board of Management of
Volksfürsorge Versicherung

(a) Members of the Risk Committee

(from 1 July 2009)

Dr. Hans Reckers
Chairman (from 1 November 2009)

Manfred Lener, Kiel
Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

Dr. David Morgan

(from 1 July 2009)

Deputy Chairman (from 19 January 2010)

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller, Kiel

Ravi S. Sinha

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG

Chairman (until 3 July 2009)
Deputy Chairman (3 July to 1 December 2009)

Dr. David Morgan, London
Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. UK Ltd.

Astrid Balduin

(from 18 December 2009)
Olaf Behm
Alexander Otto, Hamburg
Managing Director of ECE Projektmanagement

Jürgen Friedland

GmbH & Co. KG

(from 20 October 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)
Jens-Peter Gotthardt
Knut Pauker, Schenefeld

(until 3 July 2009)

Employee of Spielbanken SH GmbH & Co.
Casino Stadtzentrum Schenefeld KG

Torsten Heick

(until 1 July 2009)
Jörg-Dietrich Kamischke
Dr. Hans Reckers, Bad Homburg

(until 1 July 2009)

Former member of the Executive Board, Deutsche Bundesbank
(from 1 November 2009)

Dr. Rainer Klemmt-Nissen
(from 3 July 2009)

Edda Redeker, Kiel
ver.di, Northern district

Hilmar Kopper
(from 3 July 2009)
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Manfred Lener

Rainer Wiegard

(from 3 July 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)

Dr. Wolfgang Peiner

(c) Members of the Executive Committee

(until 1 July 2009)

Hilmar Kopper
Chairman (from 3 July 2009)

Rainer Wiegard
(until 1 July 2009)

Dr. Wolfgang Peiner
Chairman (until 1 July 2009)

Bernd Wrede
(from 20 October 2009)

Rainer Wiegard
Deputy Chairman (until 1 July 2009)

(b) Members of the Audit Committee
Dr. Joachim Lemppenau

Astrid Balduin

Chairman (from 3 July 2009)

(until 1 July 2009)

Jörg-Dietrich Kamischke

Olaf Behm

Chairman (until 1 July 2009)
J. Christopher Flowers
Lutz Koopmann

(until 1 July 2009)

Deputy Chairman (from 3 July 2009)
Dr. Michael Freytag
Ravi S. Sinha

(until 1 July 2009)

Deputy Chairman (until 3 July 2009)
Oke Heuer
Astrid Balduin

(from 3 July 2009)

(until 3 July 2009)
Jörg-Dietrich Kamischke
Olaf Behm

(until 1 July 2009)

Jürgen Friedland

Dr. Rainer Klemmt-Nissen

(from 3 July 2009)

(from 3 July 2009)

Jens-Peter Gotthardt

Lutz Koopmann
(from 3 July 2009)

Oke Heuer
(from 3 July 2009)

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller
(from 3 July 2009)

Hilmar Kopper
(from 3 July 2009)

Dr. David Morgan
(from 19 January 2010)

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller
Ravi S. Sinha
Dr. Wolfgang Peiner
(until 1 July 2009)

(3 July to 1 December 2009)

other disclosures
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(d) Members of the Mediation Committee

Joachim Friedrich

Hilmar Kopper

Joachim Friedrich (until 10 November 2009)

Chairman (from 3 July 2009)

Responsible for the following divisions:
Group Treasury, Asset and Investment Management, Capital

Rainer Wiegard

Markets Clients, Capital Markets Structuring & Trading, Capital

Chairman (until 1 July 2009)

Markets Credit
Born 1964

Dr. Wolfgang Peiner
(until 1 July 2009)

Frank Roth
(until 27 April 2009)

Olaf Behm

Responsible for the following divisions:
IT / Organisation, Human Ressources, Internal Audit,

Torsten Heick

Transaction Services

(until 1 July 2009)

Born 1959

Dr. Rainer Klemmt-Nissen

Dr. Martin van Gemmeren

(from 3 July 2009)

Since 1 November 2009 responsible for:
Restructuring Unit with the corporate divisions

Manfred Lener

Wind-down Loans, Special Loans, Divestments

(from 3 July 2009)

Born 1970
Bernhard Visker

II. The Management Board of
the HSH Nordbank Group

Responsible for the following divisions:
Corporate Clients, Real Estate Clients, Private Banking,
Savings Banks

Prof. Dr. Dirk Jens Nonnenmacher

Also responsible on a temporary basis from 11.11.09 for:

Chairman

Energy, Shipping, Transport, Group Treasury *), Asset and

Responsible for the following divisions:

Investment Management *), Capital Markets Clients *), Capital

Corporate Communications, Corporate Development /

Markets Structuring & Trading *), Capital Markets Credit *)

Management, Corporate Office and Marketing, Legal

*) organisational and disciplinary allocation; responsibility is

and Group Compliance
Also responsible from 28 April 2009 for: Internal Audit,

shared by the full Management Board
Born 1966

Human Ressources, IT / Organisation*), Transaction Services*)
Also responsible on a temporary basis for:

Constantin von Oesterreich

Taxes, Finance

Since 1 November 2009 responsible for:

*) s ince 1 December 2009 only organisational and disciplinary

Credit Risk Management, Group Risk management

allocation

Born 1953

Born 1963
With effect from 1 December 2009 Mr Ulrich Voss was appointed
Peter Rieck

Chief Operating Officer of the Bank. In this capacity he is

Deputy Chairman (until 10 November 2009)

responsible as a General Agent (Generalbevollmächtigter) for

Responsible for the following divisions:

the Transaction Services and IT / Organisation divisions.

Energy, Shipping, Transport
Born 1952
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Date of release for publication

The Management Board of HSH Nordbank has released the
consolidated financial statements for forwarding to the Supervisory Board on 16 March 2010. The Supervisory Board is
responsible for reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and approving these.

Hamburg / Kiel, 16 March 2010

Nonnenmacher 		

van Gemmeren

		
von Oesterreich		

Visker

auditor’s report

Group financial statements

Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

by the HSH Nordbank AG, Hamburg and Kiel, comprising the
statement of financial position, the statement of comprehensive

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-

income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of

dated financial statements comply with IFRSs, as adopted by

cash flows and the notes, together with the group management

the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law

report for the business year from January 1st to December 31st

pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view

2009. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements

of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of

and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs,

the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group

as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of Ger-

management report is consistent with the consolidated financial

man commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB [Handels

statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the

gesetzbuch “German Commercial Code”] are the responsibility

Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and

of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is

risks of future development.

to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
and on the group management report based on our audit.

Without qualifying this opinion, we refer to the discussion in
the management report in the paragraph “EU Beihilfeverfahren”

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements

[EU subsidy proceedings] as well as to Note 1 to the consoli-

in accordance with § 317 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch “German

dated financial statements. Therein it is disclosed that the con-

Commercial Code”] and German generally accepted standards

tinued existence of HSH Nordbank AG as a going concern

for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Insti-

depends on whether the European Commission approves the

tut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

stabilization measures implemented by the Free and Hanseatic

many] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform

City of Hamburg and the State of Schleswig-Holstein on a per-

the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the

manent basis. It is also necessary that the approval should only

presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of

be tied to requirements which can be implemented within

operations in the consolidated financial statements in accor-

the framework of reasonable business plan, and, in particular,

dance with the applicable financial reporting framework and

which will not conflict the effect of the stabilization measures

in the group management report are detected with reasonable

that relieve the regulatory capital.

assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as
to possible misstatements are taken into account in the deter-

Hamburg, 23 March 2010

mination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence support-

KPMG AG

ing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

the group management report are examined primarily on a
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes
assessing the annual financial statements of those entities
included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be

Krall			

Madsen

included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation

Wirtschaftsprüfer		

Wirtschaftsprüfer

principles used and significant estimates made by management,

(German Public Auditor)

(German Public Auditor)

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and group management report. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Auditor’s Report was issued in German language and refers to the
consolidated financial statements that were issued in German language.
Only the German version of the Auditor’s Report is legally binding.
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Responsibility statement by the
Management Board

We hereby affirm that to the best of our knowledge the con
solidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the applicable accounting principles and give a true
and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of
operations of the HSH Nordbank Group and that the man
agement report presents the course of business, including the
results of the business and the HSH Nordbank Group’s
situation, in such a manner that it gives a true and fair view
and describes the main opportunities and risks for the
HSH Nordbank Group’s foreseeable performance.

Hamburg / Kiel, 16 March 2010

		
		
Nonnenmacher 		

van Gemmeren

		
		
von Oesterreich		

Visker

Report of the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board

In 2009 the Supervisory Board focused on coping with the chal-

At meetings it attended the Management Board, where required,

lenges posed by the financial and economic crisis. These cen-

informed the Supervisory Board on the Bank’s current business

tred on stabilising the Bank through guarantees provided by the

situation and other noteworthy developments, and discussed

Special Fund for Financial Market Stabilisation and by way of

these with the Supervisory Board. These focused on efforts to

capitalisation measures implemented by the shareholders. The

cope with the impact of the financial market crisis and measures

associated realignment as well as vulnerabilities in several

taken by the Management Board to stabilise and realign the

areas of the Bank’s operations exposed by the market turmoil

Bank. Another major topic of discussion was the stretched liqui

and brought to light by the auditors in their first annual audit

dity situation of the Bank.

were also key topics. In light of the losses incurred the Supervisory Board, in consultation with the Bank’s shareholders, felt

At the meeting held on 17 February the Bank’s new business

obliged to commission a law firm to review whether current and

model was the sole point of discussion. This continued at the

former members of the Management Board had fulfilled their

meeting on 26 February. In the spirit of responsible and trans-

management duties properly and in full.

parent corporate management and control, the Management
Board informed the Supervisory Board about the outside activi-

The Supervisory Board has fulfilled the tasks incumbent upon

ties of the members of the Management Board, as well as the

it by law, the articles of association, its statutes and the Cor

Bank’s charitable donations. Moreover, members were appointed

porate Governance Code, which include conducting a thorough

to the nominating committee for the upcoming re-election of

review of the economic and financial performance of the Bank,

the Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board ap-

the risk situation and planning, and held in-depth discussions

proved the necessary reports in preparation for the 2008 finan-

with the Management Board on the strategic realignment. The

cial statements.

Management Board kept the Supervisory Board informed in a
regular, comprehensive and timely manner on business policy,

At the Supervisory Board meeting on 9 March, deliberations on

other fundamental issues of business performance and corporate

the Bank’s new business model were concluded. The Supervi-

planning, as well as major transactions and key events. The

sory Board duly noted and approved the strategic realignment.

Supervisory Board advised the Management Board and moni-

Other items on the agenda included renewed debate of the

tored management activities. Resolutions were passed where

servicing and loss participation of silent participations and profit

required between meetings, including by conference call. Key

participation rights.

issues and upcoming decisions were discussed at regular meetings between the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the
Chairman of the Management Board.

On 30 March and 16 April, telephone conferences were addition
ally convened. The first telephone conference dealt will pro
cedural matters related to the inspection of the Bank’s audit

Supervisory Board Meetings

reports by members of the state parliaments in conjunction

In the 2009 financial year, the Supervisory Board held 13 meet-

with the capitalisation measures adopted in May. The second

ings by attendance, of which nine were extraordinary meet-

telephone conference was an informational session held for

ings. Two meetings were also held by conference call and two

the entire Supervisory Board relating to the findings of an inves-

resolutions were passed by way of written circulation.

tigation into former member of the Management Board Frank
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Roth, which resulted in his removal at the meeting on 27 April

Annual General Meetings involving changes to the Bank’s arti-

and the filing of a criminal complaint for betrayal of secrets.

cles of association were also on the agenda. Since this time, the

Other topics of discussion at this meeting included the adoption

chairmen have personally reported on the activities of their

of the 2008 financial statements, as well as financial, invest-

committees at each subsequent Supervisory Board meeting.

ment and personnel planning for 2009 - 2012. In addition, the
Supervisory Board was informed of agreed changes to the

At the 20 October meeting, two new members of the Manage-

network of locations and, where required by its statutes, these

ment Board were appointed and a new remuneration system

were submitted for approval. The Supervisory Board also

for members of the Management Board, which complies with the

obtained the results of the review into its effectiveness 1) con-

provisions of the German Act on the Appropriateness of Man-

ducted in March by questionnaire, and discussed the Bank’s

agement Board Compensation (VorstAG) and the German Corpo

annual holdings report.

rate Governance Code (GCGC), was discussed. A further key
item on the meeting’s agenda was the adoption of new lending

At this meeting and subsequent meetings on 30 April and

guidelines.

12 May, the Supervisory Board dealt in depth with the proposed
capitalisation measures, i. e. a capital increase for cash total-

At an extraordinary meeting held on 10 November, the Super-

ling € 3 billion and a financial guarantee in the amount of € 10

visory Board held in-depth discussions with lawyers on the

billion, and discussed the details of these measures. The Super-

results of the report it had commissioned from Freshfields Bruck-

visory Board granted final approval to conclude the guarantee

haus Deringer to review the proper conduct of affairs by the

contract at the meeting on 29 May.

Management Board, and took appropriate action. Two members
of the Management Board were relieved of their duties with

The final meeting of the Supervisory Board prior to its re-elec-

immediate effect.

tion was held on 29 June. The recommendations to share
holders at the Annual General Meeting were adopted here. It

The Supervisory Board held in-depth discussions on the EU re-

should be noted that, in view of the fact that the review into

structuring plan again at its final meeting of the year, held on

the proper conduct of affairs by the Management Board being

4 December. The new remuneration system for members of the

carried out by the law firm commissioned by the Supervisory

Management Board was also adopted. Moreover, the Super

Board was still ongoing, the proposed resolutions on formal

visory Board voted to end the policy of appointing deputy chair-

discharge of the Management Board and the Supervisory

men in the future and adopted the required changes to the

Board for the 2008 financial year have been deferred. This was

regulations. A further key point of discussion was a detailed

accepted at the Annual General Meeting.

report on the situation in the shipping division.

Following the Annual General Meeting, the constituent meeting

All Supervisory Board members attended at least half of all

of the new Supervisory Board was held on 3 July, at which

meetings. In cases where resolutions of the Supervisory Board

time I was elected as the new Chairman of the Supervisory

or its committees pertained to individual members of the

Board. Olaf Behm was also confirmed as the deputy chairman

Supervisory Board either personally or on account of their posi-

at this meeting. The members, chairmen and deputy chairmen

tion, they did not participate in discussions or the passing of

of the committees were also elected 2). This was done in com

resolutions by the relevant committee.

pliance with the requirements of the German Accounting Law
Modernisation Act (BilMoG) with respect to the composition

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board passed two resolutions by

of the Supervisory Board and its committees.

way of written circulation. These concerned, firstly, a change
in the Bank’s articles of association that needed to be made in

At the meeting on 26 August, the Supervisory Board held in-

July following the implementation of the capitalisation mea-

depth discussions on the EU restructuring plan, and duly noted

sures, in accordance with authorisation granted at the Annual

and approved this. Moreover, the annual report from the com-

General Meeting. Moreover, the Supervisory Board recom-

mittees as well as other recommendations to shareholders at the

mended in November that the Annual General Meeting approve

1)

See also the Corporate Governance Report.
the overview of members of the Supervisory Board and its committees in the notes to the financial statements.

2) See

Report of the Supervisory Board

the transfer of shares, which also necessitated a corresponding

and discussed these with the committee. The Audit Committee

change to the wording of the Bank’s articles of association.

was also informed on an ongoing basis of progress in implementing the measures to reduce vulnerabilities identified dur-

Committees of the Supervisory Board

ing the 2008 annual audit. Moreover, the Audit Committee

The Supervisory Board has set up five committees from among

discussed the internal audit reports and the Bank’s compliance

its members to support it in its work.

strategy.

The Executive Committee met seven times last year. In accor-

At its two meetings, the Nominating Committee dealt with

dance with the procedural rules for the Supervisory Board, the

the preliminary selection of members to be elected at the

committee dealt mainly with changes in personnel affecting

Annual General Meeting and submitted its recommendations

the Management Board. Among other things, the committee dis-

to the Supervisory Board.

cussed the removal of Frank Roth and the appointment of two
new members to the Management Board. The Executive Com-

The Mediation Committee set up in accordance with Section

mittee furthermore considered the new remuneration system

27 (3) of the German Codetermination Act did not meet in the

for members of the Management Board in preparation for adop-

fiscal year under review.

tion of the resolution by the Supervisory Board and passed a
resolution on the remuneration of the Chairman of the Manage-

The Supervisory Board received regular reports on the work of

ment Board.

the committees and the results of their discussions. It was
informed about special transactions, key developments, and

The Risk Committee met nine times over the past fiscal year. It

current events, on an ongoing basis.

dealt in particular with the quarterly risk report, which promarket, and operational risks. The impact of the financial and

Auditing and adoption of the 2009 financial statements
and consolidated financial statements

economic crisis on the Bank’s risk situation was the key point

The auditors of the financial statements and consolidated finan-

of discussion here. Furthermore, the Risk Committee consid-

cial statements elected by shareholders at the Annual General

ered the risk strategy presented by the Management Board in

Meeting, KPMG Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-

accordance with the minimum requirements for risk manage-

schaft, have audited the annual and consolidated financial

ment and discussed the adoption of new lending guidelines and

statements of HSH Nordbank AG and the management reports

credit authority submitted as the result of further develop-

of the parent company and of the Group and granted each an

ments in the risk function. During its meetings it also received

unqualified auditor’s certificate.

vides a comprehensive overview of the bank’s default, liquidity,

reports on all transactions reportable to it and gave its approval
to transactions that require approval by law.

On 13 April 2010, the Audit Committee dealt with the documentation relating to the financial statements and the auditor’s

The Audit Committee met four times in 2009. It spent its first

reports. The discussions were held in the presence of the audi-

meeting dealing with the preliminary audit of the 2008 annual

tors, who reported the key findings of their audit and discussed

financial statements and discussed the audit reports with the

these in detail with the Audit Committee. The Chairman of the

auditor. It also prepared the appointment of the auditor for 2009

Audit Committee gave a detailed depth report on the results

and examined, in particular, the auditor’s statement of inde-

of the audit to the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 14 April

pendence in accordance with Section 7.2.1. of the German Cor-

2010. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board discussed the

porate Governance Code. Furthermore, the committee was

annual financial statements in the presence of the auditor. Each

presented with information on the results of the audit of security

member of the Supervisory Board received the relevant docu-

deposit holdings, and the audit of securities services transac-

mentation relating to the financial statements in good time. Fol-

tions, in accordance with the German Securities Trading Act

lowing its own examination of the auditor’s reports and de-

(WpHG). At further meetings of the Audit Committee, the

tailed discussions, the Supervisory Board agreed with the rec-

auditor presented the results of its review of the interim reports

ommendation of the Audit Committee and established that
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there were no objections to be raised based on the final results

was appointed, with responsibility for the newly established

of its own examinations. The 2009 financial statements and

Restructuring Unit.

2009 consolidated financial statements drawn up by the Management Board were approved by the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Management Board and all

The 2009 financial statements of HSH Nordbank AG are there-

employees for their great personal commitment and service

fore adopted.

to the company in a difficult 2009.

Changes in personnel
At the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on 1 July 2009,

Hamburg / Kiel, April 2010

the terms of office of all members of the Supervisory Board
expired. In addition to the chairman, Dr. Wolfgang Peiner, the

The Supervisory Board

following members representing shareholders also left
the Supervisory Board: Prof. Dr. Hans-Heinrich Driftmann,
J. Christopher Flowers, Dr. Michael Freytag, Lothar Hay,
Reinhard Henseler, Jörg-Dietrich Kamischke, Alexander Otto
and Rainer Wiegard. On the employee side, Knut Paulker

Hilmar Kopper

and Ronald Fitzau left. I would like to thank the departed

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of HSH Nordbank AG

members for their dedicated and faithful commitment
in their work on the committees during the previous term.
Hans-Werner Blöcker, Detlev Bremkamp, Oke Heuer, Dr. Rainer
Klemmt-Nissen, Lutz Koopmann, Hilmar Kopper, Dr. Joachim
Lemppenau, Dr. Hans Reckers and Bernd Wrede were newly
elected to the Supervisory board as shareholder representatives. Dr. Reckers however only assumed the post with effect
from 1 November 2009. Ravi S. Sinha, the only shareholder
representative who was re-elected, resigned on 1 December
2009. Dr. David Morgan was appointed by the court as his
successor with effect from 18 December 2009. Sabine-Almut
Auerbach, Astrid Balduin, Rieka Meetz-Schawaller, Edda
Redeker, Olaf Behm, Berthold Bose, Jens-Peter Gotthardt and
Torsten Heick were re-elected as employee representatives at
the election held prior to the Annual General Meeting in accordance with the German Codetermination Act. Jürgen Friedland
and Manfred Lener were elected to the Supervisory Board as new
members.
There were also personnel changes in the Management Board.
Frank Roth was dismissed from the Management Board with
effect from 27 April 2009. Peter Rieck and Joachim Friedrich
were dismissed from the Management Board with effect
from 10 November 2009. With effect from 1 November 2009,
Constantin von Oesterreich was appointed to the Management Board for the first time, as the Chief Risk Officer. Also
with effect from 1 November 2009, Dr. Martin van Gemmeren

corporate governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As an unlisted company, HSH Nordbank began recognising the

− Section 2.3.1 Sentence 3 recommends that the Management

German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) voluntarily in

Board should publish the reports and documents, includ-

2005. The Management Board and Supervisory Board of HSH

ing the annual report, required by law for the annual general

Nordbank expressly support the content and purposes of the

meeting on the Bank’s website together with the agenda.

GCGC. In addition to the GCGC, corporate governance at our
Bank is principally based on the provisions of the German

HSH Nordbank does not publish these documents on its web-

Stock Corporation Act as well as internal rules such as the Arti-

site prior to the annual general meeting. However, all

cles of Association, the rules of procedure applicable to the

shareholders receive the documents by post sufficiently in

Management Board and the Supervisory Board as well as the

advance.

recently adopted Code of Conduct. By outlining our system
of management and control of the Bank and transparent report-

−A
 ccording to Section 3.8, a suitable deductible should be

ing on conformity to the rules of the Code, we aim to strength-

agreed when taking out a D & O (directors’ and officers’

en the confidence of investors, clients and employees as well as

liability insurance) policy.

the general public.
The Bank has concluded a D & O insurance policy but the

Declaration of Conformity

policy currently in force does not provide for a deductible.

In accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board

−S
 ection 4.2.4 and Section 5.4.6 (3) recommends that the

of listed companies are required to publish an annual declara-

remuneration paid to members of the Management Board

tion in which they indicate the extent to which their manage-

and the Supervisory Board be reported separately for each

ment and monitoring system complies with or deviates from the

individual and broken down by components. For Manage-

recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code.

ment Board remuneration, performancetied and long-

Our aim is to comply with the Code as fully as possible. In Feb-

term incentive components should additionally be disclosed.

ruary 2009, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board
of HSH Nordbank voluntarily issued a declaration of conformity

This information is not disclosed on an individualised basis

in which the deviations from the Code recommendations were

at HSH Nordbank. Shareholders obtain this information

disclosed. These deviations result partly from the fact that HSH

by virtue of the fact that the remuneration of Management

Nordbank is not a listed company with a large number of share-

Board and Supervisory Board members is set by the commit-

holders but instead has a relatively small number with which it

tees of the Bank on which the shareholders are represented.

maintains direct contact.
− According to Section 7.1.2 Sentence 4, the consolidated finan-

Declaration of Conformity 2008 / 2009

cial statements should be published within 90 days and the

Since publishing its last declaration of conformity in May 2008,

interim reports within 45 days of the end of the period to

HSH Nordbank has conformed to the recommendations of

which they refer.

the German Corporate Governance Code in the versions dated
14 June 2007 and 8 June 2008 in every respect save for the

As an unlisted company, HSH Nordbank does not yet publish

following exceptions:

its financial reports within the period recommended by the
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Code. However, it is working towards compliance with these

saw them and did not take part in any deliberations or vote on

time requirements.

resolutions in which a conflict of interest was involved. In
spring 2009, the Supervisory Board reviewed the efficiency of

All declarations of conformity previously published by HSH

its activities by means of a questionnaire.

Nordbank can be viewed in the “Investor Relations” section of
HSH Nordbank’s website.

Management Board
The Management Board is responsible for managing the Bank

Supervisory Board

and works with HSH Nordbank’s other executive bodies and

HSH Nordbank’s Supervisory Board consists of 20 members, of

with the employees’ representatives on a basis of mutual trust

whom – in accordance with the provisions of the German

in the Bank’s best interests. It defines the Bank’s business strat-

Codetermination Act – half are shareholder representatives

egy in consultation with the Supervisory Board. The Chairman

and half are employee representatives. A new Supervisory

of the Management Board represents the Management Board

Board was elected in 2009 as scheduled. The employees con-

as a collegial body, presides over its meetings and coordinates

ducted their elections in accordance with the provisions of

its work. The Management Board met once or twice a week

the German Codetermination Act. The Nominating Committee

during the period under review. The members of the Manage-

submitted proposals to the shareholders suggesting candidates

ment Board are jointly responsible for managing the Bank’s

for election to the Supervisory Board. In accordance with the

business. Their duties and responsibilities are laid down in the

requirements of the GCGC, these proposals particularly took

rules of procedure for the Management Board, as supple-

account of professional expertise, especially in the areas of ac-

mented by the schedule of responsibility.

counting and auditing, as well as criteria such as independence and diversity. Since then, the shareholders have no longer

There were also changes in the composition of the Manage-

been represented directly by their own agents but by indepen-

ment Board in 2009, details of which can be found in the Group

dent and renowned representatives of the business community

financial statements.

who are independent of both the shareholders and the Bank.
The members of the Supervisory Board are listed in the Group

Shareholders, annual general meeting

financial statements of this report.

HSH Nordbank’s shareholders exercise their rights at the
annual general meeting. The annual general meeting is con-

The Supervisory Board appoints, monitors and advises the

vened by the Management Board once a year, stating the

Management Board and is involved in fundamental decisions

agenda and including the requisite reports and documents.

made by the Bank. The Management Board informs the Super

In addition to the annually recurring items of the agenda,

visory Board regularly and in good time of the proposed business

the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board were

policy and other fundamental matters during the meetings

elected at the annual general meeting held in 2009 as sched-

and also orally, particularly in conversations between the Chair

uled.

man of the Management Board and the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board.

As well as the annual general meeting held in 2009, a further
four extraordinary shareholder meetings were held in the

The main content of the meetings held in the period under

period under review: A shareholder meeting was convened in

review can be seen from the report of the Supervisory Board,

February 2009 to deliberate on the contracts concerning the

which also contains further information on the Supervisory

silent partnerships. A further shareholder meeting held in May

Board’s committees. The meetings are generally prepared sepa-

2009 passed resolutions on the capitalisation measures.

rately by the shareholders’ and the employees’ representatives.

The shareholder meeting convened in October 2009 approved

All relevant documents are provided in English for foreign mem-

amendments to the Articles of Association, primarily granting

bers of the Supervisory Board. In addition, interpreters are avail

the state governments of Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein and

able for simultaneous translation at the meetings. The members

their respective auditors general extended auditing rights in

of the Supervisory Board declared conflicts of interest as they

accordance with Sections 53, 54 of the Budgeting Principles Act.

corporate governance

Finally, an extraordinary shareholder meeting was held in
December 2009 to pass resolutions concerning the transfer
of shares.

Hamburg / Kiel, April 2010
For the

For the

Management Board:

Supervisory Board:

Prof. Dr. Dirk Jens Nonnenmacher

Hilmar Kopper
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The members of the Advisory Board
of HSH Nordbank

HSH Nordbank AG has set up an Advisory Board to provide the
Management Board with expert advice on performing its duties,
and to foster contact with the business community, public
authorities and savings banks. The members of the Advisory
Board were proposed by the Management Board and appointed
by the Supervisory Board.

Chairman

Dr. Claus-Georg Nette

Dr. Fritz Süverkrüp

Member of the Management Board of Marquard & Bahls AG,

Vice-president of Kiel Chamber of Industry and Commerce, Kiel

Hamburg

Deputy Chairman

Dr. Harald Vogelsang

Thomas H. Eckelmann

Management Board Spokesman of Hamburger Sparkasse AG,

Chairman of the Group Management Board of EUROKAI KGaA,

Hamburg

Hamburg
Carola Zehle

Business representatives, Hamburg

Managing Partner of Carl Tiedemann

Michael Behrendt

(GmbH & Co.) KG, Hamburg

Chairman of the Management Board of Hapag Lloyd AG,

(until 26 May 2009)

Hamburg

Business representatives, Schleswig-Holstein
Hans-Georg Frey

Götz Bormann

Chairman of the Management Board of Jungheinrich AG,

Chairman of the Management Board of Förde Sparkasse, Kiel

Hamburg
Gerhard Lütje
Frank Horch

Managing Partner of CITTI Handelsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG,

President of Hamburg Chamber of Commerce, Hamburg

Kiel

Dr. Thomas Kabisch

Wolfgang Pötschke

Chairman of the Management Board of MEAG MUNICH ERGO

Chairman of the Management Board of Sparkasse zu Lübeck AG,

AssetManagement GmbH, Munich

Lübeck

Dr. Bernd Kortüm
Managing Director of Norddeutsche Vermögen Holding
GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg

The members of the Advisory Board of HSH Nordbank AG

Representatives from Hamburg State Parliament

Günter Neugebauer

Barbara Ahrons, MdBü

Former Chairman of the Finance Committee,

Economics Spokeswoman of the CDU Parliamentary Group

Schleswig-Holstein State Parliament, Kiel

in Hamburg State Parliament, Hamburg

Local government representatives, Schleswig-Holstein
Dr. Joachim Bischoff, MdBü

Hans-Joachim Grote

Budget, Finance and Urban Development Spokesman of

Mayor of the Town of Norderstedt, Norderstedt

DIE LINKE Parliamentary Group in Hamburg State Parliament,
Hamburg
(until 2 November 2009)

Chairman of the Association Meeting of the Savings
Bank and Giro Centre Association for Schleswig-Holstein
Reinhard Sager

Jens Kerstan, MdBü
Chairman / Spokesman of Economics and Budget of the GAL
Parliamentary Group in Hamburg State Parliament, Hamburg
Rüdiger Kruse, MdB
Member of the Audit Committee and the Budget Committee
of the German Bundestag, Berlin
Dr. Peter Tschentscher, MdBü
Deputy Chairman / Budget Spokesman of SPD Parliamentary
Group in Hamburg State Parliament, Hamburg
(until 2 November 2009)

Representatives from Schleswig-Holstein State
Parliament
Lars Harms, MdL
Economic Policy Spokesman of SSW Parliamentary Group in
Schleswig-Holstein State Parliament, Kiel
(until 5 November 2009)
Monika Heinold, MdL
Parliamentary Chairwoman of the BÜNDNIS 90 / DIE GRÜNEN
Parliamentary Group in Schleswig-Holstein State Parliament,
Kiel
Martin Kayenburg
Former President of Schleswig-Holstein State Parliament,
Kiel
Wolfgang Kubicki, MdL
Chairman of FDP Parliamentary Group in Schleswig-Holstein
State Parliament, Kiel
(until 27 February 2009)

Head of Ostholstein District Authority, Eutin
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Forward-Looking Statements
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This annual report includes certain forward-looking statements.
These statements are based on our beliefs and assumptions, on
information currently available to us and on sources we believe

Corporate Communication

to be reliable. Forward-looking statements include all state-
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future economic developments.
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Such forward-looking statements rely on a number of assump-

Deekeling Arndt Advisors in Communications GmbH,

tions concerning future events and are subject to uncertain-
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ties, risks, and other factors, many of which are outside of our
control, that could cause actual results to differ materially
from such statements. You should not put undue reliance on
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any forward-looking statements. We make no representation
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or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of such forward-
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looking statements contained in this report or that any forecast contained herein will be achieved. We have no intention
or obligation to update forward-looking statements after we
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distribute this report. Above all, information contained in this
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annual report does not state an offer to buy or sell any secu-

iStockphoto

rity of HSH Nordbank AG.
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multi-year overview

HSH Nordbank Group 2006 – 2009 1)

Income statement

2009

2007

2006

(¤ m)

Net income before restructuring
Net income before taxes
Group net loss for the year

Balance sheet

2008

-654

-2,796

–

–

-1,261

-2,968

129

1,195

-679

-2,844

270

832

(¤ m)

Equity

4,491

2,005

4,368

4,476

Total assets

174,533

208,370

204,827

194,341

Business volume

192,976

237,796

241,897

223,964

Capital ratios 1)

(%)

Tier 1 capital ratio

10.5

5.1

6.4

6.5

Regulatory capital ratio

16.1

8.3

10.8

10.5

Employees
Total
Germany
Abroad
1)

4,188

5,070

4,756

4,431

3,490

4,087

3,830

3,613

698

983

926

818

Including market risk positions, after adoption of the annual financial statements; since year-end 2008 the capital ratios have been shown according to Basel II / German Solvency Regulation
(SolvV)
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